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THERE is no more delightful book of its kind in 

the English language than Malory's Morte 

Darthur, and there are few that in certain periods at 

least have had more numerous or more illustrious 

readers. It was written at a time when our language 

was greatly unsettled, and it undoubtedly exercised 

much influence in settling it. It furnished an excellent 

specimen and a conspicuous standard of Engli'sh 

prose. At an epoch when the age of chivalry was 

swiftly passing away, it caught and preserved its 

fading colours. It reduced the old cumbrous and end­

less Romances to convenient and readable dimensions, 

and provided a charming summary of them both for 

its own age and all ages t_? come. 
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Introduction 

With a volume of such importance in so many 
ways it is well to begin an acquaintance as soon as may 
be. And it is hoped that this selection and sim plifica­
tion of Malory's stories may be of service in introducing 
young students to one of the masterpieces of medieval 
literature, and in exciting in them a desire to know it 
fully and directly. Such a knowledge will prove both 
a pleasure and a profit ; and we feel sure they will be 
grateful for having been led towards it in their early 
years, and having been betimes brought into the n1idst 
of a society so famous as the Knights of the Round 
Table, and so fascinatingly portrayed by one who 
knew intimately both the older literature that de­
scribed it and the surviving customs that in a sense 
represented it. 

We might dwell at length on any one of the points 
of interest we have enumerated above ; but we propose 
to confine ourselves to a matter not there mentioned, · · 
and about which till lately there has been very little to 
be said, viz. the biography of the author of the Morte 
Darthur. 

This is a question to which it is impossible not to 
feel attracted. When we read any work of power or 
beauty, we always long to know who wrote it. We 
are not content with the mere perusal of the written 
words ; we like to picture to ourselves him who penned 
them, his circumstances, his conduct and character, 
and to feel assured that he writes with competence and 
as one having authority. Moreover, some knowledge 
of the life of an author explains and illustrates his 
work ; it gives us a clue to guide us through it ; it 
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makes intelligible many things that would otherwise 
be dark and obscure. Thus it is a real gain as well as a 
true satisfaction that recent research has pretty certainly 
identified the author of the great Arthurian abridgment 
that is to this day the most popular production of the 
close of the Middle Ages. 

The credit of this interesting discovery, both as to 
priority and as to detail, belongs to Professor Kittredge 
of Harvard University, U.S.A. In the early spring 
of the year r 8 94 he . announced and shortly afterwards 
published an article on it ; and then in r 8 96 contributed 
a full statement of his case to the volume issued by 
some distinguished pupils of Professor Child's in 
affectionate memory of that eminent scholar and most 
kindly and genial man. But often it happens that a 
discovery seems "in the air" ; and in that same year 
r 896 Mr. T. W. Williams, of Flax Bourton, Somerset, 
noted the occurrence of the name of Sir Thomas 
Malory in the Historical MSS. Commission's Report on 
the MSS. preserved at Wells Cathedral, and shrewdly, 
and there can be little doubt accurately, suspected this 
might well be the famous writer. Then Mr. A. T. 
Martin, of Clifton College, Bristol, took up the in­
vestigation, and though at first we think going off in 
a wrong direction and attaching himself to a Thomas 
Malory who was not a knight, he subsequently advanced 
an alternative candidate who may with confidence be 
identified with the ~ir Thomas brought forward by 
Professor Kittredge and by Mr. Williams, and in a 
paper read before the Society of Antiquaries, and 
published in the 56th volum~ of the Archceolog ia ( I 898), 
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gave the results of his very valuable researches as to 
the history of the Malory family. 

It perpetually happens that we go looking far away 
in out-of-the-way places for what is close at hand. 
We scrutinize the skiey tracts, says a Latin writer, for 
what lies at our feet. And so it has been in the 
present case. What the wide and indefatigable quest 
of one of the best living researchers, Mr. Sidney Lee, 
failed to find, lies ready to hand, as Professo_r Kittredge 
pointed out, in such a well-known book as Dugdale's 
W arwickshire. It is Dugdale who furnishes the leading 
facts that concern us. 

Dugdale tells us how one John M alory of Win wick 
in Northamptonshire n1arried Alice Revell, a daughter 
of John Revell of Newbold Revell or Fenny Newbold 
in the parish of Monks Kirby, some four or five miles 
North-by-West of Rugby in W arwickshire ; and how, 
John Revell and his brothers dying without heirs, and 
a partition of his estate being made, the son of the 
said John M alory and Alice Revell had assigned him 
the manor of Fenny Newbold "with certain lands in 
E senhall, Stretton, and Strod Aston and the capitall 
messuage or mannour house of P aplington ." This 
J ohn was a man of some dist inction in his day, and 
held various important positions ; but his claim to our 
attention just now is that he was the grandfather of 
the famous Sir T homas Malory who wrote the Morte 
Darthur. 

We will quote D ugdale's words, and then add some 
other facts about this literary benefactor who has so long 
been looked for in vain, and is at last revealed to us. 
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He, i.e. John, the son of the John Malory who 

n1arried Alice Revell, "left issue Thomas, who in King 

Henry V.'s tin1e was of the retinue to Ric. 

Beauchamp, Earl of Warwick, at the siege of Calais, 

and served there with one lance and two archers, 

receiving for his lance and one archer xx libras per 

annum and their diet, and for the other archer x marks 

and no diet. This Thomas, being a knight, in the 

23rd year of Henry VI. [Sept. rst, 1444-Aug. 

3 I st, I 44 5 J served for this Shire in the Parlian1ent 

then held at Westminster, and dying March I 4, in the 

10th year of Edward IV. [i.e. 1470, but there seems 

an error here-the year should be I 4 7 I, as we learn 

from two other original sources J lieth buried under a 

marble in the Chapel of St. Francis [Stow says the Chapel 

of the Apostles, but he is aln1ost certainly inaccurate as 

to this matter J at the Grey Friars near Newgate in the 

suburbs of London. To whom succeeded Nicholas his 

grandchild, viz. the son of Robert, who died in his 

father's lifetime.'' 
As careful research has discovered amongst many 

Malorys in several parts of the country-in Yorkshire, 

in Leicestershire, in Northamptonshire, in Cambridge­

shire, in Kent-no other Sir Thomas, and as the author 

of the M orte Dartlzur specially describes himself as 

Thomas Malory, !(night, and states that he finished his 

work in the ninth year of Edward IV. (March 4, 1469-

March 3, 14 70 ), there can be very little question that this 

Sir Tho1nas Malory of Newbold Revell, Warwickshire, 

is he who till now has been to his countless readers only 

a voice crying in the wildern.ess of the fifteenth century. 
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This famous author then, whose work will probably 
remain to the end of time the supreme embodiment 
of Arthurian romance, belonged by birth to the Mid­
lands-belonged to the same county as Shakespeare 
and " George Eliot," not to mention many lesser and 
yet brilliant lights ; and, if Dugdale's statement as to 
his earliest military service is accurate-though what is 
meant by the " siege of Calais " is obscure (" Calais" is 
in all probability a slip for "Rouen," 1418, as Mr. 
Gairdner kindly suggests to us)-he must have been 
born not later than the close of the reign of King 
Richard II.-i. e. than 1399, or just before the death 
of Chaucer. His connection with Richard Beauchamp, 
Earl of Warwick, brought him into close familiarity 
with one who was the best living in1personation of that 
chivalry of which he was to be the chief and enduring 
celebrator. He studied from life knight-errantry as 
it still survived. And one can scarcely doubt that the 
image of the great captain of his youth often gave 
reality to the pictures of Sir Lancelot and other 
legendary heroes which he painted with such knowledge 
and sympathy ; for, to quote Prof. Kittredge, "the 
history of Warwick's life, as set down by John Rous, 
chantry priest and antiquary, and almost a contem­
porary of the great earl, reads like a roman d'aventure." 
When the time came to write, Malory had no need to 
c, get up" his subject. He had spent all his years from 
his very youth in studying it. 

Beauchamp died in 1439 ; but probably Malory's 
connection with his house was unbroken. The Earl 
of Warwick possessed larg~ possessions and immense 
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influence all over the midland counties ; and Henry, 
the son of Richard, "a seemly lord of person,'' appeared 
likely to occupy a scarcely less important position. 
But at the age of twenty-two-

" Our flower was in flushing 
When blighting was nearest "-

he died ; and then only Henry's daughter's life lay 
between Richard Neville, the future "King-n1aker," who 
had married Anne, a sister of Henry's, and the Earldom 
of Warwick. That daughter survived her father only 
three years ; and in 1449 Richard Neville became 
Earl of Warwick. 

Meanwhile, Sir John Malory has been succeeded by 
his son Thomas, in 1433 or '4 ; and Sir Thomas has 
been one of the representatives of his county in the 
Parliament of 1444 and '5. 

At present we know little of Sir Thomas' career 
beyond the three facts already mentioned. As we have 
said, it may he presumed that his attachment to the 
family of Beauchamp, three times linked by n1arriage 
with the family of Neville, continued firm and true, 
when the title of Warwick was held no longer by a 
Beauchamp but by a Neville. And at the beginning of 
the Wars of the Roses we may believe with fair certainty 
that Sir Thomas Malory sided with the Earl of Warwick, 
whose vigour and prowess were then winning hin1 the 
title of the King-maker ; nor can his so siding, if the 
circumstances of the kingdom and the absolute incom­
petence of Henry VI. are considered, excite any mistrust 
of his judgn1ent or of his ... patriotism. We find hin1 
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marching under Edward IV. in I 462 against the 
Lancastrian forces in the north. In some " Brief 
N ates of occurrences under Henry VI. and Edward 
IV.," published by the Camden Society ( I 8 80) from a 
Lambeth Library MS., we have given " the names of 
dukes, earls, barons, and knights being with our 
sovereign lord King Edward in his . journey into 
Scotland at the fea·st of Saint Andrew in the month of 
December anno domini MCCCCLXII.," and amongst 
the "milites" or knights is mentioned "Thomas 
Malory.'' 

But in a year or two, as is well known, there began 
to be strained relations between the Y orkist king and 
the subject to whom he owed so much. Probably 
enough the yoke of the Nevilles was felt to be intoler­
able, and a prince never notable for any habit of 
self-restraint resolved to throw it off altogether. It 
would seem that for s01ne time Sir Thomas Malory 
adhered to the King-maker ; for in the autumn of I 46 8 
we find him specially with several others excepted from 
the King's pardon. For this discovery, as mentioned 
above, we have to thank Mr. T. W. Williams. "After 
a long list of subjects in general to which the pardon 
extends ''-we quote from the Historical MSS. Com­
mission's Report on the MSS. of Wells Cathedral-" it 
is provided that it shall not extend to any transgressions 
committed subsequent [ sic J to March 4, anno regni 5° 
[ i.e. March 4, 146 5] ; nor to Humphry Nevyll miles, 
Thomas Malorie miles; Robert Marchall of Cu]veham 
in Oxford county, armiger ; nor to Hugh Mulle, late 
of London, gentilman; Geryase Clyston [Clyfton ?] late 
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of London, n1iles ; William Verdon, late of London, 
scryvener ; Peter House, late of London, armiger," 
and five others, four of them certainly Welshmen. 

What immediately befell Sir Thomas in conse­
quence of this document we do not know. He n1ay have 
been taken prisoner, or he may have surrendered him­
self. It is plausibly conjectured by Mr. A. W. Pollard, 
in the " Bibliographical Note" prefixed to the ex­
cellent edition of Le Morte Darthur prepared by him 
for Messrs. Mac1nillan, that the author was for a ti1ne 
in prison, and that son1e part at least of his admirable 
version was executed while he was a prisoner, pre­
sumably in the Tower, with the shadow of death 
enveloping him. His study was a dungeon, as was 
Raleigh's and Bunyan's. Mr. Pollard calls attention 
to a passage in which a personal cry seems audible, 
though he is speaking of the woe of another. "So Sir 
Tristram," writes Malory, "endured there [in Sir 
Darras' cell] great pain, for sickness had overtaken 
him, and that is the greatest pain a prisoner may have. · 
For all the while a prisoner may have his health of 
body he may endure under the mercy of God and in 
hope of good deliverance ; but when sickness toucheth 
a prisoner's body, then n1ay a prisoner say all wealth 
is him bereft, and then he hath cause to wail and to 
weep. Right so did Sir Tristram when sickness had 
undertaken him ; for then he took such sorrow that 
he had almost slain himself" (Book ix., chap. J 7 ). 
And the closing words of the last chapter of the last 
Book, taken in connection with a phrase in the passage 
just quoted, seem to imply that he was still a prisoner : 
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"Pray for me," he says, "while I am on live that God 
send me good deliverance, and when I am dead, I pray 
you all pray for my soul." 

These closing words were written in "the ninth year 
of King Edward the Fourth," i.e. in the year beginning 
on March 4, 1469, and ending on March 3, 14 70. 
Very possibly Sir Thon1as was pardoned and set free in 
the autumn of 1469, when a general amnesty was pro­
clain1ed. The author of the historical fragment printed 
by Hearne at the end of his edition of Sprott's 
Chronicle tells us how certain rebels were pardoned 
soon after All-Hallow-tide, 1469 ; and so the author 
of the Chronicle of the Rebellion in Lincolnshire, 14 70, 
published in the Camden Society Miscellany, 1847, 
records how "our said sovereign lord [Edward IV.], as 
a prince inclined to show his n1ercy and pity to his 
subjects rather than rigour and straitness of his laws, 
pardoned of late to his said rebels all treasons and 
felonies, trespasses and offences committed and done 
by them against his Highness afore the feast of 
Christenmas last past, trusting that thereby he should 
have couraged, caused, and induced them from that 
time forth to have been of good, kind, and loving 
demeanour against his Highness." And Fabian in his 
Lond?n Chronicle states that " this year [ 146 9 ], soon 
after All-hallow-tide proclamations were made thorough 
the city of London that the King had pardoned the 
northern men of their riot, and as well for the death 
of the Lord Rivers as all displeasures by them before 
that time done.'' Those amnesties have a special 
reference, no doubt ; but t~ey serve to indicate what 
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was a fact, that a hopeful, however vain, attempt was 
made that autumn to bring about a better condition 
of things that might lead to a permanent peace ; and 
we may justifiably suppose it -was then that Malory 
was released fron1 his durance vile, which however he 
had turned to such excellent account. 

It may further be supposed that by this tin1e he 
was fully aware of the disloyalty and treason of his 
feudal lord, and that he now finally severed himself 
fron1 dubious intrigues which had long been approach­
ing and were now n1anifestly reaching rebellion. The 
King-n1aker had become n1ore and n1ore self-seeking 
in his ain1s and purposes ; h-is personal wrongs- it 
n1ay be allowed the King he had made treated him 
somewhat ungrateful~y- outweighed all_ patriotic con­
siderations ; his country was once more to be ravaged 
by civil war, and an alliance formed with the party 
he had so long detested and crushed rather than the 
house of Neville should suffer any slight or suppression . 
We venture to suggest that Malory's adherence to this 
Earl of W arwick ended when the said Earl turned 
traitor to all the principles that had detern1ined his 
career before the rise of the Woodvilles. We may 
believe that Malory shared W arwick's dislike of that 
so suddenly and extravagantly pron1oted family, and 
was not unready to intrigue against it ; but it seen1s 
clear that he was not one of those who out of spite 
against the W oodvilles or out of devotion to the 
N evilles withdrew their allegiance from the dynasty of 
York. T he passage at the close of his work , fron1 which 
we have already made a quotation, fully recognizes the 
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domination of Edward IV., and it was written just when 
Warwick's plans for its overthrow-plans of which 
Malory must have had knowledge-were fully matur­
ing, if not matured. In fact the breach between the 
King and his " n1aker " was then irreparable, however 
specious the faces they wore or tried to wear. There 
can be little doubt, the date of the writing considered, 
that in the beginning of his last book Malory is in his 
own mind protesting against renewed unsettlement and 
revolution. He has mentioned how the people had 
in large numbers deserted King Arthur for the upstart 
Mordred, and apostrophizes all Englishn1en to see 
"what a mischief here was." "Now might not," he 
adds, "these Englishmen hold us [ sic J content with 
him. Lo, thus was the old custom and usage of this 
land. And also men say that we of this land have not yet 
lost nor forgotten that custom and usage. Alas, this is a 
great default of all Englishmen, for there may no thing 
please us no term." Surely this is a manifest remon­
strance against the re-opening of a war that had already 
cost England so much blood, and been carried on 
with such brutal fury. 

And Malory was now an old man-for the Middle 
Ages a very old man ; he had lived his three score 
years and ten ; and they were not " by reason of 
strength '' to be four score years. 

He died in the spring of 14 7 r, on March 14th, 
according to the inscription on his tomb as preserved 
in the Grey Friars Register ( see the 5th volume of 
the Collectanea Topographica et Genealogica ), or on the 
r 2th, according to the Inr~is. post mortem, as noted 
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by Mr. A. T. Martin. He was buried in one of the 
chapels of one of the n1ost glorious churches of n1edieval 
London-the church of the Grey Friars, just to the 
north of St. Paul's Cathedral. Queens,_ duchesses, 
countesses, earls, barons, " and some thirty-four 
knights,'' " in all six hundred sixty and three persons 
of quality," lay or were to lie there. Not far off 
was the field where he had witnessed many such 
a chivalrous encounter as he so fondly chronicles, or 
where he had hin1self jousted : 

Like that Arthur who with lance in rest, 
From spur to plume a star of tournament, 
Shot thro' the lists of Camelot, and charged 
Before the eyes of ladies and of Kings. 

JOHN W. HALES. 
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The Marvel of the Sword 

WHEN U ther Pendragon, King of England, died, 
the country for a long while stood in great 

danger, for every lord that was mighty gathered his 
forces, and many wished to be King. For King 
Uther's own son, Prince Arthur, who should have 
succeeded hin1, was but a child, and Merlin, the mighty 
magician, had hidden him away. 

Now a strange thing had happened at Arthur's 
birth, and this was how it was. 

Some time before, Merlin had done U ther a great 
service, on condition that the King should grant him 
whatever he wished for. This the King swore a 
solemn oath to do. Then Merlin made him promise 
that when his child was born it should be delivered to 
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Merlin to bring up as he chose, for this would be to 
the child's own great advantage. The King had given 
his promise so he was obliged to agree. Then Merlin 
said he knew a very true and faithful n1an, one of 
King U ther' s lords, by name Sir Ector, who had 
large possessions in many parts of England and Wales, 
and that the child should be given to him to bring up. 

On the night the baby was born, while it was still 
unchristened, King U ther commanded two knights and 
two ladies to take it, wrapped in a cloth of gold, and 
deliver it to a poor man whom they would find waiting 
at the pastern gate of the Castle. This poor man was 
Merlin in disguise, although they did not know it. 
So the child was delivered unto Merlin and he carried 
him to Sir Ector, and n1ade a holy man christen him, 
and named him Arthur; and Sir Ector's wife cherished 
him as her own child. 

Within two years King U ther fell sick of a great 
malady, and for three days and three nights he was 
speechless. All the Barons were in much sorrow, and 
asked Merlin what was best to be done. 

"There is no remedy," said Merlin, "God will 
have His Will. But look ye all, Barons, come before 
King Uther to-morrow, and God will make him speak." 

So the next day Merlin and all the Barons came 
before the King, and Merlin said aloud to King Uther : 

" Sir, after your days shall your son Arthur be 
King of this realm and all that belongs to it ? " 

Then Uther Pendragon turned him and said 111 
hearing of them all : 

"I give my son Arthur God's blessing and mine, and 
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bid hin1 pray for my soul, and righteously and honour­

ably claim the Crown, on forfeiture of my blessing." 

And with that, King Uther died. 

But Arthur was still only a baby, not two years 

old, and Merlin knew it would be no use yet to 

proclaim him King. For there were many powerful 

nobles in England in those days, who were all trying 

to get the kingdom for themselves, and perhaps they 

would kill the little Prince. So there was much strife 

and debate in the land for a long time. 

When several years had passed, Merlin went to the 

Archbishop of Canterbury and counselled him to send 

for all the lords of the realm, and all the gentlen1en 

of arms, that they should come to London at 

Christmas, and for this cause-that a miracle would 

show who should be rightly King of the realm. So 

all the lords and gentlemen made themselves ready, 

and came to London, and long before dawn on 

Christmas Day they were all gathered in the great 

church of St. Paul's to pray. 
When the first service was over, there was seen in 

the churchyard a large stone, four-square, like marble, 

and in the midst of it was like an anvil of steel, a foot 

high. In this was stuck by the point a beautiful 

sword, with naked blade, and there were letters written 

in gold about the sword, which said thus : 

"'Umboso pulletb tbis sworb out of tbis stone 
anb an"il is rtgbtl)? 1ktng of all JEnglanb." 

Then the people n1arvelled, and told it to the 

Archbishop. 
5 



King Arthur 
"I commahd," said the Archbishop, "that you keep 

within the church, and pray unto God still ; and that 
no man touch the sword till the service is over." 

So when the prayers in church were over, all the 
lords went to behold the stone and the sword; and 
when they n ad the writing some of them-such as 
wished to be King-tried to pull the sword out of the 
anvil. But not one could make it stir. 

"The n1an is not here, that shall achieve the sword," 
said the Archbishop, "but doubt not God will make 
him known. But let us provide ten knights, men of 
good fame, to keep guard over the sword." 

So it was ordained, and proclamation was made that 
every one who wished might try to win the sword. 
And upon New Year's Day the Barons arranged to 
have a great tournament, in which all knights who 
would joust or tourney n1ight take a part. This was 
ordained to keep together the Lords and Commons, for 
the Archbishop trusted that it would be made known 
who should win the sword. 

How Arthur was Crowned King 

On New Year's Day, after church, the Barons rode 
to the field, some to joust, and some to tourney, and 
so it happened that Sir Ector, who had large estates 
near London, came also to the tournament; and with 
him rode Sir Kay, his son, with young Arthur, his 
foster brother. 

As they rode, Sir Kay found he had lost his sword, 
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for he had left it at his father's lodging, so he begged 

young Arthur to go and fetch it for hin1. 

"That will I, gladly," said Arthur, and he rode 

fast away. 
But when he came to the house, he found no one 

at home to give hin1 the sword, for every one had gone 

to see the jousting. Then Arthur was angry and said 

to himself: 
" I will ride to the churchyard, and take the 

sword with n1e that sticketh in the stone, for my 

brother, Sir Kay, shall not be without a sword this 

d " ay. 
When he came to the churchyard he alighted, and 

tied his horse ~o the stile, and went to the tent. But 

he found there no knights, who should have been 

guarding the sword, for they were all away at the joust. 

Seizing the sword by the handle he lightly and fiercely 

pulled it out of the stone, then took his horse and rode 

his way, till he can1e to Sir Kay his brother, to whom 

he delivered the sword. 

As soon as Sir Kay saw it, he knew well it was the 

sword of the Stone, so he rode to his father Sir Ector, 

and said : 
"Sir, lo, here is the sword of the Stone, wherefore 

I 1nust be King of this land." 

When Sir Ector saw the sword he turned back, and 

came to the church, and there they all three alighted 

and went into the church, and he made his son swear 

truly how he got the sword. 

"By my brother Arthur," said Sir Kay, "for he 

brought it to me." 
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" How did you get this sword ? " said Sir Ector to 

Arthur. 
And the boy told him. 
" Now," said Sir Ector, " I understand you must be 

King of this land.'' 
"Wherefore I ? " said Arthur ; " and for what 

.., " causer 
" Sir," said Ector, " because God will have it so ; 

for never man could draw out this sword but he that 
shall rightly be King. Now let me see whether you 
can put the sword there as it was, and pull it out again." 

'' There is no difficulty," said Arthur, and he put it 
back into the stone. 

Then Sir Ector tried to pull out the sword, and 
failed ; and Sir Kay also pulled with all his might, but 
it would not move. 

"Now you shall try," said Sir Ector to Arthur. 
"I will, well," said Arthur, and pulled the sword 

out easily. 
At this Sir Ector and Sir Kay knelt down on the 

ground before him. 
" Alas," said Arthur, " mine own dear father and 

brother, why do you kneel to me?" 
"Nay, nay, n1y lord Arthur, it is not so; I was 

never your father, nor of your blood ; but I know well 
you are of higher blood than I thought you were." 

Then Sir Ector told him all, how he had taken him 
to bring up, and by whose command ; and how he had 
received him from Merlin. And when he understood 
that Ector was not his father, Arthur was deeply 
grieved. 

8 



How Arthur was Crowned King 

"Will you be my good, gracious lord, when you 

are King ? " asked the knight. 
" If not, I should be to blame," said Arthur, " for 

you are the man in the world to whom I am the 

most beholden, and my good lady and mother your 

wife, who has fostered and kept n1e as well as her 

own children. And if ever it be God's will that I 

be King, as you say, you shall desire of me what I 

shall do, and I shall not fail you ; God forbid I should 

fail you.'' 
"Sir," said Sir Ector, "I will ask no n1ore of you 

but that you will make n1y son, your foster brother 

Sir Kay, seneschal of all your lands." 
"That shall be done," said Arthur, "and by n1y 

faith, never man but he shall have that office while he 

and I live." 
Then they went to the Archbishop and told hi1n 

how the sword was achieved, and by whom. 
On Twelfth Day all the Barons can1e to the Stone 

in the churchyard, so that any who wished might try to 

win the sword. But not one of them all could take it 

out, except Arthur. Many of them therefore were 

very angry, and said it was a great shame to them 

and to the country to be governed by a boy not of high 

blood, for as yet none of them knew that he was the 

son of King U ther Pendragon. So they agreed to 

delay the decision till Candlemas, which is the second 

day of February. 
But when Candlen1as came, and Arthur once n1ore 

was the only one who could pull out the sword, they 

put it off till Easter ; and when Easter came, and 
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Arthur again prevailed in presence of them all, they 
put it off till the Feast of Pentecost. 

Then by Merlin's advice the Archbishop summoned 
some of the best knights that were to be got-such 
knights as in his own day King ·other Pendragon had 
best loved, and trusted most-and these were appointed 
to attend young Arthur, and never to leave him night 
or day till the Feast of Pentecost. 

When the great day came, all manner of men once 
more 1nade the attempt, and once more not one of them 
all could prevail but Arthur. Before all the Lords and 
Commons there assembled he pulled out the sword, 
whereupon all the Commons cried out at once : 

"We will have Arthur for our King ! We will put 
hin1 no more in delay, for we all see that it is God's 
will that he shall be our King, and he who holdeth 
against it, we will slay him." 

And therewith they knelt down all at once, both rich 
and poor, and besought pardon of Arthur, because they 
had delayed him so long. 

And Arthur forgave them, and took the sword in 
both his hands, and offered it on the altar where the 
Archbishop was, and so he was made knight by the best 
man there. 

After that: he was crowned at one~, and there he 
swore to his Lords and Commons to be a true King, 
and to govern with true justice fron1 thenceforth all 
the days of his life. 
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The Siege of the Strong Tower 

After Arthur was crowned King many con1plaints 

were made to him of great wrongs that had been done 

since the death of King Uther ; many Lords, Knights, 

Ladies and Gentlemen having been deprived of their 

lands. Thereupon King Arthur caused the lands to be 

given again to them that owned them. When this was 

done, and all the districts round London were settled, 

he made Sir Kay Seneschal of England, Sir Baldwin 

Constable of Britain, and Sir Ulfius, Chamberlain ; 

while Sir Brastias was appointed Warden of the country 

north of the Trent. Most of this land was then held 

by the King's enen1ies, but_ within a few years Arthur 

had won all the north. 

Some parts of Wales still stood out against him, but 

in due time he overcame them all, as he did the rest, 

by the noble prowess of himself, and the Knights 

of the Round Table. 

Then King Arthur went into Wales, and proclaimed 

a great feast, to be held at Pentecost, after his crowning 

in the city of Carleon. To this feast came many rich 

and powerful Kings, with great retinues of knights. 

Arthur was glad of their coming, for he thought that 

the Kings and the knights had come in love, and to do 

him honour at his feast, wherefore he rejoiced greatly, 

and sent them rich presents. 

The Kings, however, would receive none of them, 

but rebuked the messengers shamefully, saying it gave 

then1 no pleasure to receive gifts from a beardless boy 
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of low blood. They sent him word that they would 
have none of his gifts, but they would come and give 
him gifts with hard swords betwixt the neck and the 
shoulders. It was for that they came hither, so they 
told the messengers plainly, for it was a great shame to 
them all to see such a boy have the rule of so noble a 
realm as this land. 

When the messengers brought this answer to King 
Arthur, by the advice of his Barons he betook himself 
with five hundred good men to a strong tower. And 
all the Kings laid siege to hin1, but King Arthur had 
plenty of food. 

Within fifteen days Merlin, the great magician, 
came into the city of Carleon. All the Kings were 
very glad to see him, and asked him : 

"For what cause is that boy Arthur made your 
King ? " 

"Sirs," said Merlin, "I will tell you the cause, 
because he is King Uther Pendragon's son. And who­
soever saith 'Nay,' Arthur shall be King, and overcome 
all his enemies, and before he dies he shall long have 
been King of all England, and have under his sway 
Wales, Ireland, and Scotland, and more realms than I 
will now relate." 

Some of the Kings marvelled at Merlin's words, 
and deemed it well that it should be as he said ; and 
some of them, such as King Lot of Orkney, laughed at 
him ; and others called him a wizard. But they all 
consented that King Arthur should come out and speak 
with them, and gave their assurance that he should come 
safely and should return safely. 
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So Merlin went to King Arthur, and told him what 

he had done, and bade him fear not, but come out 

boldly and speak with them. 

" Spare them not," he said, " but answer them as 

their King and Chieftain, for ye shall overcon1e them 

all, whether they will or not." 

Then King Arthur came out of his tower, having 

under his gown a cuirass of double mail ; and there 

went with him the Archbishop of Canterbury, and Sir 

Baldwin, Sir Kay, and Sir Brastias. When he met the 

Kings there was. no meekness, but stout words on both 

sides, King Arthur ready with an answer to all they 

said, and declaring that if he lived he would make them 

bow. They departed therefore in wrath, and King 

Arthur returned to the tower and armed himself and 

all his knights. 
"What will you do ? " said Merlin to the Kings; 

" you had better refrain, for you will not prevail here, 
. ,, 

were you ten times as many. 

" Are we well ad vised to be afraid of a dream­

reader ? " sneered King Lot. 

With that, Merlin vanished away, and came to 

King Arthur, and bade him set on them fiercely. And 

the magician counselled Arthur not to fight at first with 

the sword he had got by miracle ; but if he found him­

self getting the worst of the fight, then to draw it and 

do his best. 
Meanwhile, three hundred of the best men who 

were with the Kings, went straight over to Arthur, and 

this comforted him greatly. All his knights fought 

gallantly, and the battle raged with fury. King Arthur 
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himself was ever in the foremost of the press, till his 
horse was slain underneath him. And therewith King 
Lot smote down King Arthur. 

Four of his knights rescued him and set him on 
horseback. Then he drew forth his sword, and it was 
so bright in his enemies' eyes that it gave light like 
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thirty torches ; and thus he drove back his foes and 

slew many of them. 
Then the citizens of Carleon arose with clubs and 

stones, and slew many knights. But all the Kings 

banded together with their knights who were alive, and 

so fled and departed. 

And Merlin can1e to Arthur, and counselled him to 

follow them no farther. 

The Battle of the Kings 

After the feast and the tourney Arthur came to 

London, and called all his Barons to a Council. For 

Merlin had told him that the six Kings who had made 

war upon him, and whom he had defeated, would hasten 

to wreak their vengeance on him and his lands. The 

Barons could give no counsel, but said they were big 

enough to fight. 
" You say well," said Arthur, "I thank you for 

your good courage ; but will all of you who love me 

speak with Merlin ? You know well that he has done 

much for me, and knows n1any things, and when he is 

with you I wish that you would beseech him to give 

you his best advice." 
All the Barons said they would gladly hear what 

Merlin counselled, so the magician was sent for. 

" I warn you well," said Merlin, " that your enemies 

are passing strong for you, and they are as good men of 

arms as any alive. By this time, too, they have got to 

themselves four Kings more, and a mighty Duke, and 
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unless our King can get more horsemen with hin1 than 
are to be found within the bounds of his own realm, if 
he fight with them in battle he shall be overcome and 
slain." 

" What is best to be done ? " asked the Barons. 
"I will tell you my advice," said Merlin. "There 

are two brethren beyond the sea, and they are both 
Kings, and marvellously powerful men. One is called 
King Ban, of Benwick, and the other King Bors, of 
Gaul-that is, France. And against these two brothers 
wars a mighty man, the King Claudas, and strives with 
them for a castle ; and there is great war betwixt them. 
But because Claudas is very rich he gets n1any good 
knights to fight for him, and for the most part puts 
these two Kings to the worse. Now this is my counsel 
-that our King and Sovereign Lord send to Kings 
Ban and Bors two trusty knights, with letters stating 
that if they will come and see Arthur and his Court, 
and help him in his wars, then he will swear to help 
them in their wars against King Claudas. Now, what 
do you say to this counsel ? " 

" This is well counselled ? " said the King and the 
Barons. 

So in all haste it was settled. 
Ulfius and Brastias were chosen as the messengers, 

and they rode forth well-horsed and well-armed ; and 
so crossed the sea, and rode towards the city of 
Benwick. Here in a narrow place they were attacked 
by eight knights of King Claudas, who tried to kill 
them or take them prisoners. But Ulfius and Brastias, 
fighting with them two by two, in turn overcame them 
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all, and left them lying sorely hurt and bruised on the 
field. 

When they came to Benwick it fortunately happened 
that both the Kings, Ban and Bors, were there. As 
soon as the Kings knew they were messengers of 
Arthur's, they gave them the very heartiest greeting, 
and when Ban and · Bors read the letters, they were 
made even more welcome than before. 

So Ulfius and Brastias had good cheer, and rich 
gifts, as many as they could carry away, and they took 
back this answer with them-that the two Kings would 
come to Arthur in all the haste they could. 

King Arthur was very glad to get this n1essage, 
and, when the time came for the Kings to arrive, he 
proclaimed a great feast and went ten miles out of 
London to meet them. After the feast there was a 
splendid tournament, in which seven hundred knights 
took part. Arthur, Ban, and Bors, with the Arch­
bishop of Canterbury, and Sir Ector (Kay's father) 
sat in a place covered with cloth of gold, like a hall, 
with ladies and gentlewomen, to behold who did best, 
and to give judgment thereon. The knights who won 
the prizes were three of King Arthur's household, Sir 
Kay, Sir Lucas, and Sir Griflet. 

With the help of King Ban and King Bors Arthur 
utterly defeated and put to rout the eleven Kings who 
were warring against him. When his enemies were 
scattered, King Ban and King Bors, laden with rich 
gifts, returned to their own countries. And they 
made a compact with Arthur that if they had need of 
him to help them against King Claudas, they would 
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send to him for succour ; and on the other hand, if 
Arthur had need of them, he was to send, and they 
would not tarry. 

A Prophecy of Doom 

After the departure of Ban and Bors King Arthur 
rode to Carleon. Then there arrived the wife of King 
Lot of Orkney, one of the Kings who had been 
fighting against him. She came in great state, in the 
manner of a n1essenger, but it was really to spy the 
Court of King Arthur. With her were her four sons, 
Gawaine, Gaheris, Agrivaine, and Gareth, and many 
other knights and ladies. Though very cunning and 
deceitful she was a most beautiful woman, therefore 
she quite won the heart of King Arthur. He did not 
know that in reality she was his own half-sister, for 
she was the daughter of his 1nother Igraine, who 
before her marriage with U ther Pendragon had been 
the wife of a mighty Duke of Cornwall. Another 
daughter was Morgan le Fay, who was also extremely 
beautiful and treacherous, and well skilled in magic. 

King Lot's wife stayed a month at Carleon, and 
then went away, and after her departure King Arthur 
dreamed a marvellous dream, which filled him with 
great dread. He thought that there came into this 
land griffins and serpents ; and he thought that they 
burnt and slew all the people in the land, and then he 
thought he fought with them, and they did him passing 
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great harm, and wounded him sorely, but at the last 
he slew them. 

When the King awoke ' he was very sorrowful 

because of his dream, and so to put it out of hi s 
thoughts he made ready with many knights to ride 
hunting. As soon as he was in the forest the King 
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saw a great hart before him, and he rode after it so 
fast that his poor horse fell exhausted. 

While the King was sitting waiting for one of his 
men to fetch hin1 another horse, Merlin came by in 
the likeness of a child of fourteen years, and saluting 
the King, asked why he was so pensive. Arthur 
replied that he had much to make him pensive, 
whereupon Merlin made him very angry by saying he 
knew all his thoughts, who he was, and all about him . 
Then Merlin departed, and presently came again in 
the likeness of an old man of four-score years of age, 
and in this guise he again asked the King why he was 
so sad. 

"I may well be sad," said Arthur, "because of 
many things." 

And he told the old man about his dream, and also 
about the strange child who had just been there, and 
who had told him things he never knew before about 
his own father and mother. Then M erlin told him 
that everything the child said was quite true ; and he 
went on to say that in the years to come much evil 
would fall upon the land, for King Lot' s wife would 
have a child who would destroy Arthur and all the 
knights of his realm. 

" What are you," said Arthur, " that tell me these 
tidings ? '' 

"I am Merlin," replied the magician, "and I was 
he in the child's likeness." 

"Ah," said King Arthur, "you are a marvellous 
man ; but I wonder much at your words that I must 
die in battle." 
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"Wonder not," said Merlin, "for it is God's will 
to punish your body for wrong deeds done on earth. 
But I may well be sorry," added the old man, "for I 
shall die a sha1neful death-to be put into the earth 
alive ; but you shall die an honourable dea~h." 

As they talked thus, there came one with the King's 
horse, so Arthur mounted, and Merlin got on another 
horse, and they rode to Carleon. 

The prophecy that Merlin foretold of his own 
death really ca1ne to pass. For some years later the 
great magician fell in love with a damsel of the Court, 
named Nimue, or as some call her " Vivien," who pre­
tended to like him in return till she had learned all 
manner of things that she desired. He taught her all 
kinds of magic and enchantments, so that she could 
work spells herself. But Merlin got so foolish in his 
affection that he would never let her out of his sight, 
and the lady grew quite weary of his love, and longed 
to be free. She was afraid of Merlin because he was a 
magician, and she could find no way to get rid of him. 

At last it happened that once Merlin showed her a 
wonderful rock, in which was a great stone that worked 
by enchantment. Then Nimue cunningly persuaded 
Merlin to step into the rock to let her know of the 
marvels there, but when he was once inside she replaced 
the great stone by the spells he had taught her, so that 
in spite of all his crafts he could never again come out. 
Then Nimue fled away and left Merlin in the rock. 

Thus the prophecy relating to his own fate was ful­
filled, and later on what he had foretold with regard to 
King Arthur also came to pass. For Merlin once said 
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that the person who should destroy Arthur should 
be born on May-Day. So the King sent for all the 
children who were born on the first of May; there were 
a great many sons of lords and ladies, and among the 
rest was his nephew Mordred, the son of King Lot's 
wife. All the children were put into a ship, and sent 
away out of the country, and some were only four 
weeks old. But the ship drove against a rock, and was 
wrecked to pieces, and all the children perished, except­
ing one. Little Mordred was cast up by the sea, and 
a good man found him, and took care of him till he 
was fourteen years old, when he brought him to Court. 
Mordred, like his mother, was very sly and treacherous, 
and as will be seen later on he brought much misery 
on the noble fellowship of the Knights of the Round 
Table. 

Many of the lords and barons of the realm were 
very angry because of this loss of their children ; but 
many put the blame n1ore on Merlin than on Arthur ; 
so what for dread and for love they held their peace. 

The Knight of the Fountain 

When King Arthur learnt from Merlin that his 
mother lgraine was still alive, he sent for her in all 
haste ; and the Queen came, and brought with her 
Morgan le Fay, her daughter, who was as fair a lady as 
any might be. lgraine had never known what became 
of the little babe she entrusted to Merlin, for she had 
never seen the child afterwards, and did not even know 
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what nan1e was given to it. Then Merlin took the 

King by the hand, saying, "This is your mother." 

Therewith Arthur took his mother, Queen lgraine, into 

his arms, and kissed her, and each wept over the other. 

Then the King commanded a feast to be held that 

lasted eight days. 
One day there came to the Court a squire on horse­

back, leading a knight before him, wounded to death. 

He told how there was a knight in the forest who had 

reared a pavilion by a well, and how he had slain his 

n1aster, a good knight ; and he besought that his 

master might be buried, and some knight might revenge 

his death. 
There was much stir in the Court because of this 

knight's death, every one giving his advice, and a young 

squire called Griflet, who was about the same age as 

Arthur, came to the King, and besought him to make 

him a knight. 
"Thou art full young and tender," said Arthur, 

" to take so high an order on thee." 

"Sir," said Griflet, " I beseech you make me 

knight." 
"Sir, it were great pity to lose Griflet," said 

Merlin, " for he will be a passing good n1an when 

he is of age, abiding with you the term of his 

l·r " 11e. 

So the King made hin1 knight. 

"Now," he said, "since I have n1ade you knight, 

you must give me a gift." 

"V\ hat you will," said Griflet. 

,..fhen the King made him promise that when he 
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had fought with the knight at the fountain he would 
return straight to the .Court without further debate. 

So Griflet took his horse in great haste, and got 
ready his shield, and took a spear in his hand, and 
rode at a gallop till he came to the fountain. There 
he saw a rich pavilion, and near by under a cloth stood 
a fair horse, well saddled and bridled, and on a tree 
a shield of n1any colours, and a great spear. Griflet 
smote on the shield with the butt of his spear, so 
that the shield fell to the ground. 

With that the knight came out of the pavilion, 
and said : " Fair knight, why smote you down my 
h. ld ? )) s 1e . 

"Because I would joust with you," said Griflet. 
"It is better you do not," said the knight, "for 

you are but young and lately made knight, and your 
might is nothing to mine." 

"As for that," said Griflet, "I will joust with you." 
"I am loath to do it," said the knight, " but since 

I needs must, I will make ready. Whence be ye ? " 
"Sir, I am of Arthur's Court." 
The two knights ran together, so that Griflet's 

spear was all shivered to pieces, and therewith the 
other knight, whose name was Pellinore, smote Griflet 
through the shield and left side, and broke his own 
spear, while horse and knight fell down. 

When Pellinore saw Griflet lie so on the ground 
he alighted, and was very sad, for he thought he had 
slain him. He unlaced his helm, and gave him air, 
and set him again on his horse, saying he had a mighty 
heart, and if he lived he would prove a passing good 
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knight. So Sir Griflet rode back to Court, where 

great dole was made for hi1n. But through good 

doctors he was healed and saved. 

King Arthur was very wrathful because of the 

hurt to Sir Griflet, and he con1manded one of his men 

to have his horse and armour ready waiting for him 

outside the city before daylight on the following 

morning. On the morrow, before dawn, he mounted 

and took spear and shield, telling the man to wait 

there till he came again. 

He rode softly till day, and then he was aware of 

Merlin being chased by three churls, who would have 

slain him. The King rode towards them, and bade 

them " Flee, churls ! " They were frightened when 

they saw a knight, and fled. 

"0, Merlin," said Arthur, "here hadst thou been 

slain, for all thy crafts, had I not been here ! " 

" Nay, not so," said Merlin, " for I could save 

myself if I would. And thou art nearer thy death 

than I am, for thou art going towards thy death, if 

God be not thy friend." 

As they went thus talking they came to the 

fountain, and the rich pavilion there beside it. Then 

King Arthur was aware where sat a knight, armed, in 

a chair. 
"Sir Knight," said Arthur, "for what cause abidest 

thou here, that no knight may ride this way unless he 

joust with thee? I counsel thee to leave that custon1." 

"This custom," said Pellinore, "I have used, and 

will use, despite who saith nay ; and whoever is grieved 

with my custom, let him mend it who will." 
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" I will amend it," said Arthur. 
" I shall prevent you," said Pellinore. 
He quickly mounted his horse, adjusted his shield, 

and took his spear. They met so hard against each 
other's shields that their spears shivered. Thereupon 
Arthur at once pulled out his sword. 

"Nay, not so," said the knight, "it is fairer that 
we twain run once more together with sharp spears." 

<< I will, readily," said Arthur, "if I had any more ,, 
spears. 

" I have enough," said Pellinore. 
A squire came and brought two good spears, and 

again the knight and the King spurred together with 
all their might, so that both the spears were broken 
off short. Then Arthur set hand on his sword. 

"Nay," said the knight, "ye shall do better. _ Ye 
are a passing good jouster as ever I met withal, and for 
the love of the high order of knighthood let us joust . ,, 
once agam. 

" I assent," said Arthur. 
Then two more great spears were brought, and each 

knight took one, and they ran together, so that Arthur's 
spear was all shivered. But Pellinore hit him so hard 
in the middle of the shield that horse and man fell to 
the earth. Then Arthur eagerly pulled out his sword, 
saying, "I will assay thee, Sir Knight, on foot, for I have 
lost the honour on horseback," and he ran towards him 
with his sword drawn. 

When P ellinore saw that, he too alighted, for he 
thought it no honour to have a knight at such dis­
ad vantage, for himself to be on horseback, and the other 
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on foot. Then began a strong battle with many great 

strokes, both hacking and hewing, till the field was wet 

with blood. They fought long, and rested, and then 

went to battle again. At last they both smote together, 

so that their swords met evenly, but Pellinore's sword 

smote Arthur's in two pieces, wherefore the King was 

much grieved. 
Then said the knight unto Arthur: 

" Thou art in danger whether I choose to save thee 

or to slay thee ; and unless thou yield thee as overcome 

and recreant thou shalt die." 

"As for death," said King Arthur, "welco111e be it) 

when it cometh ; but to yield me unto thee as recreant, 

I had rather die than be so shamed." And with that 

he leapt unto Pellinore, and threw him down, and tore 

off his helm. 
When the knight felt this he was sorely frightened, 

though he was a very big and mighty man ; but he 

quickly got Arthur underneath, and rased off his helm, 

and would have smitten off his head. 

But up can1e Merlin, and said : 

" Knight, hold thy hand, for if thou slay that knight 

thou puttest this realm in the greatest damage that ever 

realm was in. For this knight is a man of more honour 

than thou art a ware of.'' 

" Why, who is he?" said Pellinore. 

"It is King Arthur." 

Then Pellinore would have slain himself, for dread 

of his wrath, and lifted up his sword. But Merlin cast 

an enchantment on the knight, so that he fell to the 

earth in a great sleep. 
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The Sword Excalibur 

After throwing Pellinore into an enchanted sleep, 
Merlin took up King Arthur, and rode forth on 
Pellinore's horse. 

"Alas ! " said Arthur, " what hast thou done, 
Merlin ? Hast thou slain this good knight hy thy 
crafts? There lived not so worshipful a knight as he 
was ; I would rather than a year's income that he were 
1. " a 1ve. 

"Do not be troubled," said Merlin, "for he is less 
hurt than you. He is only asleep, and will awake within 
three hours. There liveth not a greater knight than 
he is, and he shall hereafter do you right good service. 
His name is Pellinore, and he shall have two sons, that 
shall be passing good men,-Percival of Wales, and 
Lamerack of Wales.'' 

Leaving Sir Pellinore, King Arthur and Merlin went 
to a hermit, who was a good man, and skilled in the art 
of healing. He attended so carefully to the King's 
wounds, that in three days they were quite well, and 
Arthur was able to go on his way with Merlin. Then 
as they rode, Arthur said, "I have no sword." 

"No n1a.tter," said Merlin, "near by is a sword 
that shall be yours if I can get it." 

So they rode till they came to a lake, which was a 
fair water and broad ; and in the midst of the lake, 
Arthur saw an arn1, clothed in white san1ite, that held 
in its hand a beautiful sword. 
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"Lo," said Merlin," yonder is the sword I spoke of." 

With that they saw . a da1nsel rowing across the 

lake. 

' ' \ i'\ hat damsel is that?" said Arthur. 

' ' That is the Lady of the Lake," said Merlin, '' and 

within that lake is a rock, and therein is as fa ir a place 
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as any on earth, and richly adorned. This damsel will 
soon come to you ; then speak you fair to her, so that 
she will give you that sword." 

Presently the damsel came to Arthur, and saluted 
him, and he her again. · 

"Damsel," said Arthur, "what sword is that which 
yonder the arn1 holdeth above the water ? I would it 
were mine, for I have no sword." 

"Sir Arthur, King," said the damsel, "that sword 
is n1ine ; the name of it is Excalibur, that is as much as 
to say Cut-Steel. If you will give me a gift when I ask 
you, ye shall have it." 

"By my faith," said Arthur, "I will give you what 
gift ye shall ask." 

"Well," said the damsel," go you into yonder barge, 
and row yourself to the sword, and take it and the 
scabbard with you, and I will ask my gift when I see 
my time." 

So King Arthur and Merlin alighted, and tied their 
horses to two trees, and went into the barge, and when 
they came to the sword that the hand held, Arthur lifted 
it by the handle, and took it with him. And the arm 
and hand went under the water ; and so they came to 
the land, and rode away. 

Then King Arthur looked on the sword, and liked 
it passing well. 

"Which like you the better, the sword or the scab­
bard ? " asked Merlin. 

" I like the sword better," replied Arthur. 
"You are the more unwise," said Merlin, " for the 

scabbard is worth ten of the sword. While you have 
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the scabbard upon you, ye shall µever lose any blood, 

be ye never so sorely wounded. Therefore keep well 

the scabbard always with you." 
So they returned to Carleon, where King Arthur's 

knights were passing · glad to see hin1. When they 

heard of his adventures they marvelled that he would 

so jeopardy himself alone. But all n1en of honour said 

it was n1erry to be under such a chieftain who would 

put his person in ad ventures as other poor knights did. 

Some time after this, Merlin again warned King 

Arthur to keep the scabbard of the sword Excalibur 

very securely, for as long as he had it upon him he 

would never lose any blood, however sorely he might 

be wounded. For greater safety, Arthur entrusted the 

sword and scabbard to his sister, Morgan le Fay. But 

Morgan le Fay was a false and treacherous woman. 

She loved another knight better than her husband King 

Uriens, or her brother King Arthur, and she made up a 

wicked plot, by which they would both be slain. Then 

she n1eant to marry this other knight, Sir Accolon, and 

place him on King Arthur's throne, when she herself 

would becon1e Queen of the whole realm. Therefore 
(',.,I 

she made by enchantment another scabbard exactly like 

Excalibur's, which she gave to Arthur when he was 

going to fight ; but Excalibur and its scab bard she 

kept for Sir Accolon. 

The Round Table 

When Arthur had been King for some years, and 

had fought and overcome many of his enemies, his 
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Barons were anxious that he should take a wife, so 
according to his usual custom he went and consulted 
Merlin. 

"It is well," said Merlin, " for a man of your 
bounty and nobleness should not be without a wife. 
Now is there any that you love more than another ? " 

"Yes," said King Arthur, " I love Guinevere, the 
daughter of King Leodegrance, of the land of Cameliard. 
Leodegrance holdeth in his house the Table Round, 
which he had of my father, Uther, and this damsel is 
the most noble and beautiful that I know living, or yet 
that ever I could find." 

"Sir," said Merlin, " as to her beauty, she is one of 
the fairest alive. But if you loved her not as well as 
you do, I could find you a damsel of beauty and good­
ness, that would like you and please you,-if your heart 
were not set. But where a n1an's heart is set, he will 
be loath to go back." 

" That is truth," said King Arthur. 
Then Merlin warned the King that it would not be 

wise for him to marry Guinevere ; Merlin had the gift 
of prophecy, and knew that if this marriage took place 
much unhappiness would come of it. But nothing 
would persuade the King from his purpose. So Merlin 
carried a message to Leodegrance, who rejoiced greatly. 

"Those are the best tidings I ever heard," he said, 
" that a King of prowess and nobleness will wed 1ny 
d~ughter. And as for my lands I would give him them 
if I thought it would please him, but he hath lands 
enough, he needeth none, but I shall send him a gift 
which shall please him much more. For I shall give 
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him the Round Table which Uther Pendragon gave 

me, and when it is full complete there are a hundred 

knights and fifty. As for a hundred good knights, I 

have them rnyself, but I lack fifty, for so many have 

been slain in my days." 
So King Leodegrance delivered his daughter to 

Merlin, and the Round Table, with the hundred 

knights ; and they rode briskly, with great royalty, by 

water and by land, till they came near to London. 

When King Arthur heard of the coming of 

Guinevere, and the hundred knights with the Round 

Table, he made great joy because of their coming, and 

that rich present. 
"This fair lady is passing welcome unto me," he 

said, " for I have loved her long, and therefore there is 

nothing so dear to me. And these knights with the 

Round Table please n1e more than right great riches." 

Then in all haste the King commanded preparations 

for the marriage and coronation to be n1ade in the 

most honourable way that could be devised ; and he 

bade Merlin go forth and seek fifty knights of the 

greatest prowess c1 nd honour, and fill the vacant places 

at the Round Table. 
Within a short time Merlin had found such knights 

as would fill twenty-eight places, but no more could 

he find. 
Then the Archbishop of Canterbury was fetched, 

and he blessed the seats with great splendour and 

devotion, and there sat the eight-and-twenty knights 

in their sea ts. 
When this was done, Merlin said : 
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" Fair sirs, ye must all arise and come to King 
Arthur to do him homage," so they arose and did their 
homage. 

And when they were gone Merlin found in every 
seat letters of gold, that told the knights' names that 
had sat there ; but two places were en1pty. 

Soon after this came young Gawaine, son of King 
Lot of Orkney, and asked a gift of the King. 

" Ask," said the King, "and I shall grant it ,, 
you. 

"Sir, I ask that ye will make me knight that same 
day ye shall wed Guinevere." 

" I will do it with a good will," said King Arthur, 
"and do unto you all the honour I can, because you 
are my nephew, my sister's son." 

So the King made Gawaine knight, and at the same 
time, at the wedding feast, he also knighted a son ·of 
King Pellinore, a noble and gallant youth, whose name 
was Tor. 

Then King Arthur asked Merlin what was the cause 
why there were two places empty among the seats 
at the Round Table. 

"Sir," said Merlin," there shall no man 8it in those 
places, except they shall be of the greatest honour. 
But in the Siege Perilous there shall no man sit therein 
but one, and if there be any so hardy to do it, he shall 
be destroyed ; and he that shall s;t there shall have 

1 
,, 

no equa. 
Therewith Merlin took King Pellinore by the hand, 

and leading him next the two seats and the Siege 
Perilous, he said in open audience : 
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" This is your place, and best worthy ye are to sit 

therein of any that is here." 

At this Sir Gawaine sat in great envy, and he said 

to Gaheris, his brother : . 

" Yonder knight is put in great honour, which 

grieveth me sorely, for he slew our father, King Lot ; 

therefore I will slay him with a sword that was sent me, 

which is passing trenchant." 

"Ye shall not do so at this time," said Gaheris, "for 

at present I am only a squire. When I am made knight 

I will be avenged on him ; and therefore, brother, it is 

best ye endure till another time, that we may have hin1 

out of the Court ; for if we killed him here we should 

trouble this high feast." 

"I will do as you wish," said Gawaine. 

Then was the high feast made ready, and the King 

was wedded at Camelot to Dame Guinevere, in the 

church of St. Stephen's, with great solemnity. 

Then the King established all his knights, and to 

those who were not rich he gave lands, and charged 

them never to do outrage nor murders and always to 

flee treason. Also by no means to be cruel, but to give 

1nercy to hin1 that asked mercy, upon pain of forfeiture 

of their honour and lordship of King Arthur for ever­

more ; and always to do ladies, damsels, and gentle­

women succour, upon pain of death. Also that no 

man should take battle in a wrongful quarrel for any 

law, nor for world's goods. 

Unto this were all the Knights of the Round Table 

sworn, both old and young . And every year they 

renewed their vo,v at the high Feast of Pentecost. 
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The Marvellous Adventure of the Magic Ship 

It befell one day that Arthur and many of his 
knights rode hunting into a great forest ; the King 
himself, Sir Accolon of Gaul, and King Uriens, husband 
of Morgan le Fay, followed a fine hart, and their 
horses were so swift that in a little while they were 
ten miles ahead of their companions. Worn out with 
the chase,. at last their horses fell exhausted, but still in 
front of them they saw the hart, passing weary. 

"What shall we do ? " said King Arthur. "We 
are hard bestead." 

" Let us go on foot," said King U riens, " till we 
meet with some lodging." 

Then they saw that the hart lay on the bank of a 
large lake, and the dogs had got hold of him, so King 
Arthur blew the "prise," which is the note blown by 
the hunter on the death of the quarry. 

After this he looked all around, and saw before him 
on the lake a little ship, apparelled with silk, down to 
the water ; and the ship came right up to them and 
grounded on the sands. King Arthur went to the bank 
and looked in, and saw no earthly creature therein. 

"Come," said the King, "let us see what is in the 
ship." 

So they all three went in, and found it richly 
hung with cloth of silk. By then it was dark night, 
and suddenly there were about them a hundred torches, 
set upon all the sides of the ship, which gave great 
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light. Therewith came out twelve fair damsels, who 

saluted King Arthur on their knees, and called him by 

his name, and said he was right welcome, and such cheer 

as they had he should have of the best. The King 

thanked them courteously. 

The damsels led the King and his two con1panions 

into a beautiful chamber, where there was a table richly 

spread with all manner of good things ; and here they 

were served with all the wines and meats they could 

think of, which made the King greatly marvel, for he 

had never fared better in his life at any one supper. 

When they had supped at their leisure King Arthur 

was led into another chan1ber, more richly adorned than 

he had ever seen ; and so also was King U riens served; 

and Sir Accolon was led into a third chamber, passing 

richly and well adorned ; and so they went gladly to 

bed, and fell asleep at once. 

But on the morrow when he awoke, King Uriens 

found himself in Camelot, with his wife, Morgan le Fay, 

and this greatly astonished him, for on the evening 

before, he was two days' journey from Camelot. 

And when King Arthur awoke he found himself in 

a dark prison, hearing about him many complaints of 

woeful knights. 
"What are ye that · so complain ? " said King 

Arthur. 
:, W e be here twenty knights prisoners," said they, 

" and some of us have lain here seven years, and son1e 

more and some Jess. " 

" F or what cause ? ,, said Arthur. 

" W e will tell you,' ' said the knights. 
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" The lord of this Castle is nan1ed Sir Damas, and 
he is the falsest knight alive, and full of treason, and 
the veriest coward that ever lived. He has a younger 
brother, a good knight of prowess, named Sir Ontzlake, 
and this traitor Damas, the elder brother, will give 
him no part of his heritage, except what Sir Ontz­
lake can keep through his own prowess. But the 
younger brother holds a full fair manor and a rich, and 
therein he dwells in honour, and is well beloved of all 
people, while Sir Damas is equally ill beloved, for he is 
without mercy, and a coward. Great war has been 
betwixt them both, but Ontzlake always gets the 
better ; and he keeps offering Damas to fight for the 
heritage, man against man, and if he will not do it 
himself, to find a knight to fight for him. 

"Unto this Sir Damas agreed, but he is so hated 
that there is never a knight will fight for him. Seeing 
this, Damas hath daily lain in wait with many knights, 
and taken all the other knights in this country separately 
by force, as they rode on their adventures, and brought 
them to his prison. And many good knights, to the 
number of eighteen, have died in this prison from hunger. 
If any of us that have been here would have fought with 
his brother Ontzlake, he would have delivered us, but 
because this Damas is so false and so full of treason we 
would never fight for him, And we be so lean with 
hunger we ·can hardly stand on our feet." 

"God in His mercy deliver you," said Arthur. 
Just then there came a damsel to Arthur, and asked 

him "What cheer ? ,, 
" I cannot say,,, said he. 
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" Sir," said she, " if you will fight for my lord you 

shall be delivered out of prison, otherwise you will never 

escape with life." 
"Now," said Arthur, "that is hard, but I would 

rather fight with a knight than die in prison. On 

condition that I may be delivered, and all these prisoners, 

I will do the battle." 

" Yes," said the dan1sel. 

"I am ready," said Arthur, "if I had horse and 

" annour. 
"Ye shall lack nothing," was the reply. 

" It seems to me, damsel, that I have seen you 1n 

the Court of Arthur?" 

"Nay," said the damsel, "I never went there, I 

am the daughter of the lord of this Castle." 

Yet was she false, for she was one of the damsels -

of Morgan le Fay. 
Then she went quickly to Sir Damas, and told him 

how Arthur would do battle for hin1, and so he sent 

for Arthur. And when he can1e he wa~ so handsome 

and well-made that all the knights who saw him said 

it was a pity that such a knight should die in prison. 

Then Sir Damas and he agreed that he should fight 

for hin1 on this covenant-that all the other knights 

should be delivered. Sir Damas swore to Arthur that 

this should be done, and Arthur, in return, swore to do 

battle to the uttermost. 

And with that, all the twenty knights were brought 

out of the dark prison into the hall, and set at liberty. 

And so they all waited to see the battle. 
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The False Craft of Morgan le Fay 

Now let us turn to Sir Accolon of Gaul, who was 
with King Arthur and King ·uriens when they went to 
sleep on the magic ship. 

When he awoke he found himself by the side of a 
deep well, within half a foot of the edge, in great peril 
of death. Out of the fountain came a pipe of silver, 
and out of the pipe ran water all on high in a marble 
basin. 

When Sir Accolon saw this, he said : 
"Heaven save my lord King Arthur and King 

·uriens, for these damsels in the ship have betrayed us. 
They were demons, and no won1en, and if I escape this 
misadventure, I shall destroy wherever I find them all 
false damsels that use enchantments." 

At that moment up came a dwarf with a great 
mouth and a flat nose, who saluted Sir Accolon, and 
said he had come from Queen Morgan le Fay. 

" She greeteth you well, and biddeth you be of 
strong heart, for ye shall fight to-morrow with a knight 
at the hour of noon, and therefore she hath sent you 
here Excalibur, Arthur's sword, and the scabbard. She 
biddeth you, as ye love her, that ye do the battle to the 
uttermost, without any mercy, exactly as you promised 
her when ye spake together in private. And the damsel 
who brings her the head of the knight with whom ye 
shall fight, she will make her a queen." 

"Now I understand you well," said Accolon. "I 
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shall keep my promise now that I have the sword. 

Com1nend me unto my lady queen, and tell her all 

shall be done that I promised her, or else I shall die for 

it. Now I suppose," he added, " she has n1ade all 

these crafts and enchantments for this battle ? " 
"Ye may well believe it," said the dwarf. 

Then up ca1ne a knight with a lady and six squires, 

who saluted Sir Accolon, and begged him to go and 

rest himself at his manor. This knight was Sir Ontzlake, 

brother of Sir Damas, with whom King Arthur had 

already promised Damas to fight. So Accolon mounted 

a spare horse, and went with the knight to a fair manor 

by a priory, where he had passing good cheer. 

Sir D amas, meanwhile, had sent to his brother to 

bid him make ready by the next day, at the hour of 

noon, and to be in the field to fight with a good knight, 

for he had found a good knight who was ready to do 

battle at all points. When this word came to Sir 

Ontzlake he was much disturbed, for he was already 

wounded through both thighs with a spear, but hurt as 

he was he would have taken the battle in hand. But 

when Sir Accolon heard of the battle, and how Ontzlake 

was wounded, he said he would fight for him, because 

Morgan le Fay had sent him Excalibur and the sheath, 

to fight with the knight on the morrow. Then Sir 

Ontzlake was very glad, and thanked Sir Accolon with 

all his heart that he would do so much for him. 

The next morning when King Arthur was mounted 

and ready to ride forth, there came a damsel from 

Morgan le Fay, who brought to the King a sword like 

Excalibur, and the scabbard, and said : 
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"Morgan le Fay sendeth you here your sword for 
1 " great ove. 

He thanked her, and thought it had been so, but 

she was false, for the sword and the scabbard were 
counterfeit, and brittle, and false. 

Then King Arthur and Sir Accolon 1nade ready, 
48 



The False Craft of Morgan le Fay 

and their horses rushed so swiftly together, that each 

smote the other with their spear's head in the midst of 

the shield, so that both horse and man were borne to 

the earth ; and then both knights started up and pulled 

out their swords. The wicked Queen had cast a spell 

over them, so that neither knew the other. But while 

they were thus fighting, came the dan1sel of the lake, 

who had put Merlin under the stone, and she came for 

love of Arthur, for she knew how Morgan le Fay had 

so ordained that Arthur should be slain that day ; 

therefore Nimue came to save his life. 

Thus they went eagerly to the battle, and gave 

many great strokes. But King Arthur's sword never 

hit like Sir Accolon's sword ; nearly every stroke that 

Accolon gave he sorely wounded Arthur, so that it was 

a marvel he stood, and always his blood fell from him 

fast. When Arthur saw the ground all covered with 

blood, he was dismayed, and guessed there was treason, 

and that his sword had been changed. For his sword 

bit not steel as it was wont to do, wherefore he feared 

to be killed ; it seemed to · him that the sword in 

Accolon's hand was Excalibur, for at every stroke it 

drew blood, but he was so full of knighthood that he 

nobly endured the pain. And all the men that beheld 

him said they never saw knight fight so well as Arthur 

did, considering how sorely he was wounded. All 

th people were sorry for him, but the two brothers 

Sir D amas and Sir Ontzlake would not agree, so the 

knights went on fighting fiercely. Then suddenly 

King Arthur's sword broke at the hilt, and fell in the 

grass, leaving the pommel and the handle in his hand. 
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When he saw that, he greatly feared he would be killed, 
but always he held up his shield, and lost no ground, 
and bated no cheer. 

How King Arthur got his own Sword agam 

When Sir Accolon saw that King Arthur's sword 
was broken he tried to tempt him to give in. 

" Knight, thou art overcome and mayst not endure, 
and also-thou art weaponless, and thou hast lost much 
blood ; I am full loath to slay thee ; therefore yield 
thee to me as recreant." 

"Nay," said Arthur, "I may not so, for I have 
promised to do battle to the uttermost by the faith 
of n1y body, while life lasteth ; and therefore I had 
rather die with honour than live with shame ; and if it 
were possible to die a hundred times, I wot1ld rather 
die so often than yield me to thee, for though I lack 
weapon, I shall lack no honour, and if thou slay me 
weaponless, that shall be thy shame." 

"Well," said Accolon, " as for the shame I will not 
spare ; now keep thee from me, for thou art but a 
dead man," and therewith he gave him such a stroke 
that he fell nearly to the earth, and he hoped Arthur 
would have cried him mercy. 

But the King pressed forward to Accolon, and gav 
him such a buffet with the pommel of the broken sword 
that the knight went three strides back. 

When the damsel of the lake beheld Arthur, and 
how valorous he was, and the fal c treason that \vas 

50 



How Arthur got his Sword 
. 

again 

wrought to have him slain, she had great pity that so 
good a knight and noble a man should be destroyed. 
And by her enchantment, at the next stroke the sword 
fell out of Accolon's hand to the earth. Then Arthur 
leaped lightly to it, and got it in his hand, and im­
mediately he knew that it was his own sword Excalibur. 

"Thou hast been from me all too long," he cried, 
" and much damage hast thou done me." 

Then he espied the scabbard hanging by Accolon' s 
side, and he suddenly started to him, and seized the 
scabbard, and threw it from him as far as he could. 

" 0 knight ! " he said, " now are ye come unto 
your death, for I warrant ye shall be as well rewarded 
with this sword before ever we depart, a~ thou hast 
rewarded me." Therewith he rushed on him with all 
his might, and pulled him to the ground, and dashed 
off his helm, and gave hin1 such a buff et on the head 
that it nearly killed him. · 

"Now will I slay thee," said Arthur. . 
"Slay me ye well may, if it please you," said 

Accolon, "for ye are the best knight that ever I fo~nd, 
and I see well that God is with you. But because I 
promised to do this battle to the uttermost, and never 
to be recreant while I lived, therefore shall I never 
yield me with my mouth, but God do with my body 
what He will." 

Then King Arthur remembered him, and thought 
he must have seen this knight. 

"Now tell me," he said, "or I will slay thee, of 
what country art thou, and of what Court?" 

" Sir Knight," said Sir Accolon, " I am of the 
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Court of King Arthur, and my name is Accolon of 
Gaul." 

Then was Arthur more dismayed th2..n before, for 
he remembered his sister Morgan le Fay, and the 
enchantment of the ship. 

" 0, Sir Knight," he said, "I pray you tell me who 
gave you this sword ? " 

Then Sir Accolon told him how Morgan le Fay 
had sent it hin1 to the intent that he might kill King 
Arthur her brother. For King Arthur was the man in 
the world whom she most hated, because of his valour 
and renown. And if she should succeed in killing 
Arthur by her crafts, she would also lightly slay her 
husband, and then she had devised that Accolon should 
be king in the land, and she would be queen. 

" But that is now done," said Accolon, " for I am 
sure of my death. But now I have told you truth, I 
pray you tell me whence ye are, and of what Court?" 

"0, Accolon," said Arthur, " now I let you know 
that I am King Arthur, to whom thou hast done great 
d " am age. 

When Accolon heard that, he cried aloud : 
"Fair sweet lord, have mercy on me, for I knew 

' " you not. 
" Mercy thou shalt have, Sir Accolon," said 

Arthur, " because I see that just now thou knewest 
not my person. But I understand well by thy words 
that thou hast agreed to my death, and therefore thou 
art a traitor ; but I blame thee the less, for my sistrr 
Morgan le Fay by her false crafts made thee agree and 
consent to her wickedness." 
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Then King Arthur called the keepers of the field, 

and told them what had happened. 
" Had either of us known the other, here had been 

no battle, nor stroke stricken," he said. 

Then Sir Accolon cried aloud to all the knights 

and men that were there gathered together, " 0 

lords, this noble knight that I have fought with, 

for which I sorely repent, is the greatest man or 

prowess, of manhood, and of worship in the world, 

for it is King Arthur himself, the liege lord of 

us all ! " 
Then all the people fell down on their knees, and 

cried mercy of King Arthur, which the King 2,t once 

grante.d. 
Then he went on to deliver judgment between the 

two brothers for whom he and Sir A.ccolon had 

fought. As Sir Damas was a haughty knight, and full 

of villainy, he commanded that he should give to his 

younger brother the manor and all that belonged to it, 

and that in return Sir Ontzlake should yearly give him 

a palfrey to ride upon, for that would become him better 

to ride on than a charger. And on pain of death Sir 

Damas was evermore forbidden to distress any knights­

errant who rode on adventure. And to those twenty 

knights whom he had so long kept prisoner he was to 

restore all their armour. 
"And if any of them come to my Court and 

complain of thee, by my head thou shalt die for it," 

said the King. " And to you, Sir Ontzlake, because 

ye are named a good knight, and full of prowess, and 

true and gentle in all your deeds, this shall be your 
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charge : I bid you that in all goodly haste ye come 
unto me and my Court ; and ye shall be a knight of 
mme ; and if your deeds be truly thus, I will so prefer 

you · by the grace of God, that ye shall in a short time 
easily live in as much state as Sir Damas." 

Then King Arthur and Sir Accolon rode to a rich 
abbey near at hand, to rest themselves and have their 
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wounds attended to, and soon the King was well 

recovered. But Sir Accolon died within four days, for 

he was sorely hurt. 

When Accolon was dead, the King had him sent on 

on a horse-bier, with six knights to Camelot, and said : 

" Bear him to my sister Morgan le Fay, and say 

that I send him to her as a present ; and tell her that I 

have my sword Excalibur and the scabbard." 

The Mantle of Precious Stones 

When tidings can1e to Morgan le Fay that Accolon 

was dead, and that Arthur had his sword again, she 

was so sorrowful that her heart was like to break. 

But because she would not have it known, she out­

ward! y kept her countenance and made no sign of 

sorrow. But she knew well that if she abode where 

she was till her brother Arthur came, no gold would 

save her life, for he had sworn to be avenged. 

She went, therefore, to Queen Guinevere, and 

asked her leave to ride into the country. 

" You can wait," said Queen Guinevere, " till your 

brother the King comes." 

"I can not," said Morgan le Fay, "for I have such 

hasty tidings that I 111ay not tarry." 

"V\T ell," said Guinevere, "you may depart when 

you will." 
So early on the morrow, before it was day, she 

took her horse, and rode all that day and most part 

of the night, and on the n1orrow by noon she came to 
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the same abbey where King Arthur was. Knowing he 
was there, she asked how he was, and they answered 
that he was asleep in bed, for he had had but little rest 
these three nights. 

"Well," she said, " I charge you that none of you 
awake him till I do." 

Then she alighted off her horse, and thought to 
steal away Excalibur, his sword. So she went straight 
to his chamber, and no man durst disobey her command, 
and there she found Arthur asleep on his bed, and 
Excalibur in his right hand naked. When she saw 
that, she was greatly vexed that she could not get the 
sword unless she waked hin1, which she knew well 
would be her death. So she took the scabbard, and 
went her way on horseback. 

When the King awoke and missed the scabbard 
he was very angry, and he asked who had been there. 
They told him it was his sister, Morgan le Fay, who 
had put the scabbard under her mantle, and was gone. 

"Alas ! " said Arthur, "falsely have ye watched 
n1e ! " 

"Sir," said they all, "we durst not disobey your 
sister's command." 

" Fetch the best horse that can be found," said the 
King, "and bid Sir Ontzlake arm in all haste, and take 
another good horse and ride with me." 

So the King and Ontzlake were quickly well armed, 
and rode after Queen Morgan le Fay. Presently they 
met a cowherd, whom they asked if any lady had 
lately ridden that way. 

H Sir," said the poor man, "just now came a lady 
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riding with forty horsemen, and she rode to yonder 

forest.,, 

Then they spurred their horses, and fallowed fast, 

and within a little while Arthur had a sight of Morgan 

le Fay ; then he chased as fast as he could. When 

she espied hin1 following her, she quickened her pace 

through the forest till she came to a plain. And when 

she saw she could not escape she rode to a lake thereby, 

and said : " Whatsoever becometh of me, my brother 

shall not have this scabbard," and she threw it into 

the deepest of the water, so that it sank, for it was 

heavy with gold and precious stones. 

Then she rode into a valley, where many great 

stones were, and seeing that she must be overtaken she 

shaped herself, by enchantment, into a great marble 

stone. When the King came, with Ontzlake, he did 

not know his sister and her men, nor one knight from 

another. 
"Ah," said the King, "here ye may see the venge­

ance of God, and now I am sorry that this n1isadventure 

is befallen." 
Then he looked for the scabbard, but it could not be 

fou11d. So he returned to the abbey where he came from. 

When Arthur had gone, Morgan le Fay turned 

herself and all her knights back into the likeness that 

they were before, and said : "Sirs, now we n1ay go 

where we will." 
So she departed into the country of Gore, where 

she was richly received ; and she made her castles and 

towns passing strong, for always she dreaded much 

King Arthur. 
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After the King had well rested at the abbey, he rode 
to Camelot, where he found his Queen and his Barons 
right glad at his con1ing. When they heard of his 
strange adventures they all marvelled at the falsehood 
of Morgan le Fay; and because of her wicked 
enchantments many of the knights wished her burnt. 

The next day there can1e a damsel from Morgan 
to King Arthur, and she brought with her the richest 
mantle that ever was seen in that Court, for it was set 
as full of precious stones as they could stand one by 
another, and they were the richest stones that ever the 
King saw. 

"Your sister sendeth you this mantle," said the 
damsel, " and desireth that you should take this gift of 
her, and in what thing she hath offended you she will 
mend it at your own pleasure." 

When the King beheld the mantle it pleased him 
much, but he said but little. 

With that came the damsel of the lake to the King, 
and said: '' Sir, I must speak with you in private." 

"Say on," said the King, '' what ye will." 
'' Sir," said the damsel, "do not put this mantle 

on you till ye have seen more, and in no wise let it 
come on you nor on any knight -of yours till ye 
command the bringer thereof to put it on her." 

"Well," said King Arthur, '' it shall be done as 
you counsel me." Then he said to the damsel who 
came from his sister, "Damsel, this mantle that ye 
have brought n1e I will see it upon you." 

"Sir," said she, "it will not beseem me to wear a 
King's garment." 
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"By my head," said Arthur, "ye shall wear it 

before it goes on my back, or any man's that is here." 

So the mantle was put on her, and immediately she 

fell dead, and never spoke a word after, for she was 

burnt to a cinder. 
Then was Arthur terribly wroth, more than he was 

beforehand, and he said to King U riens : 

"My sister, your wife, is always about to betray 

me, and well I know that either you or my nephew, 

your son, is in council with her to have me destroyed. 

As for you, I do not much think you are in her 

council, for Accolon confessed to n1e with his own 

mouth that she would have destroyed you as well as 

me, therefore I hold you excused. But as for your 

son, Sir U waine, I hold him suspected, therefore I 

charge you put him out of my Court." 

So Sir Uwaine was dismissed. 

When Sir Gawaine, King Lot's son, knew this, he 

made ready to go with him. 

"Whoso banisheth my cousin shall banish me," he 

said, so they two departed. 

When Arthur was aware that Sir Gawaine had left 

the Court, there was much sorrow among all the lords. 

"Now," said Gaheris, Gawaine's brother, "we have 

lost two good knights for the sake of one." 

The Dream of the Dragon and the Boar 

After long war King Arthur rested, and held a 

royal feast with his allies of kings, princes, and noble 
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knights, all of the Round Table. And as he sat on 
his royal throne, there came into the hall twelve 
ancient n1en, bearing each of them a branch of olive, 
in token that they came as am bass ad ors and messengers 
from Lucius, Emperor of Rome. Having done their 
obeisance to the King they delivered their greeting 
from the Emperor Lucius, commanding Arthur to 
acknowledge him as lord, and pay the tribute due from 
EEgland to Rome, as his father and predecessors had 
done before. If he refused this demand, then strong 
war would be made against him, his realn1s and his 
subjects, so that it would be a perpetual example to all 
kings and princes who dared to deny tribute to Rome, · 
sovereign of the whole world. 

When they had delivered their message, the King 
commanded them to withdraw, and called together all 
his lords and knights of the Round Table, for counsel 
on the matter, and to give their advice. They all said 
the demand for tribute was unjust, and every man 
agreed to make war and to aid after his power ; the 
King of Scotland, the King of Little Britain, and the 
lord of West Wales, all promised men and money, 
and Sir Lancelot and the other knights also pro­
mised likewise. When King Arthur understood their 
courage and goodwill he thanked them heartily. The 
an1bassadors, laden with presents, were sent back to 
Rome, with the answer that he owed no tribute to 
earthly prince, Christian or heathen ; he claimed 
sovereignty of the realm of England by right of his 
predecessors ; and he was fully determined to go with 
a strong and powerful army to Rome, by the Grace of 
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God to take possession of the e1npire, and to subdue 

those that were rebellious. 

When the ambassadors returned with this message 

to Lucius, the Emperor sent over the whole world, to 

all don1inions that were subject to the Empire of Rome~ 

to summon warriors to fight against Arthur. So a 

great multitude of kings and dukes and captains, and 

thousands of people assembled round about Rome. 

Also he had with him fifty giants, who were ordained 

to guard his person, and to break the front of the 

battle of King Arthur. 

In the meanwhile King Arthur held a Parliament at 

York, and appointed that, during his absence, Queen 

Guinevere and the realm should be in the governance 

of Sir Baldwin of Britain and Sir Constantine, son of 

Sir Cador of Cornwall, who, after his death, became 

king of the reahn. Then King Arthur, with all his 

army, departed, sailing fr01n Sandwich, with a great 

multitude of ships, galleys, boats, and men-of-war. 

And as the King lay in his cabin in the ship he fell 

asleep, and drean1t a 1narvellous dream. It seemed to 

him that a dreadful dragon drowned much of his people, 

and he came flying out of the west ; his head was 

enamelled with azure, and his shoulders shone as gold, 

his body like 1nail of a marvellous hue, his tail full of 

tatters, his feet covered with sable, and his claws like 

fine gold; a hideous flame of fire flew out of his mouth, 

as if land and water all flamed fire. 

After hi1n there came out of the east a grimly boar, 

all black, in a cloud ; his paws were as big as a post, he 

was rough and rugged-looking-the vilest beast that 
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ever man saw ; he roared and grow led so hideously 
that it was a n1arvel to hear. 

Then the dreadful dragon advanced, and fought 
with the boar, who gnashed at him with his tusks, so 
that all the sea was red with blood ; but at last the 
dragon smote the boar to powder, both flesh and 
bones, so that it was scattered in fragments all abroad 
on the sea. 

Therewith King Arthur awoke, and was sorely 
abashed because of this dream, and he sent at once to a 
wise philosopher, commanding him to tell the meaning 
of it. 

" Sirt said the philosopher, " the dragon that thou 
dreame~st of betokeneth thine own person, and the 
colour of his wings be the realms that thou hast won ; 
and his tail which is all tattered signifieth the noble 
Knights of the Round Table. And the boar which the 
dragon slew, coming from the clouds, betokeneth some 
tyrant that tormenteth the people, or else thou art like 
to fight with some giant thyself, whose peer ye never 
yet saw. Wherefore of this dreadful dream doubt ye 
nothing, but as a conqueror go forth thyself." 

Soon after King Arthur's dream of the dragon and 
the boar they arrived in France, and here a husbandman 
came to Arthur and told him that for seven years a 
fearful giant had been ravaging the land of Brittany, 
and had slain, murdered, and devoured many people of 
the country. Lately he had seized the Duchess of 
Brittany as she rode with her train, and had carried her 
to his dwelling, which was in a mountain, to keep to 
her life's end. Many people followed her, more than 
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five hundred, but not all of them together could rescue 
her. 

"She was wife to thy cousin, Duke Howell, whom 
we call full nigh of thy blood," ended the man ; " now, 
as thou art a rightful King, have pity on this lady ; and, 
as thou art a noble conqueror, revenge us all." 

"Alas ! " said King Arthur, "this is a great mischief! 
I had rather than the best realm I have that I had been 
a furlong before him, to have rescued that lady. Now, 
fellow, canst thou bring me there where this giant 
haunteth ? " 

"Yea, sir," said the good n1an, "lo, yonder where 
thou seest those two great fires, there thou shalt find 
him, and more treasure than I suppose there is in all 
F " ranee. 

When the King understood this piteous case, he 
returned into his tent. There he called to him Sir 
Kay and Sir Bedivere, and commanded them secretly to 
make ready horse and arn1our for himself and them 
twain, for after evensong he would ride on pilgrimage 
with those two only to St. Michael's Mount. So they 
three departed, and rode forth as fast as ever they 
could, till they came to the foot of the Mount. There 
they alighted, and the King commanded them to tarry 
there, for he would hi1nself go up into the Mount. 

He ascended the hill till he came to a great fire, 
and there he found a widow wringing her hands, and 
making great sorrow, sitting by a grave new-made. 
King Arthur saluted her, and asked her why she n1ade 
such lamentation. 

"Sir knight, speak soft," she answered, " for yonder 
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is a devil. If he hear thee speak he will come and 
destroy thee. 0 unhappy man, what dost thou here 
in this mountain ? If ye were fifty such as ye be, ye 
were not able to make resistance against this monster. 
Here lieth a duchess dead, who was the fairest of all 
the world, wife to Howell, Duke of Brittany-he hath 
murdered her." 

" Dame," said the King, " I come from the noble 
conqueror King Arthur, to . treat with that tyrant for his 
liege people." 

" Fie upon such treaties ! " said the widow, "for he 
setteth not by the King, nor by any man. Beware, 
approach him not too near, for he hath vanquished 
fifteen kings, and hath made him a coat full of precious 
stones, embroidered with their beards, which they sent 
him to save their people this last Christmas. And 
if thou wilt, speak with him at yonder great fire, at 

" supper. 
"Well," said Arthur, "for all your fearful words, I 

will accomplish my message." 
Then he went forth by the crest of the hill, and 

saw the giant where he sat at supper, gnawing a huge 
bone, and baking his broad limbs by the fire, while 
three fair damsels turned three spits, whereon were 
broached twelve young children, like young birds. 
When King Arthur beheld this piteous sight, he had 
great compassion for them, so that his heart bled for 
sorrow, and he hailed the giant, saying : 

" He that wieldeth all the world give thee short life 
and shameful death ! Why hast thou murdered these 
young innocent children, and slain this duchess ? Arise 
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and make ready, thou glutton, for this day thou shalt 
die at my hand." 

Then the giant started up at once, and took a great 
club in his hand, and smote at the King, so that his 
helmet was crushed, and the King hit him again, and 
wounded him sorely. Then the giant threw away his 
club, and caught the King in his arms, so that he 
crushed his ribs. Then the three maidens knelt down 
and called to Christ for help and comfort to Arthur. 
The King wrestled and strove, so that sometimes he 
was under, and sometimes above, and thus wrestling 
and striving, they rolled down the hill, till they came to 
the sea-mark ; and ever as they wrestled, Arthur smote 
the giant with his dagger ; and thus it happened they 
came to the place where the two knights were with 
Arthur's horse. 

When they saw the King in the giant's arms they 
came and set him free, and by that time the giant was 
dead. King Arthur commanded them to smite off his 
head, and to set it on a spear, and bear it to Duke 
Howell, and tell him that his enemy was slain ; and 
afterwards to put the head on a tower that all people 
might behold it. 

" And go ye two up the mountain, and fetch me 
my shield, n1y sword, and the club of iron," said King 
Arthur. " And as for the treasure, take ye it, for ye 
shall find there goods out of number. So that I have 
the kirtle and the club, I desire no more." 

Then the knights fetched the club and the kirtle, 
and some of the treasure they took to themselves, and 
returned again to the army. And this was in1mediately 
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known all through the country, wherefore the people 
came and thanked the King. But he answered : 

" Give the thanks to God, and part the goods 
" among you. 

And after that, King Arthur con1manded his cousin 
Duke Howell that he should ordain a church to be 
built on that same mountain, in honour of St. Michael. 

The next day the King set out again on his 
expedition against the Emperor Lucius. After many 
fierce battles he defeated the Romans, killed Lucius, 
and was crowned Emperor of all the lands from Rome 
to France. Then he returned home in triumph with 
all his knights, crossing the sea, and landing at Sandwich, 
where Queen · Guinevere, his wife, came to meet him. 
All the people in every city and burgh received him 
nobly, and great gifts were presented to welcome him 
at his home-coming. 
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Sir Lancelot of the Lake 

The Strong Knight of the Forest 

AT the Court of King Arthur were many valiant 

knights, and some among them increased so in 

arms and worship that they surpassed all their fellows 

in prowess and noble deeds. But chief among them all 

was Sir Lancelot of the Lake, for in all tournaments 

and jousts and deeds of arms, both for life and 

death, he excelled all other knights, and never at any 

time was he overcon1e, unless it were by treason or 

enchantment. 
Because of this, Queen Guinevere held him 111 

higher favour than all other knights, and Sir Lancelot 
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for his part loved the Queen above all other ladies and 
damsels all his life ; and for her he did many deeds 
of arms, and more than once saved her from death by 
his noble chivalry. 

When King Arthur returned to England from 
Rome all the Knights of the Round Table resorted 
to him, and many jousts and tournaments were held. 
Sir Lancelot rested himself for some time with sport 
and play, but at last he longed again to make trial of 
himself in strange ad.veutures. Therefore, bidding his 
nephew Sir Lionel make ready, they mounted their 
horses, armed at all points, and rode into a deep forest, 
and so on to a wide plain. 

About noon the weather was very hot, and Sir 
Lancelot felt sleepy. Then Sir Lionel espied a great 
apple-tree that stood by a hedge, and he said : 

"Brother, yonder is a fair shadow ; there we may 
rest ourselves and our horses." 

" It is well said," answered Sir Lancelot ; "for this 
seven years I have not been so sleepy as I am now." 

So they alighted there, and tied their horses to a 
tree, and Lancelot lay down, and put his heln1 under 
his head, and fell very fast asleep. But Lionel kept 
awake. 

In the n1eanwhile came three knights riding, fleeing 
as fast as ever they could ride, and these three were 
followed by one knight. \Nhen Sir Lionel saw him 
he thought he had never se n so great a knight, nor 
so well faring a man, nor one so well apparelled. In 
a little while this strong knight overtook one of the 
three, and smote him to the cold earth, so that he lay 
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still. Then he rode to the second knight, and smote 
him so that both man and horse fell down. Then 
he rode straight at the third knight and smote him 
a spear's length behind his horse's tail. Then he 
alighted, and bound all the three knights fast with the 
reins of their own bridles. 

When Sir Lionel saw hin1 do thus he thought he 
would assay him, so making ready he took his horse 
very quietly in order not to awake Sir Lancelot. He 
soon overtook the strong knight, and bade him turn, 
but the latter smote Sir Lionel so hard that he bore 
horse and man to the earth. Then he alighted and 
bound him fast, and threw him and the three other 
knights each across his own horse, and rode with them 
away to his Castle. When he got there he took away 
their arn1our, and beat them with thorns, and put 
them into a deep dungeon, where there were many 
more knights who made n1uch lamentation. 

Sir Ector de Maris in the meanwhile, finding that 
Sir Lancelot had left the Court to seek adventures, was 
angry with hin1self, and made ready to go in search of 
him. Riding through a great forest he met a man 
who looked like a forester, and he asked this n1an if 
he knew of any adventures near at hand. The forester 
replied that within a n1ile was a strong manor, with 
a moat all round it ; and near the n1anor on the left 
hand was a ford for horses to drink from. At the 
ford grew a beautiful tree on which hung many fair 
shields that had one belonged to gallant knights. On 
the tree hung also a basin of brass and copper, and 
the for ster bade Sir Ector strike thrice on the basin 
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with the butt of his spear, and he would soon hear 
new tidings, unless he had the greatest luck of any 
knight who had passed through that forest for many 
a year. 

Thanking the man Sir Ector departed, and soon 
came to the tree, where he found many fair shields ; 
among them he saw his brother's shield, Sir Lionel, and 
n1any more that he knew were his fellows of the 
Round Table, which grieved his heart, and he promised 
to revenge his brother. 

He beat at once on the basin, as if he were mad, 
and then he gave his horse drink at the ford. There 
came a knight behind him, and bade him come out 
of the water and make him ready. Sir Ector turned 
sharply, and cast his spear, and smote the other knight 
a great buffet, so that his horse reeled twice round. 

"That was wdl done," said the strong knight, 
"and knightly hast thou stricken me ; " and therewith 
he rushed his horse on Sir Ector, and catching him 
under his right arm, he bore him clean out of the 
saddle, and rode with him away into his own hall, 
where he threw hin1 down in the middle of the floor. 

The name of this knight was Sir Turquine. 
"Because thou hast done this day more unto me 

than any knight did these twelve years," said he to 
Sir Ector, "now will I grant thee thy life, if thou 
wilt swear to be my prisoner all the days of thy 
1. I: ,, 
11e. 

"Nay," said Sir Ector, "that I will never promise 
thee." 

"I am sorry for that," said Sir Turquine. 
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Then he took Sir Ector's armour away, and beat 

him with thorns, and put him down in a deep dungeon, 

where he found many companions whom he knew. 

But when he saw Sir Lionel there he made great 

sorrow. "Alas," he said, "where is my brother Sir 

Lancelot ? '' 
" I left him asleep, under an apple-tre~, when I 

went from him," said Lionel, "and what is becon1e 

of him I cannot tell you." 

"Alas," said the knights, "unless Sir Lancelot help 

us we shall never be delivered, for we know now no 

knight that is able to match our master Turquine." 

The Four Queens 

In the meanwhile Sir Lancelot of the Lake still lay 

asleep under the apple-tree. Then about noon there 

came by four Queens of great estate; and in order that 

the heat of the sun should not annoy them there rode 

four knights beside them, bearing a cloth of green silk 

on four spears betwixt them and the sun ; and the 

Queens rode on four white mules. 

Thus as they rode they heard near then1 a great 

horse grimly neigh, and they were aware of a sleeping 

knight that lay all armed under an apple-tree ; and 

directly these Queens looked on his face they knew it 

was Sir Lancelot. Then they began to quarrel as to 

which should win his love, for each one of them said 

he should be her champion knight. 

"Do not let us quarrel," said Morgan le Fay, King 
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Arthur's sister, "I will put an enchantment on hin1 
that he shall not wake in six hours, and I will carry 
him away into my Castle. And when he is safely 
within my hold, I will take the enchantn1ent from him, 
and then let him choose which of us he shall have." 

So they threw a spell over Sir Lancelot, and then 
they laid him on his shield and bore him so on 
horseback between two knights to the Castle Chariot. 
There he was placed in a cold chamber, and at night 
they sent to him a fair damsel with his supper. By 
that time the enchantment was past, and when she 
came she saluted him, and asked, "What cheer ? " 

"I cannot say, fair damsel," said Sir Lancelot, "for 
I know not how I came into this Castle, unless it were 
by enchantment." 

"Sir," said she, "ye must make good cheer, and if 
ye be such a knight as ye are said to be, I wi ll tell you. 
n1ore to-morrow at dawn of day." 

So she departed, and there Lancelot lay all night 
without comfort of anybody. 

On the morrow early c:ame these four Queens, 
richly bedecked, and they bade him good-n1orrow, and 
he them again . Then they told him they knew well 
who he was-Sir Lancelot of the Lake, King Ban's 
son, the noblest knight alive. 

" We know well that no lady has thy love, but one, 
and that is Queen Guinevere ; now thou shalt lose her 
for ever, and she thee, therefore thou must now choose 
one of us four. I am the Queen Morgan le Fay, 
Queen of the land of Gore ; and here is the Queen of 
North Wales ; and the Queen of astland ; and the 
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Queen of the Outer Isles. Now choose ye one of us 
which thou wilt have, or else die in this prison." 

" That is a hard case," said Sir Lancelot, "that either 
I must die or choose one of you. Yet I would rather 
die in this prison with honour than have one of you to 
be 1ny lady against my will. And therefore ye are 
answered ; I will have none of you, for ye are false 
enchantresses." 

"Well," said the Queens, " is this your answer, that 
ye will ref use us ? " 

" Yea, on n1y life," said Sir Lancelot, " ye are re­
fused by n1e." 

So they departed, and left him there alone in great 
sorrow. 

At noon came the da1nsel to him with his dinner, 
and asked him, " What cheer?" 

"Truly, fair damsel," said Lancelot, "in all the 
days of 1ny life never so ill." 

" Sir," said she, " I am sorry for that, but if you 
will be ruled by me I will help you out of this distress, 
and ye shall have no shame or villainy, if you will make 

. " me a promise. 
" That I will grant you ; and I an1 sore afraid of 

these Queen sorceresses, for they have destroyed many 
a good knight." 

Then the da1nsel went on to say that on the next 
Tuesday her father had made. a tournament between 
himself and the King of North Wales, and if Sir 
Lancelot would be there to help her father she would 
deliver him early the next morning. 

" Fair maiden," said Lancelot, " tell me what 1s 
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your father's name, and then I will give you an 
" an~wer. 

"My father is King Bagdemagus, who was defeated 
at the last tournament by three knights of King 
Arthur's Court." 

" I know your father well for a noble king, and a 
good knight," said Lancelot, " and by my faith ye 
shall have my body ready to do your father and you 
service at that day." 

So the maiden thanked him and bade him be ready 
very early the next morning, and she would come and 
deliver him. He was to take his armour, and his 
horse, shield, and spear, and to ride to an abbey of 
white n1onks not ten miles away, where he was to stay, 
and there she would bring her father to him. 

" All this shall be done," said Sir Lancelot, " as I 
am true knight." 

The next morning the maiden came early, and found 
him ready. Then she took him through twelve locked 
doors, and brought hin1 to his armour ; and when he 
was well armed she led him to his own horse, and 
lightly he saddled him, and took a great spear in his 
hand, and rode forth. 

" Fair damsel," he said, " I shall not fail you, by 
the grace of God.'' 

So he rode in to a great forest all that day, and 
could never find any highway, and at last the night 
fell on him. 

The next day he came to the abbey, where the 
daughter of King Bagdemagus was waiting to receive 
him, and she gave him a glad welcome. In all haste 
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she sent for her father, who was within twelve miles of 
the abbey, and before evening he arrived with a gallant 
company of knights . Sir Lancelot told the King how 
he had been betrayed, and how his nephew Sir Lionel 
had departed from him he knew not where ; and how 
the King's daughter had delivered him out of prison,­
" therefore while I live I shall do her service, and all her 
kindred," he ended. 

"Then am I sure of your help on this coming 
Tuesday," said the King. 

" Yea, sir," said Lancelot, " I shall not fail you, for 
so I have promised my lady, your daughter. But, sir, 
what knights are they of my lord Arthur's that were 
with the King of North Wales?" 

The King replied that they were Sir Mador de la 
Porte, and Sir Mordred, and Sir Gahalatine, and against 
these three neither he nor his knights had any strength. · 

" Sir," said Lancelot, " as I hear say that the 
tournament shall be within three miles of this abbey, ye 
shall send unto me three knights of yours such as you 
trust, and look that the three knights have all white 
shields, and I also, and no pain ting on the shields. We 
four will come out of a little wood in the midst of both 
parties, and we will fall on the foremost of our enemies, 
and grieve them all we can ; and thus it shall not be 
known what knight I am." 

That night, which was the Sunday, they took their 
re t, and the next day King Bagdemagus departed ; 
and he sent to Sir Lancelot the three knights with the 
four white shields. 
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The Manor by the Ford 

On the Tuesday Sir Lancelot and the three knights 
from King Bagdemagus, with the white shields, lodged 
in a little leafy wood beside where the tournament 
would be held. And there were stands erected, so that 
lords and ladies could see, and give the prize. 

Then came into the field the King of North Wales 
with eight score of helms, and the three knights of 
Arthur stood by themselves. 

Then came into the field King Bagdemagus with 
four score helms. They put their spears in rest, and 
dashed at each other, and at the first encounter twelve 
knights of King Bagdemagus were slain, and six of the 
King of North Wales, and King Bagdemagus' party 
was driven far back; 

With that came Sir Lancelot of the Lake, and he 
thrust with his spear in the thickest of the press, and knight 
after knight went down before him, and among the 
throng he smote down the King of North Wales. King 
Arthur's three knights saw this deed of Lancelot's, and 
each in turn attacked him, and each was vanquished . 

After this he fought with twenty-eight knights, and 
overthrew every one of them, and then the knights of 
the King of North Wales would joust no more, and 
the prize was given to King Bagdemagus. 

So each party departed to his own place, and Sir 
Lancelot rode forth with King Bagdemagus to his Castle, 
where he had passing good cheer both with the King 
and his daughter, and they offered him great gifts. 
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On the morrow he took his leave, and told King 

Bagdemagus that he would go and seek his brother Sir 

Lionel, who went from him when he was asleep. So he 

took his horse, and commended them all to God. And 

to the King's daughter he said : 
"If ye have need any time of my service, I pray you 

let me know, and I shall not fail you as I am true 

knight." 
So Sir Lancelot departed, and by chance he came into 

the same forest where he was taken sleeping. And in 

the midst of a highway he met a damsel riding a white 

palfrey, and· they each saluted the other. 
" Fair damsel," said Sir Lancelot, " know ye in this 

country any adventures ? " 
" Sir Knight," said the damsel, "here are adventures 

near at hand, if thou darest prove them." 

" Why should I not prove adventures ? " said Sir 

Lancelot, "for that cause came I into the country." 

"Well," said she, "thou seemest indeed to be a 

good knight, and if thou dare meet with a good knight 

I will bring thee where is the best and the mightiest 

that ever thou found, so thou wilt tell me what is thy 

name, and what knight thou art." 

"To tell thee my name I am quite ready, truly it is 
Sir Lancelot of the Lake." 

"Sir, thou art a well-seeming knight ; here are 

adventures to suit thee. For hereby dwelleth a knight 

that will not be over-n1atched by any one I know, unless 

ye over-match him ; his name is Sir Turq uine. And, 

as I understand, he hath in his prison three score and 

four good knights of Arthur's Court, whom he hath won 
85 



. 
Sir Lancelot of the Lake 

with his own hands. But when ye have done this 
day's work ye shall promise me as ye are a true knight 
to go with me and help me and other damsels that are 
distressed daily with a false knight." 

" I will fulfil all your desire, damsel, so that you 
bring me to this knight." 

So she brought him to the ford and to the tree where 
hung the basin. 

Sir Lancelot let his horse drink, and then he beat 
with all his might on the basin with the butt of his 
spear, till at last the bottom fell out, but he saw nothing. 
He rode up and down in front of the gates of that 
manor for nearly half-an-hour ; then he was aware of 
a great knight coming who drove a horse before him, 
and acros;s the horse lay an armed knight, bound. As 
they came nearer and nearer Sir Lancelot thought he 
should know him, and then he saw it was Sir Gaheris, 
Gawaine's brother, a Knight of the Round Table. 

By that time Sir Turquine had seen Lancelot, and 
they both gripped their spears. 

"Now, fair knight," said Lancelot, "put that 
wounded knight off the horse, and let him rest awhile, 
and let us two prove our strength. For, as I am told, 
thou dost, and hast done, great despite and shame unto 
Knights of the Round Table ; therefore, now defend 
th l" ee. 

" If thou be of the Round Table I defy thee and all 
thy fellowship," said Sir Turq uine. 

"That is saying overmuch," said Sir Lancelot. 
Then they put their spears in rest, and came together 

with their horses as fast as they could run, and each 
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smote the other in the midst of their shields, so that the 

two horses' backs were broken. Both knights were 

astonished, and as soon as they could get clear of the 

• 
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horses they flung their shields in front of them, and 

drew their swords, and rushed together eagerly, so that 

neither shields nor armour could withstand their strokes. 

Within a little while they had both grim wounds, and 
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thus it fared for two hours or more. Then at the last 
they were both breathless, and stood leaning on their 
swords. · 

" Now, fellow," said Sir Turq uine, (( hold thy hand 
awhile, and tell me what I shall ask thee." 

(, Say on," said Lancelot. 
"Thou art the biggest man that ever I met withal, 

and the most skilled, and like one knight that I hate 
above all othet knights. If so be that thou art not he 
then I will willingly agree with thee, and for thy love I 
will deliver i'll the prisoners I have, who are three score 
and four, so thou wilt tell n1e thy name. And thou and 
I will be friends together and never fail, as long as I 
live." 

" Well said," answered Sir Lancelot, (( but since I 
n1ay have thy friendship, what knight is he whom thou 
so hatest above all others ? " 

(( Faithfully he is Sir Lancelot of the Lake, for he slew 
my brother at the Dolorous Tower, who was one of 
the best knights living. Therefore him I except, for 
may I once meet with him, the one of us shall n1ake 
an end of the other, I swear a vow. And for Sir 
Lancelot's sake I have slain a hundred good knights, 
and as many have I maimed, and many have died in 
prison, and still I have three score and four. But all 
shall be delivered if thou wilt tell me thy name, so it be 
that thou art not Sir Lancelot." 

" Now see I well," said Sir Lancelot, " that I might 
be such a man that I might have peace, and I might be 
such a man that there should be deadly war betwixt us. 
And now, Sir Knight, at thy request I desire that thou 
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learn and know that I an1 Lancelot of the Lake, King 
Ban's son, of Benwick, and true Knight of the Table 
Round. And now I defy thee, do thy best ! " 

" Ah, Lancelot," said Turq uine, " thou art most 
welcome to me that ever was knight, for we shall never 
part till the one of us be dead." 

Then they hustled together like two wild bulls, rash­
ing and lashing with their shields and swords. Thus 
they fought still two hours and more, and never would 
have rest. And Sir Turquine gave Sir Lancelot many 
wounds, so that all the ground there where they fought 
was bespeckled with blood. Then at the last Sir 
Turquine waxed fai:1t, and gave somewhat aback, and 
bore his shield low for weariness. Sir Lancelot espied 
this, and leaped upon him fiercely, and got him by the 
beaver of his helmet, and plucked him down on his 
knees. Then he quickly rased off his helm and smote 
his neck in sunder. 

And when Sir Lancelot had done this, he went to the 
damsel, and said : 

"Damsel, I am ready to go with you where you 
will have rne, but I have no horse." 

" Fair sir," said she, " take this wounded knight's 
horse, and send him to the Manor, and command him 
to deliver all the prisoners." 

So Lancelot went to Gaheris, and prayed him not to 
be aggrieved at lending him his horse. 

"Nay, fair lord," said Gaheris, "I will that ye take 
my horse at your own commandment, for ye have saved 
both me and 1ny horse ; and this day I say you are the 
be t knight in the world, for you have slain here in 
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my sight the n1ightiest man and the best knight, except 
you, that ever I saw. I pray you, sir, tell me your ,, 
name. 

"Sir, my name is Lancelot of the Lake, that ought to 
help you of right for King Arthur's sake, and in especial 
for my Lord Gawaine's sake, your own dear brother. 
And when you come within yonder Manor, I am sure 
you will find there many Knights of the Round Table, 
for I have seen many of their shields that I know on 
yonder tree. AnJ among them are my two kinsmen's 
shields, Sir Ector de Maris, and Sir Lionel. Wherefore 
I pray you, greet them all fr0-m me, and say that I bid 
them take such treasure as they find in the M anor, and 
that in any case let my kinsmen go to the Court and 
wait till I come, for by the Feast of Pentecost I 
purpose to be there ; for at this time I n1ust ride with 
this damsel to keep my promise." 

So Sir Lancelot departed, and Sir Gaheris went into 
the Manor, and there he found a yeoman porter, keep­
ing many keys. Sir Gaheris quickly threw the porter 
to the ground, and took the keys from him, and 
hastily he opened the prison door, and let out all 
the prisoners; and every man loosed each other's 
bonds. 

When they saw Gaheris they all thanked him, for 
they saw he was wounded. 

" Not so," said Gaheris, " it was Lancelot that slew 
your captor, I saw it with my own eyes. And he 
greeteth you all well, and prayeth you to hasten to 
Court ; and as for Sir Lionel and Sir ctor de Maris, 
he prayeth you to wait for him at Court." 
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"That shall we not do," said the brothers, "we 
will find him, if we live." 

" So shall I find hin1 before I go to Court, as I an1 
true knight," said Sir Kay. 

Then all the knights sought the house where the 
armour was, and armed themselves, and every knight 
found his own horse, and all that belonged to him. 
And when this was done there came a forester with 
four horses laden with fat venison. 

" Here is good meat for us for one meal," said Sir 
Kay, "for we have had no good repast for many a day." 

So the venison was roasted, baked, and boiled, and 
after supper some of the knights abode there in the 
Manor all that night, but Sir Lionel and Ector de Maris 
and Sir Kay rode after Sir Lancelot to find him if they 
could. 

How Sir Lancelot slew two Giants 

Sir Lancelot rode away with the damsel, as he had 
promised, to aid her against the wicked knight who 
robbed and distres£ed all ladies and gentlewomen. 

" He doth shame unto the order of knighthood and 
contrary unto his oath," he said ; "it is pity that he 
liveth. But, fair dan1sel, you shall ride on in front, and 
I will keep myself in covert, and if he trouble or 
distress you, I will rescue you, and teach him to be 
ruled as a knight." 

So the maid rode gently along the highway. 
Soon out of the wood came the wicked knight 
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on horseback, and his page with him, and he took the 
damsel from her horse, and she cried out. 

With that came Sir Lancelot as fast as he 
could. 

" 0 thou false knight, and traitor unto knighthood!" 
he said. " Who taught thee to distress ladies and 
gentlewomen ? " 

When the knight heard this rebuke he made no 
answer, but drew his sword and rode at Sir Lancelot. 
Then Lancelot threw his spear from him, and drew out 
his sword, and struck him such a buffet on the helmet 
that he clave his head and neck to the throat. 

" Now thou hast thy payment which thou hast long 
deserved, and that is truth," said the damsel. " For as 
Sir Turq uine watched to destroy knights, so did this 
knight wait to destroy and distress ladies, damsels, and 
gentlewomen ; and his name was Sir Peris of Forest 
Savage." 

"Now, damsel," said Sir Lancelot, "will ye any 
more service of me ? " 

"Nay, sir, not at this time," she said, "but Christ 
preserve you wheresoever you ride or go ! For the 
courtliest knight thou art, and meekest unto all laclies 
and gentlewomen that now liveth." 

And so Sir Lancelot and she parted. 
Then Sir Lancelot rode in a deep forest two days 

and more, and had hard lodging. On the third day he 
rode over a long bridge, and there suddenly started out 
on him a horrible churl, who smote his horse on the 
nose so that it turned away, and asked him why he rode 
over that bridge without his permission. 
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"Why should I not ride this way ? " said Sir 
Lancelot. 

" Thou shalt no l choose," said the churl, and lashed 
at him with a great club shod with iron. 

Then Sir Lancelot drew his sword and thrust the 
stroke aside, and cleft the villain's head. 

t the end of the bridge was a fair village, and all 
the people, men and women, cried to Sir L ancelot : 
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"A worse deed for thyself didst thou never, for 
thou hast slain the chief porter of our Castle.'' 

Sir Lancelot let them say what they would, and 
went straight into the Castle ; and when he came there 
he alighted, and tied his horse to a ring on the wall. 
There he saw a fair green court, and to this he went, 
for he thought it was a good place to fight in. And 
looking about he saw many people at the doors and 
windows, who said : 

"Fair knight, thou art in evil luck ! " 
Soon there came upon him two great giants, well 

armed, all except the heads, and with two horrible clubs 
in their hands. Flinging his shield before him, Sir 
Lancelot turned away the stroke of the one giant, and 
with his sword clave his head asunder. When his 
companion saw that, he ran away as if he were mad, 
for fear of the horrible strokes ; but L ancelot ran after 
him with all his n1ight, and smote hin1 on the shoulder, 
and killed him. 

Then Sir Lancelot went into the hall, and there 
came sixty ladies and damsels, who all knelt to him and 
thanked God and him for their deliverance. 

"For, sir," said they, "most of us have been 
prisoners here seven years, and we have worked all 
manner of silk works for our meat, and we are all high­
born gentlewomen. Blessed be the time, knight, that 
ever thou wert born, for thou hast done the nobJest 
deed that ever knight did, and that we will bear 
record. We all pray thee to tell us thy name, that 
we may tell our friends who delivered us out of 

. " pnson. 
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" Fair damsels," he said, " my name is Sir Lancelot 
of the Lake." 

"Ah, sir," said they, " well mayst thou be he, for 
save thyself, as we deemed, there might never knight 
have the better of these two giants. M any good 
knights have assayed it, and here have ended, and many 
times have we wished for thee, for these two giants 
dreaded no knight but thee." 

"Now you can say to your friends how and by 
whom you have been delivered," said Lancelot, "and 
greet them all from me. What treasure there is in 
this Castle I give it all to you, as a reward for your 
grievance ; and the lord that is owner of this Castle, I 
would that he receive it, as is right." 

"The name of this Castle is Tintagel," said the 
ladies, " and for s01ne time a duke had it, who was 
wedded to the fair Igraine. And after his death she 
married King Uther Pendragon, and Arthur was their 

" son. 
" Well," said Sir Lancelot, " I understand now to 

w ho1n this Castle belongs." 
And so he com1nended them to God, and de,.. 

parted. 
Then he n1ounted his horse, and rode into many wild 

and strange countries, and through many waters and 
valleys, and evil was he lodged. At last one night he 
happened by chance to come to a fair courtyard, and 
there he found an old gentlewon1an who lodged hin1 with 
a good will, and he had good cheer for himself and his 
horse. And when it was time, his host took him to a 
fair roo1n over the gate, to go to bed. There Sir 
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Lancelot unarmed him, and set his arn1our beside him, 
and went to bed, and quickly fell asleep. 

Soon after, came one on horseback, and knocked at 
the gate in great haste. When Sir Lancelot heard this 
he arose, and looking out at the window, he saw by the 
moonlight three knights con1e riding after that one 
knight, and all three lashed on hin1 at once with swords, 
and that one knight turned on then1 valiantly again, and 
defended himself. 

"Truly," said Sir Lancelot, " yonder one knight 
shall I help, for it were shame to rne to see three knights 
on one, and if he be slain, I am partner in his death." 

Therewith he took his armour, and went out of the 
window, letting hin1self down by a sheet, to the four 
knights. 

"Turn, you knights, unto n1e ! " he cried aloud, 
"and leave your fighting with that knight." 

Then they all left the other, who was Sir Kay, and 
turned to Sir Lancelot, and there began a great battle, 
for they all three alighted, and struck great strokes at 
Lancelot, and assailed him on every side. But when 
Sir Kay would have gone to Lancelot's help, the latter 
bade him let then1 fight hin1 alone, so to please him, Sir 
Kay stood aside. And quickly then, in six strokes, Sir 
Lancelot had stricken them to the earth. 

Then they all cried, " Sir Knight, we yield us unto 
you as a man of matchless 1night.'' 

"As to that," said Sir ancelot, "I will not take 
your yielding unto me, but if ye yield you unto Sir 
Kay the Seneschal, on that covenant I will save your 
lives, and not else." 



How Sir Lancelot slew two Giants 

"That were we loath to do, fair knight," they said, 
"for as for Sir Kay we chased him hither, and had 
overcome him, if you had not been here ; therefore 
there is no reason why we should yield to _him." 

" As to that, be well ad vised," said Lancelot, " for 
you can choose whether you shall die or live ; but if 
you yield, it shall be to Sir Kay." 

"Well," they answered, "as you have saved our 
lives, we will do as you command." 

Then Lancelot bade them go to the Court of King 
Arthur on the coming Whitsunday, and there yield 
them to Queen Guinevere, and put themselves in her 
grace and mercy, saying that Sir Kay had sent them 
to be her prisoners. And every knight swore faithfully 
upon his sword that he would do this. So Sir Lancelot 
suffered them to depart. 

Then he knocked at the gate with the pommel of 
his sword, and therewith came his host, and in they 
entered, Sir Kay and he. 

His host had heard nothing 
and was surprised to see them. 
thought you were in your bed." 

of the disturbance, 
" Sir," he said, " I 

"So I was," said Sir Lancelot, "but I arose and leaped 
out of my window to help an old cornrade of mine." 

And so when they came near the light Sir Kay knew 
well that it was Sir Lancelot, and he knelt down and 
thanked him for all his kindness, because he had 
this second time helped him from death. 

"Sir, ' said Lancelot, " I have done nothing but 
what I ought to do, so you are welcome ; and here 
shall you repose, and take your rest." 
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When Sir Kay was unarmed he asked for some 
food, which was brought him, and he ate hungrily. 
After he had supped, he and Sir Lancelot went to their 
beds, and lodged together in one room. 

In the morning Sir Lancelot rose early, and left Sir 
Kay sleeping ; and Sir Lancelot took Sir Kay's armour 
and his shield, and armed himself; then he went to the 
stable and fetched his horse, and took leave of his host, 
and so he departed. 

Then soon after Sir Kay arose and missed Sir 
Lancelot ; and then he espied that he had taken his 
armour and his horse. 

" Now by my faith I know well that he will grieve 
some of the Court of King Arthur ; for knights will be 
bold to him, believing him to be me, and thus they will 
be deceived. And because of his armour and shield I 
am sure I shall ride in peace." 

·Then Sir Kay thanked his host, and soon departed. 

Chapel Perilous and the Wicked Sorceress 

Sir Lancelot, dressed in Sir Kay's armour, rode long 
in a great forest, and at last he came to a flat country, 
full of fair rivers and meadows. Before him he saw a 
long bridge, and on it three pavilions of silk and sandal, 
of different colours. Outside the pavilions hung three 
white shields on truncheons of spears, and great long 
spears stood upright by the pavilions, and at every 
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pavilion door stood a squire. Sir Lancelot passed by 
these and spoke no word. 

"There goes the proud Sir Kay," said the knights 
to whom the pavilions belonged. " He thinks no knight 
so good as himself, but the contrary has often been 

d
,, 

prove . 
"By my faith I will assay him, for all his pride," 

said one of the knights," and you shall see how I speed." 
And arming himself he rode quickly after Lancelot, 
and challenged him to fight. 

But Sir Lancelot smote hin1 down, horse and man, 
and after that, when the other two knights came to their 
brother's assistance, he overthrew them too. One of 
then1 started up with his head all bleeding and came 
straight to Sir Lancelot. 

" Now let be," said Lancelot, " I was not far fron1 
thee when thou wert made knight, Sir Raynold, and 
also I know thou art a good knight, and loath I should 
be to slay thee." 

"Gramercy, as for your goodness," said Sir Rayno'Jd, 
" and I dare say as for me and 1n y brethren we will not 
be loath to yield to you, if we knew your nan1e ; for 
well we know you are not Sir Kay." 

" As for that, be it as it may," answered Lancelot, 
" for ye shall yield you unto Queen Guinevere. 
Look that ye be with her on Whitsunday, and yield 
you unto her as prisoners, and say that Sir Kay sent you 
unto her.'' 

Then they swore it should be done, and Lancelot 
went on his way. 

Riding on through the deep forest he saw there in 
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a glade four knights standing under an oak. They 
were all of King Arthur's Court, and Sir Lancelot knew 
them well,-they were Sagramour le Desirous, Sir Ector 
de Maris, .Sir Gawaine, and Sir Uwaine. When they 
saw Lancelot they thought by his armour it was Sir 
Kay, so they agreed to fight him, to test his power. 
But Sir Lancelot rode at them all in turn, and over­
threw them all, and went on his way smiling. 

"What say ye of this deed," said Gawaine, "that 
one spear hath felled us four ? " 

" We commend him to the devil," said they all, 
"for he is a man of great might." 

" Ye n1ay well say that he is a man of might," said 
Gawaine, " for I dare lay my head it is Sir Lancelot, I 
know it by his riding. Let him go, for when we get 
to the Court then we shall know." 

Sir Lancelot rode on for a great while in the deep 
forest, and at last he saw a black dog seeking about as 
if it were in the track of a hurt deer, and then he saw 
on the ground a trail of blood. So he rode after the dog, 
which kept looking back at him. It went through a 
great marsh, and Lancelot followed, and then he saw an 
old manor, and thither the dog ran across a bridge. 
Riding over the bridge, which was old and feeble, Sir 
Lancelot came presently to a great hall, and in the 
n1idst he saw lying a dead knight, a noble-looking 
man, and the dog licked his wounds. 

Then there came out a lady weeping and wringing 
her hands. 

"Oh, knight," she said, "too much sorrow hast 
thou brought me!" 
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"Why say you so ? " said Sir Lancelot. " I never 
did this knight any harm, for hither by track of blood 
this dog brought me. Therefore, fair lady, be not 

displeased with me, for I am full sorely grieved for 
your grievance. 

,, 

"Truly, sir," she said, ' ' I know it is not you who 
have slain n1y husband for he who did the deed is 

IOI 



• 

Sir Lancelot of the Lake 

sorely wounded, and never likely to recover ,-I shall 
make sure of that." 

"What was your husband's name ? " asked Sir 
Lancelot. 

" Sir," said she, " his name was called Sir Gilbert, 
one of the best knights of the world, and I know not 
the name of him that hath slain him." 

" Now God send you better comfort," said Sir 
Lancelot, and so he departed. 

Then he went again into the forest, and there he 
met with a damsel who knew him well. 

" Well found, my lord ! " she said. " Now I require 
thee on thy knighthood help my brother, who is sore 
wounded. For this day he fought with Sir Gilbert, 
and slew him in plain battle, and there my brother was 
sorely wounded. And there is a lady, a sorceress, who 
dwells in a castle close by, and this day she told n1e 
my brother's wounds would never be whole till I could 
find a knight who would go into the Chapel Perilous, 
and there he would find a sword and a blood-stained 
cloth that Sir Gilbert was lapped in ; and the sword 
and a piece of that cloth should heal my brother's 

d " woun s. 
"This is a marvellous thing," said Lancelot, "but 

what is your brother's name ? " 
" Sir," said she, " his name is Sir Meliot de 

L " ogres. 
"I am sorry for that," said Lancelot, "for he is 

a fellow of the Round Table, and to help him I will 
do all in my power." 

"Then, sir," said the damsel, " follow this high-
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way, and it will bring you to the Chapel Perilous. 
And here I shall bide till God send you here again ; 
and unless you succeed I know no knight living who 
may achieve that adventure." 

So Sir Lancelot departed, and when he came to the 
Chapel Perilous he alighted, and tied his horse to a 
little gate. 

As soon as he was within the churchyard he saw 
many rich shields, turned upside down, and many of 
the shields Sir Lancelot had seen knights bear formerly. 

Then he saw standing there by him thirty great 
knights, each taller by a yard than any he had ever 
seen, and all these grinned an.cl gnashed at Sir Lancelot. 
When he saw their countenance he wa.s in sore dread, 
so he put his shield before him, and took his sword in 
his hand, ready for battle ; and all the knights were 
armed in black harness, ready with their shields and 
their swords drawn. But when Sir Lancelot would 
have passed through them, they scattered on every side, 
and gave him way, whereupon he waxed quite bold, 
and entered the chapel. 

There he saw no light but a dim lamp burning, and 
then he was aware of a dead body covered with a cloth 
of silk. 

Sir Lancelot stooped down and cut away a piece of 
the cloth, whereupon it seemed as if the earth quaked a 
little, at which he feared. Then he saw a fair sword 
lying by the dead knight, and he took the sword in 
his hand and went out of the chapel. 

As soon as ever he was in the chapel-yard all the 
knights spoke to him with a grim voice. 
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"Knight, Sir Lancelot, lay that sword fron1 thee, 
or else thou shalt die." 

" Whether I live or die," said Lancelot, " no big 
words will get it again, therefore fight for it, if you 
choose," and right so he passed through them. 

Beyond the chapel-yard there met him a fair damsel, 
who said : 

cc Sir Lancelot, leave that sword behind thee, or 
thou wilt die for it." 

"I shall not leave it, for any entreaties," said 
Lancelot. 

" No," said she, cc if thou didst leave that sword, 
thou wouldst never again see Queen Guinevere." 

"Then I were a fool if I left it," said Lancelot. 
"Now, gentle knight," said the dan1sel, cc I reqmre 

thee to kiss me but once." 
cc Nay," said Lancelot, cc God forbid ! " 
cc Well, sir," said she, " if thou hadst kissed me, 

all the days of thy life would have been done. But 
now, alas ! " she said, cc I have lost all my labour, for 
I ordained the chapel for thy sake. And now, Sir 
Lancelot, I tell thee I have loved thee these seven 
years, but no woman may have thy love but Queen 
Guinevere ; since I might not rejoice to have thee alive, 
I had no greater joy in this world than to have thy 
body dead. Then would I have had it embalmed, and 
preserved, and so have kept it all the days of my 
life, and daily I would have kissed thee, in spite of 
Queen Guinevere." 

"Ye say well," said Sir Lancelot. "God preserve 
me from thy subtle crafts ! " 
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And therewith he took his horse, and departed 
from her. 

And when Sir Lancelot departed she took such 
sorrow that she died within a fortnight ; and her 
nan1e was Hellawes, the sorceress, lady of the Castle 
Nigramous. 

Sir Lancelot soon met with the damsel, Sir Meliot' s 
sister, and when she saw him, she clapped her hands, 
and wept for joy, and then they rode to a castle near 
by where Sir Meliot lay. 

Directly Sir Lancelot saw him he recognized him 
as one of Arthur's knights, but Sir Meliot was as pale 
as death fron1 bleeding ; then Lancelot sprang to him, 
and touched his wounds with Sir Gilbert's sword, and 
wiped them with a piece of the cloth in which Sir Gilbert 
had been wrapped, and immediately Sir Meliot was 
more well and strong than he had ever been in his life. 

Then there was great joy between them, and they 
made Sir Lancelot all the cheer they could. When Sir 
Lancelot took his leave in the morning, he bade Sir 
M eliot hie to the Court of King Arthur, for it drew 
nigh to the Feast of Pentecost, and there by the grace 
of God he would find him. 

The Deceit of the Falcon 

In this way Sir L ancelot rode through many 
strange countries, over marshes and valleys, till by 
for tune he came to a fai r castle, and as he passed 
beyond the castle he thought he heard two bells rmg. 
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Then he was aware of a falcon that came flying over 
his head to a high elm ; long lines were about her feet, 
and as she flew into the elm to take her perch the lines 
caught in a bough. When she would have taken her 
flight, she hung by the legs fast, and Sir Lancelot saw 
how she hung, and was sorry for the beautiful peregrine 
falcon. 

Meanwhile a lady came out of the castle, and cried : 
" 0, Lancelot, Lancelot, as thou art flower of all 

knights, help me to get my hawk, for if my hawk be 
lost, my lord will destroy me. For I kept the hawk, 
and she slipped from me, and if my husband know it, 
he is so hasty he will slay me." 

"What is your husband's name?" said Lancelot. 
"Sir," she said, "his name is Sir Phelot, a knight 

of the King of North Wales." 
"Well, fair lady, since you know my name and 

require n1e of knighthood to help you, I will do what 
I can to get your hawk ; and yet truly I am an ill 
climber, and the tree is passing high, and there are 
few boughs to help me." 

Therewith Sir Lancelot alighted, and tied his horse 
to the san1e tree, and begged the lady to help him off 
with his armour. And when he was unarmed he put 
off all his clothes to his shirt and breeches, and with 
might and skill he climbed up to the falcon, and tied 
the lines to a great, rotten branch, and threw it and 
the falcon down. 

The lady at once took hold of the falcon. Then 
suddenly out of the grove came Sir Phelot, her husband, 
all armed, and with his naked sword in his hand. 
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" 0 knight, Lancelot, now have I found thee as I 

would," he said, and stood at the bole of the tree to 

slay him. 
"Ah, lady," said Sir Lancelot, "why have you 

betrayed me ? " 
"She has only done as I con1n1anded her," said Sir 

Phelot, "and therefore there is no help for it but thine ... 

hour is come that thou must die." 
.. . 

"That were shame unto thee," said Sir Lancelot, 

"thou an armed knight to slay an unarmed man by 

treason." 
" Thou get test no other grace.," said Sir Phelot, 

" therefore help thyself if thou canst." 

"Truly," said Lancelot, "that shall b~ thy shan1e ; 

but since thou wilt do no other, take my arn1our with 

thee, and hang my sword upon a bough that I may 

get it, and then do thy best to slay me, if thou canst." 

"Nay, nay," said Sir Phelot, "for I know thee 

better than thou thinkest, therefore thou gettest no 

weapon, if I can keep thee fron1 it." 

cc Alas ! " said Sir Lancelot, cc that ever a knight 

should die weaponless ! " 
Then he looked above him, and under him, and 

over his head he saw a great branch, leafless, with 

other branches growing out of it, and this he broke 

off from the trunk. Then he came lower, and marked 

how his own horse stood, and suddenly he leaped on 

the farther side of the horse from the knight. Sir 

Phelot lashed at him eagerly, thinking to have slain 

him ; but Sir Lancelot thrust away the stroke with 

the branch, and smote him on the side of the head, 
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so that he fell in a swoon to the ground. Then 
Lancelot took Sir Phelot's sword out of his hand, and 
struck off his head. 

"Alas, why hast thou slain my husband ? " cried 
the lady. 

"I an1 not to blame," said Sir Lancelot, "for with 
falsehood ye would have slain me by treason, and 
now it has fallen on you both." 

Then the lady swooned as though she would die. 
Sir Lancelot got all his armour as wdl as he could, 

and put it on him, for he dreaded further attack, 
because the knight's castle was so near. As quickly 
as possible he took his horse and departed, thanking 
God that he had escaped that adventure. 

Two days before the Feast of Pentecost he went 
home, and the King and all the Court rejoiced greatly 
at his coming. When the four knights with whom 
he had fought in the wood saw Sir Lancelot in Kay's 
armour they knew well it was he who had smote them 
all down with one spear, and there was much laughing 
and smiling among then1. And now all the knights 
whom Sir Turquine had kept as prisoners came 
trooping home, and they all honoured and worshipped 
Sir Lancelot. When Sir Gaheris heard them speak, he 
said, '' I saw all the battle, from the beginning to the 
end," and there he told King Arthur how it was, and 
how Sir 'rurquine was the strongest knight that ever 
he saw, except Sir Lancelot ; and there were nearly 
three score knights who bore hin1 record. 

Then Sir Kay told the King how Sir Lancelot had 
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rescued him when he would have been slain in the 

night, outside the manor where Lancelot was lodging; 
and how he made the knights yield to Sir Kay, and 
not to himself. And there the knights were, all three, 
and bare record. 

"And by n1y faith," said Sir Kay, "because Sir 
Lancelot took my harness and left me his, I rode in 
good peace, and no n1an would touch n1e." 

Then also came the three knights who fought 
with Lancelot at the long bridge, and they would have 
yielded them at the Court to Sir Kay; but Sir Kay 
refused them, and said he never fought with them. 

"But I will ease your hearts," he said ; "yonder 
1s Sir Lancelot, who overcame you." 

When they knew that, they were glad. 
Then Sir Meliot de Logres can1e home, and told 

King Arthur how Sir Lancelot had saved him from 

death by facing the unknown dangers, and the evil 

spells in the Chapel Perilous. · 
And all his deeds were known,-how four Queens, 

sorceresses, had him in prison, and how he was 
delivered by King Bagdemagus' daughter. Also 
there were told all the great deeds of arms that Sir 
Lancelot did in the tournament betwixt the two kings, 
that is to say, the King of North Wales and King 

Bagdemagus. 

So at that time Sir Lancelot had the greatest name 

of any knight of the world, and he was the most 

honoured, both by high and low. 
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The Three Gifts 

O NCE when King Arthur held his Round Table 
in its full glory, it happened that he commanded 

that the high Feast of Pentecost should be held at a 
castle in a city which in those days was called Kink­
Kenadon, upon the sands that n1arched next Wales. 
The King had always a special cu tom at the -j east of 
Pentecost,-namely, that he would not sit down to 
meat until he had heard of, or seen, a great marvel. 
And because of thi_s custom all manner of strange 
adventures came before Arthur at that feast more than 
at any other festival in the year. 

· On this day of Pentecost, a little before noon, Sir 
Gawaine espied from a window three n1en on horseback 
and a dwarf on foot. The three men alighted, and the 
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dwarf kept their horses, and one of the three men was 
taller than the other two by a foot and a half. 

Then Sir Gawaine went to the King, and said : 
" Sir, go to your meat, for here at hand come strange 

ad ventures." 
So Arthur went to meat with many other Kings, 

and all the Knights of the Round Table were there, 
save those who were prisoners or who had been slain 
in battle. For at the high feast the whole number of 
one hundred and fifty should always be present, for 
then was the Round Table fully complete. 

Then came into the hall two men, richly clad, with 
the goodliest young man and the fairest that they had 
ever seen leaning on their shoulders, as if he could not 
go by himself. He was large and tall, and broad in 
the shoulders, handsome of face, and had the largest 
and most beautiful hands that ever a man saw. 

As soot) as · King Arthur saw him, place and room 
were made, and the two strange men went with him 
right up to the high da1s without saying a word. 

Then this great young man pulled himself back, 
and easily stretched up straight, saying : 

" King Arthur, God bless you and all your fair 
fellowship, and in especial the fellowship of the Round 
Table. And for this cause I am come hither, to pray 
you and require you to give me three gifts, and they 
shall not be unreasonably asked, but such as ye may 
worshipfully and honourably grant to n1e, at no great 
hurt or loss. The first gift I will ask now, and the 
other two gifts I will ask this day twelvemonth, 
wheresoever you hold your high feast." 
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"Nov,v askt said Arthur, "and ye shall have your 
asking.'' 

" Sir, this is my petition for this feast-that you 
will give me meat and drink sufficient for this twelve­
month, and at that day I will ask my other two 
gifts." 

"My fair son," said Arthur, "ask better, I counsel 
thee, for this is but a simple asking ; my heart assures 
me greatly that thou art come of men of worship, and 
much my judgment fails me unless thou prove a man 
of right good worship." 

"Sir," said the young man, "let that be as it may, 
I have asked that which I will ask." 

"Well," said the King, <c you shall have meat and 
drink enough, I never forbade that to any one, either 
my friend or my foe. But what is your name ? " 

" I cannot tell you.'' 
"That is a marvel, that thou knowest not thy name," 

said the King. "Thou art the goodliest young man 
that ever I saw." And he went to Sir Kay, the steward, 
and charged him that he should give the stranger lad all 
manner of meat and drinks of the best, and that he 
should be provided for in every way as if he were a 
lord's son. 

"There is little need to spend so much on him," 
said Sir Kay, " for I dare undertake he is of mean birth, 
and will never make a man ; if he had come of gentle 
folk he would have asked of you horse and armour, but 
he asks according to his own nature. And since he hath 
no name I will give him one- Beaumains, that is,' Fair­
hands '- and I will bring him into the kitchen, and 
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there he shall have rich broth every day, so that by the 

twelve months' end he shall be as fat as a pork hog." 

So the two strange n1en departed, leaving the tall lad 

to Sir Kay, who scorned and mocked him. 

Sir Ga waine and Sir Lancelot were very angry at 

the way in which Sir Kay treated the lad, but the 

steward persisted he would never make a man of 

worship, because he only desired meat and drink. 

He bade him get a place and sit down to meat, so 

Beaumains went to the hall door, and sat down among 

the serving boys and lads, and there he ate sadly. 

After the meal Sir Lancelot bade him come to his 

chamber, and there he should have n1eat and drink 

enough, and Sir Gawaine offered the same. But he 

refused then1 both. He would do nothing but what 

Sir Kay commanded him. 
As for Sir Gawaine, it was natural he should offer 

Beaumains lodging, with meat and drink, for the boy 

was nearer kin to him than he guessed. But what Sir 

Lancelot did was of his great gentleness and courtesy. 

So Beaumains was put into the kitchen, and lay 

nightly as the boys of the kitchen did. And he en­

dured it all a twelven1onth, and never displeased 1nan 

or child, but was always meek and mild. But if ever 

there were any jousting of knights, he would see it, if 

he could. Sir Lancelot and Sir Gawaine often gave 

him gold to spend, and clothes. Wherever there were 

any feats of skill and strength, there Beaun1ains would 

be, and no one could cast bar or stone as he did, by 

two yards. Then Sir Kay would say : 

"How like you n1y boy of the kitchen?" 
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So time passed till the feast of Whitsuntide came 

round again. And that year the King held it at Carleon 
in most royal fashion. But on Whitsunday, according 
to his custom, he would eat no meat until he heard 
some adventure. Then there · came a squire to the 
King, and said, "Sir, you may go to meat, for here 
cometh a damsel with some strange adventures," 
whereupon the King was glad, and sat down. 

At that moment a damsel came into the hall, and 
saluted the King, and prayed succour of hin1. 

" For whom ? " said the King. "What is the 
adventure ? " 

"Sir," said she, " I have a lady of great worship 
and renown, and she is besieged by a tyrant, so that 
she cannot get out of her castle. And because in this 
your Court are the noblest knights of the world, I come 
t f '' o pray succour o you. 

"What is your lady called, and where dwelleth 
she? And who is he, and what is his name, who 
hath besieged her ? " 

"Sir King," said the damsel, "as for my lady's 
name, that ye shall not know from me at present, but 
on my word she is a lady of great worship, and of 
many lands. As for the tyrant who besieges her and 
destroys her lands, he is called the Red Knight of the 
Red Lawns." 

" I know him not," said the King. 
"Sir," said Gawaine, "I know him well, for he is 

one of the most dangerous knights in the world. 
Men say that he hath seven men's strength, and from 
him I escaped once full hardly with my life." 
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"Fair damsel," said the King, "there be knights 
here who would do their utmost to rescue your lady, 
but because you will not tell her name, nor where she 
dwells, therefore by my will none of my knights that 
are now here shall go with you." 

"Then I must seek further," said the damsel. 
As she said these words Beaumains came before the 

King, a11d spoke : 
"Sir King, God thank you, I have been these twelve 

months in yo~r kitchen, and have had my full sustenance, 
and now I will ask my two gifts that are left." 

"Ask," said the King. 
"Sir, these shall be my two gifts. First, that you 

will grant n1e to have this adventure of the damsel, for 
it belongs to me." 

"Thou shalt have it," said the King, "I grant it 
thee." 

"Then, sir, this is the other gift, that thou shalt 
bid Lancelot of the L ake make me knight, for of him I 
will be made knight, or else of none. Therefore when 
I am gone I pray you let hin1 ride after n1e, and make 
me knight when I require him." 

" All this shall be done," said the King. 
" Fie on thee ! " said the damsei. " Shall I have 

none but one that is your kitchen page ? '' 
T hen she took her horse, in great wrath, and 

departed. 
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The Scornful Damsel 

Then came a messenger to Beaumains and told him 
that his horse and armour had come, and that the 
dwarf was there with everything he · needed, in the 
richest style. All the Court marvelled greatly where 
such beautiful array came from. When he was armed 
there were few indeed who looked so goodly as he. 

Thus he came into the hall, and took his leave of 
King Arthur, and Sir Gawaine, and Sir Lancelot ; and 
begging the latter to follow after him, he departed, 
and rode after the damsel. 

Many followed him to behold how well he was 
horsed, and trapped in cloth of gold, but he had neither 
shield nor spear. Then Sir Kay said all openly in the 
hall: 

"I will ride after my boy of the kitchen, to find 
out whether he will know me for his better." 

Sir Lancelot and Sir Gawaine said, " Ye had best 
abide at home." But Sir Kay made ready and took 
horse and spear, and rode after Beaumains. 

Just as Beaumains overtook the damsel, up came 
Sir Kay. 

" Beaumains ! What, sir, do you not know me ? " 
he cried. 

Beaumains turned his horse, and knew it was Sir 
Kay, who had always treated him with scorn. 

"Yes," he said, "I know you for an ungentle 
knight of the Court, and therefore, beware of me." 

Therewith Sir Kay put spear in rest and ran straight 
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at him, and Beaumains, sword in hand, came equally 

fast against Sir Kay. With his sword he dashed away 

Sir Kay's spear, and thrust him in the side, so that he 

fell down as if he had been dead. Then Beaumains 

alighted and took Sir Kay's shield and spear, and 

bidding his dwarf mount Sir Kay's horse, he sprang 

upon his own horse and rode away. 

Sir Lancelot saw all that had happened, and so did 

the dan1sel, and Sir Lancelot having by this time come 

up to them, Beaumains offered to joust with him. 

They can1e together so fiercely that each bore down 

the other to the earth, and sorely were they bruised. 

Then Lancelot arose, and helped Beaumains to get free 

from his horse. Throwing his shield from him, Beau­

mains offered to fight with Sir Lancelot on foot. They 

rushed together like boars, tracing, racing, and faining, 

for the whole of an hour, and Sir Lancelot marvelled at 

the strength of Beaumains, for he fought more like a 

giant than a knight, and his fighting was steady and 

very dangerous. 
Sir Lancelot had such ado to hold his own that he 

dreaded being disgraced. 
" Beaumains," he said, " fight not so sore, your 

quarrel and mine is not so great but we may leave off." 

"Truly that is truth," said Beaumains, "but it doth 

me good to feel your might ; and yet, my lord, I did 

not show my utmost strength." 
''Well," said Sir Lancelot, '' I swear to you that I 

had as much as I could do to save myself from you 

unshamed, therefore have no doubt of any earthly 

knight.'' 
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" Do you hope that I may ever at any tin1e stand a 

proved knight ? " said Beaumains. 
"Yes," said Lancelot, "do as you have done, and I 

will be your warrant." 
"Then I pray you give me the order of knight­

hood." 
"Well, you must tell me your name and of what 

kin you are born." 
" Sir, if you will not reveal it, I will." 
"Nay," said Sir Lancelot, "and that I pr01nise you 

by the faith of my body, until it be openly known." 
" Then, sir, my name is Gareth," said Beaumains, 

" and I am the brother of Sir Gawaine, by the san1e 
father and mother." 

"Now I am more than ever rejoiced," said 
Lancelot, "for I always thought you must be of noble 
race, and that you came not to the Court either for 
meat or drink." 

And then Sir Lancelot gave him the order of 
knighthood. 

After this, Lancelot left Beaumains, and went to 
Sir Kay, and had him carried home on his shield. 
Sir Kay barely escaped with his life, and all men 
scorned him, and in especial Sir Gawaine ; and Sir 
Lancelot said it was not his part to rebuke any young 
man, when he knew little of what birth he came, and 
for what cause he came to Court. 

In the meanwhile Beaumains had overtaken the 
dan1sel, but as soon as he came near she cried rudely: 

" What are you doing here ? You smell of the 
kitchen ! Your clothes reek of the grease and tallow 
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that you gained in King Arthur's kitchen. Do you 

suppose I will accept you because of yonder knight you 

killed ? Nay, truly, for you slew him by ill chance, 

and cowardly. Therefore turn back, vile kitchen 

page ! I know you well, for Sir Kay named you 

Beaumains. What are you but a clumsy fellow, and 

a turner of spits, and a ladle-washer ? " 

" Damsel," replied Beaumains, " say to me what 

you will; I will not go from you, whatsoever you say, 

for I have undertaken to King Arthur to achieve your 

adventure. I shall finish it to the end, or I shall die 

for it." 
" Fie on thee, kitchen knave ! Will you finish 

my adventure? You will meet one whom, for all the 

broth that ever you supped, you would not once look 

m the face." 
"I'll try," said Beaumains. 

As they rode thus in the forest there came a man 

flying as fast as he could. 

"0, lord," he said, "help me, for hard by in a . 

glade are six robbers who have taken my lord and 

bound him ; I am afraid lest they slay him." 

"Take me there," said Beaumains. 

So they went together till they came to where the 

knight was bound, and then Sir Beaumains rode at 

the robbers, and struck one unto death, and then 

another, and at the third stroke he slew the third 

robber ; and then the other three fled. Beaumains 

rode after them and overtook them, whereupon they 

all assailed him hard, but at last he slew them, and 

returned and unbound the knight . 
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The knight thanked him, and prayed him to ride 

with him to his Castle a little way off, and he would 
reward him honourably for his good deeds. 

"Sir," said Beaumains, " I will have no reward. 
This day I was made knight of noble Sir Lancelot, and 
therefore I will have no reward, except God reward 
me. And also I must follow this damsel." 

But when he can1e near she bade him ride at a 
distance. 

"You smell of the kitchen ! " she said scornfully. 
"Do you think I am glad to have you? For this 
deed you have done is nothing but chance. You shall 
soon see a sight that will make you turn again, and 
that briskly ! " 

Then the san1e knight who had been rescued from 
the robbers rode after the damsel, and begged her to 
lodge with hin1 that evening. And because it was near 
night the damsel rode with him to his Castle, and there 
they were made very welcome. 

At supper the knight placed Beaumains above the 
damsel. 

" Fie, fie, Sir Knight ! " she said. " You are 
uncourteous to set a kitchen page above me ! He is 
better fitting to kill a pig than to sit above a lady of 
high parentage." 

The knight was ashamed at her rude words, and 
taking Beaumains he placed him at a side-table, and 
sat down himself beside him. 

They had good cheer, and rested well that night. 
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The Black Knight of the Black Lawns 

On the morrow the damsel and Beaumains, thanking 

the knight, took their leave, and rode on their way 

until they came to a great forest. Here there was a 

great river, and but one passage, and two knights were 

ready on the further side to stop their crossing. 
"What sayest thou ? " said the damsel. " Wilt 

thou match yonder knights, or turn again ? '' 
" Nay," said Sir Beaumains, "I will not turn again 

if there were six more." 
Thereupon he rushed into the water, and one of 

the knights did the same. They fought in the 

midst of the river, and Beaumains smote the knight 
on the helm, so that he fell down into · the water and 

was drowned. Then Beaumains spurred his horse to 

the further side of the river, where the other knight 

fell upon hin1 and brake his spear, and so they drew 

their swords and fought long together. But at last 
Beaumains clave his head and his helm down to the 

shoulders. 
Then he went back to the damsel and bade her ride 

forth on her way. 
" Alas,". she said, "that ever a kitchen page should 

have the fortune to destroy two such doughty knights! 
Thou imaginest thou hast done valiantly ! That is 

not so ; as for the first knight, his horse stumbled, and 
there he was drowned in the water,-it was never by 

thy strength nor thy might. And the last knight, by 
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mishap thou earnest behind him, and by evil luck thou 
slewest hin1." 

"Dan1sel," said Beaumains, "you may say what 
you will, but with whomsoever I have to do I trust 
to God to vanquish him before he departs, and 
therefore I reek not what you say, if only I may 
reach your lady." 

"Fie, fie, kitchen knave ! Thou shalt see knights 
who shall abate thy boast ! " 

" Fair damsel, give me goodly language, and then 
I mind nothing ; for what knights soever they be I 
care not, neither do I fear them." 

"I say it for thine own sake," she said, " that 
thou mayst yet turn back with triumph ; for if thou 
follow me thou art but slain, for I see that all thou 
ever dost is but by misadventure, and not by prowess 
of thy hands." 

"Well, damsel, you may say what you will, but 
wheresoever you go, I will follow you." 

So Beaumains rode with the lady until evensong 
time, and ever she chid him and would not rest. 
Then they came to a black lawn, where there was a 
black hawthorn ; thereon hung a black banner, and on 
the other side hung a black shield ; by the tree stood 
a black spear, great and long, and a great black horse 
covered with silk, and a black stone fast by. 

There sat a knight all armed in black harness, and 
his name was the Knight of the Black Lawn. 

When the damsel saw the knight, she bade 
Beaumains flee down the valley, for the black horse 
was not saddled. 
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" Thanks," said Beaumains, "for always ye would 

have n1e a coward ! " 
With that, the Black Knight, when she came near 

him, spoke and said : 
" Damsel, have ye brought this knight of King 

Arthur to be your champion?" 
"Nay, fair knight," said she, " this is but a kitchen 

knave, who was fed in King Arthur's kitchen for alms." 
" Why cometh he in such array?" said the knight. 

"It is shame that he beareth you company." 
" Sir, I cannot be delivered fron1 him," she said, 

" for with me he rideth, in spite of all I can do. 
Would that you would put him from me, or else slay 
hin1 if you can, for he is an unhappy knave, and 
unhappily he hath done this day. Through mishap 
I saw him slay two knights at the passage of the water ; 
and other deeds he did before, right n1arvellous, and 
through ill fortune." 

" It astonishes me that any man who is of worship 
will have to do with him," said the knight. 

"They know hin1 not," replied the damsel, " and 
because he rideth with me they think he is some man 
of high birth." 

"That may be," said the Black Knight. "Howbeit 
as ye say he is no man of worship, he is a right goodly 
person, and full like to be a strong man. But thus 
much I will grant you," he continued ; "I shall put 
him down on foot, and his horse and his harness he 
shall leave with me, for it were shame to me to do him 

h " any n1ore arm. 
When Sir Beaumains heard him say this, he said : 
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"Sir Knight, thou art full liberal of my horse and 

my harness. I let thee know it cost thee nothing, and 

whether it liketh thee or not, this lawn will I pass, in 

spite of thee. And horse or harness gettest thou none 

of me unless thou win then1 with thy hands ; and there­

fore let see what thou canst do ! " 
" Sayst thou that?" said the Black Knight. " Now 

yield thy lady from thee, for it beseemeth never a 

kitchen page to ride with such a lady." 
" Thou liest," said Beaumains ; "I am a gentleman 

born, and of more high lineage than thou, and that I 

will prove on thy body." 
Then in great wrath they drew apart their horses, 

and came together as if it had been thunder; and the 

Black Knight's spear broke, and Beaumains thrust him 

through both his sides, and therewith his spear broke, 

and the truncheon was left still in his side. Neverthe­

less the Black Knight drew his sword, and smote many 

eager strokes and of great might, and hurt Beaumains 

full sore. But at the last, within an hour and a half, 

the Black Knight fell down off his horse in a swoon, 

and there he died. 
Beaumains seeing him so well horsed and armed, 

alighted, and arn1ed himself in his armour, and taking 

his horse he rode after the damsel. When she saw 

him come near she cried : 
"Away, kitchen knave, out of the wind, for the 

smell of thy greasy clothes grieveth me ! Alas," she 

said, "that ever such a knave as thou art should by 

mishap slay so good a knight as thou hast done, but all 

this is thy evil luck ! But hereby is one who shall pay 
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thee all thy payment, and therefore still I counsel 

thee-flee ! " 
"It may happen n1e to be beaten or slain," said 

Beaumains, " but I warn you, fair dan1sel, I will not 

flee away nor leave your company for all that ye can 

say ; ye are for ever declaring they will kill me or beat 

me, but howsoever it happeneth, I escape, and they lie 

on the ground. And therefore it were good for you 

to hold you still, thus all day rebuking me, for I will 

not go away till I see the very end of this journey, 

unless I am slain, or truly beaten. Therefore ride on 

your way, for follow you I will, whatsoever happen." 

The Green Knight 

As Beaumains and the damsel rode together they 

saw a knight come driving by them all in green, both 

his horse and his harness ; and when he came near the 

damsel he asked her, "Is that my brother the Black 

Knight that ye have brought with you ? " 
"Nay, nay," said she, "this unhappy kitchen knave 

hath slain your brother through evil chance." 

" Alas," said the Green Knight, " it is great pity 

that so noble a knight as he was should so unhappily 

be slain, and above all by a knave's hand, as ye say he 

is. Ah, traitor, ye shall die for slaying of my brother ; 

he was a full noble knight, and his name was Sir 

Percard." 
" I defy thee," said Beaumains, "for I let thee 

know I slew him knightly, and not shamefully." 
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Therewith the Green Knight rode to a horn, which 
was green, and which hung on a thorn tree ; and he 
blew three deadly notes, and there came two dan1sels, 
who quickly armed him. Then he took a great horse, 
and a green shield and a green spear. Beaun1ains 
and the Green Knight charged with all their might, and 
their spears broke up to their hands. Then they drew 
their swords, and gave many sad strokes, and each of 
them sorely wounded the other. And at the last 
Beaumains' horse struck the Green Knight's upon the 
side, and it fell to the earth. 

The Green Knight lightly leaped clear of his horse, 
and prepared to fight on foot, and Beaumains seeing 
this, also alighted, and they rushed together like two 
mighty champions, and long was the battle. Then 
the scornful damsel came near and began to taunt the 
Black Knight's brother. 

"My lord the Green Knight, why for shame stand 
ye so long fighting with the kitchen knave ? Alas, it is 
shame that ever ye were n1ade knight, to see such 
a- lad match such a knight, as if the weed overgrew 
the corn." 

At this the Green Knight was ashamed and there­
withal he gave a n1ighty stroke, and clave Beaumains' 
shield through. When Beaumains saw his shield cloven 
asunder he was vexed at that stroke, and at the damsel's 
language, and he gave the Green Knight such a buffet 
on the helm that he fell on his knees ; and thus 
suddenly Beaumains pulled him upon the groun~ 
grovelling. 

Then the Green Knight cried him mercy, and 
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yielded hirn to Sir Beaumains, and prayed him to slay 

hin1 not. 
" All is in vain," said Beaumai11s, "for thou shalt 

die, unless this damsel that came with me pray n1e to 

save thy life." 
Therewith he unlaced his helm as if he would slay 

him. 
" Fie upon thee, false kitchen page ! " cried the 

damsel, " I will never pray thee to save his life, for I 

never will be so much in thy power." 

" Then shall he die," said Beaurnains. 

" Thou wilt never be so bold as to kill him, thou 

knave ! " said the damsel. 
" Alas," said the Green Knight, "suffer me not to 

die, for a fair word 111ay save me. Gentle knight, save 

my life, and I will forgive thee the death of my brother, 

and for ever become thy man ; and thirty knights that 

follow 111e shall for ever do you service." 

"Now in the fiend's name that such a low kitchen 

knave should have thee and thirty knights' service ! " 

said the damsel. · 

" Sir Knight," said Beaun1ains, " all this availeth 

thee not unless my damsel speak with me for thy 

life." And therewithal he made a semblance of 

slaying him. 
" Let be, thou knave," said the damsel, "slay him 

not, for if thou do, thou shalt repent it." 

"Damsel," said Beaumains, "your charge is to me 

a pleasure, and at your commandment his life shall be 

saved, and not else." Then he said, "Sir Knight 

with the green anns, I release thee at this damsel's 
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request, for I will not make her wroth ; I will fulfil all 
that she charge th me.'' 

Then the Green Knight knelt down and did him 
homage with his sword. 

Then said the damsel : 
" I am sorry, Green Knight, for your damage, and 

for your brother's death, the Black Knight, for of your 
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help I have great need, for I sorely dread to pass this 
forest." 

" Nay, dread not," said the Green Knight, " for ye 
shall lodge with me this night, and to-morrow I will 
help you through the forest." 

So they took their horses and rode to his Manor, 

which was hard by. 
The damsel never ceased from rebuking Beaumains, 

and whe11 they reached the Manor she would not suffer 
him to sit at her table, so the Green Knight took hin1 
and set him at a side-table. 

" I marvel," he said to the damsel, " why ye rebuke 
this noble knight as ye do, for I warn you, damsel, he 
is a full noble knight, and I know no knight able to 
match him ; therefore ye do great wrong to rebuke 
him, for he shall do you right good service. What­
soever he maketh himself out, ye shall prove at the 
end that he is come of noble blood, and of king's 

lineage." 
" Fie, fie," said the damsel, " it is shame of you to 

say such honour of him." 
"Truly," said the Green Knight, "it were shame of 

me to say of him any dishonour, for he hath proved 
himself a better knight than I am, yet have I n1et with 
many knights in my day, and never before this time 
have I found any knight his match." 

So they went to rest, and all that night the Green 
Knight commanded thirty knights privily to watch 
Beaumains, to shield him from treason. 

On the morrow they all arose, and having said their 
prayer , and brok n their fast, they took their horses 
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and rode on their way. The Green Knight conveyed 
them through the forest, and there he said : 

"My lord Beaumains, I and these thirty knights 
shall be alway at your summons, both early and late, at 
your calling, and wherever ye send us." 

"It is well said," answered Beaun1ains. " When I 
call upon you, ye must yield you unto King Arthur, 
and all your knights." 

"If ye so command us we shall be ready at all times," 
said the Green Knight. 

" Fie, fie upon thee," cried the damsel, " that any 
good knights should be obedient to a kitchen knave ! " 

So the Green Knight departed. 
"Why followest thou me, thou kitchen boy ? " said 

the damsel rudely to Beaumains. "Cast away thy 
shield and thy spear, and flee away, I still counsel thee 
betimes, or thou shalt say right soon,' A las!' For wert 
thou brave as ever was Wade, or Lancelot, Tristram, 
or the good knight Sir Lamorak, thou shalt not cross a 
pass here that is called the Pass P erilous." 

" Damsel," said Beaumains, " he that is afeard, let 
him flee ; it were shame to turn back since I have 
ridden so long with you." 

" Well," said the damsel, " you will soon, whether 
you wish it or not." 

The Scornful D amsel grows Kind 

Within a li t tle while they saw a tower as white as 
snow, having a double moat, and the parapets of the 
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walls well provided with holes for hurling stones or 

pouring molten lead on the heads of any foes who 

might besiege it. Over the tower gate hung fifty 

shields of divers colours, and under the tower was a 

fair meadow. In the meadow were many knights and 

squires looking after scaffolds and pavilions, for on the 

morrow was to be a great tournament there. 

The lord of the Castle was called the Red Knight, 

and he was the brother of the Black Knight and the 

Green Knight. 
When he saw Beaun1ains, he came forth to fight with 

him, but after a furious struggle Beaumains vanquished 

him. He declared he would only spare his life at the 

request of the scornful damsel, so unwillingly she had 

to beg n1ercy for him. Then the Red Knight did 

homage to Sir Beaumains, and offered him his fealty at 

all times, he and his three score knights, to do him 

service and bidding whensoever and wheresoever he 

con1manded. 
That night Beaumains and the damsel lodged in 

the Castle of the Red Knight, and the next morning 

they went on their way. 
But all this time the scornful damsel kept scolding 

and rebuking Beaumains in the rudest manner. 

" Damsel," said Beaumain s, " you are uncourteous 

to rebuke me as you do, for it seems to me I have done 

you good service ; you keep on threatening me I shall 

be beaten by knights whom we meet, but ever, for all 

your boast, they lie in the dust or in the mire ; 

therefore, I pray you, rebuke n1e no more. When you 

see n1e beaten or yielding as recreant, then you may bid 
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me go from you in disgrace ; but first I let you know 
I will not depart from you, for I were worse than fool 
if I went when all the time I am winning honour." 

" Well," said she, "right soon thou shalt meet a 

knight who will pay thee all thy wages, for he is the 
man of greatest renown in the world, except King 
Arthur.'' 

" I wish nothing better," said Beaumains. " The 
n1ore renowned he is, the more it shall be to my renown 
to have to do with him." 

Then they were soon aware of a rich and beautiful 

city before them, and between them and the city for the 
space of a mile and a half stretched a fair meadow, that 

seemed newly mown, and therein were many pavilions, 

splendid to see. 
"Lo," said the dan1sel, "yonder is a lord who 

owneth yonder city, and it is his custom when the 
weather is fair to live in this meadow to joust and 
tourney ; and he has always about him five hundred 
knights and gentlemen of arms, and there are all 
manner of games that any gentleman can devise." 

" I would fain see that goodly lord," said 

Beaurnains. 
"Thou shalt see him in time enough," said the 

damsel ; and just then, as they rode near, she espied the 

pavilion where he was. '' Lo," said she, " seest thou 
yonder pavilion that is of the colour of Incle-dark blue? 
And everything that is about, men and women, and 

horses with trappings, shields and spears, all the colour 
of Incle ? His name is Sir Persant of Incle, the lordliest 

knight that ever thou lookedst on." 
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" It may well be," said Beaumains, "but be he never 

so stout a knight, in this field I shall abide till I see him 

under his shield." 

" Ah, fool, thou hadst better flee betimes." 

"Why ? " said Beaumains. "If he be such a 

knight as ye make hin1, he will not set upon me with 

all his men, or with his five hundred knights. For if 

there come no more but one at a time, I shall not fail 

him, while my life lasteth." 

" Fie, fie," said the damsel, "that ever a kitchen 

knave should utter such a boast ! " 

" Damsel," he said, " ye are to blame thus to rebuke 

me, for I would rather fight five battles than thus to be 

rebuked. Let him come, and then let him do his 

worst." 
"Sir," she said, "I marvel of what kin thou art 

come ; boldly thou speakest, and boldly hast thou done, 

that have I seen. Therefore I pray thee save thyself if 

thou canst, for thy horse and thou have had great 

travail, and I dread we stay over long from the siege, 

for it is but seven miles hence. And we are past all 

perilous passages, save only this passage ; and here I 

sorely dread lest ye shall catch some hurt. Therefore I 

would you were hence, that you may not be bruised by 

this strong knight. But I tell you, this Sir Persant of 

Incle is nothing of might nor strength to the knight 

who laid the siege against n1y lady." 

"As for that," said Beaumains, "be it as it may, 

for since I have come so nigh this knight I will prove 

his n1ight before I depart from him, else I shall be 

shamed if I now withdraw. Therefore, damsel, doubt 
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not that by the grace of God I shall so deal with this 
knight that within two hours after noon I shall be free 
from him, and then we shall come to the siege by 
daylight."-

'°' Oh, indeed I n1arvel what manner of n1an you be," 
said the damsel, " for it cannot be otherwise than that 
ye come of noble blood, for so rude and shan1efully did 
never woman rule a knight as I have done you, and 
ever courteously ye have suffered me, and that never 
came but of gentle blood." 

"Damsel," said Beaumains, " a knight can do little 
that cannot suffer a woman. Whatsoever ye said to me 
I took no heed to your words, for the more you said, 
the more you angered me, and my wrath I wreaked upon 
those with whom I had to do withal. Therefore all the 
unseemly words you spoke furthered me in my battle, 
and caused me to resolve to show and prove myself 
what in the end I was ; for peradventure, though I had 
meat in King Arthur's kitchen, yet I might have had 
n1eat enough in other places. But all this I did to prove 
and assay my friends, and that shall be known another 
day. Whether I be a gentleman born or none, fair 
damsel, I have done you gentleman's service, and per­
adventure better service will I yet do before I depart 
I: " irom you. 

" Alas," she said, " fair Beaumains, forgive me all I 
have missaid or done against thee." 

"With all my heart I forgive it you," he said, " for 
you did nothing but as you should do, for all your evil 
words pleased me. And, damsel, since you speak thus 
fairly to me, know well it gladdens my heart greatly, 
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and · now it seems to me there is no knight living but I 
am able enough for him." 

By this time Sir Persant of Incle had espied them as 
they hovered in the field, and knightly sent to ask 
whether they came in war or peace. To this Beaumains 
replied that was exactly as Sir Persant pleased, where­
upon Sir Persant said he would fight with him to the 
uttermost. So he armed himself and rode against him. 
Long and fierce was the encounter, but in the end 
Beaumains was the victor ; Sir Persant surrendered and 
asked for mercy. The damsel, too, came and prayed 
for his life, which Beaumains granted right willingly, 
"For it were pity this noble knight should die," he 
said. 

Then Sir Persant knew it was Beaumains who slew 
his brother the Black Knight, at the black thorn, and 
who had also overcome his brother the Green Knight, 
Sir Pertolepe ; and his brother the Red Knight, Sir 
Perimones. And he said Beaumains should have homage 
and fealty of him and a hundred knights, to be always 
at his command, to go and ride wherever he should 
command them. 

So they went to Sir Persant's pavilion and drank 

wine and ate spices. 
The next morning when the damsel and Beaumains 

were taking their leave Sir Persant asked whither they 

were gomg. 
<< Sir," said the damsel, <c this knight is going to the 

siege that besiegeth n1y sister in the Castle Perilous." 
"Ah, ah," said Persant, " that is the Knight of the 

Red Lawns, who is the most dangerous knight that I 
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know now living, and a man that is without mercy ; 
and men say that he hath seven men's strength. God 
save you from that knight," he said to Beaumains ; "for 

he doth great wrong to that lady ; she is one of the 
fairest ladies of the world, and your damsel, I think , 
is her sis ter. Is not your name Linet ? " 
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"Yes, sir, and my lady sister's name is Dame 
Liones." 

"Now I will tell you," said Sir Persant, " this Red 
Knight of the Red Lawns hath lain well-nigh two years 
at siege ; and many times he 1night have captured the 
lady, but he prolonged the time, hoping to have Sir 
Lancelot of the Lake to do battle with him, or Sir 
Tristram, or Sir Lamorak of Wales, or Sir Gawaine ; 
and this is his reason for tarrying so long at the siege." 

"Now, my lord Sir Persant of Incle," said Linet, "I 
require that you will make this gentleman knight before 
ever he fight with the Red Knight." 

"I will, with all my heart," said Sir Persant, "if it 
please him to take the order of knighthood from so 
simple a n1an as I am." 

"Sir," said Beaumains, "I thank you for your good 
will. I am well sped, for truly the noble knight Sir 
Lancelot n1ade me knight." 

"Ah," said Persant, " of a more renowned knight 
might ye not be made knight. For of all knights he 
may be called the chief of knighthood. All the world 
saith that knighthood is evenly divided between three 
knights,--that is, Lancelot of the Lake, Sir Tristram of 
Lyonesse, and Sir Lamorak of Wales. There are many 
other noble knights, but there are none that pass these 
three. Therefore God speed you well, for if you match 
the Red Knight, ye shall be called the fourth knight of 
the world." 

"Sir," said Beaumains, "I would fain be of good 
fame an 1 knighthood. I would have you know I come 
of good n1en, for my father was a noble 1nan. And if 
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you will keep it secret, and this damsel, I will tell you 
of what kin I am." 

~ Then they both promised faithfully not to reveal 
who Beaumains was until he gave then1 leave. 

"Truly, then," said he, "my name is Gareth of 
Orkney, and King Lot was my father, and my mother 
is King Arthur's sister; and Sir Gawaine is my brother, 
and Sir Agravaine, and Sir Gaheris, and I am the 
youngest of then1 all. And neither King Arthur nor 
Sir Gawaine know yet who I am." 

The Red Knight of the Red Lawns 

Now the lady who was besieged in Castle Perilous 
heard that her sister Linet was approaching with a 
noble knight to rescue her. So she bade the dwarf who 
brought the tidings go to a hermitage near, and to take 
with him wine in two silver flagons, loaves of bread, 
fat venison, and dainty fowls. 

"And a cup of gold I deliver thee that is rich 
and precious," she said ; "and bear all this to my her­
mitage, and put it in the hermit's hands. Then go to 
my sister and greet her well, and commend me unto 
that gentle knight, and pray him to eat and to drink, 
and make him strong ; and say to him I thank him for 
his courtesy and goodness for taking on him such labour 
for me that never did him bounty or courtesy. Also 
pray him that he be of good heart and good courage, 
for he shall meet with a full noble knight, but he has 
no bounty, courtesy, nor gentleness, for he thinks of 
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nothing but murder, and that is the cause I cannot 
praise hin1 nor love him." 

So Beaumains and the damsel went to the hermitage, 
and there they drank the wine and ate the venison and 
the baked fowls. And when they had made a good 
repast the dwarf returned with his vessels to Castle 
Perilous. On his way there he n1et the Red Knight 
of the Red Lawns, who asked hin1 whence he came and 
where he had been. Then the dwarf told him his 
lady's sister had come, and that she had brought with 
her a knight of King Arthur's Court. 

"Then I account her trouble but lost," said the 
Red Knight, "for if she had brought with her Sir 
Lancelot, Sir Tristram, Sir Lamorak, or Sir Gawaine, I 
should think n1yself good enough for them all." 

"It may well be," said the dwarf, "but this knight 
hath passed all the perilous passages, and hath slain the 
Black Knight and two others, and vanquished the 
Green Knight, and the Red Knight, and the Blue 
Knight, Sir Persant of Incle." 

"Then he is one of the four I have just said." 
" He is none of those, but he is a King's son." 
"What is his name ? " said the Red Knight of the 

Red Lawns. 
" That I wiU not tell you, but Sir Kay out of scorn 

called him ' Beaumains.' '' 
" I care not whatsoever knight he be, for I shall 

soon be quit of him. And if ever I am a match for him 
he shall have a shameful death, as many others have 
had." 

"That were pity," said the dwarf, "and it is marvel 
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that you should make such shameful war on noble 
knights." 

That night Beaumains and the damsel stayed in the 
hermitage. On the morrow they took their horses and 
rode through a fair forest till they came to a plain, 
where _they saw many pavilions and tents, and a splendid 
Castle, and there was nmch smoke and great noise. 
And when they came near the besiegers' camp, Beau­
mains as he rode espied upon great trees how there 
hung by the neck full goodly armed knights, their 
shields with their swords tied round their necks, and 
gilt spurs upon their heels ; and thus hung there 
shamefully nearly forty knights richly armed. 

Then Sir Beaumains' face darkened, and he 
said : 

"What meaneth this ? " 
"Do not lose cheer because of this sight, fair sir," 

said the damsel, "for you must encourage yourself, or 
else you will be quite disgraced. For all these knights 
came hither to this siege to rescue my sister, Dame 
Liones ; and when the Red Knight of the Red Lawns 
had overcome them he put them to this shameful death 
without mercy or pity. And in the same way he will 
serve you unless you quit you better." 

" Now Christ defend me from such a villainous 
death and disgrace of arms," said Beaumains, " for 
rather than fare thus I would be slain like a man 111 

plain battle." 
"So it were better for you," said Linet. "Trust 

not there is any courtesy in the Red Knight ; all his 
foes go to death or shameful murder. And that is pity, 
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for he is a full likely man, well made of body, and a 

lord of great lands and poss~ssions." 

"Truly he may well be a good knight," said Beau­

mains, " but h@ useth shameful custon1s, and it is a 

marvel he endureth so long, and that the noble knights 

of my lord Arthur have n,ot dealt with him." 

Then they rode to the dikes, aind saw,. they were 

double-diked, with full warlike walls, and there were 

lodged many great knights near the walls, and there 

was a great noise of minstrelsy. And the sea beat 

against one sidfr of the walls, where there were many 

ships, and the shouting of mariners, " Hale and how ! 

Pull ho!" 
Fast by was a sycamore tree, and there hung a 

horn,, the greatest that ever they had seen, made out 

of an elephant's tusk. The Knight of the Red Lawns 

had hung it there, so that if any errant knight came 

he must blow that horn, and then the Red Knight 

would arm himself and come to do battle. 

"I pray you, sir, blow not the horn till it be high 

noon," said the damsel Linet ; "for now it is about 

six o'clock, and at this time his might increases, so 

that, as n1en say, he hath seven men's strength." 

" Ah, fie for shame, fair damsel, never n1ore speak 

so to me," said Beaumains, "for if he were as good 

a knight as ever was, I shall never fail hin1 in his 

greatest n1ight, for either I will win honour honourably, 

or die knightly in the field." 

Therewith Beaumains spurred his horse straight to 

the sycamore tree, and blew the horn so eagerly that 

all the camp and the Castle rang with it. Then there 
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-leaped }{.nights out of their tents and pavilions, and 
those within the Castle looked over the walls, and out 
-of the windows. 

Then the Red Knight of the Red Lawns armed 
himself hastily, and two barons set his spurs upon his 
heels, and all was blood red, his armour, spear, and 
shield. And an earl buckled his helm upon his head, 
and then they brought hin1 a red spear and a red 
steed, and so he rode into a little vale under the 
Castle, that all who were in the Castle and in the 
besieging camp might behold the battle. 

The Lady of Castle Perilous 

"Sir," said the damsel Linet to Sir Beaumains, 
"look you, be glad and gay, for here is your deadly 
enemy, and there at yonder window is my lady, my 
sister, Dame Li ones." 

"Where ? " said Beaumains. 
"Yonder," and the damsel pointed with her finger. 
"She is the fairest lady that ever I looked on," 

said Beaumains, "and I ask no better for which to 
do battle. Truly she shall be my lady, and for her 
will I fight." 

And he kept looking up to the window with a glad 
countenance. 

And the Lady Lianes made a deep curtsey to him, 
and they both waved their hands. 

With that the Red Knight of the Red Lawns called 
to Beaumains : 
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"Leave thy looking, Sir Knight, and behold me, 

I counsel thee, for I warn thee well she is my lady, 

and for her I have done many strong battles." 

" If thou hast so done," said Beaumains, " it seems 

to me it was but waste labour, for she loveth none 

of thy fellowship, and thou to love one who loveth 

not thee is great folly. For if I understood she was 

not glad of my con1ing, I should think again before 

I did battle for her. But I know by the besieging 

of this Castle that she will have nothing to do with 

thee. Therefore, know well, thou Red Knight of the 

Red Lawns, I love her, and will rescue her, or else die." 

"Sayest thou that ? " said the Red Knight. "It 

seems to n1e thou oughtest to beware, by reason of 

yonder knights whom thou sawest hanging on those 

trees.'' 
" Fie for shame," said Beaumains, " that ever thou 

shouldst do or say such evil, for in that thou sham est 

thyself and knighthood, and thou mayst be sure 

that no lady who knoweth thy wicked customs will 

love thee. And now thou thinkest that the sight of 

those hanged knights should frighten me ? Nay, truly, 

not so. That shameful sight causes me to have courage 

and boldness against thee more than I would have had 

if thou wert a well-ruled knight." 

"Make thee ready," said the Red Knight of the 

Red Lawns, "and talk no longer with me." 

Then Beaumains bade Linet go to a safe distance, 

and both knights put spears in rest, and rushed to­

gether with all their might, so that they hurled each 

other to the ground, where both lay for a while sorely 
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stunned. All those who were in the Castle and the 
camp thought their necks must be broken, and many 
said that the strange knight was a big man and a noble 
jouster, for before then they had never seen any warrior 
ever n1atch the Red Knight of the Red Lawns ;-and 
this they said both within the Castle and without. 

Then Beaumains and the Red Knight left their 
horses, and put their shields before them, and ran 
together like two fierce lions, and each gave the other 
such buffets on the helms that they both reeled back 
two strides,-then they recovered, and dealt such 
strokes that they hewed great pieces out of their armour 
and their shields. 

Thus they fought till it was past noon, and after 
resting awhile, the battle went on again till evening, 
and none who beheld them could tell which was likely 
to win. 

The Red Knight was a wily warrior, and his 
crafty fighting taught Beaumains to be wise, although 
he bought his experience dearly. For the Red Knight 
smote him on the hand, so that his sword fell out of 
it ; and then he gave him yet another buffet on the 
helm, so that Beaumains fell grovelling to the earth, 
and the Red Knight fell over him, to hold hin1 
down. 

Then cried the maiden Linet aloud : 
" 0, Sir Beaumains, where is thy courage ? Alas, 

my lady sister beholdeth thee, and she sobbeth and 
weepeth, and maketh my heart heavy ! " 

When Sir Beaumains heard Linet speak thus, he 
started up with great might, and leaped to his sword, 
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and gripping it in his hand, he rushed again on 
the Red Knight, and they fought a new battle 
together. 

But Sir Beaumains doubled his strokes, and smiting 
the knight's sword out of his hand, felled him to the 
earth. And he unlaced his helm to slay him, but the 
Red Knight cried aloud : 

" 0, noble knight, I yield me to thy mercy ! " 
But Beaumains bethought him of the knights whom 

he had made to be hanged shamefully. 
"I may not with honour save thy life," he said, 

" because of the shameful deaths thou hast caused full 
many good knights to die." 

"Sir," said the Red Knight of the Red Lawns, 
" hold your hand, and ye shall know the cause why 
I put then1 to so shameful a death." 

"Say on," said Beaumains. 
"Sir, I once loved a lady, a fair damsel, and her 

brother was slain, and she said it was Sir Lancelot of 
the Lake, or else Sir Gawaine ; and she prayed me that 
as I loved her heartily I would make her a promise 
by the faith of my knighthood, to labour daily in 
arms until I met with one of then1, and all whom I 
overcame I should put to a villainous death. This 
is the cause why I have put all these knights to death, 
and thus ensured her vengeance against all King 
Arthur's knights. And now I will tell thee that every 
day my strength increaseth till noon, and all this time 
I have seven men's strength." 

Then came many earls and barons and noble knights, 
beseeching Beaumains to save the Red Knight's life, 
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and to make him a prisoner ; they all fell upon their 
knees and prayed him to have mercy. 

" Fair lords," said Beaumains, " be sure I am full 
loath. to slay this knight, nevertheless he hath done 
passing ill and shamefully. But insomuch as all that 
he did was at a lady's request, I blame him the less, 
and so for your sake I will release him. He shall 
have his life upon this covenant-that he go within the 
Castle Perilous, and yield him there to the Lady Lianes, 
and if she will forgive and acquit him, I will willing! y, 
provided that he n1ake her amends for all the trespass 
he hath done against her and her lands. Also," he 
continued to the knight, " when that is done, that ye 
go unto the Court of King Arthur, and there ask Sir 
Lancelot mercy, and Sir Gawaine, for the evil intention 
ye have had against them." 

"All this will I do as ye command," said the Red 
Knight of the Red Lawns, " and certain assurance and 
sureties ye shall have." 

So when the assurance was made, he paid his 
homage and fealty, and all those earls and barons with 
him. 

Then the damsel Linet dressed his wounds, and 
those of Sir Beaumains. Ten days they sojourned in 
their tents, and the Red Knight made his lords and 
servants do all the pleasure they could to Sir Beau­
mains. And after praying pardon of the Lady Lion es 
for all the wrongs he had done her, the Red Knight 
departed to the Court of King Arthur, and there 
openly put himself in the mercy of Sir Lancelot and 
Sir Gawaine. 



The Lady of Castle Perilous 

Then Beaumains told Linet he desired to see her 

sister, his lady. 
" I would fain ye saw her," she replied. 

So Beaumains armed himself, and took his horse 

and his spear, and rode straight to Castle Perilous. 

When he came to the gate he found many men 

armed, and the drawbridge pulled up, and the port 

closed. He marvelled why they would not suffer hin1 

to enter. Then he looked up to the window, and 

there he saw the fair Liones. 

"Go thy way, Sir Beaumains," she cried, "for as 

yet thou shalt not have wholly my love, until the time 

that thou art called· one of the number of the worthy 

knights. Therefore go labour honourably for twelve 

months, and then thou shalt hear new tidings." 

"Alas, fair lady," said Beaumains, " I have not 

deserved that thou shouldst show me this strangeness. 

I thought I should have had right good cheer with 

you-I am well sure that I have bought your love with 

part of the best blood within my body." 

" Fair courteous knight, be not displeased nor over 

hasty," said the Lady Liones. "Know well your great 

travail and good love shall not be lost, for I consider 

your great toil and labour, your bounty and your 

goodness, as I ought to do. Therefore go on your 

way, and look that yon be of good con1fort, for all 

shall be for your glory and for the best. By my faith, 

a twelvemonth will soon be done, and trust me, fair 

knight, I shall be true to you, and never forsake you, 

but to my death I shall love you, and none other." 

Thus the noble knight, Sir Gareth, a King's son, 
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-whom Kay had mocked at as his "Boy of the 
Kitchen,"-won for himself deathless honour, and his 
peerless bride. And he and Dame Lion es, the Lady 
of the Castle Perilous, plighted troth to love each 
other, and never to fail while their life lasted. 
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"Son," she said, "thy name sl11ll be of sorrow; 

Tristram art thou called for my death's sake." 
So she said, and died in the drear forest. 

Grief since then his home with me doth make. 

The Boyhood of Tristram 

THERE was once a King called Meliodas, and he 
was lord of the country of Lyonesse, and this 

King Meliodas was as noble a knight as any living at 
that time. His wife was sister of King Mark of 
Cornwall ; she was called Elizabeth, and she was both 
good and fair. At that ti.me King Arthur reigned , 
and he was King over the whole of England, Wales, 
and Scotland, and of many other realms ; there were 
many pnnces of different countries, but they all held 
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their lands from King Arthur. For in Wales were 
two Kings, and in the north many Kings ; and in 
Cornwall and in the west were two Kings ; also in 
Ireland were two or three ; and all were under the 
obeisance of King Arthur. 

The wife of King Meliodas was a gentle lady, and 
well she loved her husband, and he her again, and they 
were very happy together. But in that country lived 
a lady who was very angry, because long ago she had 
wanted to n1arry King Meliodas herself, although he 
had never cared for her. One day when the King 
rode out hunting, she made him by enchantment chase 
a hart by himself, till he came to an old Castle, and 
there he was at once taken prisoner by the wicked 
lady. 

When the Queen Elizabeth missed her husband, 
she was nearly out of her mind with grief, and taking 
a gentlewoman with her, she ran out into the forest to 
seek the King. 

And there in the midst of the cold and lonely 
forest, a little son was born, but death came to the 
poor mother. And when the Queen saw that there 
was no help but that she must needs die and depart 
out of this world, then she was very sad. 

"When ye see my lord, King Meliodas, commend 
n1e to him," she said to her gentlewoman, "and tell 
him what I have endured here for his love, and how I 
must die here for his sake, with none to help me. 
And let him know that I am full sorry to depart out 
of this world from him , therefore pray him not to 
forget me. Now let me see my little child, for whom 
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I have had all this sorrow." And when she saw him, 
she said in tender jesting, "Ah, my little son, thou hast 
killed thy mother, and therefore I suppose thou that 

art a murderer so young, thou art full likely to be 
a manly man in thine age." Then she charged the 
gentlewoman that she should beseech King Meliodas 
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to cail the child "Tristram,"-that is as much as to 
say, "born in sorrow." 

And with that, this Queen died. 
The gentlewoman laid her under the shadow of a 

great tree, and wrapped the child as well as she could 
against the cold. At that moment up came the 
Barons, following after the Queen, and when they saw 
that she was dead, and imagined that the King also was 
destroyed, then certain of them would have slain the 
child, so that they might be lords of the country of 
Lyonesse. 

But through the fair words of the gentlewoman the 
greater part of the Barons would not assent to it. 

Then they carried the dead Queen home, and 
much dole was made for her. 

In the meanwhile, Merlin the magician delivered King 
Meliodas out of prison on the morning after the death 
of his Queen, and when the King came home, most of 
the Barons were very joyful. But the sorrow that the 
King made for his Queen no tongue could tell. 

The King had her richly interred, and afterwards 
had the child christened as his wife commanded before 
her death ; and he had him called "Tristram,"- the 
child born in sorrow. 

For seven years King Mel iodas mourned for his 
wife, and all this time the young Tristram was nourished 
well. 

But then it befell that King Meliodas wedded Duke 
Howell' s daughter , of Brittany. By and by the new 
Queen had children of her own, and she grew j ealous 
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and angry that her children should not enjoy the country 

of Lyonesse, and because of this she planned to kill 

young Tristram. So she put some poison into a silver 

cup, in the chamber where Tris tram and her children 

played together, intending that when Tristram was 

thirsty he should drink it. But it happened that the 

Queen's own little son as he was in the chamber espied 

the cup with poison, and being thirsty, and thinking it 

was good to drink, he swallowed it eagerly, and there­

upon suddenly died. 
When the Queen knew of her son's death, you may 

well imagine how grieved she wa~. But the King as 

yet understood nothing of her treason. N·otwithstand­

ing the death of her child, however, the Queen would 

not give up her wicked intention, but again she got 

some more poison and put it into a cup. 

By chance King Meliodas found the wine in which 

the poison was, and being very thirsty, he took the 

cup to drink of it. Just as he was going to drink 

the Queen espied him, and running to him she pulled 

the cup suddenly away. 
The King marvelled why she did so, and remembered 

how her son was suddenly slain with poison. Then he 

took her by the hand and said : 

"Thou false traitress, thou shalt tell me what 

manner of drink this is, or else I will slay thee." And 

therewith he pulled out his sword. 
(( Ah, mercy, my lord," she cried, ,~ and I will tell 

you all.'' 
Then she told him how she would have slain Tristram, 

so that her own children should inherit the land. 
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" Well," said King Meliodas, " for this ye shall be 
tried by law." 

By assent of the Barons the wicked Queen was 
condemned to be burnt, and a great fire was made. 
But just as she was at the fire to undergo her sentence, 
young Tristram knelt before King Meliodas, and 
besought him to grant him a boon. 

"I will, gladly," said the King. 
"Then," said young Tristram, "give me the life of 

thy Queen, n1y step-mother." 
"That is not rightfully asked, for thou ought of 

right to hate her, because she would have slain thee, if 
she could have had her will ; and for thy sake there is 
most reason she should die." 

" Sir," said Tris tram, " as for that, I beseech you 
of your mercy that you will forgive it her ; and as 
for my part, God forgive it her, as I do ! And 
since it pleased your Highness to grant me n1y boon, 
for God's love I require you to keep your promise." 

" Since that is so, I will let you have her life," said 
the King. " I give her to you. Go ye to the fire, and 
take her, and do with her what ye will." 

So Tristram went to the fire, and by commandment 
of the King delivered the Queen from death. 

For a long time King Meliodas would have nothing 
more to do with her, but at last by the good influence 
of young Tristram he was reconciled to his wife. The 
Queen never forgot how good Tristram had been to 
her, and ever afterwards she loved him dearly. 
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A Knight Royal 

When King Meliodas was reconciled with his 

Queen he sought out a tutor who was wise and 

learned, and under his care he sent young Tristram 

into France, to learn the language and custon1s, and 

deeds of arms. There with his tutor Gouvernail 

Tristram stayed n1ore than seven years. When he 

could speak the language well, and had learnt all he 

could learn in that country, he came home again to 

his father, King Meliodas. So Tristram learnt to be a 

harper, passing all others-there was not found his 

equal in any country. Thus in his youth he applied 

himself to learn harping, and all instruments of music ; 

and afterwards, as he grew in might and strength, he 

laboured ever in hunting and hawking, more than any 

gentleman that was ever heard of. He set in order 

good measures concerning forest lore, and beasts of 

chase, and all manner of vennin, with all the terms 

used in hunting and hawking. Therefore the Book 

of the Chase, of Hunting and Hawking, is called the 

Book of Sir Tristram. Wherefore, all gentlemen that 

bear arms ought of right to honour Sir Tristram, for 

he taught such terms as gentlemen use to this day, so 

that all n1en of worth can distinguish a gentlen1an from 

a yeoman, and a yeoman from a peasant. For he that 

is gentle will draw to him those of gentle nature to 

fol low the customs of noble n1en. 

Tristram remained away till he was big and strong, 

and nineteen years old. When he returned home 
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King Meliodas had great joy in his son, and so had the 
Queen his wife. For ever after in her life, because 
Tristran1 had saved her from the fire, she always loved 
him, and gave him many great gifts. And wherever 
he went, every one loved him. 

Soon after Tristram's return from France, it befell 
that King Anguish of Ireland sent to King Mark of 
Cornwall for his tribute, which Cornwall had paid many 
winters. But for seven years King Mark had not 
paid it, and now he and his Barons gave answer to the 
1nessenger from Ireland that they would pay nothing. 

" Tell your lord," they said, " that if he wishes always 
to have tribute of Cornwall, let hin1 send a trusty knight 
who wi 11 fight for his right, and we shall find another 
to defend our right." 

With this answer the messenger departed back to 
Ireland. 

King Anguish was very wroth at this answer, and 
he called to him Sir Marhaus, the good knight, who 
was nobly proved, and of the Round Table, and brother 
of the Queen of Ireland. 

"Fair brother,'' he said, "l pray you go into 
Cornwall for my sake, and do battle for our tribute, 
which by right we ought to have ; and whatsoever ye 
spend, ye shall have more than sufficient for your need." 

· Sir Marhaus consented gladly, and making ready 
in all haste, departed out of Ireland, and arrived in 
Cornwall, near to the Castle of Tintagel. 

King Mark was very sorry when he heard that 
the good and noble knight Sir Marhaus had arrived 
to fight for Ireland, for he knew no knight who dared 
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do battle with him, because at that time Sir Marhaus 

was one of the most famous and renowned knights of 
the world. 

Thus Sir Marhaus abode in his ship off the coast, 
and every day he sent to King Mark to pay the tribute 
that was owing for seven years, or else to find a knight 
to fight with him. And the people of Cornwall made 
a proclamation in every place that whatever knight 
would fight to save the tribute of Cornwall, he would 
be rewarded so that he would fare the better for the 
rest of his life. 

Some of the Barons counselled King Mark to send 
to the Court of King Arthur, to seek Sir Lancelot of the 
Lake, who was called at that time the most marvellous 
knight of all the world. But other Barons counselled 
the King not to agree to this, saying it would be but 
labour in vain, because Sir Marhaus was a Knight of 
the Round Table, therefore any of the other knights 
would be loath to do battle with him, unless it were any 

knight at his own request, who would fight disguised and 
unknown. So the King and all his Barons agreed it 
was no use to seek any Knight of the Round Table. 

Meanwhile rumour reached King Meliodas, how 
that Sir Marhaus abode fast by Tintagel, and how 
King Mark could find no manner of knight to fight 
for him. 

When young Tristram heard of this he was wroth 
and sorely ashamed that no knight in Cornwall dared 
do battle with Sir Marhaus of Ireland. He accordingly 
went to his father, King Meliodas, and asked him 
counsel as to what King M ark was to do in order to 

169 



The Forest Knight 
keep his tribute, for it seemed a shame that Sir Marhaus 
should go away without any one doing battle with him. 

"As for that," said Meliodas, "know well, my son 
Tristram, that Sir Marhaus is called one of the best 
knights of the world, and is a Knight of the Round 
Table ; I know no knight in this country who is able 
to match him." 

Then Tristram lamented that he was not yet made 
a knight, and he asked leave of his father to go to 
King Mark and be made knight by him. King Melio­
das willingly agreed, so Tristram made ready, and rode 
into Cornwall. And when he came there he heard say 
no knight would fight with Sir Marhaus. Then he 
went to King Mark and said : 

"Sir, if you will give me the order of knighthood, 
I will do battle with Sir Mar ha us." 

" What are ye ? " said the King, " and whence are 
~ " you come. 

"Sir, I come from King Meliodas, who wedded your 
sister ; and that I am a gentleman you know well." 

King Mark looked at Tristram and saw that he was 
but a young man in age, but he was passingly well­
made and big. 

" Fair sir," said the King, "what is your name, and 
where were you born ? " 

"Sir," he replied, "my name is Tristrarn, and in 
the country of Lyonesse was I born." 

''Ye say well,'' said the King, '' and if you will do 
this battle, I will make you knight." 

" For that cause and no other I come to you," said 
Tristram ; and then King Mark made him a knight. 
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Sir Marhaus heard that the King of Cornwall 

had found a young knight ready to do battle to the 

uttermost with him. "That is well," he said to the 

messenger, " but tell King Mark I will fight with no 

knight unless he be of royal blood, that is to say, either 

a king's son, or a queen's son, born of a prince or a 
. " pnncess. 

King Mark sent for Sir Tristram and told him of 

Sir Marhaus's message. 
" Let him know," said Tristram, "that I an1 

come on father's side and mother's side of blood as 

noble as he is. For, sir, now ye shall know that I 

am King Meliodas' son, born of your own sister, Lady 

Elizabeth, who died in the forest at my birth." 

" Yea ! " cried King Mark. " Fair nephew, ye are 

welcome to me." 
Then in all haste King Mark ordered that Sir 

Tristram should be horsed and armed in the best 

n1anner that could be had for gold and silver, and he 

sent word to Sir Marhaus that a better born man than 

himself was ready to fight with hin1. 

It was agreed that the battle should take place on 

an island near which lay Sir Marhaus's ship at anchor. 

So Sir Tristram was put into a vessel, both he and his 

horse, with everything that was needful for both of 

them; and when King Mark and his Barons saw how 

the young Sir Tristran1 departed to fight for the right 

of Cornwall, there was neither man nor woman of 

worship but lan1ented to see so young a knight thus 

jeopardy himself for their sake. 
When Sir Tristram arrived on the island he looked 
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to the further side, and there he saw six ships lying at 
anchor, and under the shadow of the ships on land 
appeared the noble knight, Sir Marhaus of Ireland. 
Then Sir Tristram bade his servant Gouvernail bring 
his horse to land, and help him to arm, and when he 
was in his saddle, well-apparelled, with his shield ready 
on his shoulder, he bade Gouvernail go back again to 
his vessel. 

"Commend me to my uncle, King Mark," he said, 
"and pray hin1 if I be slain in the battle to bury my 
body as seemeth best to him, and bid hin1 know I will 
never yield me for cowardice. If I am slain and flee 
not, then have they lost no tribute for me ; and if so 
be that I flee or yield me as recreant, bid my uncle never 
bury me in Christian burial. And upon thy life come 
thou not nigh this island till thou see me overcome 
or slain, or else that I vanquish yonder knight." 

So each departed from the other, weeping sorely. 
When Sir Marhaus saw Sir Tristram, and how 

young he was, he was sorry for his daring, and he 
counselled him to return to his vessel ; for the best 
knights in England and in the world had been matched 
with Sir Marhaus, and he had overthrown them. 

But Sir Tristram replied that he could not forsake 
the quarrel, because for that he had been n1ade knight. 
He was a King's son, born of a Queen, and he had 
promised his uncle, King Mark, to fight to the utter­
most, and deliver Cornwall from the old tribute. 

"And also know well, Sir Marhaus, this is the 
greatest reason that encourages me to fight with you, 
for thou art called one of the greatest knights in the 
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world, and because of the fame thou hast, thou givest 

me courage to have ado with thee, for never yet was 

I proved with good knight. And since I took the 

order of knighthood to-day I am well pleased that I 

may have ado with so good a knight as thou art. 

And know, Sir Marhaus, that I seek to win worship 

because of thee, and if I am not yet proved, I trust I 

shall be honourably proved upon thy body, and deliver 

the country of Cornwall fron1 all manner of tribute to 

Ireland for ever." 
Sir Marhaus, having heard Tristram say what he 

would, spoke thus again : 
" Fair knight, since it is the case that thou seekest 

to win worship because of me, I let thee know that thou 

wilt lose none, if thou canst stand me three strokes ; 

for because of my noble deeds, proved and seen, King 

Arthur made me Knight of the Round Table." 

Then they put spears in rest and met so fiercely 

together that they smote each other down, horse and 

all. Sir Marhaus struck Tristram a great wound in 

the side with his spear, and then leaping clear of 

their horses, they pulled out their swords, and throw­

ing their shields before them, lashed together as men 

that were wild and courageous. But when they had 

fought for a long time, Sir Tristram was fresher and 

stronger than Sir Marhaus, and with a mighty stroke he 

smote Sir Marhaus on the head such a buffet that it 

went through his helm, and through the coif of steel, 

and through the brain-pan, and the sword stuck fast 

in the helm, so that Sir Tristram had to pull thrice 

at it before he could pull it out. And there Sir 
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Marhaus fell down on his knees, the edge of Tristram's 
sword left in his brain-pan. Then suddenly he stumbled 
to his feet, and throwing his sword and his shield from 
him, he ran to his ships and fled his way ; and Sir 
Tristram kept ever afterwards his shield and his sword. 

So Sir Marhaus and his fellowship departed into 
Ireland. And as soon as he came to King Anguish, 
his brother-in-law, he had his wounds searched. And 
there in his head was found a piece of Sir Tristram's 
sword, and none of the surgeons were ever able to get 
it out, so Sir Marhaus died. 

But after he was dead the Queen of Ireland, his 
sister, kept that piece of the sword always with her, 
for she determined to be revenged if ever she could. 

La Belle Iseult 

Sir Tristram also had been sorely wounded, and 
after the fight with Sir Marhaus he sank down on a 
little hill, and could scarcely move. Then came 
Gouvernail with his vessel, and King Mark and his 
Barons came in procession, and when they got back to 
Cornwall the King took Tristram in his arms, and he 
and Sir Dinas the Seneschal carried Sir Tristram into the 
Castle of Tintagel. There he was tended in the best 
manner and laid in bed. And when King Mark saw 
his wounds he wept heartily, and so did all his lords. 

"God help me," said the King, "I would not for 
all my lands that my nephew died." 

So Sir Tristram lay there a month and more, and 
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ever he was likely to die of that stroke which Sir 
Mar ha us smote him first with the spear. For the head 
of the spear was envenomed. 

King Mark and all his Barons were passing heavy, 
for they thought that Sir Tristram would not recover 
of his wound. The King caused all sorts of doctors 
and surgeons to be sent for, both men and women, 
and there was not one who would promise that Tristram 
should live. 

Then came a lady, who was a right wise lady, and 
she said plainly to King Mark and Sir Tristram, and to 
all the Barons, that Tristram would never be whole 
unless he went into the same country where the venom 
came from, and in that country he would be helped, or 
not at all. 

When King Mark heard this he ordered a fair 
vessel, well-provisioned, to be got ready for Sir Tristram, 
and the sick knight was put therein, and Gouvernail 
with him, and Sir Tristram took his harp with him. So 
they put out to sea, to sail to Ireland, and by good 
fortune they arrived in Ireland fast by a Castle where 
the King and Queen were ; and on their arrival Tristram 
sat and harped in his bed a merry lay, such a one as they 
had never any of then1 heard in Ireland before that time. 

When the King and Queen were told of the knight 
who was such a harper, the King immediately sent for 
him and had his wounds attended to, and then he asked 
him his name. 

" I am of the country of Lyonesse, and my name 
is Tramtrist, and I was wounded in battle, as I fought 
for a lady's right," answered Tris tram. 
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"Truly," said King Anguish, " ye shall have all the 

help in this land that ye may have. But I let you know 
that in Cornwall I had as great a loss as ever had a King, 
for there I lost the best knight of the world, his name 
was Marhaus,-a full noble knight, and a Knight of 
the Round Table," and he told Tristram how Marhaus 
had been slain. 

Sir Tristram made a semblance of being sorry, but 
he knew better than the King how it was. He was 
afraid to reveal his real name, so he still pretended it 
was " Tramtrist." 

King Anguish, as a great favour, made Tramtrist to 
be put into his daughter's ward and keeping, because she 
was a skilful surgeon. She discovered there was poison 
in the wound, and in course of time she healed him. 
Then Tristram learned to have a great love for the 
beautiful Princess lseult, for she was at that tin1e the 
fairest n1aid and lady of the world. And there he taught 
her to harp, and she began to have a great fancy for him. 

At that time there was a Saracen knight in the 
country who was much liked by the King and Queen. 
Sir Palan1ides was greatly attracted to the beautiful 
lseult, and he offered her many gifts, for he loved her 
passing well. All this Sir Tristram saw, and full well 
he knew Sir Palamides for a noble knight and a mighty 
n1an. And he had a great grudge against Palamides, 
for Iseult told Tristram that the Saracen was willing to 
be christened for her sake. Thus there was great envy 
between Tristram and Sir Palamides. 

Then it befell that King Anguish proclaimed a 
splendid joust and tournament for a lady who was called 
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the "Lady of the Lawns," and she was a near cousin of 

the King's. Whatever man won her, should wed her 

after three days and have all her lands. This proclama­

tion was n1ade in England, Wales, Scotland, and also in 

France and in Brittany. 

One day La Belle Iseult came to Sir Tristran1, and 

told him of this tournament. 

"Fair lady," he replied, "I am but a feeble knight, 

and lately I would have been dead, if it had not been 

for your good ladyship. Now, what would you that 

I should do in this matter ? You know well that I 

cannot joust." 
"Ah, Tramtrist," said La Belle Iseult, "why will 

you not take part in that tournan1ent ? I know well 

Sir Palamides will be there, to do what he can, and 

therefore, Tramtrist, I pray you to be there also, or else 

Sir Palamides is likely to win the prize." 

"Madam," said Tristram, "as for that, it may be so, 

for he is a proved knight, and I am but a young knight 

and lately made, and the first battle that I did, it mis­

happed me to be sorely wounded as ye see. But if I 

thought you would be my lady, I would go to that 

tournament, provided that you will keep my counsel, and 

let no creature know I shall joust, except yourself, and 

such as you will to keep your counsel. My poor person 

will I jeopard there for your sake, that peradventure 

Sir Palamides shall know when I come." 

" Do your best," said La Belle Iseult, " and I will 

provide you with horse and armour." 

"As you will, so be it," said Sir Tristram ; "I will be 

t d " a your comman . 
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On the day of the jousts came Sir Palamides with 

a black shield, and he overthrew many knights, so that 
all the people_ marvelled at him. All manner of knights 
dreaded Sir Palamides because of his prowess, and 
many called him "The Knight with the Black Shield." 
So that day Sir Palamides had great glory. 

Then came King Anguish to Tristram, and asked 
him why he would not joust. 

"Sir," said he, " I was but lately hurt, and a~ yet I 
dare not ad venture me," for he did not want the King 
to know he was going to fight. 

On the morrow Sir Palamides n1ade him ready to 
come into the field as he did the first day. And there 
he smote down the "King with a Hundred Knights," 
and the King of Scotland. 

La Belle Iseult had provided for Sir Tristram a 
white horse and white armour, and when he was well 
arrayed, she let him out at a privy pastern, and so he 
rode forth into the field, as it had been a bright angel. 

Sir Palamides quickly espied him, and therewith he 
feutered his spear at Tristram ; and Tristram again at 
him ; and there Sir Tristram smote down Palamides to 
the earth. 

Then there was a great noise of people ; some said 
Sir Palamides had a fall ; some said the " Knight with 
the Black Shield,, had a fall. And you can well 
imagine La Belle Iseult was passing glad. 

After that, no one would joust with Tristram, but 
all who were there kept out of his way. 

Sir Palamides was sorely ashamed at receiving a 
fall, and, as privately as he could, he withdrew him-
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self out of the field. Sir Tristran1 espied all this, and 

lightly he rode after Sir Palan1ides, and overtook him, 

and bade him turn, for he would test hi1n better ere ever 

he departed. Then Palan1ides turned, and both lashed 

at each other with their swords. But at the first stroke 

Sir Tristram smote down Palamides, and gave hin1 such 

a stroke upon the head that he fell to the earth. Then 

Tristram bade him yield him, and do his command, or 

else he would slay hin1. 

When Sir Palamides saw his countenance he dreaded 

his buffets so much that he granted everything he asked. 

Tristram made him promise that he would for sake 

following La Belle Iseult, and also for a twelvemonth 

and a day that he should bear no arms nor trappings 

of war. 
" Pron1ise me this, or here shalt thou die," said 

Tris tram. 
" Alas," said Palamides, " I am shamed for ever ! " 

But he swore to do as Tristram had commanded, and 

in his spite and anger, he cut off his armour and threw 

it away. 
Tristram then rode privily to the pastern, which La 

Belle Iseult kept for him, and there she made hin1 good 

cheer, and thanked God for his success. 

The King and Queen soon discovered that it was 

Tramtrist who smote down Palamides, and then he 

was made n1uch more of than before. 
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The Broken Sword 

Thus for a long time Sir Tristram stayed on in 
Ireland, and he was well cherished by the King and 
the Queen and La Belle Iseult. But one day it befell 
when he was out that the Queen and Iseult went into 
his room, and there, as it lay on the bed, the Queen 
beheld his sword. The Queen drew the sword from 
the scabbard, and looked at it, and both she and La 
Belle Iseult thought it a passing fair sword. But within 
a foot and a half fron1 the point there was a great piece 
broken out of the edge. 

When the Queen espied that gap in the sword, she 
remembered the piece of a sword that had been found 
in the brain-pan of Sir Marhaus, her brother. 

"Alas ! " she cried to her daughter, "this is the same 
traitor knight who slew n1y brother, thy uncle." 

Iseult was sorely abashed to hear her say this, for 
she loved Sir Tristram passing well, and full well she 
knew the cruelty of her n1other, the Queen. 

The Queen went at once to her own chamber, and 
taking out from her coffer the piece of sword that 
had been found in Sir Marhaus's head, she ran with 
the piece of iron to the sword that lay on the bed. 
And when she put the missing piece against the blade, 
it was just as it might be when it was new broken. 

The Queen was so angry at this discovery that she 
gripped the sword fiercely in her hand, and ran with all 
her n1ight against Tristram where he sat unarmed. 
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She would have thrust him through, then and there, 

had not his squire, Sir He bes, caught her in his arms, 

and pulled the sword from her. When she was pre-

vented in her evil intention she ran to King Anguish, 

her husband. 
" Oh, my lord," she cried, falling on her knees 

before him, "here have you 111 your house that traitor 
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knight who slew n1y brother and your servant, the 
noble knight, Sir Marhaus." 

"Who is that ? And where is he?" said the King. 
"Sir," she said, "it is Sir Tramtrist, the same knight 

whom my daughter healed." 
"Alas," said the King, "I am much grieved for 

that, for he is as full noble a knight as ever I saw in 
field. But I charge you, have no more to do with him, 
but let n1e deal with him." 

Then the King went into the chamber to Sir Tram­
trist, where he found him all ready arn1ed to mount 
upon his horse. 

"Nay, Tramtrist," sa~d the King, "it will not avail 
thee to defy me. But thus much I will do for my 
honour and thy love. Inasmuch as thou art within my 
Court it were no honour for me to slay thee. There­
fore, I will give thee leave to depart from this Court in 
safety, on condition that thou wilt tell me who was thy 
father, and what is thy name, and if thou slew Sir 
Marhaus, the Queen's brother." 

Then Tristran1 told King Anguish the whole story, 
and at the end the King said : 

" Truly, I may not say but ye did as a knight 
should, and it was your part to do your best for your 
quarrel, and to increase your renown as a knight should. 
But I cannot keep you in this country in accordance 
with my honour, for I should displease my Barons, and 
my wife and her kin." 

"Sir," said Tristram, " I thank you for the great 
kindness I have had here, and for the great goodness 
my lady your daughter hath shown me. It may so 
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come to pass that you may win n1ore by my life than 

by my death, for in parts of England haply I may do 

you service at some season, so that you will be glad you 

ever showed n1e honour. Moreover, I pron1ise you, as 

I am a true knight, that in all places I shall be my lady 

your daughter's servant and knight, in right and in 

wrong, and I shall never fail her to do what a knight 

can do. Also, I beseech your good grace that I may 

take my leave of your daughter, and of all the barons 

and knights." 

"Willingly," said King Anguish. 

Then Sir Tristram went to La Belle Iseult, and 

took his leave of her. 

" Oh, gentle knight," said Iseult, "full woe am I 

at thy departing, for I never saw man to whom I felt 

such good will." And therewith she wept heartily. 

" Madam," said Sir Tristram, " now ye shall know 

that n1y name is Tristram of Lyonesse, son of King 

Meliodas, and of his Queen. And I promise you faith­

fully that I will be your knight all the days of my life." 

" Great thanks ! " said La Belle Iseult. "And I 

promise you that for the next seven years I will never 

marry but with your assent ; and whon1 ye will that I 

shall marry, him will I have, if he will have me." 

Then Sir Tristram gave her a ring, and she gave 

him another, and so he departed from her, leaving her 

in great sorrow. 

Afterwards he went straight into the Court, among 

all the Barons, and there he took his leave of then1, 

the greatest and the leas t, and spoke openly among 

then1 all. 
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" Fair lords, now thus it is, that I must depart. If 

there be any man here whom I have offended, or any 
man that is grieved with me, let him complain here 
before me, ere I depart, and I will amend it, as far 
as lies in my power. And if there be any who will 
proffer me wrong, or say of me evil behind my back, 
let him say it now or never, and here am I to make it 
good, man against man.'' 

And they all stood silent ; there was not one of 
them who would say a single word against him, though 
some of the knights were of the Queen's blood, and kin 
to Sir Marhaus. 

How Sir Tristram came to Camelot 

Thus Sir Tristram departed from Ireland, and sailed 
across the sea, and with a good wind he arrived at 
Tintagel in Cornwall. Tidings came to King Mark that 
Tristram had returned, and was healed of his wounds, 
at which King Mark rejoiced greatly, and all the Barons. 
Sir Tristram rode on at once to his father, King Meliodas, 
and the King and the Queen, his step-n1other, gave him 
the heartiest welcome, and bestowed on him much of 
their lands and treasure. 

After spending some tin1e at home, Tristram, by 
leave of his father, returned to the Court of King 
Mark, of Cornwall, where he lived in great joy for a 
long time, until at last there fell a great jealousy and 
unkindness between King Mark and himself, for they 
both loved the same Jady. 
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One day when Tristram was on his way to visit her, 

he was suddenly attacked by three knights, and although 

he overcame them all and wounded them sorely, yet he 

was badly hurt hin1self in the conflict. 

King Mark was one of these assailants, but he 

would not let it be known, and as for Sir Tristram he 

did not know it was the King with whom he had been 

fighting. The attendants of the King can1e to console 

Tristram as he lay sick in bed, for the crafty King 

pretended to be sorry for his nephew ; thus passed 

n1any days and weeks, and apparently all was forgiven 

and forgotten. 
But as long as King Mark lived he never afterwards 

loved Sir Tristram. Though there was fair speech, love 

there was none. The King cast always in his heart 

how he might destroy his nephew. Then it inwardly 

occurred to him to send Sir Tristram into Ireland to 

fetch La Belle Iseult. For Sir Tristran1 had so often 

praised her beauty and her goodness, that King Mark 

said he would wed her, wherefore he begged Sir Tristran1 

to take his way into Ireland on an embassy. And all 

this was done with the intention of slaying Sir Tristran1, 

for Mark knew of the enmity of King Anguish. 

Nevertheless, since it was his uncle's pleasure, Sir 

Tristram would not refuse the errand because of any 

peril that might befall himself, but he made ready to go 

in the goodliest fashion that could be devised. 

He took with him the noblest knights he could find 

at Court, and they were arrayed in the richest guise that 

was then the custom. 

So Sir Tristran1 departed, and put to sea, with all 
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his company. But as soon as they were out on the 
broad sea, a tern pest took them, and drove then1 back 
to the c_oast of England, where they arrived fast by 
Can1elot ; and very glad they were to get safe to shore. 
When they were landed, Sir Tristram set ~P his 
pavilion on the lands of Camelot, and had his shield 
hung on the pavilion. 

Now just at that time two knights, who were 
brothers, Sir Bleoberis and Sir Blamor de Ganis, nephews 
of Sir Lancelot of the Lake, summoned King Anguish of 
Ireland to come to Arthur's Court, on pain of forfeiture 
of King Arthur's good grace. And if the King of 
Ireland came not at the day assigned and set, he should 
lose his lands. 

It happened that on the appointed day 11either King 
Arthur nor Sir Lancelot could be there to give the 
judgment, for King Arthur was with Sir Lancelot at his 
Castle of Joyous Gard. King Arthur, therefore, assigned 
King Carados and the King of Scots to be at Camelot 
that day as judges, and while they were there, King 
Anguish of Ireland came to know his accusers. 

Then Blamor de Ganis accused the King of Ireland 
of treason, that he had slain a cousin of the English 
knight's in his Court in Ireland, by treachery. 

King Anguish was sorely abashed at this accusation. 
He had come at the summons of King Arthur, and 
before he reached Camelo.t he did not even know why 
he had been sent for. When he heard what Sir Blamor 
had to say, he understood full well there was no other 
remedy but to answer him knightly. For in those 
days it was the custom, if any man were accused of 
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treason and n1urder, that he should fight body for body, 

or else find another knight to fight for him. All kinds 

of murder in those days were called " treason." 

King Anguish was passing heavy when he under­

stood his accusation, for he knew that Sir Blamor de 

Ganis was a noble knight, and came of noble knights. 

The judges granted him a respite of three days to give 

his a11.swer. So King Anguish departed to his lodging. 

In the meantime, while Sir Tristram was in his 

pavilion at Camelot, Gouvernail his man came and told 

him how King Anguish of Ireland had come thither, 

and how he was put in great distress, and how he had 

been sun1moned and accused of murder. 

"Truly," said Sir Tristram, "those are the best 

tidings that have come to me these seven years, for now 

shall the King of Ireland have need of my help, for I 

dare say there is no knight in this country, not of 

Arthur's Court, that dares to do battle with Sir Blamor 

de Ganis. To win the love of the King of Ireland, 

I will take the battle upon me, and therefore, Gouver­

nail, bring me, I charge thee, to the King." 

Gouvernail accordingly went to King Anguish of 

Ireland, and saluted him fair. The King welcomed 

him, and asked him what he wished. 

"Sir," said Gouvernail, "there is a knight near at 

hand who desireth to speak with you ; he bade me say 

he would do you service." 

" What knight is he ? " asked the King. 

"Sir," he said," it is Sir Tristram of Lyonesse, who, 

for the good grace ye showed him in your lands, will 

reward you in this country." 
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The Forest Knight 
"Come on quickly with me, fellow," said the King, " and lead me to Sir Tristram." 
So King Anguish took a little riding horse, and only a few attendants, and came to Sir Tristram's pavilion. 
When Sir Tristram saw the King, he ran towards hin1 and would have held his stirrup. But the King leapt from his horse lightly, and they both embraced each other. 
" My gracious lord," said Sir Tristram, " great thanks for all your goodness shown me in your country. At that time I promised to do you service if ever it lay . " m my power. 
" Gentle Knight," said the King, " now have I great need of you. Never had I so great need of any knight's help." 
" How so, my good lord ? " asked Sir Tristram. 
" I will tell you;i said the King. " I am summoned from my country, and accused, because of the death of a knight who was kin to the good knight Sir Lancelot, wherefore Sir Blamor de Ganis, brother of Sir Bleoberis, hath challenged me to fight with him, or else to find a knight in my stead. I know well that those who come of King Ban's race, as Sir Lancelot and these others, are passing good knights, and as hard men to conquer in battle as any that I know now living." 

"Sir," said Sir Tristram, " because of the honour you showed me in Ireland, and for my lady your daughter's sake, La Belle Iseult, I will take the battle for you, on condition that ye shall grant me two things. One is, that ye shall swear to me that ye are in the right, and that you never consented to the knight's 
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" Rather Death than Dishonour" 

death. P.1..fterwards, when I have done this battle, if 
God give me grace that I succeed, ye shall give n1e a 
reward, what thing reasonable that I will ask of you." 

" Truly," said the King, "ye shall have whatsoever 
ye shall ask." 

" Rather Death than Dishonour " 

"Now make your answer that your champion is 
ready," said Sir Tristram to King Anguish, "for I 
shall die in your quarrel rather than be recreant." 

"I have no doubt of you," said the King, "even 
if you had to do battle with Sir Lancelot of the Lake." 

"Sir," said Tristram, "as for Sir Lancelot, he is 
called the noblest kn:ight of the world, and know ye 
well that the knights of his blood are noble men and 
fear shame ; as for Sir Bleoberis, brother to Sir Blamor, 
I have done battle with him, therefore, on my head, it 

is no shame to call him a good knight." 
"It is reported," said King Anguish, cc that Sir 

Blamor is the hardier knight." 
" Sir, as for that, let him be, he shall never be 

refused, were he the best knight that now beareth 
shield or spear." 

King Anguish departed to · King Carados and the 
Kings who were that tin1e as judges, and told them 
he had found his champion ready. Then, by command 
of the K ings, Sir Tristram and Sir Blamor de Ganis 
were sent for to hear the charge. 

W hen they came before t he judge , many Kings 
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and knights beheld Sir Tristram, and there was much 
talking about him, because he had slain Sir Marhaus, 
the good knight, and because he overthrew in.: jousting 
the noble Saracen, Sir Palamides. 

Having received their charge, the champions with­
drew to n1ake them ready for battle. 

Then said Sir Bleoberis to his brother, Sir Blan1or : 
" Dear brother, remember of what kin we are 

come, and what a man is Sir Lancelot of the Lake, 
neither further nor nearer than brother's children ; 
there was never any of our kin that was shamed in 
battle-but would rather suffer death, than to be 
shamed!'' 

"Brother," said Blamor, "have no doubt of me, 
for I shall never shame any of my blood, howbeit 
I am sure that yonder knight is called a passing good 
knight, in his time one of the best in the world. Yet 
shall I never yield me, nor say the hateful word sur­
render. He may well happen to smite me down with 
his great might of chivalry, but he shall slay me rather 
than I shall yield n1e as recreant." 

" God speed you well," said Bleoberis, "for ye 
shall find hin1 the mightiest knight that ever ye had 
to do withal; I know hin1, for I have had to do 
with him." 

" God speed me ! " said Blamor de Ganis. 
Therewith he took his horse at one end of the 

lists, and Sir Tristram at the other end, and so they 
levelled their spears and can1e together as though it were 
thunder, and there Sir Tristram, through great might, 
smote down Sir Blamor and his horse to the earth. 
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Sir -Blamor leapt quickly clear of his horse, and 

pulling out his sword, threw his shield before him, 

and bade Sir Tristram alight. 
"For though a horse has failed me, I trust the 

earth will not fail me,'' he cried. 
Sir Tristram alighted, and there they lashed together 

strongly, smiting many heavy strokes, so that the Kings 

and knights marvelled greatly ; for they fought as if 

they were mad, never knights were seen to fight more 

fiercely than they did ; Sir BJ amor was so hasty he 

would have no rest, and all men wondered that they 

had breath to stand on their feet. At the last, Sir 

Tristram smote Sir Blamor such a buffet upon the 

helm, that he fell down on his side, and Sir Trist_ram 

stood and looked at him. 
When Sir Blamor could speak, he said thus : 

"Sir Tristram of Lyonesse, I require thee as thou 

art a noble knight, and the best knight that ever I 

found, that thou wilt slay me outright,-! would not 

live to be made lord of all the earth, for I would 

rather die with honour than live with shame. Thou 

must needs slay me, Sir Tristran1, or else thou wilt 

never win the field, for I will never say the hateful word. 

Therefore, if thou dare slay me, slay me, I require thee ! " 
When Sir Tristram heard him speak so knightly, 

he knew not what to do with him ; he thought of both 

sides,-of what blood Sir Blamor came, and how for 

Sir Lancelot's sake he would be full loath to slay him ; 

yet, on the other side, he could not choose bu:t make 

Sir Blamor own himself vanquished, or else slay him. 

For this was the law of the tournament. 
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Going to the Kings who were judges, Tristran1 
knelt down before them, and besought then1 for their 
honour, and for King Arthur's, and Sir Lancelot's sake, 
that they would take this matter into their hands. 

"For, my fair lords," said Sir Tristram, "it were 
shame and pity that this noble knight who lieth yonder 
should be slain, for ye hear well that shamed he will 
not be, and I pray to God that he be not shamed nor 
slain for me. And as for the King for whon1 I fight, 
I shall require him, as I an1 his true champion and 
true knight in this field, that he will have mercy on 
this good knight." 

"Truly," said King Anguish to Sir Tristran1, "I 
will for your sake be ruled as ye will have me ; for 
I know you for my true knight. And therefore I will 
heartily pray the Kings who are here as judges to take 
the matter into their hands." 

Then the Kings called Sir Bleoberis to them, and 
asked him his ad vice. 

" My lords," said Bleoberis, " though my brother 
be beaten, and hath the worse through might of arms, 
I dare affirm that though Sir Tristram hath beaten his 
body, he hath not beaten his heart ; and I thank 
God he is not shamed this day. And rather than he 
should be shamed, I require you let Sir Tristram slay 
him outright." 

" It shall not be so," said the Kings, " for the 
adversary side, both the King of Ireland and his 
champion, have pity of Sir Blamor's knighthood." 

"My lords," said Bleoberis, "whatever ye will, I 
agree to. " 
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Then the Kings called the King of Ireland, and 

found him good and tractable. By the advice of all 

of them, Sir Tristram and Sir Bleoberis took up Sir 

Blamor, and the two brethren were reconciled with King 

Anguish, and kissed and made friends for ever. 

Sir Blamor and Sir Tristram also kissed together, 

and there they n1ade their oaths that they would never, 

either of the two brethren, fight with Sir Tristram, and 

Sir Tristram swore a like oath that he would never 

fight with them. 
And because of that gentle battle all the kindred of 

Sir Lancelot loved Sir Tristram for ever. 

Then King Anguish and Sir Tristram took their 

leave, and sailed into Ireland with great nobleness 

and joy. When they reached Ireland the King caused 

it to be made known throughout all the land how and 

in what n1anner Sir Tristram had done for him, and 

the Queen and all who were there made the most of 

him that they could. 
But the joy that La Belle Iseult made of Sir 

Tristram, no tongue could tell, for of all earthly men 

she loved him n1ost. 

The Magic Draught 

Then upon a day King Anguish asked Sir Tristram 

why he did not ask his boon, for whatsoever he had 

promised him, he should have it without fail. 

"Sir," said Tristram, "now is it time, this is all 

that I desire, that ye will give me La Belle Iseult 
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your daughter, not for myself, but for mme Uncle 
Mark that shall have her to wife, for so have I 
promised him." 

"Alas," said the King, " I had rather than all the 
land I have, that ye would wed her yourself." 

"Sir, if I did, then were I shamed for ever in this 
world, and false of my promise. Therefore," said Sir 
Tristram, " I pray you keep your promise that you 
gave me. For this is my desire,-that ye will give 
me La Belle Iseult to go with me into Cornwall, to 
be wedded to King Mark, my uncle." 

" As for that," said King Anguish, " you shall 
have her with you to do what it please you,-that is 
to say, if you like to wed her yourself, that is what 
would be dearest to me ; and if you will give her to 
King Mark your uncle, you can do so, if you choose." 

So La Belle Iseult was made ready to go with 
Sir Tristram, and Dame Bragwaine went with her for 
her chief gentlewoman, with many other ladies. 

Before they left, the Queen, Iseult's mother, gave 
to Dame Bragwaine and to Gouvernail, Sir Tristram's 
attendant, a n1agic draught, and charged them that what­
ever day King Mark should wed, on that same day 
they should give him that draught, so that King Mark 
should drink to La Belle Iseult. 

"And then," said the Queen, " I undertake that 
each shall love the other all the days of their life." 

So the drink was given to Dame Bragwaine and 
to Gouvernail, and directly afterwards Sir Tristram put 
to sea with La Belle Iseult. 

While they were in their cabin it so happened 
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they were thirsty, and they saw a little flask of gold 
stand by them, and it. seemed by the colour and the 

taste that it was noble wme. Sir Tristram took the 
fla k in his hand, saying : 

c, Madame Iseult, here is the best drink that ever 
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ye drank, which Dame Bragwaine, your maiden, and 
Gouvernail, my servant, have kept for themselves." 

Then they laughed and made good cheer, and each 
drank to the other in innocent mirth; and they thought 
that never drink that ever they drank was so sweet 
nor so good. 

But after they had drunk that magic draught they 
each loved the other so well that never henceforth their 
love departed, either for weal or woe. 

And this was how first happened the love between 
Sir Tristram and La Belle Iseult, the which love never 
departed all the days of their life. 

So they sailed on, till by fortune they came near 
a Castle, where they stayed to · repose themselves, 
thinking to have good harbourage. But as soon as 
they were within the Castle they were taken prisoners, 
for the custom of the Castle was such, that whoever 
rode by it, and brought any lady, he must needs fight 
with the lord, whose name was Breunor. And if 
Breunor won the field, then he put to death the knight 
stranger and his lady, whoever they were. And if the 
strange knight won the field, then Sir Breunor and 
his lady should both die. 

This had been the custom for many winters, and 
the name of the Castle, therefore, was called "Weeping 
Castle." 

While Sir Tristram and Iseult were in prison, a 
knight and a lady came to cheer them. 

"I marvel," said Tristram, "what is the cause the 
lord of this Castle holdeth us in prison. It was never 
the custom of any honourable place, wherever I have 

204 



The Magic Draught 

been, that when a knight and a lady asked shelter, for 

the n1aster to receive them, and afterwards to destroy 

those who were his guests." 

The knight told Sir Tristram that it was an old 

custom of the Castle that when a knight went there, 

he must needs fight with the lord, and he who was the 

weaker must lose his head. And when that was done, 

if his lady that he brought with him was less beautiful 

than the wife of the lord, then she must lose her head ; 

and if she were proved fairer than the lady, then the 

lady of the Castle must lose her head. 

"Now," said Sir Tristram, "this is a foul and shame­

ful custom. But one advantage have I," he added. 

"I have a lady who is fair enough, fairer saw I never in 

all the days of my life, and I do not fear that for lack 

of beauty she will lose her head. And rather than I 

should lose my head, I ·will fight for it on a fair field. 

Wherefore, Sir Knight, I pray you tell your lord that I, 

with my lady, will be ready to-morrow for battle, if so 

be I may have my horse and mine armour." 

"Sir," said the knight, " I undertake that your 

desire shall be sped right well. Take your rest, and 

look that ye be up betimes, for ye shall want nothing 

that is needful." 
Early on the morrow the same knight came to Sir 

Tristram, and fetched him out of prison, with La Belle 

Iseult, and brought him his own horse and armour, 

and bade him make ready for the field, for all the 

people of that lordship were there ready to behold the 

judgment and the battle. 

Then came Sir Breunor, lord of Weeping Castle, 
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leading by the hand his lady, muffied, and he asked Sir 

Tristram where his lady was. For the one who was 

less fair n1ust lose her head. 
"Sir," said Tristram, "this is a foul and horrible 

custon1, and rather than 111 y lady should lose her head, 

I would more dearly lose my own." · 

"Nay, nay," said Sir Breunor, "the ladies shall be 

first shewn together , and the one shall have her 

sentence." 
" Nay, I will not so," said Sir Tris tram, " for here 

is none who will give righteous judgment. But I 

doubt not n1y lady is fairer than thine, and that will I 

prove and make good with n1y hand. And whosoever 

he be that will say the contrary, I will prove it on his 

head." 
And therewith Sir Tristram shewed La Belle Iseult, 

and turned her thrice about, holding his naked sword 

in his hand. And Sir Breunor did the same with his 

lady. But when Breunor saw La Belle Iseult he 

thought he had never seen a lovelier lady. And all 

the people who were there present gave judgment that 

La Belle Iseult was the most beautiful. 

"Truly," said Breunor, "thy lady is fairer than 

mine, and for that I repent sorely. Now must my 

lady be slain, and then I doubt not I shall slay thee, 

and n1arry thy lady." 
" Thou shalt win her as dear as ever knight won 

lady," said Sir Tristram. 
Then taking their horses, they rushed together like 

thunder, and thus they fought furiously, hurling here 

and there for nearly two hours, and both were sorely 
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wounded. But at last Sir Tristran1 thrust Sir Breunor 
down grovelling, and killed him, and that was the end 
of the cruel and mischievous knight. 

All the people who belonged to the Castle there­
upon flocked to Tristram and did him homage and 
fealty, praying him that he would abide there a while, 
to do away with that evil custom. And to this Sir 
Tristram granted assent. 

The Drinking-Horn of Morgan le Fay 

After they had set things right in Weeping Castle, 
Sir Tristram and La Belle Iseult put to sea again, and 
came to Cornwall, where all the Barons met them. And 
King Mark and Iseult were richly wedded, with great 
splendour. 

But because of the magic draught which they had 
drunk, Sir Tristram and La Belle Iseult ever loved each 
other dearly, and all the days of his life Sir Tristram 
was the true and faithful knight of Queen Iseult, and 
ever ready to do her loyal service. 

Once when she was carried away by his old enen1y, 
the Saracen knight, Palamides, and no one else at Mark's 
Court was strong enough to rescue her, Sir Tristran1 
rode after them and set her free from the tower where 
she was imprisoned, and would have killed Sir Palamides 
if she had not begged him to spare his life. For he had 
never been christened, and she was loath that he should 
die a Saracen. For her sake, Tristram gave up fight­
ing, and instead of being killed, Sir Palamides was 
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commanded to leave the country, which he did, sorely 
against his will. 

The pagan knight having departed in great heaviness, 
Tristram took the Queen, and brought her again to 
King Mark, and there was great joy at her home-corning. 
Who was cherished but Sir Tristram ! Thus for a long 
while all was joy and pleasure. 

But at King Mark's Court was a near cousin of Sir 
Tristram's, called Sir Andred, a spiteful and malicious 
man. He envied and hated Sir Tristrarn, because the 
latter was so gallant and noble a knight that every one 
loved him. Sir Andred dared not quarrel with him 
openly, but he lay always in watch to find hin1 out in 
some secret fault, so that he might slander him to his 
uncle. King Mark was only too eager to believe any 
evil of Tristram, for he, too, was very jealous of his 
nephew, and had never forgotten the old grudge he 
bore him. 

So it happened on a day Sir Tristrarn talked with 
Queen Iseult, and Sir Andred espied them, and hoping 
to make mischief, went and told the King. King Mark 
can1e in a great rage, with his sword in his hand, and 
called him " false traitor," and would have struck him. 
But Tristrarn, being very near, ran under the sword, 
and seized it from th~ King's hand. 

" Where are my knights and my men ? " cried the 
King. " I charge you, slay this traitor ! " 

But not one of them would move. 
Sir Tristram, seeing that not one would be against 

him, made as though he would strike the King, where­
upon Mark fled. Then Tristrarn went hi s way, and 
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armed himself, and taking his horse and his man, rode 
into the forest. 

King Mark sent many knights after him, but Sir 
Tristram killed two, and wounded many more, and not 
one of then1 could overcome him. Then King Mark 
called his council, and asked advice of his Barons, what 
it was best to do with Sir Tristram. 

" Sir," said the Barons, and especially Sir Din as, the 
Seneschal, "we counsel you to send for Sir Tristram, 
for we would have you know that 1nany men will side 
with Sir Tristram, if he is hard pressed. Ye shall under­
stand, sir, that Tristram is called peerless and matchless 
of any Christian knight, and of his n1ight and hardi­
hood we know none so good a knight, unless it be Sir 
Lancelot of the Lake. If he depart from your Court, and 
go to King Arthur's Court, mark ye well, he will find 
such friends there that he will care nothing for your 
malice. Therefore, sir, we counsel you to take him 
into your favour." 

" I am willing that he be sent for, that we may 
be friends," said the King. 

Then the Barons sent for Sir Tristran1, under a safe 
conduct. When the knight came back to Court he 
was made welcome ; nothing was said about what 
had happened, and there was sport and amusement ; 
the King and the Queen went out hunting, and 
Tristram went with them. 

About this time Morgan le Fay, the wicked sister 
of King Arthur, sent a present to her brother. It was 
a beautiful drinking-horn, 1nounted with gold, and it 
was supposed to have some magic power, so that no 
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lady or gentlewoman could drink of it unless she truly 
loved her husband ; if she did not love him, then all 
the liquid would be spilt. Because Morgan le Fay 
hated Queen Guinevere, she had sent this horn to King 
Arthur, hoping to work some mischief by her evil spells. 
1 The messenger who carried the horn happened to 
meet a knight of King Mark's, called Sir Lamorak, 
whom Sir Tristram had just defeated in some joust, 
and who was longing to be revenged. Knowing King 
Mark's hatred of Sir Tristram, and his jealousy because 
every one loved him, Sir Lamorak thought it would be 
a good plan to seize the horn and send it to King 
Mark, and make him try the trick on Queen Iseult. 
He threatened to kill the messenger unless the latter 
obeyed his command, and the enchanted horn was 
therefore presented to King Mark. 

The King made Queen Iseult drink out of it, and a 
hundred ladies of the Court, and only four among them 
all could drink without spilling. Then in his rage the 
cruel King swore an oath that Iseult and all the other 
ladies should be burnt to death. 

But the Barons gathered themselves together and 
said plainly they would not have those ladies burnt 
because of a horn made by sorcery, which came from 
as wicked an enchantress as any then living. For that 
horn never did any good, but always caused strife and 
debate, and all her life Morgan le Fay had been an 
enemy to all true and loving people. And n1an y 
knights declared that if ever they met with Morgan 
le Fay, they would show her short courtesy. 

Sir Tristram also was very angry that Sir Lamorak 
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had sent the horn to King Mark, for he knew well it 

was n1eant to work him harm. 

lseult of Brittany 

Sir Andred, in the meanwhile, was always on the 

watch to see how he could trap Sir Tristram, and at 

last his opportunity came. One day, with twelve 

knights, he fell on him secretly and suddenly, and bound 

him hand and foot. Then, by assent of King Mark, 

Tristram was taken to a little chapel on the sea-rocks, 

there to receive judgment, and he was led bound 

between forty knights. 
When he saw there was no escape, but that he must 

needs die, then he said : 

"Fair lords, remember what I have done for the 

country of Cornwall, and what jeopardy I have been in 

for the weal of you all. For at the time I fought for 

the tribute of Cornwall against Sir Marhaus, when ye 

all refused to take the battle, I was promised to be 

better rewarded. Therefore as ye be good, gentle 

knights, see me not thus shamefully die, for it is a 

shame to all knighthood thus to treat n1e. For I dare 

say that I never yet met with any knight, but I was 

as good as he, or better.'' 

"Fie upon thee," said Sir 

as thou art with thy vaunting ! 
shalt die this day." 

Andred, " false traitor 

For all thy boast thou 

"0 Andred, Andred," said Sir Tristram, "thou 

shouldst be n1y kinsman, and now thou ar t to me full 
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unfriendly! But if there were no more but thou and 
I, thou wouldst not put me to death." 

" No ! " said Sir Andred, and therewith he drew his 
sword and would have slain him. 

When Sir Tristran1 saw this threatening movement, 
he looked at both his hands, which were fast bound to 
two knights, and suddenly he pulled them to him, and 
wrenched then1 free ; then he leaped to his cousin 
Andred, and wrested his sword out of his hand, and 
smote him to the earth ; and thus he fought until he 
had killed ten knights. Then he got inside the chapel, 
and held it bravelv. 

' 
But the outcry was great, and numbers of people­

n1ore than a hundred-flocked quickly to Sir Andred. 
When Sir Tristram saw the people draw near, he 
remembered he was without armour, and making fast 
the door of the chapel, he broke the bars of a window, 
and so leaped out, and fell upon the crags into the sea. 
And at that time neither Sir Andred nor any of his 
fellows could get at him. 

In the meanwhile, Gouvernail and two of Sir 
Tristram's men sought their master. When they 
heard he had escaped, they were very glad, and on 
the rocks they found him, and pulled him up. 

Tristram asked where La Belle Iseult was, for he 
thought Sir Andred's people had carried her away. 
But Gouvernail replied that she had been shut up in 
a horrible little hut, kept apart for the use of sick 
folk, ill of dangerous diseases. 

"Alas ! " said Sir Tristram, "thi3 is a foul place 
for such a fair lady, and if I may, she shall not be 
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long there," and so he went with his men, and fetched 

away Queen Iseult, and brought her into a forest to 

a fair Manor, where she abode, for she was afraid to 

go back to her husband, King Mark. 

One day Sir Tristram went into the forest for a 

little sport, and it so happened that there he fell asleep. 

And a certain man, whose brother Tristram had killed 

some time before, came that way, and finding him 

asleep, shot him through the shoulder with an arrow. 

Meanwhile it had been told King Mark how Sir 

Tristram had taken Queen Iseult out of the hut, and 

placed her in the Manor, and as soon as the King 

heard of it, he came thither with many knights to slay 

Sir Tristram. But he arrived when Tristram was 

absent in the forest, so he took La Belle Iseult home 

with him, and afterwards kept her so closely shut up 

that by no means in her power could she send word 

to T ristram, nor he to her. 

When Sir Tristram returned from the forest to th~ 

old Manor he found the track of many horses, and 

thereby he knew his lady was gone. Then he was 

very sorrowful, and for a long time he endured great 

pain, for the arrow with which he had been hurt was 

envenomed. 
At last, through some lady who was a cousin to 

Dame Bragwaine, Queen Iseult sent a message to Sir 

Tristram. She told him he would by no means be 

cured in Cornwall, for she was not able to help him. 

Therefore she bade him haste into Brittany, to King 

Howell, and there he would find the King's daughter, 

Iseult of the White Hands, and she would help him. 
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So Sir Tristran1 and Gouvernail took ship, and 

sailed to Brittany. King Howell was very glad when 
he knew it was Sir Tristram of Lyonesse who had 
come. Tristran1 said he had come to his country 
to have help from his daughter, for it had been told 
him that no one else could cure him. 

And there, in a little while, Iseult of Brittany healed 
Sir Tristram of his hurt. 

Now it happened at that time in Brittany there was 
an earl called Grip, who made great war on King 
Howell, and put him to the worse, and besieged him. 
And once when Sir Kehydius, the King's son, issued 
out, he was sorely wounded, nearly to death. 

Gouvernail thereupon went to the King, and said : 
"Sir, I counsel you to desire my lord, Sir Tristram, 

to help you in your need." 
"I will do as you counsel," said the King. So he 

went to Sir Tristram, and prayed him to help him in 
his wars, because his son Kehydius could not go into 
the field. 

"Sir," said Tristram, "I will go to the field, and 
do what I can." 

He sallied forth from the town, with all the 
company he could collect, and did such deeds that 
all Brittany spoke of him. And at the last, by great 
force and might, he slew with his own hands Earl 
Grip, and many of his knights. 

On his return to the town Sir Tristram was 
received in high honour, with a procession. King 
Howell en1braced him, and said : 

c, Sir Tristram, all my kingdom I will resign to thee." 
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"God forbid," said Sir Tristram "for I am 

beholden to do what I can for you, for your daughter's 

k " sa e. 
Then King Howell and his son Kehydius thought 

how good it would be if Sir Tristran1 wedded Iseult 

of the White Hands; a great liking grew up between 

Tristrarr1 and Iseult, for that lady was both good and 

fair, and a woman of noble blood and fame. And 

because Sir Tristram had such cheer and riches, and 

all other pleasantness, he almost for a time forgot La 

Belle Iseult, who had loved him lo;~g ago. 

So he agreed to wed Iseult of Brittany, .and at last 

they were wedded, and the marriage was held with 

great solemnity and splendour. 

The Forest of Strange Adventures 

When Oueen Iseult heard that Sir Tristram was 
"' 

wedded to Iseult of Brittany, she sent him letters by 

her maiden Bragwaine, saying that if it pleased Sir 

Tristram to go to her Court and take with him Iseult 

of the White Hands, they should be treated right well. 

Sir Tristram did not think it well to take his wife 

to Cornwall, for he knew not what might happen, 

through the enmity of King Mark. But he called his 

brother-in-law, Sir Kehydius, and asked him whether he 

would go with him. He answered that he was ready 

at all times. So a little vessel was quietly prepared, 

and therein they went,- Sir Tristram, Kehydius, Dame 

Bragwaine, and Gouvernail, Sir Tristram's squire. 
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When they were at sea a contrary wind took them 

on to the coast of North Wales, near the Castle 
Perilous. Then Tristram said to Dame Bragwaine, 
." Wait here for me ten days, and Gouvernail, my 
squire, shall stay with you. And if so be I come not 
by the end of that time, take the nearest way into 
Cornwall, for in this forest are many strange adven­
tures, I have heard say, and some of them I intend 
to prove before I depart. And when I can, I will 
hie after you." 

Sir Tristran1 and Sir Kehydius took their horses, 
and left their companions, and rode through the forest 
a mile and more. And there they came across 
a knight-errant, with whom they jousted, but at the 
first encounter Sir Kehydius got a fall, and was sorely 
wounded. So Sir Tristram and the other knight, Sir 
Lamorak of Wales, set him on a shield, and bore him 
betwixt them to the lodge of a forester, to whom 
they gave charge that Sir Kehydius was to be well 
kept. After three days the other two knights took 
their horses, and at the cross roads they parted. 

As Sir Tristram rode on his way alone, he chanced 
to meet Sir Kay, the Seneschal, that same knight who 
had so spitefully treated Sir Gareth, son of King Lot 
of Orkney, and nicknamed him " the Boy of the 
Kitchen." Sir Kay asked Sir Tristram of what country 
he was ; the latter answered that he was of the 
country of Cornwall. 

"It may well be," said Sir Kay sneeringly, "for I 
never yet heard that ever good knight came out of 
Cornwall." 
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" That is evil spoken," said Sir Tris tram, " but I 

require you to tell me your name." 

" Sir, 1n y name is Sir Kay, the Seneschal." 

" Is that your name ? " said Sir Tristram ; " now 

wit ye well that ye are called the shamefullest knight 

of your tongue now living ; howbeit, ye are called 

a good knight, but unfortunate, and most spiteful 

with your tongue." 

Thus they rode together till they came to a bridge, 

and here stood a knight, who would not let them pass 

till one of them jousted with him. So the knight 

jousted with Sir Kay, and 'there he gave him a fall; 

the knight's name was Sir Tor, half-brother to Sir 

La1norak, and they were the sons of Pellinore, with 

whom King Arthur had once fought. 

Then Sir Tristram and Sir Kay rode to their 

lodging, where they founcf another knight, named Sir 

Brandiles, and Sir Tor came t~ither soon after. 

As the four knights sat at supper three of them 

spoke all shame of Cornish knights. Tristram heard 

what they said, and he spoke but little, but he thought 

the n1ore, and he did not at that time reveal his name. 

On the morrow he took his horse, and went with 

them. On the way Sir Brandiles proffered to joust 

with him, and Sir Tristram smote him down, horse and 

all, to the earth. Then Sir Tor encountered with Sir 

Tristram, and Sir Tristram smote him, also, down. 

Then he rode on alone ; Sir Kay followed him, but 

Tristram would not have his company. 

"I would fain know what is that knight's name," 

said Sir Brandiles, coming up to Sir Kay. 
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"Come on with me," said Sir Kay, "and we will 

pray him to tell us his name." 
They rode together till they came near Tristram, 

and saw where he sat by a well, and had put off his 
helm, to drink at the well. When he saw them come 
he laced on his helm, and took his horse and proffered 
them to joust. 

"Nay," said Sir Brandiles, "we jousted late enough 
with you, we come not with that intent. But we 
con1e, to require you of knighthood to tell us your 

" name. 
" l\,1y fair knights, since that is your desire, and to 

please you, ye shall know that my name is Tristram 
of Lyonesse, nephew to King Mark of Cornwall." 

" In good time, and ye are well found ! " said Sir 
Brandiles. "Wit ye well th at we are right glad we 
have found you, and we are of a fellowship that would 
be right glad of your company. For ye are the knight 
in the world whon1 the fellowship of the Round Table 
most desire th.'' 

" I thank them for their great goodness,'' said Sir 
Tristram, " but as yet I feel I am unable to be of 
their fellowship. For I was never of such deeds of 
worthiness to be in the company of such a fellowship." 

" Ah," said Sir Kay, " if ye be Sir T ristram of 
Lyonesse, ye are the man now called most of prowess, 
except Sir Lancelot of the Lake. For that man is not 
alive, either Christian or heathen, who can find such 
another knight, to speak of his prowess, and his hands, 
and his truth withal. For never yet could any one say 
of him dishonour, and make it good." 
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Thus they talked a great while, and then they 

departed one from another, such ways as seemed best 

to then1. 
Now about this time a wicked enchantress called the 

Lady Anna, by fair words and artful cunning enticed 

King Arthur to ride with her into the Forest Perilous ; 

she was a great sorceress, and had loved King Arthur 

many days, and therefore she came into that country. 

When King Arthur had gone with her, and his knights 

missed hin1, many of them followed after him, such as 

Sir Lancelot, Brandiles, and others. 
The sorceress took King Arthur to her tower, and 

hoped to win his love, but the ~ing remembered his 

own lady, Queen Guinevere, and would not love the 

enchantress for any craft she could do. Then every 

day she made him ride into the forest with his own 

knights, with the intent of having him slain. For 

when this Lady Anna could not have her will she 

laboured by false means to have King Arthur destroyed 

and slain. 
But the Lady of the Lake,-whose name was 

Nimue-who was always friendly to King Arthur, 

discovered by her subtle craft that the King was in 

great danger, and therefore she can1e into the Forest 

Perilous, to seek after Sir Lancelot or Sir Tristram, to 

help King Arthur. For on that same day the Lady 

of the Lake knew well King Arthur would be slain, 

unless she had help of one of these two knights. 
Thus she rode up and down until she met with Sir 

Tristran1, and as soon as she saw him, she knew him. 

"Oh, my lord Sir Tristram," she said, "well are ye 
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1net, and blessed be the tin1e I have met with you ! 
1~ or thi? same day and within these two hours shall be 
done the foulest deed that ever was done in this land." 

"Oh, fair damsel," said Sir Tristram, " may I 
amend it ? " 

"Con1e on with me," she said, " and that with all 
the haste ye may, for ye shall see the n1ost worshipful 
knight of the world hard bested.)' 

Then said Sir Tristram, "I am ready to help such 
a noble n1an." 

" He is neither better nor worse thc1..n the noble 
King Arthur himself," said the Lady of the Lake. 

" God forbid that ever he should be in such distress," 
said Sir Tristram. 

They rode together a great pace, until they came 
to a little turret or castle, and underneath that castle 
they saw a knight standing on foot, fighting with 
two knights. Sir Tristram watched them, and at last 
saw the two knights smite down the one knight, and 
one of then1 unlace his helm to slay him. And the 
Lady Anna got King Arthur's sword in her hand, to 
strike off his head. 

Therewith Sir Tristram rushed forward with all 
his might, crying, " Traitress, traitress, leave that ! ,, 
and he quickly smote one knight a.fter the other, so 
that both fell dead. 

In the meanwhile the Lady of the Lake cried to 
King Arthur, " Let not that false lady escape!" and 
King Arthur overtook the wicked sorceress, and with 
the same sword she held in her hand he smote off her 
head. 
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Sir Tristram set King Arthur on horseback, and 
rode forth with him, but he charged the Lady of the 
Lake not to reveal his name at that time. When the 
King was mounted he thanked Sir Tristran1 heartily, 
and desired to know his name, but Tristram would not 
tell him, except that he was a poor knight adventurous. 
And so he bore the King company until he met with 
some of his own knights. 

Within a mile they n1et with Sir Ector de Maris, 
who did not know either King Arthur or Sir Tristram, 
and desired to joust with one of then1. Sir Tristram 
accepted his offer, and at once sn1ote him from his 
horse. Having done so, he came again to the King, 
and said: 

"My lord, yonder is one of your knights, he can 
bear you fellowship ; and another day, by that deed 
which I have done for you, I trust ye will understand 
that I would do you service.'' 

"Alas," said King Arthur, "let me know whom 
" you are. 

" Not at this time," said Sir Tristram. 
So he departed, and left King Arthur and Sir Ector 

together. 

The Wild Man of the Woods 

On a day appointed, Sir Tristram went back to the 
forester's lodge where Sir Kehydius had been left to 
get well of his wounds, and they rode to the ship where. 
Dame Bragwaine and Gouvernail were waiting for them, 
and so they sailed all together to Cornwall. 
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Queen Iseult rejoiced more than tongue can tell to 
see Sir Tristram again, but Tristram could not remain 
in the Castle of Tintagel, for King Mark still hated 
him, and would have slain him if he could. So taking 
his horse and armour he rode away into the forest, and 
there for many days he dwelt in loneliness and bitter 
sorrow. No one knew what had become of him. A 
damsel from the Court went out to seek him, but 
nothing she could say or do would give him any con1fort, 
nor would he eat any meat or drink when she hrought 
it him. Then in his wanderings it happened that he 
came near the same Castle where he and Sir Palamides 
did battle when La Belle Iseult parted them. And the 
damsel went to the Lady of the Castle, and told her of 
the misadventure of Sir Tristram. 

"Alas," said the lady, " where is my lord Sir 
Tristram ? " 

"Right here by your Castle," said the damsel. 
"In good time is he so nigh me," said the lady, 

"he shall have meat and drink of the best, and a harp 
I have of his whereon he taught me,- for of goodly 
harping he beareth the prize in the world." 

So this lady and the damsel brought Tristram meat 
and drink, but he ate little thereof. He put his horse 
from him, and unlaced his armour, and then he wandered 
away into the wildest parts of the wood; sometimes 
he burst down trees and boughs, and at other times 
when he found the harp which the lady sent him, then 
he would play thereon, and weep. And sometimes 
when Sir Tristram was in the wood, and the lady of 
the Castle knew not where he was, she would sit down 
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and play upon the harp ; then would Sir Tristram come 

and hearken to it, and sometimes he would harp himself. 

Thus he endured for several months, but in the 

end he ran away and she knew not what became of 

him. 
Now can1e a sad tin1e for poor Sir Tristram. He 

sorrowed so deeply and was so long in the lonely forest 

that his mind quite went, and he lost all memory of 

knightly things. His clothes fell off in tatters, and he 

waxed lean and poor of flesh : and so he fell into the 

company of herdsmen and shepherds, and daily they 

would give him of their meat and drink, and they 

clipped hin1 with shears, and treated him like a fool. 

But although he had lost his n1ind, he was still 

brave in spirit, and strong in body. Once when his 

friends the herdsmen were threatened by Sir Dagonet, 

King Arthur's fool, and two squires, Sir Tristram ran 

to their help, overthrew Dagonet, killed one of the 

squires, and drove the other away. 

In the n1eanwhile, his wicked cousin Sir Andred 

caused it to be noised abroad that Sir Tristram was 

dead. He got some lady to tell a false tale at King 

Mark's Court, that she was with Sir Tristran1 when he 

died, that she had buried him by a well, and that before 

he died he besought King Mark to make his cousin Sir 

Andred King of the country of Lyonesse, of which Sir 

Tristram was lord. All this Sir Andred did because he 

wanted to have Sir Tristram's lands. 

King Mark wept and pretended to make great 

lamentation when he heard that Sir Tristram was dead. 
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But when these tidings reached Queen Iseult she made 
such sorrow that she was aln1ost out of her mind ; she 
fell ill of grief, and lay for a long time sick, nearly at 
the point of death. 

Now in that country there was a giant called Tauleas. 
From fear of J'ristram, for more than seven years he 
never dared go much at large, but for the n1ost part 
kept in a strong Castle of his own. But when Tauleas 
heard fron1 the report at Mark's Court that Tristram 
was dead, then he went out daily. So it happened one 
morning he came across the herdsmen, wandering and 
lingering round a well in the forest, and sat himself 
down to rest among them. 

While he was there, up came a knight of Cornwall, 
called Sir Dinant, leading with hin1 a lady. The giant 
seeing him, went from the herdsmen, and hid himself 
under a tree ; and the knight came to the well, and 
there he alighted to rest. 

As soon as he was away from his horse, the giant 
Tauleas came betwixt this knight and his horse, and 
took the horse, and leapt on it. Then he rode at Sir 
Dinant, and seizing him by the collar, pulled him up 
before him, and would have stricken off his head. 

" Help yonder knight ! " cried the herdsmen to Sir 
Tristram. 

"Help him yourselves ! " said Tristram. 
"We dare not," said the herdsmen. 
Then Tristram saw the sword of the knight where 

it lay on the ground, and he ran and took it up, and 
struck off the head of the giant, and so went his way 
back to the herdsmen again. 
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Sir Dinant on his return to Court told King Mark 

of the adventure that had betided him in the forest, 

and how a wild man had rescued him from the grim 

giant Tauleas. 
"Where had you this adventure ? " asked King 

Mark. 
"At the fair fountain in your forest where many 

adventurous knights meet," said Sir Dinant, "and there 

1s the mad man." 
"Well," said King Mark," I will see that wild man." 

So within a day or two King Mark commanded his 

knights and his huntsmen that they should be ready the 

next morning to hunt, and on the morrow he went into 

the forest. And when he came to the well he found 

there, lying asleep, a comely man, with a sword by him. 

The King commanded his knights to take him up 

gently, and bring him to the Castle of Tintagel, which 

they did. And there they bathed him and washed him, 

and gave him hot food, so that presently Sir Tristran1 

quite recovered his lost memory. 

But all this while there was not a creature who 

knew Sir Tristram, nor what man he was. 

It fell on a day that the Queen, La Belle Iseult, 

heard of the wild man of the forest, and how the King 

had brought him home to the Court. Then Queen 

Iseul t called Dame Bragwaine to her, and said, " Come 

with me, for I will go see this man whom my lord 

brought from the forest ." So they passed forth, and 

asked where was the sick man. A squire told the Queen 

that he was in the garden taking his rest, reposing in 

the sun. 
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When the Queen looked at Sir Tristram, she did 

not remember him, but _ still she kept saying to 
Bragwaine, "It seems to me I must have seen him 
before now, in many places." 

But as soon as Sir Tristram saw Iseult, he knew 
her well enough, and he turned away his face and wept. 

Now the Queen had always a little dog with her, 
that Sir Tristram gave her the first time she ever came 
into Cornwall, and never would the little dog leave her 
unless Sir Tris tram himself were also near. 

As soon as this little dog came near Tristram, she 
leaped upon him, and licked his cheeks and his ears, 
and whined and jumped about all over him. 

" Ah, my lady ! " said Dame Bragwaine to La 
Belle Iseult. 

" Alas, alas ! " cried the Queen, " I see it is mine 
own lord Sir Tristram ! " and thereupon she fell down 
in a swoon, and lay senseless for a long time, for · she 
was startled to see Tristram alive, after so long believing 
him to be dead. By and by, when she could speak, she 
said, " My lord Sir Tristram, blessed be God ye have 
your life ! Now I am sure ye will be discovered by means 
of this little dog, for she will never leave you ; and also 
I am sure that as soon as n1y lord King Mark knows 
you, he will banish you out of the country of Cornwall, 
or else he will destroy you. Therefore grant King 
Mark his will, and go you to the Court of King Arthur, 
for there ye are beloved. And whenever I can, I shall 
send unto you, and when you like, you can come to see 
n1e, and at all times early and late I will be at your com-
1nand to live as poor a life as ever did Queen or lady." 
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" 0, madam," cried Sir Tristram, his heart torn 

with grief and pity, "leave me, I pray, for much anger 

and danger have I endured for your sake." 

Then the Queen departed, but the little dog would 

not leave him. 

" For Love 'of Sir Lancelot ! " 

Soon after Queen Iseult had departed, came King 

Mark, and the little dog set upon him, and bayed at 

them all. "Sir, this is Sir Tristram, I see by the dog," 

spoke Sir Andred. 
"Nay," said the King, "I cannot suppose that," and 

he asked Tristram to tell him faithfully who he was, 

and what was his name. 
"Truly," said the knight, "my name is Sir Tristram 

of Lyonesse ; now do to me what you please." 

"Ah," said King Mark, "I am sorry for your 

recovery." And he had his Barons summoned, to judge 

hi1n to death. 
Many of the Barons would not consent to that, so 

by the advice of them all, Sir Tristram was banished 

out of the country for ten years. Thus he was made 

to depart out of Cornwall, and many Barons went with 

him to his ship, of whom some were his friends, and 

some his foes. 
In the meanwhile, arrived a knight of King Arthur's, 

whose name was Dinadan, and his coming was to seek 

after Sir Tristra1n. Then they showed him where Tris­

tram was, arn1ed at all points, ready to start for the ship. 
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"Now, fair knight," said Dinadan, "before you 

pass from this Court, I challenge you to joust with 
" me. 
"With a good will," said Tris tram, " if these lords 

will give me leave." 
The Barons granted it, and so the knights charged 

at each other, and there Sir Tristram gave Sir Dinadan 
a fall. Then Dinadan begged leave to go with him. 

"Ye shall be right welcome," said Sir Tristram. So 
they took their horses, and rode to their ships together. 

\¥hen Sir Tristram was on the ship, he turned and 
spoke to the Barons who had gone with him. 

" Greet well King Mark and all mine enemies," he 
said, " and tell them I will come again when I can. 
And well am I rewarded for the fighting with Sir 
Marhaus, and delivering all this country from serfdom ; 
and well am I rewarded for the fetching of La Belle 
Iseult out of Ireland, and the danger that I was in, first 
and last, and on the way coming home, the peril I 
had to save Queen Iseult from Weeping Castle ! And 
well am I rewarded when I fought with Sir Blamor 
de Ganis for King Anguish, father of La Belle Iseult. 
And well am I rewarded when I smote down the good 
knight Sir Lan1orak of Wales at King Mark's request ! 
And well am I rewarded when I fought with the King 
of the Hundred Knights, and the King of North 
Wales, both of whom would have put his land in 
serfdom, and by me they were put to rebuke. And 
well am I rewarded for the slaying of Tauleas, the 
mighty giant ! And many more deeds have I done 
for him, and now have I my recompense !- Tell King 
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Mark that many noble Knights of the Round Table 

have spared the Barons of this country for my sake. 

Also am I not well rewarded when I fought with the 

good knight Sir Palamides, and rescued Queen Iseult 

from hin1? And at that time King Mark said before 

all his Barons I should have been better rewarded." 

And forthwith Sir Tristram set out to sea. 

At the next landing, near the sea, Sir Tristram and 

Sir Dinadan met with two knights, Sir Ector de Maris 

and Sir Bors de Ganis, who challenged them to a trial 

of strength. Sir Ector jousted with Sir Dinadan and 

sn1ote him and his horse down, and Sir Tristram would 

have jousted with Sir Bors, but .Sir Bors said he would 

joust with no Cornish knights, for they are not called 

men of honour. 
Just then up came two more knights, one of whom, 

Sir Bleoberis, proffered to joust with Sir Tristram, who 

immediately vanquished him with ease. 

Then said Sir Bors de Ganis, " I never knew 

Cornish knight of so great valour, nor so valiant, as 

that knight who beareth the trappings embroidered with 

" crowns. 
After this, Sir Tristram and Sir Dinadan left then1 

and rode into a forest, and here a damsel met them, who 

came for the love of Sir Lancelot to seek after some 

noble knights of King Arthur's Court, to rescue Sir 

Lancelot. For Queen Morgan le Fay, the wicked 

sorceress, had resolved by treachery to slay Sir Lancelot, 

and for that cause she ordained thirty knights to lie in 

wait for him. This damsel knew of the treachery, and 

this was the reason she came to seek noble knights to 
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help Sir Lancelot. For that night, or the day after, Sir 
Lancelot would come where those thirty knights were. 

The damsel met first Sir Bors, Sir Bleoberis, Sir 
Ector, and Sir Driant, and she told them all four of 
the treason of Morgan le Fay. They promised her 
that they would be near where Sir Lancelot should 
n1eet with the thirty knights, and if so be these set on 
hin1, they would rescue him as well as they could. After 
leaving the four knights the damsel by chance met Sir 
Tristram and Sir Dinadan, and these also she told of all 
the treachery that was ordained for Sir Lancelot. 

"Fair damsel," said Sir Tristram, "lead me to the 
place where they expect to meet with Sir Lancelot." 

" What will ye do ? " said Sir Dinadan. "It is not 
for us to fight with thirty knights, and wit ye well, I 
will not do so. To match one knight, two or three are 
enough, if they be men. But to match fifteen knights 
that will I never undertake.'' 

" Fie~ for shame," said Sir Tristram, "do but your 
part. " 

"Nay," said Dinadan, "I will not do so unless you 
will lend me your shield ; for ye bear a shield of Corn­
wall, and because of the cowardice that is named to 
the knights of Cornwall, by your shields ye are ever 
avoided." 

"Nay, I will not part from my shield, for her sake 
who gave it me,'.' said Tristram. " But one thing I 
promise thee, Sir Dinadan, if thou abide not with me, I 
shall slay thee here. For I desire no more of thee but 
to answer one knight, and if thy heart will not serve 
thee, stand by, and look upon me and them. " 
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" Sir," said the cowardly Dinadan, " I promise you 

to look on, and do what I can to save myself, but I 

wish I had not met with you.'' 

Soon after, the thirty knights drew near the four 

knights, and they were all aware of each other. But 

the thirty knights let the four knights pass, in case they, 

too, had been ordered to attack Sir Lancelot ; and the 
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four knights let the thirty knights pass, with the intention 
of seeing what they would do with Sir Lancelot. 

So the thirty knights passed on, and came up to Sir 
Tristram and Sir Dinadan. And as they drew near 
Sir Tristram cried aloud : 

"Lo, here is a knight against you, for the love of 
Sir Lancelot ! " 

And there he slew two with one spear, and ten with 
his sword ; and then Sir Dinadan, plucking up courage, 
rushed into the fray, and did passing well. 

So of the thirty knights there went but ten away, 
and these fled. 

Sir Bors de Ganis and his three con1panions watched 
this battle, and they saw well it was the same knight 
who had jousted with them near the sea. Then they 
took their horses, and rode to Sir Tristram, and praised 
him, and thanked him for his good deeds ; and they all 
wanted Sir Tristram to go with them to their lodgings. 
" But he said nay, he would go to no lodging. 

Then all the four knights prayed him to tell them 
his name. 

"Fair lords," said Tristram, "I will not tell you 
my name at present. " 

The False Treason of Morgan le Fay 

Sir Tristram and Sir Dinadan continued on their 
way, and as they went they had many adventures. .But 
Dinadan lamented all the while that ever he fell into Sir 
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Tristram's con1pany. For every knight they met 

wanted to joust with them, and Sir Dinadan liked not 

so much fighting, and n1oreover he had many falls. 

"Ye fare as a madn1an," he said to Sir Tristram, 

" and as a n1an who is out of his mind, who would cast 

himself away ; I could curse the time that ever I saw 

you. For in all the world there are not two knights 

that are so mad as Sir Lancelot and you. For once I 

fell into the fellowship of Sir Lancelot, as I have n?w 

done with you, and he set me such a work that I kept 

my bed a quarter of a year. Defend me from two such 

knights, and especially from your companionship ! " 
They found lodging that night with a good man 

in a priory, where they were well treated. On the 

n1orrow Sir Tristram departed, leaving Sir Dinadan in 

the priory, for the latter was so weary and so sorely 

bruised that he could not ride. The next day Sir 

Tristran1 met with messengers, and they told him there 

was great proclamation made of a tournament between 

King Carados of Scotland and the King of North 

Wales, and that they were to joust against each other 

at the Castle of Maidens. These messengers were 

searching all the country after good knights, and in 

especial King Carados was seeking for Sir Lancelot, 

and the King of North Wales was seeking for Sir 

Tristram of Lyonesse. 
So Sir Tristram thought he would be at that 

tournament. 
The same day he met with a damsel, who told him 

he should win great renown from a knight adventurous, 

who did much harm in all that country. When Sir 
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Tristram heard her say so, he was glad to go with 
her, to win honour . They had ridden about six n1iles 
when Sir Gawaine n1et them. He knew the damsel 
in1mediately, that she was one of the ladies of the 
wicked Queen, Morgan le Fay. 

" Fair knight," said Sir Gawaine, "whither ride 
you now with that damsel ? '' 

"Sir," said Tris tram, " I know not whither I shall 
ride, only as the damsel shall lead me." 

"Sir," said Gawaine, "ye shall not ride with her, 
for she and her lady never did good, but ill." Then 
pulling out his sword, he said, " Damsel, unless thou 
tell me quickly for what cause thou leadest this knight 
with you, thou shalt die for it at once. I know all your 
lady's treason and yours." 

"Mercy, Sir Gawaine ! " she cried, " and if ye will 
save my life, I will tell you." 

"Say on, and thou shalt have thy life," said 
Gawaine. 

"Sir, Queen Morgan le Fay, my lady, hath ordained 
thirty ladies to seek and spy after Sir Lancelot or Sir 
Tristram, and by a plot with these ladies, whoever first 
meets with either of these two knights, they shall turn 
them to Morgan le Fay's Castle, saying they shall do 
deeds of worship. And if either of these two knights 
comes there, there are thirty knights lying and watching 
in a tower, to wait for Sir Lancelot or Sir Tristram." 

" Fie for shame," said Sir Gawaine, " that ever such 
false treason should be wrought or used by a Queen,­
a King's sister, and the daughter of a King and Queen." 

Then Sir Gawaine and Sir Tristram agreed to ride 
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to the Castle where Morgan le Fay was, and to defy the 
malice of the thirty knights. And Sir Gawaine kept 
on thinking that his companion must certainly be 
Tristram of Lyonesse, for he had heard tell how two 
knights had slain and beaten thirty knights. 

When they came before the Castle Sir Gawaine cried 
out in a high voice : 

"Queen Morgan le Fay, send out your knights 
whom ye have laid to watch for Sir Lancelot and Sir 
Tristram ! Now I know your false treason, and through 
all places where I ride men shall know of your false 
treason. And now, ye thirty knights, let Sir Gawaine 
see if ye dare come out of your Castle ! " 

Then the Queen and all the thirty knights spoke at 
once, and said : 

" Sir Gawaine, full well thou knowest what thou 
dost, and sayest, for we know thee passing well. But 
all that thou speakest and dost, thou sayest it from 
pride of that good knight who is there with thee. For 
there be some of us who know full well the hands of 
that knight, and wit ye well, Sir Gawaine, it is more 
for his sake than for thine that we will not come out of 
this Castle. As for that knight who beareth the arn1s 
of Cornwall, we know him and what he is." 

Finding that. Queen Morgan le Fay and her thirty 
knights were too cowardly to face them openly, Sir 
Gawaine and Sir Tristram departed from the Castle, 
and rode on their travels a day or two together. 

They had not gone far before they saw a cruel knight 
chasing a lady to slay her, for he had already slain her 
lover. His name was called" Sir Breuse Without Pity." 
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" Hold still," said Sir Gawaine, " and do not show 
forth, and ye shall see me reward yonder false knight. 
For if he espy you, he is so well horsed that he will 

" escape away. 
Then Sir Gawaine rode between Sir Breuse and the 

lady, calling out, "False knight, leave her, and deal 
with me!" 

Sir Breuse, seeing no one but Sir Gawaine, levelled 
his spear, and Sir Gawaine did the same, and there Si-r 
Breuse overthrew Sir Gawaine ; then as the knight lay 
on the ground he rode over and across him several 
times, to destroy him: When Sir Tristran1 saw him do 
so villainous a deed he hurled out against him. 

As soon as Sir Breuse saw the shield of Cornwall, 
he knew well it was Sir Tristram, and away he fled, 
with Sir Tristram after him. Sir Breuse had so good 
a horse that he got quite away, but Tristram followed 
him for a long time, for he would fain have been 
avenged on him. 

After chasing him some way, he saw a fair well, and 
thither he rode to rest. Alighting from his horse, he 
tied him to a tree, and pulling off his helm, he washed 
his face and hands, and presently he fell asleep. 

In the meanwhile came a damsel who had sought 
Sir Tristram many days and n1any ways in that country. 
When she came to the well . she looked at the sleeping 
knight, but she would not have remembered him for 
Sir Tristram, if it had not been for his horse, "Passe­
Brewel." By this she knew him ; for when he was 
mad in the forest, Sir Fergus, a knight of King Mark's 
Court, took care of the horse, and there this lady, who 
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was no other than D ame Bragwaine, had often seen 

hin1. 
D ame Bragwaine stayed still until T ristram awoke, 

and then she saluted him, and he her again, for they 

were of old acquaintance. She told him how she had 

sought him far and wide, and how she had letters from 

Oueen Iseult of Cornwall. Tristram read them at 
<'v 

once, and very glad he was to have them. 
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" Lady Bragwaine," he said, " ye shall ride with me 

till that tournament at the Castle of Maidens is over ; 
and then ye · shall bear letters and tidings back to Queen 
Iseult." 

At the Castle of Maidens 

On the first day of the great tournament at the 
Castle of Maidens Sir Tristram did so gallantly and 
overth.rew so many knights that King Arthur and all 
the Kings and lords who were judges gave him the 
prize, although they knew him not, but named him the 
" Knight with the Black Shield." 

On the morrow, Sir Palamides, who had been fight­
ing for the King of North Wales, left him, and rode to 
King Arthur's side, where was King Carados, and the 
King of Ireland, and Sir Lancelot's kin, and Sir 
Gawaine's kin. And the better to disguise themselves, 
Sir Lancelot and thirty-two knights of his blood had 
assumed shields of Cornwall. Sir Palamides sent a 
damsel as messenger to Sir Tristram to ask who he was, 
and what was his name. 

" As to that," said Sir Tris tram, "tell Sir Pal amides 
he shall not know at this time, nor until I have broken 
two spears on him. But tell hin1 plainly that side on 
which he is, I will be on the contrary side.". 

"Sir," said the damsel, " ye shall understand that 
Sir Palamides will be on King Arthur's side, where the 
most noble knights of the world be." 

"Then," said Sir Tristram, " I will be with the King 
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of North Wales, because Sir Palamides is on King 

Arthur's side, else I would not be so, except for his sake." 

When King Arthur can1e, the trumpets blew for the 

field, and then began a great fight ; King Carados 

jousted with the King of North Wales, and there had 

a fall, whereupon other knights of King Arthur's 

imn1ediatel y rushed 111, and beat back the knights 
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of the King of North Wales. Then Sir Tristram rode 
in, and began so roughly and so hugely that no one 
could withstand him, and thus he kept on for a long 
time. But at -the last Tristram fell among the company 
of King Ban, and was attacked by Sir Bors de Ganis, 
Sir Ector de Maris, Sir Blamor de Ganis, and n1any 
other knights. Sir Tristram smote on the right hand, 
and on the left hand, so that all lords and ladies spoke 
of his noble deeds. But in the end he would have had 
the worse, had it not been for the King with the 
Hundred Knights, who came with his followers, and 
rescued Sir Tristram, and carried him away from those 
knights who bore the shields of Cornwall. 

After this, Sir Tristram saw another troop by them­
selves, about forty knights together, and Sir Kay, the 
Seneschal, was their governor. Sir Tris tram rode in 
amongst them, and smote down Sir Kay from his horse, 
and there he fared among those knights like a greyhound 
among comes. 

Sir Lancelot, meanwhile, found a knight who was 
sorely wounded on the head; he asked him who had 
done it. 

"Sir," he said, "a knight who beareth a black 
shield. I could curse the time that ever I met with 
him, for he is a devil, and no man." 

Sir Lancelot left him, and hoping to meet with Sir 
Tristram, he rode seeking him, with his sword drawn 
in his hand ; at last he espied him, how he hurled here 
and there, and at every stroke Sir Tristram well-nigh 
smote down a knight. 

"Oh, mercy," said King Arthur, "since the time I 
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bore arms, I never saw knight do such marvellous 

deeds of valour." 
"And if I should assail this knight," said Sir 

Lancelot to himself, " I should shame myself," and 

therewith he put up his sword. 

The King with a Hundred Knights, and a hundred 

more men of North Wales, now set upon twenty of Sir 

Lancelot's kin, and those twenty knights held ever 

together, and none would fail the other. When Sir 

Tristram saw the noblesse of these twenty knights he 

marvelled at their good deeds, for he saw by their 

bearing and conduct that they would rather die than 

yield the field. 
"Now," said Sir Tristram, "well may he be valiant 

and full of prowess that hath such noble knights for 

his kin, and full like is he to be a noble man who is 

their leader and governor ! '' He n1ean t by this, Sir 

Lancelot of the Lake. 

After Sir Tristran1 had watched them for a long 

time, he thought it shame to see two hundred knights 

battering upon twenty knights, so he rode to the King 

of North W ales, and said : 

"Sir, leave your fighting with those twenty knights, 

for ye win no renown from them, ye be so many, and 

they be so few ; and wit ye welt they will not leave the 

field, I see by their cheer and countenance ; and honour 

ye get none, if ye slay them. Therefore leave your 

fighting wi th them, for I, to increase my honour, will 

ride to the twenty knights and help them with all my 

might and power." 
"Nay," said the King of North W ales, " ye shall 
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not do so. Now that I see your courage and courtesy, 
to please you I will withdraw my knights, for ever­
more a good knight will favour another, and like will 
draw to like.'' 

Then the King of North Wales withdrew his 
knights. 

All this while and long before, Sir Lancelot had 
watched Sir Tris tram with the very purpose of having 
fellowship with him. But suddenly Sir Tristram, Sir 
Dinadan, and Gouvernail his man rode their way into 
the forest, so that no n1an perceived where they went. 

Then King Arthur blew for the fighting to cease, 
and gave the King of North Wales the prize, because 
Sir Tristram was on his side. Sir Lancelot rode here 
and there like a raging lion, because he had lost Sir 
Tristram, but he had to return without him to King 
Arthur. Then in all the field there was a noise that 
with the wind might have been heard two n1iles off, 
how the lords and ladies cried : 

" The Knight with the Black Shield has won the 
field ! " · 

"Alas," said King Arthur, "what has become of 
that knight ? It is shame to all those in the field so to 
let him escape away fron1 you, but with gentleness and 
courtesy ye n1ight have brought him unto me to the 
Castle of Maidens.'' 

Afterwards the noble King Arthur went to his 
knights and comforted them in the best way he could 
for having been defeated that day. Many were hurt 
and sore wounded, but many also were unhurt. 

"My brave knights," he said, " be not dismayed, 
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even although ye have lost the field this day. Look 

that ye be of good cheer, for to-morrow I will be in the 

field with you, and revenge you of your enemies." 

The Third Day of the Tournament 

Then on the morrow the trumpets blew to the 

tournament for the third day. 

The King of North Wales, and the King with the 

Hundred Knights, encountered with King Carados and 

with the King of Ireland; and there the King with the 

Hundred Knights smote down King Carados, and the 

King of North Wales smote down the King of Ireland. 

Sir Palamides came at once to the help of the fallen 

knights, and made great work, for by his indented shield 

he was well known. Then King Arthur joined him, 

and did great deeds of arn1s, and put the King of North 

Wales and the King of the Hundred Knights to the 

worse. But Sir Tristram with his black shield came to 

their help, and quickly he jousted with Sir Palamides; 

and there by fine force he sn1ote Sir Palamides over his 

horse's croup. 
Then cried King Arthur, "Knight with the Black 

Shield, make thee ready to me ! " and in the same wise 

Sir Tristram smote King Arthur. 

By force of Arthur's knights, the King and Sir 

Palamides we;re horsed again, and the King with an 

eager heart, seizing a spear, smote Sir Tristram from 

one side over his horse. Hot-foot, from the other 
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side, Sir Palamides came upon Sir Tristram, as he was 
on foot, meaning to over-ride him, but Sir Tristram 
was aware of him, and stooped aside, and with great ire 
he got him by the arm, and pulled him down from his 
horse. 

Sir Palamides arose lightly, and they dashed to­
gether n1ightily with their swords, and many Kings, 
Queens, and lords stood and beheld them. At the 
last, Sir Tristram smote Sir Palamides upon the helm 
three mighty strokes, and at every stroke he gave him, 
he cried, " Have this for Sir Tristram's sake ! " With 
that, Sir Palamides fell to the earth, grovelli.ng. 

Then came the King of the Hundred Knights, and 
brought Sir Tristr~m a horse, and so he was mounted 
again. Then he was aware of King Arth:ur with a 
naked sword in his hand, and with his spear Sir Tristram 
ran upon King Arthur ; the King boldly awaited him, 
and with his sword he smote the spear in two. At 
this Sir Tristram was so astonished that King Arthur 
gave him three or four great strokes before he could 
get out his sword, but at last Sir Tristram drew his 
sword, and assailed the other, pressing hard. 

Now the great crowd parted them ; then Sir 
Tristram rode here and there, and fought with such 
fury that eleven of the good knights of the blood of 
King Ban, who were of Sir Lancelot's kin, were that day 
smitten down by Sir Tristram. All people, of every 
estate, n1arvelled at his great deeds, and all shouted for 
" the Knight with the Black Shield ! " 

The uproar was so great that Sir Lancelot heard it, 
and getting a great spear he came towards the shouting. 
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"Knight with the Black Shield, make thee ready to 

joust with 1ne ! " cried Sir Lancelot. 

When Sir Tristran1 heard him say this, he took 

spear in hand, and both lowered their heads, and came 

together like thunder ; Sir Tristram's spear broke in 

pieces, and Sir Lancelot by ill fortune struck Sir Tris­

tram on the side, a deep wound nigh to death. But 

yet Sir Tristram left not his saddle, and so the spear 

broke ; though sorely wounded, Tristran1 got out his 

sword and rushed at Sir Lancelot and gave him three 

great strokes on the helm, so that sparks flew out, 

and Sir Lancelot lowered his head down to his saddle­

bow. And therewithal Sir Tristram departed fro.m the 

field, for he felt himself so wounded that he thought he 

should have died. 
Sir Dinadan espied him go, and followed him into 

the forest. After they had gone some way, Sir Tristram 

alighted, and unlaced his harness, and dressed his wound. 

Then Sir Dinadan feared that he would have died. 

" Nay, nay, Dinadan, never dread thee," said Sir 

Tristram, "for I am heart whole, and of this wound I 

shall soon be healed, by the mercy of God." 

When Sir Tristran1 departed into the forest, Sir 

Lancelot held always the fight, like a n1an enraged, who 

took no heed to himself, and wit ye well, there was 

many a noble knight against him. King Arthur, see­

ing Sir Lancelot do such marvellous deeds of arms, 

armed himself, and taking his horse and armour, rode 

into the field, to help Sir Lancelot, and many other 

knights came in with King Arthur. To n1ake a short 

tale, in conclusion, the King of North Wales and the 
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King of the Hundred Knights were put to the worse, 
and because Sir Lancelot abode, and was the last in the 
field, the prize was given him. 

Sir Lancelot, however, would not for King, Queen, 
nor knight accept the prize; but wherever the cry was 
cried through the field, "Sir Lancelot, Sir Lancelot hath 
won the field this day ! " Sir Lancelot had another 
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contrary cry made,-" Sir Tristram hath won the field ! 

For he began first, and last he hath endured ! And so 

he hath done the first day, the second, and the third 

d I " ay. 

The Quest of the Ten Knights 

Then every one, high and low, said great things of 

Sir Lancelot for the honour he did Sir Tristram, and 

because of that honour done to Sir Tristram he was at 

that tin1e more praised and renowned than if he had 

overthrown five hundred knights ; and all the people, 

solely because of this courtesy, first the nobles, great 

and small, and afterwards all the common folk, cried at 

once, "Sir Lancelot hath won the field, whosoever say 

nay! " At this Lancelot was angry and ashamed, 

and therewith he rode to King Arthur. 

"Alas ! " said the King, " we are all dismayed that 

Sir Tristram is thus departed from us. Truly he is 

one of the noblest knights that ever I saw hold spear 

or sword in hand.'' 

King Arthur and Sir Lancelot took their horses to 

seek Sir Tristran1, but when they came to the pavilion 

where he had slept the night before the tournament, he 

and Sir Dinadan were gone. They were very sorry at 

not ti nding him, and returned to the Castle of Maidens, 

making great dole for the hurt of Sir Tristram,_ and his 

sudden departing. 
"Truly," said King Arthur, "I am more grieved 
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that I cannot meet with him than for all the hurts that 
all my knights have had at the tournament." 

Right so came Sir Gaheris, and told King Arthur 
that after Sir Tristram w.as wounded Sir Palamides 
had gone after him into the forest, and challenged him 
to joust, and that Sir Tristram had there smitten him 
down. 

"Alas," said King Arthur, "that was great dis­
honour to Sir Palamides, inasmuch as Sir Tristram was 
sorely wounded, and now may we all, Kings, knights, 
and men of worship, say that Sir Tristram may be 
called a noble knight, and one of the best knights I 
ever saw in the days of my life. For I will that ye all 
know, that I never saw knight do so marvellously as 
he hath done these three days ; for he was the first 
who began, and the longest who held on, save this 
last day. And though he was hurt, it was a manly 
adventure of two noble knights ; and when two noble 
men encounter, it must needs be that one wiJl have the 
worst, as God may allow at the time." 

" As for me," said Sir Lancelot, " for all the lands 
that ever n1y father left me, I would not have hurt Sir 
Tristram, if I had known him at that time. That I 
hurt him was because I saw not his shield, for if I had 
seen his black shield I would not have meddled with 
him for many causes, for he did lately for me as much 
as ever knight did ; and it is well known that he had 
ado with thirty k nights, and no help save Sir Dinadan. 
And one thing I shall promise,- Sir Palamides shall 
i:epcnt it for his unkindly dealing in following that 
noble knight, whom I by mishap hurt thus.'' So spoke 
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Sir Lancelot all the honour he could concerning Sir 
Tristram. 

Then King Arthur made a great feast to all that 
would come, and at the feast he said to Sir Lancelot ·: 

"Had it not been for you we had not lost Sir Tris­
tram, for he was here daily until the time ye met 
with him, and in an evil hour ye encountered with 
h. " 1m. 

"My lord Arthur," said Lancelot, "you accuse 
me that I am the cause of his departure : truly it was 
against n1y will. But when men be hot in deeds of 
arn1s, often they hurt their friends as well as their foe_s; 
and, my lord, ye shall understand Sir Tristram is a man 
I am loath to offend, for he has done for n1e more than 
ever as yet I have done for him." 

Then Sir Lancelot made them bring forth a book, 
and he said : 

" Here we are, ten knights, who will swear upon a 
book never to rest one night where we rest another; 
this twelve months, until we find Sir Tristram. And 
as for n1e, I promise you upon this book that if I meet 
with him, by fair means or foul, I shall bring him to 
this Court, or else I shall die for it." 

The names of the ten knights who undertook this 
quest were these fallowing :-First was Sir Lancelot ; 
then Sir Ector de Maris, Sir Bors de Ganis, Bleoberis, 
and Sir Bian1or de Ganis ; Lucan , the butler ; Sir 
Uwaine, Sir Galihud, Sir Lionel, and Galiodin. 

These ten noble knights departed from the Court 
of King Arthur, and thus they rode upon their quest 
together, until they came to a cross, where parted four 
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highw~ys; and there the fellowship broke up into four 
parties, to seek Sir Tristram. 

In the n1eanwhile, Sir Tristram and Sir Dinadan were 
lodging in the Castle of an old knight called Sir Darras. 

Sir Palamides after his fall in the forest was nearly 
out of his wits with rage against Sir Tristram, so he 
resolved to follow him. Coming to a river, in his 
madness he tried to make his horse leap over, but his 
horse failed footing, and fell into the river, wherefore 
Sir Palamides dreaded lest he should be drowned. 
However, he got clear from his horse, and swam to 
the land, but the horse went down in the water. 

When Sir Palamides reached the land he took off 
his armour, and sat roaring and crying like a man out 
of his mind. Right so came a damsel past Sir Pala­
mides, and he and she had language together, which 
pleased neither of them ; so the damsel rode her way 
till she came to the place where Tristram was lodging 
with an old knight, and there she told hin1 how by 
chance she had met with the maddest knight that ever 
she met withal. 

· "What bare he in his shield?" said Sir Tristram. 
"It was indented with white and black," said the 

damsel. 
" Ah," said Sir Tristram, " that is Sir Palamides, 

the good knight, for well I know him for one of the 
best knights living in this realm." 

Then the old knight took a little hackney, and rode 
for Sir Palamides, and brought him unto his own Manor. 

Whenever Sir Palamides saw Sir Tristram, he 
looked at him curiously, for although he did not 
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recognize him, it seemed to him 1:e had seen hin1 

before. Then he would say to Sir Dinadan, "If ever 

I may n1eet with Sir Tristram, he shall not escape my 

hands." 
" I marvel," said Sir Dinadan, " that ye boast 

behind Sir Tristram's back, for it is but lately he was 

in your hands, and ye in his hands. Why would ye 

not hold him when ye had him? For I myself saw 

twice or thrice that ye got but little worship of Sir 

Tris tram." 
Then was Sir Palamides ashamed. 

Thus they stayed for awhile in the Castle with the 

old knight, Sir Darras. But one day there came a 

damsel who told Sir Darras that three of his sons had 

been slain at the tournament of the Castle of Maidens, 

and two grievously wounded, so that they were never 

likely to help themselves, and all this was done by a 

noble knight who bare a black shield. Then some 

one else said that the same knight who bare the black 

shield was now within that very Castle. Sir Darras 

went to Tristram's chamber, and there he found his 

shield, and shewed it to the damsel. 

"Ah, sir," said the damsel, "the same man who 

bore that shield is he who slew your three sons." 

Without any tarrying, Sir Darras at once threw Sir 

Tristram, and Sir Palamides, and Sir Dinadan into 

a strong prison, and there Sir Tristram fell so ill that 

he nearly died. And every day Sir Palamides would 

reproach Sir Tristram, because of the old hate betwixt 

them, and always Sir Tristran1 spoke fair, and said 

little. But when Palamides saw him fall sick, then he 
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was sorry for hin1, and comforted him in all the best 
wise he could. 

Then came forty knights to Sir Darras, who were 
of his own kin, and they would have slain Sir Tristram 
and his two companions; Sir Darras, however, would 
not suffer that, although he kept them still in prison ; 
and they had sufficient meat and drink. 

But Sir Tristran1 endured there great pain, for 
sickness overtook him, and that is the greatest pain 
a prisoner can have. For all the while a prisoner has 
his health of body, he can endure, by the mercy of 
God, and in hope of good deliverance ; but when 
sickness toucheth a prisoner's body, then may a 
prisoner say all wealth is bereft him, and then he hath 
cause to wail and to weep. And so did Sir Tristram 
when sickness overtook him, for then he had such 
sorrow that he almost slew himself. 

· The Strange Shield of Morgan le Fay 

When Sir Tristram fell so ill, Sir Dinadan and Sir 
Palan1ides made great sorrow, and one day a damsel 
came and found them n1ourning. So she went to Sir 
Darras, and told hin1 how the n1ighty knight who bore 
the black shield was likely to die. 

" That shall not be," said Sir Darras, " for God 
forbid that when any knights come to me for succour 
I should suffer them to die within my prison. There­
fore, fetch that knight and his companions before me." 
And when he saw Tristram he said, "Sir knight, I 
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repent me of thy sickness, for thou art called a full 

noble knight, and so thou seemest. And wit ye well 

it shall never be said that Sir Darras shall destroy such 

a noble knight as thou art, in prison, howbeit thou 

hast slain three of my sons, whereby I was greatly 

aggrieved. But now thou shalt go, and thy com­

pai:iions ; your armour and horses have been fair and 

clean kept, and ye shall go where ye like,-upon this 

covenant, that thou, knight, will promise me to be 

good friend to n1y two sons who are now alive, and 

also that thou tell me thy name.'' 
" Sir," said he, " as for me, my nan1e is Sir 

Tristram of Lyonesse, and in Cornwall was I born, 

and I an1 nephew to King Mark. And as for the 

death of your sons I could not help it, for if they 

had been the next kin that I have, I could not have 

done otherwise. If indeed I had slain them by treason 

or treachery, I had been worthy to have died." 

" All this I consider," said Sir Darras, " that all 

ye did was by force of knighthood, and that was 

the cause why I would not put you to death. But 

since ye be Sir Tristram, the noble knight, I pray 

you heartily to be a good friend to me and to n1y 
, ' sons. 

"Sir," said Tristram, " I promise you by the faith 

of my body I will do you service as long as I live, for 

ye have done to us only as a knight would naturally 

d " 0. 

Sir Tristram rested in the Castle till his sickness 

mended, and when he was well again and strong the 

three companions n1ade ready to leave ; every knight 
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took his horse, and so they departed, riding together 
till they came to a cross-way, where they each went a 
different road. 

It happened by chance that Sir Tristram came to 
ask for lodging at a Castle where Morgan le Fay was, 
and there that night he had good cheer. On the 
morrow when he would have departed the Queen said : 

"Wit ye well, ye shall not depart lightly, for ye 
are here as a prisoner." 

"God forbid," said Sir Tristram, "for I was but 
lately a prisoner.'' 

"Fair knight," said the Queen, "ye shall abide 
with 111e till I know what you are, and whence you come. 
Tell me your nan1e, and I will suffer you to depart 
~hen you will." 

"Upon that covenant I will tell you n1y name-it 
.is Sir Tristram of Lyonesse." 

" Ah," said Morgan le Fay, "if I had known that, 
ye should not have departed so soon, but since I have 
made a pron1ise I will keep it, on condition that you 
will promise n1e to bear a shield that I shall deliver 
you, unto the Castle of the Hard Rock, where King 
Arthur ·hath proclaimed a great tournament ; and I 
pray you to go there, and do for n1e as much deeds 
of arn1s as ye can do. For at the Castle of Maidens, 
Sir Tristram, ye did n1arvellous deeds of arms as ever I 
heard of knight doing." 

" Madarn," said Tris tram, "let me see the shield 
that I shall bear." 

So the shield was brought forth, and it was goldish, 
with a King and Queen painted therein, and a knight 
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standing above them, with one foot on the King's 
head, and the other upon the Queen's. 

"Madam," said Tristram, "this is a fair shield and 

a mighty ; but what signifieth this King and this Queen, 
and that knight standing upon both their heads ? " 

"I will tell you," said Morgan le Fay; "it signifieth 
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King Arthur and Queen Guinevere, and a knight that 
holdeth them both in bondage." 

"Who is that knight ? " asked Tristram. 
"That ye shall not know just yet," said the Queen. 
But it was a wicked device of Morgan le Fay to 

bring trouble on Sir Lancelot, out of revenge, because 
he would never love her, nor do anything at her 
request. She hoped King Arthur would see the shield, 
and be angry with Sir Lancelot because of the picture 
on it. 

Sir Tristram took the shield, and promised Morgan 
le Fay to bear it at the tournament at the Castle of 
the Hard Rock. He knew not at that time that the 
shield was ordained to work mischief against Sir Lance­
lot, but afterwards he knew it. Taking leave of the 
Queen, he rode to the Castle, where he saw five 
hundred tents~ The King of Scots and the King of 
Ireland held against King Arthur's knights, and there 
began a great melee. Sir Tristram rushed into the 
fray, and did marvellous deeds of arn1s, smiting down 
many knights. And always in the front of the fight 
shone that strange shield. 

When the King saw it he marvelled greatly with 
what intent it had been made, but Queen Guinevere 
guessed what it was, wherefore she was heavy-hearted. 
A damsel of Queen Morgan le Fay's happened to be 
present in the chamber from which the King watched 
the tournament, and when she heard him speak of the 
shield, she said openly : 

"Sir King, wit ye well that this shield was ordained 
for you, to show you shame and dishonour," and then 
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she stole away secretly, so that no man knew what 

becan1e of her. 
King Arthur was sad and wroth at her words, and 

asked from whence can1e that damsel, but there was no 

one who knew her, nor where she went. 

All this while the King watched Sir Tristram, who 

did such marvellous deeds of arms, that he wondered 

sorely what knight he could be, for he knew well it 

was not Sir Lancelot. He was told that Sir Tristran1 

was in Brittany with his wife, Iseult of the White Hands, 

for if he had been in England Arthur thought Sir 

Lancelot or some of his companions who had gone 

in quest of Sir Tristram would have found him before 

now. So King Arthur 111arvelled what knight this 

could be, and he kept always gazing at the shield. 

Then Sir Tristram smote down knights, wonderful 

to behold, on the right hand, and on the left hand, 

scarcely a knight could withstand him. But the King 

of Scots and the King of Ireland began to withdraw 

themselves. Arthur, seeing this, resolved that the knight 

with the strange shield should not escape him. There­

fore he called Sir lTwaine, and bade him arn1 hin1, and 

make him ready; and they quickly appeared before Sir 

Tristram, and challenged hin1 to tell them where he 

had that shield. 

'' Sir," he said, "I had it of Queen Morgan le Fay, 

sister to King Arthur." 

" If so be you can describe what you bear, you are 

worthy to bear the arms." 

"A.s for that," said Sir Tristram, "I will answer 

you. This shield was given n1e, not desired, of Queen 
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Morgan le Fay. And as for me, I cannot describe 
these arms, for it is no point of my charge ; and yet 
I trust to bear them with honour." 

"Truly," said King Arthur, "you ought to bear no 
arms, unless you know what you bear. But I pray you 

11 " te me your name. 
"To what intent ? " said Sir Tristram. 
"Because I wish to know it," said King Arthur. 
"Sir, ye shall not know it at this time." 
" Then shall you and I do battle together," said 

King Arthur. 
"Why will you do battle with me unless I tell you 

my name ? " said Tristram. "You need hardly do 
that, if you were a man of honour, for you have seen 
me this day have great travail ; therefore you are an 
unworthy knight to ask battle of me, considering my 
great travail. However, I will not fail you, and do 
not imagine that I fear you ; though you think you 
have me at a great advantage, yet I shall endure right 
well." 

Therewith King Arthur dressed his shield and his 
spear, and Sir Tristram against him, and they came so 
eagerly together that King Arthur broke his spear to 
pieces upon Sir Tristram's shield. But Sir Tristram hit 
King Arthur again, so that horse and man fell to the 
earth ; and the King was wounded on the left side, a 
great wound and a perilous. 

When Sir Uwaine saw his lord Arthur lie on the 
ground sore wounded, he was passing heavy. Then 
he dressed his shield and spear, and cried aloud to 
Sir Tristram, " Knight, defend thee ! " They came 
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together like thunder, and Sir ·uwaine broke his spear 

to pieces on Tristram's shield. And Sir Tristram 

smote hin1 harder and sorer, with such might, that he 

bore him clean out of his saddle to the earth. 

With that, Sir Tristram turned about, and said : 

"Fair knights, I had no need to joust with you, for 

I have had enough to do this day." 

Then Arthur arose, and went to Sir Uwaine, and 

said to Sir Tristram : 

"We have as we have deserved, for through our 

pride we demanded battle of you, and yet we knew 

not your name. " 
"Nevertheless," said Sir Uwaine, "by my faith, he 

is as strong a knight, in my opinion, as any now living." 

The Tombstone by the River of Can1elot 

After overthrowing King Arthur and Sir Uwaine, 

Sir Tristram departed from the Castle of the Hard 

Rock ; everywhere he went he asked after Sir Lancelot, 

but in no place could he hear of him, whether he were 

dead or alive, wherefore Sir Tristram made great dole 

and sorrow. As he rode by a forest he was aware of a 

fair tower with a marsh on the one side, and a green 

meadow on the other, and there he saw ten knights 

fighting together. As he came nearer, he saw how it 

was but one knight, who did battle against nine knights, 

and that one knight did so marvellously that Tristram 

wondered greatly how one knight could do such deeds 
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of arms. He had great pity for him, and by his shield 
he thought it must be Sir Palamides. 

So he rode to the knights, and cried to them, and 
bade them cease their battle, for they did themselves 
great shame, so many knights to fight with one. It was 
a pity, he said, that so good a knight should be slain so 
cowardly, and therefore he warned them, he would 
succour him with all his prowess. 

The master of the party, who was called " Breuse 
Without Pity," the n1ost mischievous knight then 
living, scornfully defied Sir Tristram, but when his 
men felt Sir Tristram's strokes they all fled into the 
tower, and though Tristram followed fast after, with 
his sword in his hand, they escaped, and shut him 
outside the gate. 

Sir Tristram returned to the knight he had rescued, 
and found him sitting under a tree, sore wounded. 

" Great thanks to you for your goodness," said 
the knight, " for you have saved my life." 

" What is your name ? " said Tristram. 
He answered that it was Palamides. 
" Oh," said Sir Tristram, " thou hast had a fair 

favour of n1e this day that I should rescue thee, and 
thou art the man in the world whon1 I n1ost hate ! 
But now make ready, for I will do battle with thee." 

" What is your name ? " said Palamides. 
"My name is Sir Tristram, your mortal enemy." 
"It may be so," said Sir Palan1ides, "but ye have 

done overmuch for me this day that I should fight with 
you ; for inasmuch as ye have saved my life it will be 
no honour for you to have ado with me, for ye are 
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fresh, and I am wounded sore. 
need have ado with me, assign 
shall n1eet you without fail." 

Therefore, if ye will 
me a day, and then I 

"Ye say well," said Sir Tristram. " Now I assign 

you to meet me, to do battle with n1e, this day fortnight, 

in the meadow by the river of Camelot, where Merlin 

set the tombstone." 
" I shall not fail you," said Sir Palamides. 
Thus they were agreed, and so they departed, each 

taking a different way. 

At the ti1ne appointed Sir Tristran1 rode straight 

to Camelot, to the tomb which Merlin had made long 

before on the spot where the brave knight Lanceor 

and his fair lady Col um be were both buried under one 

stone. And at that time Merlin prophesied that in 

that same place should fight two of the best knights 

that were ever in Arthur's days. 
When Tristran1 came to the ton1b where Lanceor 

and his lady were buried he looked about him for Sir 

Palamides. Then he was aware of a comely knight who 

came riding against him, all in white, with a covered 

shield. When he came near, Sir Tristram cried, "Ye 

be welcome, Sir Knight, and well and truly have you 
kept your promise.'' 

Then they dressed their shields and spears, and 

came together with all the might of their horses. They 

met so fiercely that both horses and knights fell to the 

earth, but freeing thernsel ves as swiftly as they could, they 

struck together with bright swords, and each wounded 

the other sorely. Thus they fought for a long while, 
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and many great pieces were hewn out of theit armour, 
but never one word was uttered by either of them. 

At last the knight clad in white spoke, and said : 
" Knight, thou fightest wonderly well, as ever I 

saw knight, therefore, if it please you, tell me your ,, 
nan1e. 

" Sir," said Tristram, "I am loath to tell any n1an ,, 
my name. 

"Truly," said the ~tranger, "if ever I were required, 
I was never loath to tell my name." 

"It is well said," quoth Tristram ; "then I require 
you to tell me your name." 

"Fair knight," said he, "my name is Sir Lancelot 
of the Lake.'' 

" Alas," said Tristram, " what have I done ? For 
you are the man in the world I love the best." 

"Fair knight," said Sir Lancelot, "tell n1e your 
nan1e. 

,, 

"Truly, my name is Sir Tristran1." 
" Oh," said Sir Lancelot, " what adventure is 

befallen n1e ! " And therewith he knelt down and 
yielded up his sword to Tristram. But Tristram, too, 
knelt down, and yielded his sword to Lancelot, thus 
each gave the other the honour. 

Then forthwith they went to the ton1bstone, and 
sat down on it, and took off their helms, and kissed 
each other. And afterwards they rode to Camelot. 

As they came near they met Sir Gawaine and Sir 
Gaheris, who had promised King Arthur never to come 
again to the Court till they brought Sir Tristram with 
them. 
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" Return again, " said L ancelot, " for your quest is 
done, for I have n1et with Sir Tristram. Lo, here is 
he in person ! ', 

Then was Sir Gawaine glad. "Ye are welcome," 
he said to Tristram, " for now have ye eased n1e greatly 
of my labour. For what cause came ye to this Court?" 
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"Fair sir," said Tristram, "I came into this country 
because of Sir Palamides, for he and I had assigned at 
this day to have done battle together at the tombstone 
in the meadow by tht; river of Can1elot. And thus by 
chance my lord Sir Lancelot and I met together." 

At this mon1ent came King Arthur, and when he 
knew that Sir Tristram was there, he ran to him, and 
taking him by the hand, said, " Sir Tristram, ye be as 
welcome as any knight that ever came to this Court," 
and so he led him to the Round Table. 

Then came Queen Guinevere, and many ladies with 
her, and all the ladies said with one voice, " Welcome, 
Sir Tristram ! " 

" Welcome ! " said the damsels ; " Welcome ! " 
said the knights. 

"Welcome," said Arthur, " for one of the best 
knights and the gentlest of the world, and the man of 
n1ost renown ! For of all manner of hunting thou 
bearest the prize ; and of all the terms of hunting and 
hawking thou art the beginner ; in all instrun1ents of 
music thou art the most skilled. Therefore, gentle 
knight," said Arthur, c, thou art welcome to this Court ! 
Also, I pray thee, grant me a boon." 

"It shall be at your command," said Tristram. 
" Well," said Arthur, " I des ire of you that ye will 

abide in my Court." 
"Sir," said Tristram, "I am loath to do that, for I 

have ado in many count ries." 
" N ot so," said Arthur ; " ye have pron1ised it me ; 

ye cannot say nay. '' 
"Sir, I will do as ye will ," said Tristram. 
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Arthur went to the seats about the Round Table, 
and looked in all the seats where knights were lacking. 
Then the King saw in the seat of Sir Marhaus letters 
which said: 

"~bis is tbe seat of tbe noble Tinigbt, Sir 
~ristran1." 

So with great splendour and feasting, King Arthur 
made Sir Tristram Knight of the Round Table. 
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Out of Cornwall into England 

" KING FOX" was the name given by Sir Lancelot 
to the sly and wicked King Mark of Cornwall, 

which was as much as to say, "He fareth all by wiles 
and treachery." Now we shall see how well-deserved 
was this scornful nickname. 

King Mark had great spite and envy because of the 
renown of his nephew Sir Tristram, and therefore 
chased him out of Cornwall ; and in especial he was 
jealous and suspicious because his wife, the beautiful 
Queen Iseult, and Sir Tristram, who had been friends 
long ago, always loved each other dearly. When 
Tristram departed out of Cornwall into England, King 
Mark heard of the prowess he did there, which grieved 
him sorely. Both he and the Queen secretly sent 
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separate spies to the Court of King Arthur to find out 
what deeds Tristram did. When the messengers came 
home they told the truth as they had heard, that Tris­
tram surpassed all other knights, unless it were Sir 
Lancelot. King Mark was right heavy at these tidings, 
and La Belle Iseult, on the other hand, was just as glad. 

In great displeasure, King Mark took with him two 
good knights and two squires, and went his way into 
England, with the intent of slaying Sir Tristram. One 
of these knights was named Sir Bersules, the other was 
called Sir Aman t. As they rode, King Mark asked 
a knight whom he met where he should find King 
Arthur. He said, at Camelot. Also he asked the 
knight after Sir Tristram, whether he had heard of him 
in the Court of King Arthur. 

"Wit you well," said the knight, "ye shall find 
Sir Tristran1 there for a man of as great worship as 
any now alive, for through his prowess he won the 
tournament of the Castle of Maidens that standeth by 
the Hard Rock. And since then he hath vanquished . 
with his own hands thirty knights, n1en of great 
honour. And the last battle that ever he did, he 
fought with Sir Lancelot, and that was a marvellous 
battle. And Sir Lancelot brought Sir Tristram, not 
by force, to the Court, whereat King Arthur rejoiced 
greatly, and so made hin1 Knight of the Round Table, 
and his seat is where the good knight, Sir Marhaus's, 
seat was. " 

K ing M ark was much vexed when he heard of the 
honour done to Sir T ristram, and the stranger having 
departed, he said to his two knights : 
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"Now will I tell you my counsel, because ye are 
the men whom I most trust to. I would have you 
know that n1y coming hither is to this intent-to 
destroy Sir Tristram by wiles or by treachery ; and 
it shall go hard if ever he escape our hands." 

"Alas," said Bersules, "what mean you? If you 
are set on such a plan, you are shamefully disposed. 
For Sir Tristram is the knight of most worship whom 
we know living ; I warn you plainly, I will never consent 
to do hin1 to death ; and therefore I will yield my 
service and forsake you." 

. When King Mark heard him speak thus, suddenly 
he drew his sword, and crying, "A traitor ! " smote Sir 
Bersules on the head, so that the sword went through 
to his teeth. 

Amant the knight and Mark's squires, when they 
saw him do that villainous deed, said," It was foul done 
and n1ischievously ; wherefore we will do thee no n1ore 
service, and wit thou well, we will appeach thee of 
murder before King Arthur." 

King Mark was wonderly wroth at these bold 
words, and would have slain Amant also, but he and the 
two squires held together, and set his malice at nought. 
Seeing he could not be revenged on them, King Mark 
said to the knight Amant : 

"Wit thou well, if thou accuse me of murder, I 
shall defend myself thereof before King Arthur ; but 
I require thee that thou tell not my name, that I am 
King Mark, whatsoever come of me." 

"As for that," said Sir Amant, "I will not reveal 
)) your name. 
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Thus they parted, and Amant and his companions 

took the body of Bersules and buried it. 

King M ark rode till he came to a fountain, and 

there he rested himself, and stood 111 doubt whether 

he would ride to Arthur's Court, or not, or return 

again to his own country. As he thus rested by the 
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fountain there came by him a knight well armed, on 
horseback, and he alighted, and tying his horse to a 
tree, he sat him down by the brink of the fountain, 
and there made the dolefullest complaint of unhappy 
love that ever man heard ; and all this while he was 
not aware of King Mark. 

Then King Mark arose, and went near him, and said: 
"Fair knight, ye have made a piteous complaint." 
"Truly," said the knight, "it is a hundredfold 

more rueful than my heart can utter." 
" I require you," said King Mark, " tell me your 

" name. 
"Sir," said he, "as for my name, I will not hide 

it from any knight who beareth a shield ; my name is 
Sir Lamorak of Wales." 

But when he heard King Mark speak, the stranger 
knight knew well by his speech that he was from 
Cornwall. 

" Sir," said Sir Lamorak, " I understand by your 
tongue ye be of Cornwall, wherein there dwelleth the 
shamefullest king now living, for he is a great enemy 
of all good knights ; and that is well proved, for he 
hath chased out of that country Sir Tristram, who is 
the most renowned knight now alive, and all knights 
speak honour of him ; and for jealousy King Mark 
hath chased him out of his country. It is a pity," 
added Sir Lamorak, " that such a false knight-coward 
as King Mark should be matched with such a fair and 
good Jady as La Belle Iseult ; for all the world speaketh 
shame of him, and of her all the praise that any 
Queen can have." 
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" I have nothing to do in the matter," said King 

Mark; "neither will I speak anything thereof." 

" Well spoken," said Sir Lamorak. 

" Sir, can ye tell me any tidings ? " 

" I can tell you," said Sir Lamorak, " that there 

is speedily to be a great tournament beside Camelot, 

at the Castle of J agent. The King with the Hundred 

Knights, and the King of Ireland, have, I believe, 

appointed the tournament." 

Just then up came a knight, who saluted them 

both ; this was Sir Dinadan, who had formerly journeyed 

with Sir Tristram ; when he found one of them was a 

knight of Cornwall, he spoke worse things of King 

Mark a thousandfold more than Sir Lamorak had done. 

Presently he offered to joust with King Mark, but 

the King was full loath ; however, he urged him so, that 

at last th~ King jousted with Sir Lamorak, and the latter 

overthrew hin1 twice. Sir Lan1orak seeing how he fared, 

said, "Sir Knight, what cheer ? It seems to me you 

have nearly had your fill of fighting. It were pity to do 

you any more harm, for you are but a mean knight, 

therefore I give you leave to go where you list." 

"Thanks," said King Mark, "for you and I are 

not equally matched." 
Then Sir Dinadan mocked King Mark, and said: 

" You are not able to match a good knight." 

" As for that," said King Mark, " the first time I 

jousted with this knight, ye refused him." 

"Think you it is a shame to n1e ? " said Sir 

Dinadan. ' ' N ay, sir, it is ever honour to a knight to 

refuse that thing which he cannot attain to. Therefore 
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it would have been much more to your honour to have 
refused him as I did. For I warn you plainly he is 
able to beat five such as you and I, for ye knights of 
Cornwall are no men of worship, as other knights are. 
And because you are no men of worship, you hate all 
men of worship ; for never was bred in your country 
such a knight as Sir Tristram." 

A False Knight-Coward 

After this they all rode forth together, King Mark, 
Sir Lamorak, and Sir Dinadan, till they came to a bridge, 
at the end of which stood a fair tower. When they 
reached this they begged for lodging. 

"Ye are right welcome," said the knights of the 
Castle, "for the sake of the lord of this Castle, who is 
called Sir Tor." 

They were led into a fair court, well repaired, and 
they had passing good cheer till the lieutenant of the 
Castle, who was called Berluse, espied King Mark of 
Cornwall. 

Then said Berluse, "Sir Knight, I know you better 
than you ween, for you are King Mark, who slew my 
father before my own eyes, and me ye would have 
slain, had I not escaped into a wood. Nevertheless, 
for the love of the lord of this Castle, I will neither 
hurt you nor harm you, nor any of your fellowship, as 
long as you are here. But understand, when you are past 
this lodging, I shall hurt you if I can, for you slew my 
father treacherously. But first for the love of my lord, 
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Sir Tor, and th_en for love of Sir Lamorak the honour­

able knight who is here also, you shall have no ill 

lodging. It is a pity you should ever be in the 

company of good knights, for you are the most 

villainous knight or King now known to be alive. For 

you are a destroyer of good knights, and all that you 

do is but treachery." 

King Mark was sorely ashamed and said but little 

in answer. But when Sir Lamorak and Sir Dinadan 

knew he was King Mark they were sorry to have his 

companionship. 
On the morrow they arose early, and King Mark 

and Sir Dinadan rode together. Three miles from 

their lodging three knights met them ; Sir Berluse was 

one, and the others his two cousins. Sir Berluse saw 

King Mark, and cried out loud : 

"Traitor, keep thee from me, for wit thou well, 

I am Berluse." 

"Sir Knight," said Sir Dinadan, " I counsel you to 

leave off at present, for he is riding to King Arthur ; 

and because I have promised to conduct him to my 

lord King Arthur, I must needs take part with him, 

although I do not love his character, and fain would 

be away from him." 

" Well, Dinadan," said Sir Berluse, " I am sorry 

that you will take part with him, but now do your 

best!" Thereupon he hurtled to King Mark, and 

smote him sore upon the shield, so that he bore him 

clean out of his saddle to the earth. 

Dinadan, seeing this, ran to help the King, and there 

began a great battle, for Berluse and his companions 
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held · together strongly. Through the great strength 
of Sir D inadan , King M ark threw Berluse to the 
ground, and his two cousins fled ; if it had not been 

for Sir Dinadan, King Mark would have slain Sir 
Berluse ; Sir Dinadan rescued his life, for King Mark 
was nothing but a murderer. 
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Then King Mark and Sir Dinadan took their horses 

and departed, leaving Sir Berluse behind sore wounded. 

About four leagues further on they came to a 

bridge, where hovered a knight on horseback, arn1ed 

and ready to joust. It was the custom that none 

should pass the bridge unless he jousted with this 

knight. King Mark would by no means joust, 

therefore Sir Dinadan could in no 1nanner refuse. 

He was sn1itten at once to the earth, but when he 

challenged his adversary to continue the battle on foot, 

with swords, the stranger k_night would not fight any 

more, saying it was not the custom of the bridge. Sir 

Dinadan was passing wroth that he could not be 

revenged on the knight, but there was no help for it. 

As they rode on their way King Mark began to 

mock Sir Dinadan, saying : 

"I thought you Knights of the Round Table could 

in no ~ise find your match ! '' 
" You say well," said Dinadan, " as for you Cornish 

folk, on my life, I call you none of the best knights ; 

but since you have such scorn of me, I challenge you 

to joust with me, to prove my strength." 

"Not so," said King Mark, "for I will not fight 

with you on any account. But I require of you one 

thing, that when you come to Arthur's Court, do not 

reveal my name, for I am so hated there." 

" It is shame to you," said Sir Dinadan, "that you 

govern yourself so disgracefully, for I see you are 

full of cowardice, and you are a murderer, and that 

is the greatest shame that a knight can have ; for never 

a knight being a murderer can have honour, nor ever 
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shall have. For I saw lately that except for my help, 
you would have slain Sir Berluse, a betti~r knight than 
you are, or ever will be, and one of more prowess." 

As they thus t.1lked, they saw riding towards them 
over a plain, six knights of the Court of King Arthur, 
well armed at all points. By their shields Sir Dinadan 
knew them well. The first was the good knight Sir 
Uwaine, son of King Uriens ; the second was the noble 
knight Sir Brandiles ; the third was Ozana, " Hardy­
Heart" ; the fourth was Uwaine the Adventurous ; 
the fifth was Sir Agrivaine ; the sixth Sir Mordred, 
brother to Sir Gawaine, and son to King Lot's wife, of 
Orkney. 

When Sir Dinadan saw these six knights, he thought 
to himself he would bring King Mark by son1e wile to 
joust with one of them. They followed them three 
good English miles, and then King M ark was aware 
where they all six sat near a well, eating and drinking 
such food as they had, their horses walking about, or 
tied near, and their shields hung around in diverse 
places. 

"Lo," said Sir Dinadan, "yonder are knights 
errant, who wi ll joust with us." 

" Heaven forbid, " said King Mark, " for they are 
six, and we are but two." 

"As for that," said Sir Dinadan, " let us not spare, 
for I will assay the foremost." And therewith he made 
him ready. 

No sooner did King Mark see him do so, than as 
fast as Sir Dinadan rode towards the knights, King Mark 
rode away fron1 them, with all his menial company. 
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Directly Sir Dinadan saw King Mark was gone, 
he set the spear out of the rest, and threw his shield 
behind his back, and came riding to the fellowship 
of the Round Table. And Sir Uwaine at once knew 
Sir Dinadan, and welcomed him, and so did all his 

com pan1ons. 

Chased by the King's Fool 

Then the six knights asked Sir Dinadan about his 
adventures, and whether he had seen Sir Tristram or 
Sir Lancelot. 

"Truly," said Sir Dinadan, "I have seen nothing of 
them since I left Camelot.'' 

"What knight is that," said Sir Brandiles, " who so 

suddenly departed from you, and rode over yonder 
field ? " 

"Sir," said he, "it was a knight of Cornwall, and 
the most horrible coward that ever bestrode horse." 

Having rested themselves and spoken together, 
they took their horses, and rode to a castle where dwelt 
an old knight who received all knights-errant with 
hearty good cheer. Here also arrived another knight, 
Sir Griflet, who was made welcome. 

As Sir Dinadan walked about and looked over the 
castle he came across a chamber in which he espied 
King Mark; then he rebuked him, and asked why he 
had departed in that cowardly fashion. 

" Because I durst not abide," he said, "for the 
knights were so many. But how did you escape ? " 
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"They were better friends than I thought they had 

been," said Dinadan. 
"Who is captain of that fellowship ? " asked the 

King. 
To frigh~en him, Dinadan answered that it was Sir 

Lancelot of the Lake. 
" Oh," said the King, " can I know Sir Lancelot by 

his shield ? " 
" Yes," answered Dinadan, "for he beareth a shield 

of silver and black bars." All this he said to frighten 
the King, for Sir Lancelot was not in that feJlowship. 

"Now I pray you," said King Mark, "that you 
will ride in my company." 

"I an1 not willing to do that," said Dinadan, 
"because you forsook n1y company," and he at once 
left King Mark, and went to his own companions. 

Mounting their horses, they rode on their way, 
and talked of the Cornish knight, for Dinadan told 
them he was in the castle where they were lodged. 

"Well said," spoke Sir Griflet, "for here I have 
brought Sir Dagonet, King Arthur's fool, the best fellow 
and the merriest in the world." 

"Would you like a jest ? " said Sir Dinadan. "I 
told the Cornish knight that Sir Lancelot is here, and 
he asked n1e what shield he bore. I answered that he 
bore the same shield which Sir Mordred beareth." 

" I am hurt, and cannot well bear my shield and 
armour," said Sir Mordred, "therefore put then1 on 
Sir Dagon et, and let him assail the Cornish knight." 

"That shall be done, by my faith," said Sir Dagonet. 
Then D agonet was quickly arrayed in Mordred's 
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Chased by the King's Fool 

armour, and he was set on a great horse, with a spear 
in his hand. 

" Now," said Dagon et, " show n1e the knight, and 
I trow I shall bear him down." 

So they all rode to the side of a wood, and waited 
there till King Mark came by that way. Then they 
put forth Sir Dagonet, and he went straight at King 
Mark. When he came near he cried as if he were 
mad: 

"Keep thee, knight of Cornwall, for I will slay 
th ',, ee. 

As soon as King Mark saw his shield he said to 
himself, " Yonder is Sir Lancelot ; alas, now am I 
destroyed! " Therewith he made his horse gallop away 
as fast as it could, through thick and thin, while Sir 
Dagonet followed, calling out and rating him like a 
madman, through the great forest. 

When all the other knights saw Sir Dagonet thus 
chase King Mark they laughed as if they would never 
stop, and taking their horses, they rode after to see 
how Sir Dago net sped, for they would not on any 
account have the Jester hurt ; for King Arthur loved 
him passing well, and had made him knight with his 
own hands ; and at every tournament Dagonet was 
present and made Arthur laugh at his drollery. Thus 
the knights rode here and there, chasing after King 
Mark, so that all the forest rang with the noise. 

As King Mark fled, he came by chance near a well, 
where stood a knight-errant on horseback, armed at 
all points, with a great spear in his hand. When he 
saw King Mark come flying, he said : 

291 



King Fox 

" Knight, return again for shame, and stand with 
me, and I shall be thy warrant." 

"Ah, fair knight," said King Mark, "let me pass, 
for yonder cometh after me the best knight in the 
world, with the black barred shield." 

" Fie for shame," said the knight, " he is none of 
the worthy knights. And if he were Sir Lancelot or 
Sir Tristram, I should not fear to meet the better of 
them both.'' 

King Mark hearing him speak with such valour, 
turned his horse, and waited beside him. 

Then that strong knight levelled his spear against 
Dagonet, and smote him so sore that he bore him 
over his horse's tail, and nearly broke his neck. The 
knights of King Arthur's Court were very angry when 
they saw Dagonet have that fall, and each in turn 
challenged the stranger knight, but one after another he 
overthrew them all, except Sir Mordred, who was 
unarmed, and Sir Dinadan, who was some way behind. 
And this being done, the strong knight rode slowly 
on his way, and King Mark rode after him, praising him 
very much; but he would answer nothing, only sighed 
wonder l y sore, hanging down his head, and taking no 
heed of his companion's words. 

After riding about three English miles, the stranger 
knight called to him a varlet, one of King Mark's 
servants, and bade him,-" Ride to yonder fair manor, 
and commend me to the lady of the castle, and pray 
her to send me refreshment of good meat and drink. 
And if she ask thee what I am, tell her that I am the 
knight that follows the Questing Beast." 
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The varlet went his way, and coming to the manor, 
he saluted the lady, and told her from whence he 
came. And when she understood he had been sent by 
the knight that followed the Questing Beast,-" Oh," 
she cried, " when shall I see that noble knight, my 
dear son, Palamides ? Alas, will he not abide with 
me ? " And therewith she wept for sorrow, and gave 
the varlet all that he asked as quickly as she could. 

As soon as the varlet returned to King Mark and 
the other knight, he told his master secretly that the 
stranger's name was Sir Palamides. 

"I am well pleased," sajd King Mark, "but hold 
thee still, and say nothing." 

Then they alighted, and sat down to rest awhile, 
and very soon King Mark fell asleep. 

When Sir Palamides found him sound ·asleep, he 
took his horse and rode his way. " I will not be in the 
c01npany of a sleeping knight," he said, and he rode 

off at a great pace. 

King Fox at Camelot 

By and by King Mark awoke, and finding Sir Pala­
mides gone, he rode after him, and sought hin1 through 
the forest. Sir Dinadan, who was much vexed at the 
way the other knights of his party had sped, also rode in 
search of him. Late in the evening he heard a doleful 
noise, as of a man lamenting ; when he came near, he 
alighted, and went towards it on foot, and then he was 
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aware of a knight who stood under a tree, his horse 
tied beside him, and the helm off his head. The knight 
kept up always a doleful con1plaint, and it was about 
La Belle Iseult, the Queen of Cornwall. 

Long ago, before her marriage, when she was a 
Princess in Ireland, the brave pagan knight Sir Pala­
mides had loved the beautiful Iseult. He had never 
forgotten her, and still mourned bitterly because she 
did not return his love. 

"Ah, fair lady," he was saying now, "why do I love 
thee? Thou art fairest of all others, yet never didst 
thou show love to me, nor kindness. Alas, yet I cannot 
help but love thee ! And I may not blame thee, fair 
lady, for mine eyes are the cause of this sorrow. The 
falsest King and knight is your husband, and the most 
coward and full of treachery is your lord, King Mark. 
Alas, that ever so fair a lady, and peerless above all 
others, should be matched with the most villainous 
knight of the world! " 

In the meanwhile King Mark also had drawn near, 
and all this language that Sir Palamides said of him, he 
heard. Therefore he was much frightened when he 
saw Sir Dinadan, lest if he espied him, he would tell 
Sir Palamides that he was King Mark. Accordingly 
he withdrew, and went back to his servants where he 
had told them to wait, and rode on as fast as he could 
to Camelot. 

There on the same day he found Sir Amant ready, 
who had accused him before King Arthur of the murder 
of his companion knight, Sir Bersules. As was the 
custom of those times, the King commanded them to 
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King Fox at Camelot 

do battle, and by misadventure King Mark s1note 

Amant through the body. And yet Amant's was the 

righteous quarrel. 
King Mark in1mediatel y took his horse, and left 

the Court, dreading that Sir Dinadan would tell Sir 

Tristram and Sir Palan1ides who he was. 

There were some of Queen Iseult's maidens at 

Camelot, who knew Sir Amant well, and by leave of 

King Arthur they went and spoke to him while he lay 

sore wounded. 
" Ah, fair damsels," he said, " commend me to La 

Belle Iseult, and tell her that I am slain for the love 

of her and Sir Tristram." And there he told the 

damsels how in cowardly fashion King Mark had slain 

him and Sir Bersules, his companion. "For that deed 

I appeached him of murder, and here I am slain in a 

righteous quarrel ; and all this was because Sir Bersules 

and I would not consent by treachery to slay the noble 

knight Sir Tristram." 
The news was quickly borne to the King and Queen, 

and to all the lords and ladies, that it was King Mark 

who had slain Sir Amant, and Sir Bersules beforehand, 

which was the reason why Amant had fought with him. 

King Arthur was wroth out of n1easure, and so were 

all the other knights. 
But when Sir Tristram knew all the matter, he 

made great dole, and wept for sorrow for the loss of 

the two noble knights Sir Bersules and Sir A1nant. 

Sir Lancelot seeing Sir Tristram weep went hastily 

to King Arthur, and said, "Sir, I pray you, give me 

leave to go after yonder false King and knight." 
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"I pray you, fetch him again," said King Arthur, 
"but I would not that you slew him, for my honour." 

Then Sir Lancelot armed in all haste, and mounted 
upon a great horse, and taking a spear in his hand, 
rode after King Mark. And within three English miles 
Sir Lancelot overtook him. 

"Turn, recreant King and knight ! " he cried ; 
" for whether thou wilt, or not, thou shalt go with me 
to King Arthur's Court." 

King Mark turned back, and looked at Sir Lancelot. 
"Fair Sir," he said, "what is your name ? " 

" Wit thou my nan1e is Sir Lancelot, and there­
fore, defend thee ! " 

When King Mark knew that it was Sir Lancelot, 
and that he was coming fast upon him with a spear, 
he cried aloud, " I yield myself to thee, Sir Lancelot, 
honourable knight ! " 

But Sir Lancelot would not hear him, but came fast 
upon hin1. King Mark seeing this, made no defence, 
but tumbled down out of the saddle to the earth like a 
sack, and there he lay still, and cried mercy of Sir 
Lancelot. 

"Arise, recreant knight and King ! " 
" I will not fight," said King Mark, " but I will go 

with you wherever you like." 
"Alas, alas, that I may not give thee one buffet," 

said Sir Lancelot, " for the love of Sir Tristram and La 
Belle Iseult, and for the two knights whom thou hast 
slain treacherously." But he would not disobey King 
Arthur's command, so he brought the traitor back 
unhurt to Camelot. There King Mark alighted in 
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great haste, and threw his heln1 and his sword from 
him on the earth, and falling flat on the ground at 
King Arthur's feet, he put himself into his grace and 
mercy. 

" Truly," said King Arthur, "in a manner ye are 
welcome, and in a manner ye are not welcome. In this 
manner ye are welcome, that ye come hither in spite of 
yourself, I suppose ? " 

"That is truth," said King Mark, "or else I had 
not been here : for n1y lord Sir Lancelot brought me 
hither through his n1ight, and to him I have yielded 
n1yself as recreant." 

"Well," said King Arthur, " you understand you 
ought to do me service, hon1age, and fealty, and never 
would you do me any, but always you have been against 
n1e, and a destroyer of my knights. Now, how will 
you acquit you ? " 

"Sir," said King Mark, "exactly as your lordship 
will require me, I will n1ake large amends, to the utmost 
in n1y power." For he was always a fair speaker, and 
false underneath. 

Then because of his pleasure in Sir Tristram, and 
in order to make the two reconciled, and to do a good 
turn to Tristram, King Arthur kept King Mark for 
awhile at Camelot. And one day he said to him, "Sir, 
I pray you to give me a gift that I shall ask you." 

"Sir," said King Mark, "I will give you whatsoever 
you desire, if it be in n1y power." 

"Thanks," said King Arthur, "this I will ask you, 
that you will be a good lord to Sir Tristram, for he is 
a man of great honour ; and that you will take him 
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with you into Cornwall, and let him see his friends, and 
there cherish him for n1y sake." 

" Sir," said King Mark, "I promise you by the 
faith of my body, and by the faith I owe to God and 
to you, I will honour him, for your sake, in all that 
1 can or may." 

"_ And I will forgive all the evil will that ever I 
owed you," said King Arthur, "if so be you will swear 
that on a book before n1e." 

"Willingly," said King Mark. 
So there he swore upon a book before King Arthur 

and all his knights, and King Mark and Sir Tristram 
took each other by the hands hard knit together in 
token of friendship. 

But for all that, King Mark was false in thought, as 
it proved afterwards, for as soon as the chance came he 
threw Sir Tristran1 into prison, and would cowardly 
have slain him. 

" Beware, I counsel thee, of treachery ! " 

Soon after this, King Mark took his leave to go 
back to Cornwall, and Sir Tristran1 made ready to ride 
with hin1, wherefore most of the Knights of the Round 
Table were sad and angry ; and in especial Sir Lancelot, 
Sir Lamorak, and Sir Dinadan were wroth out of 
measure. For well they knew King Mark would slay 
or destroy Sir Tristram. And Sir Tristram himself was 
almost dazed with sorrow to leave the noble fellowship 
of the Round Table. 
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"Alas," said Sir Lancelot to King Arthur, '' what 

have you done ? for you will lose the n1an of most 

worship that ever came into your Court." 

" It was his own desire," said Arthur, " and there­

fore I could not help it. For I have done all that I 

can, and made King Mark and Sir Tristram agreed." 

" Agreed ! " said Sir Lancelot. " Fie on that agree­

ment, for you shall hear that King Mark will slay Sir 

Tristram, or put him in prison, for he is the most 

coward and villainous King and knight now living." 

Sir Lancelot thereupon went to King Mark. 

"Sir King," he said," wit thou well, the good knight 

Sir Tristram shall go with thee. But beware, I counsel 

thee, of treachery; for if thou do mischief to that knight, 

by any manner of falsehood or treason, by the faith I 

owe to God, and to the order of knighthood, I shall 

slay thee with n1ine own hands." 

"Sir Lancelot," said the King, "you say too much 

to me; I have said and sworn amply before King 

Arthur, in hearing of all his knights, that I shall not 

slay nor betray Sir Tristram. It were overn1uch shame 

to n1e to break my promise.'' 

" You say well," said Sir Lancelot, " but you are 

called so false and full of treason that no man can 

believe you. For sooth, it is well known wherefore 

you came into this country-for none other cause than 

to slay Sir Tristran1." 

So with great dole King Mark and Sir Tristram 

rode away together. It was Sir Tristram's own will 

and wish to go back to Cornwall, and all was for 

the sake of seeing La Belle Iseul t again ; for Sir 
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Tristram felt he could endure no longer without a 
sight of her. 

By and by there came to Camelot a knight out of 
Cornwall, Sir Fergus, a fellow of the Round Table, and 
he told good tidings of Sir Tristram, and how he had 
left him in the Castle of Tintagel. Afterwards came 
'a damsel, a maiden of Sir Tristram's, who brought 
goodly letters to King Arthur and Sir Lancelot, and 
she was made very welcome by the King, and the 
Queen Guinevere, and Sir Lancelot. And they wrote 
goodly letters back again. But Sir Lancelot ever bade 
Sir Tristram beware of King Mark, for he always 
called him in his letters "King Fox," as one who saith, 
" He fareth all with wiles and treason." Sir Tris tram 
was grateful to Lancelot in his heart for this caution. 

The damsel took King Arthur's and Sir Lancelot's 
letters to La Belle Iseult, whereat she was in great . 
Joy. 

"Fair damsel," said La Belle Iseult, "how fareth 
my lord Arthur, and the Queen Guinevere, and the 
noble knight, Sir Lancelot of the Lake?" 

She answered to make a short tale, " Much the 
better because you and Sir Tristram are in joy." 

"Truly," said La Belle Iseult, " Sir Tristram 
'suffereth great pain for me, and I for him." 

The damsel had also brought back letters to King 
1Mark from Camelot. When he had read and understood 
them, he was wroth with Sir Tristram, for he reflected 
that he had sent the damsel to King Arthur ; because 
Arthur and Lancelot in a manner threatened King Mark 
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in these letters. And as King Mark read them, he 

plotted treachery to Sir Tristram. 

" D amsel," said King Mark, " will you ride agam, 

and bear letters from me to King Arthur ? " 
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« Sir," she said, "I will be at your command, to 
ride when you will." 

" Well spoken," said the King. " Come again 
to-morrow, and fetch your letters." 

But on the morrow when the damsel went to King 
Mark, to fetch the letters, the King told her he did not 
intend just then to send any. Privily, however, he had 
letters written which he sent secretly to King Arthur, 
and Queen Guinevere, and Sir Lancelot. 

His varlet found the King and Queen in Wales, at 
Carleon. He arrived while they were in church, and 
when the service was over, and they were by themselves, 
they opened their letters. 

The beginning of King Mark's letter spoke abruptly 
to King Arthur, and bade him meddle with his own 
affairs, and with his wife) and with his knights, for he 
had enough to do to rule, and to look after his wife. 

When King Arthur understood the letter he mused 
of many things, and thought of his sister's words, Queen 

, Morgan le Fay, and how she had said wicked things of 
Queen Guinevere, and of Sir Lancelot. And over this 
thought he pondered a great while. Then he bethought 
him again how his sister had always been his enemy, and 
that she hated the Queen, and Sir Lancelot, and so he put 
all that out of his n1ind. Then King Arthur read the 
letter again, and the latter clause said that King Mark 
took Sir Tristram for his mortal enemy, whereby he 
put Arthur out of doubt that he would be revenged on 
Sir Tristram. And at this King Arthur was wroth with 
King Mark. 

When Queen Guinevere read her letter and under-
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stood it, she was angry beyond measure, for it spoke 

shamefully of her, and of Sir Lancelot. She sent the 

letter to Sir Lancelot, whom it also enraged. 

" Sir," said Dinadan, "wherefore are you angry ? 
Reveal your heart to n1e. For truly you know well I 

owe you good-will, howbeit I am a poor knight, and a 

servitor to you, and to all good knights. For though 

I am not of worship n1yself, yet I love all those that are 

of worship." 
"It is true," said Sir Lancelot, " and because you 

are a trusty knight, I will tell you what is the matter;' ~ 

When Dinadan had read all the shameful letters, 

he said, "This is my counsel ; set you nought by these 

threats, for King Mark is so villainous, that no n1an 

will ever get at him by fair speech. But you shall see 

what I will do. I will make a song about him, and 

it shall be known in all countries, and I shall send a 

harper to sing it before King Mark himself." 

So Sir Dinadan went at once and made a song, 

telling about King Mark, and all the false and cowardly 

deeds that he was for ever doing. In this way he 

hoped to bring the crafty King to shame and disgrace. 

He taught the song to a harper called Eliot, who 

afterwards taught it to many other harpers. By per­

n1ission of King Arthur and Sir Lancelot, these harpers 

went straight into W ales, and into Cornwall, to sing 

this lay which Sir Dinadan had made-which was the 

worst lay that ever harper sang with harp, or with any 

other instrument. 
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The Siege of Tintagel Castle 

While Sir Tristram was at King Mark's Court it 
happened he got sorely hurt in a tournament, and to 
rest hin1self he went to stay in a Castle with a good 
knight, Sir Dinas, the Seneschal. Then from the Saxon 
land came a great number of n1en at arms, with a hideous 
host, and they landed in Cornwall near the Castle of 
Tintagel. Their captain's name was Elias, a good nrnn 
of arms. 

When King Mark learnt that his enemies were 
entered into his land, he made great dole, for he by 
no rneans wished to send for Sir Tristram, because of 
his deadly hatred to him. But his council, foreseei11g the 
n1any perils from the strength of the enemy, declared 
that King Mark n1ust send for Sir Tristram, or else 
the Saxons would never be overcome. 

" Well," said King Mark, " I will act on your 
counsel," but he was still very loath to do so. 

When Sir Tristram was come the King said thus : 
" Fair nephew, Sir Tristram, this is all : here are come 
our enemies of Saxony, who are now nigh at hand. 
Without tarrying they must be met with at once, or 
else they will destroy this land.'' 

Tristram replied that he was at the King's com­
mand, but that for eight days he could bear no arms, 
for his wounds were not yet whole. The King told 
him to go back and rest for eight days, and in the 
n1eanwhile he would go and meet the Saxons with all 
his power. 
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So King Mark collected a great army, and by advice 

of his knights issued out of the Castle of Tintagel 
against his enemies. Long endured the battle, and 
n1any were slain, but at the last King Mark was forced 
to withdraw to the Castle, with great slaughter of his 
people. The Saxons fallowed on so fast that ten of 
them got within the gates, and four were slain at the 
fall of the portcullis. 

Therewith came Elias, and bade King Mark yield 
up the Castle, for he would not be able to hold it any 
time. The King replied that he would yield up the 
Castle if he were not soon rescued ; then he sent 
quickly again to Sir Tristram. 

By this time Tristram was well, and he had got 
ten good knights of Arthur's, and with them he rode 
to Tintagel. When he saw the great host of Saxons, 
he n1arvelled greatly. He rode by the woods and the 
ditches as secretly as he could till he came near the 
gates, and then he and his knights fought their way 
through the Saxons who opposed them, and so they 
entered into the Castle of Tintagel. 

King Mark was rejoiced at his coming and so were 
all his company. 

On the morrow Elias the captain sent a message to 
King Mark, bidding him come out and do battle. 

"For now the good knight Sir Tristram has joined 
thee," he said, "it will be shame to thee to keep within 
thy walls." 

King Mark was wroth at this, and spoke no word, 
but went to Sir Tristram, and asked him his counsel. 
Sir Tristram asked if he might send the answer to Elias. 
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Willingly, the King replied. So Sir Tristram spoke 

thus to the messenger : 
" Bear thy lord word from the King and me that 

we will do battle with him to-morrow in the open field." 

" What is your name ? " said the messenger. 

"Wit thou well, my name is Sir Tristran1 of 

L " yonesse. 
Therewith the messenger departed, and told his lord 

Elias all that he had heard. 

By consent of King Mark, Sir Tristram took com­

mand of the army, and that same night he burnt all 

the Saxon ships to the water's edge. As soon as Elias 

heard the news, he said : "That was of Sir Tristran1' s 

doing, for he reckoneth that we shall never . escape, any 

n1other's son of us ; therefore, fair fellows, fight freely 

to-morrow, and discomfort yourselves nought for any 

knight, though he be the best knight in the world ; he 

cannot fight against all of us at once.'' 

So the leaders of the two arn1ies arranged their n1en, 

and those who were within the Castle of Tintagel issued 

forth, and those that were outside set fiercely upon 

them, and great deeds of valour were done on either 

side. Thus they fought till it was night, when because 

of the great slaughter, and of the wounded people, both 

parties withdrew to their rest. 

When King Mark returned within the Castle of 

Tintagel he lacked of his knights a hundred ; and the 

Saxons outside lacked two hundred. Then councils 

were held, and both parties were loath to fight again, 

if they could escape with honour. 

Elias the captain n1ade great dole when he learnt the 
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death of his men, and he was wroth out of n1easure 
when he found the others were unwilling t6 go to 
battle again. He sent word to King Mark, asking 
whether he would find a knight who would fight for 
him, man against man ; and that if he could slay King 
Mark's champion, he was to have tribute fron1 Cornwall 
yearly ; and if King Mark's knight slew the Saxon 
champion, Elias was to release his claim for ever. 

On receipt of this message King Mark called 
all his Barons together, to know what was best to be 
done. They all said at once they had no desire to 
fight any more in the field, for if it had not been for 
Sir Tristram's prowess, they would most likely never 
have escaped. Therefore they thought it would be well 
to find a champion that would do battle with Elias, for 
it was a knightly offer. 

But when all this was said, they could find no knight 
who would do battle. 

"Alas," said King Mark, "then an1 I utterly 
shamed, and utterly destroyed, unless n1y nephew Sir 
Tristran1 will take the battle upon him." 

"Wit you well," said they all, "he had yesterday 
overmuch on hand, and he is weary for travail, and sore 
wounded.'' 

"Where is he ? " said King M ark. 
" Sir," said they, " he is in his bed, to repose 

himself.'' 
"Alas," said King M ark, "unless I have the 

succour of my nephew Sir Tristram I am utterly 
destroyed for ever .'' 

One of the Barons, accordingly, went to Sir Tristram 
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where he lay, and told him what King Mark had said. 
Sir Tristran1 arose quickly, and putting on a long gown, 
can1e before the King and all the lords. And when he 
saw them all so dismayed he asked the King and the 
lords what tidings were with them. 

'' Never worse,'.' said the King ; and he told him the 
message that Elias had sent. 

Then Tristram said that since King Mark needed 
his succour, he would do all that lay in his power, 
although he was sore bruised and hurt ; therefore the 
Saxon n1essenger should carry back word to Elias that 
Sir Tristram, King Arthur's knight, and Knight of the 
Round Table, would to-morrow meet with him on 
horseback, to do battle as long as his horse could 
endu_re, and after that to do battle on foot to the death. 

Hostage was given on both sides and it was n1ade 
as sure as it could be that whichever party had the 
victory, so the matter was to end. Both hosts were 
then assen1bled on the field outside the Castle of 
Tintagel, and no one was armed but Sir Tristram and 
Sir Elias. 

For the space of nearly an hour they fought with 
the uttermost fury, wounding each other sorely ; by 
that time Sir Tristram waxed very faint for want of 
blood, and began to retreat. Sir Elias, seeing this, 
followed fiercely on him, and wounded him in n1any 
places. Sir Tristram wavered here and there, and 
covered himself weakly with his shield, so that all n1en 
~aid he was overcome, for Sir Elias had given him 
twenty strokes against one. At this there was laughing 
of the Saxon party, and great grief on King Mark's side. 
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"Alas ! " said the King, "we are shamed and 

destroyed for ever.'' 
Thus, as they stood and beheld both parties, the 

one laughing, and the other weeping, Sir Tristram 

ren1embered hi1n of his lady, La Belle Iseult, and how 

he was likely never to come again into her presence. 

Then he pulled up his shield which had hung full low, 

and attacked Elias with such fury that he completely 

shattered his shield and hauberk. 

Now it was King Mark who began to laugh, and all 

the Cornish men, and the Saxons to weep. And Sir 

Tristram kept saying to Elias, " Yield thee ! " And 

when he saw hin1 so staggering on the ground, he said, 

" Sir Elias, I am right sorry for thee, for thou art a 

passing good knight, as ever I met withal, except Sir 

Lancelot.'' 
Therewith Sir Elias fell to the earth, and died. 

" False hast thou ever been ; so wilt thou end ! " 

King Mark n1ade a great feast for joy because the 

Saxons were driven out of his country, yet for all this 

he would gladly have slain Sir Tristram. To the feast 

came Eliot the harper, with the song Sir Dinadan had 

n1ade ; and because he was a cunning harper men heard 

him sing that same song, which spoke most villainously 

of King Mark's treachery, as ever man heard. 

When the harper had sung his song to the end, 

King Mark was wonderfully wroth. 
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" Thou harper," he said, " how darest thou be so 
bold as to sing this song before me ? '' 

" Sir," said Eliot, "wit you well, I am a minstrel, 

and I must do as I 
whose arms I bear. 
Round Table, made 
before you." 

am commanded by those lords 
Sir Dinadan, a Knight of the 

this song, and bade me sing it 



"False hast thou ever been" 

"Thou sayest well," said King Mark," and because 

thou art a minstrel, thou shalt go free, but I charge 

thee, hie thee fast out of my sight." 

So the harper departed, and went to Sir Tristram, 

and told him how he had sped. Then Tristram had 

goodly letters written to Lancelot and Sir Dinadan, and 

had the harper conducted safely out of the country. 

But to say that King Mark was wonderfully wroth, 

is only the truth, for he deemed that the lay which 

was sung before him was made by Sir Tristram's 

counsel ; he therefore resolved to slay him and all 

his well-wishers in that country, and immediately began 

to plot treachery against him. 

A great tournament and jousts had been proclaimed 

in the coasts of Cornwall ; and this had been done by Sir 

Galahalt, the high prince, and King Bagdemagus, with 

the intent to slay Sir Lancelot, or else to shame him 

utterly. For Sir Lancelot always won the highest prize, 

therefore this prince and this King made these jousts 

against hin1, n1eaning both to set upon him at once, 

with all their knights. 

Their purpose was revealed to King Mark, at 

which he was very glad. He determined that he would 

have Sir Tristran1 at that tournament, disguised so that 

no man should know him, intending that the high 

prince should think he was Sir Lancelot. 

Sir Tristram accordingly came to these jousts. Sir 

Lancelot at that mon1ent was not there, but when the 

people saw a disguised knight do such deeds of arms, 

they thought it must be Sir Lancelot, and in especial, 

King Mark said plainly it was Sir Lancelot. Then they 
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set upon him, both King Bagdemagus, and the high 
prince, and their knights, so that it was a wonder that 
ever Sir Tristran1 could withstand such an attack. 

But notwithstanding all he had to endure, Sir 
Tristram won the prize at the tournament, and there 
he hurt many knights, and bruised them, although 
they, too, hurt and bruised him sorely. 

When the jousts were all done the knights knew 
well it was Tristram of Lyonesse. Those of King 
Mark's party were glad that Sir Tristram was hurt ; 
~ut the other knights were sorry, for Sir Tristran1 was 
not so hated from envy as was Sir Lancelot within the 
realm of England. 

Then came King Mark to Sir Tristram, and said: 
"Fair nephew, I am sorry for your hurts." 
"Thanks, my lord," said Sir Tristram. 
King Mark made Sir Tristram to be put in a horse­

bier, in great sign of love, and he said : " Fair cousin, 
I shall be your physician myself." 

So he rode forth with Sir Tristram, and brought 
him to a Castle, by daylight. There he made him eat, 
a1,1d afterwards he gave him a drink, which as soon as 
he had swallowed, made him fall asleep. 

When it was night King Mark had him carried to 
another Castle, and there he put him into a strong 
prison, and appointed a man and a woman to give him 
food and drink. 

And there Sir Tristram remained a long while. 

By and by Sir Tristram was missed, but no one knew 
what had become of him. At last Queen Iseult went 
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quietly to a knight called Sir Sadok, and begged him to 

seek out where he was. Finding that he had been 

treacherously flung into prison, Sir Sadok went to the 

good knight Sir Dinas, the Seneschal, and told him of 

all King Mark's treason and felony. Then Sir Dinas 

defied such a King, and said he would give up his lands 

which he held of him, and all n1anner of knights said 

the same thing. By the advice of Sir Sadok and Sir 

Dinas they fortified all the towns and castles within the 

country of Lyonesse, and assembled all the people they 

could collect. 
King Mark heard how Sir Sadok and Sir Dinas 

were risen in the country of Lyonesse, and afraid lest 

he should lose his kingdom, he at once began to 

concoct fresh wiles and stratagen1s. . This was what he 

did. He caused counterfeit leters to be written from 

the Pope, and made a strange clerk bear them to 

himself; and these letters specified that King Mark 

should make ready with his army to come to the Pope, 

to help to go to Jerusalem, to make war upon the 

Saracens. When the clerk arrived, King Mark sent 

him with these letters to Sir Tristram, and bade him 

say thus : That if he would go to war against the 

miscreants, he should be let out of prison, and restored 

to all his power. For King Mark now wanted an 

excuse to set Sir Tristram free. 

When Sir Tristram understood this letter, he said 

to the clerk : 
"Ah, King M ark, ever hast thou been a traitor; 

and ever wilt be ! But, clerk, say thou thus unto 

King M ark : Since the P ope hath serit for him, bid 
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him go thither himself, for tell him, traitor King as he 
is, I will not go at his comn1and, get I out of my 
prison as I may. For I see I am well rewarded for my 
true service ! '' 

The clerk returned to King Mark, and told him 
of Sir Tristram's answer. 

"Well," said King Mark, "yet shall he be beguiled." 
So he went into his chamber and counterfeited 

other letters, and these specified that the Pope desired 
Sir Tristram to come himself to make war upon 
the miscreants. The clerk went again to Sir Tris­
tram, and took him these letters, but when he beheld 
them, he quickly espied they were of King Mark's 
forging, and was on his guard not to fall into any trap 
the King might have set for him. 

"Ah," said Sir Tristram, " false hast thou ever 
been, King Mark, and so wilt thou end." 

By that time four knights, who had been wounded 
in a skirmish between King Mark's men and Sir 
Sadok's, reached the Castle of Tintagel. Directly they 

· saw King Mark they cried, " King, why dost thou not 
flee, for all this country is clearly arisen against thee ! " 
which made the King very angry indeed. 

In the meanwhile there came into the country Sir 
Percival of Wales to seek Sir Tristram ; and hearing 
he was in prison, he speedily by his knightly power 
delivered him. Then he rode straight to King Mark 
and told him how he had rescued Sir Tristram. Also 
he told the King he had done himself great shame by 
putting Tristram into prison, for he was the knight of 
most renown then living in all the world. 
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Sir Percival could not tarry in Cornwall, for he was 
obliged to go into Wales. As soon as he had departed 
King Mark bethought himself of 111ore treachery, 
although he had promised Sir Percival never, by any 
means, to hurt Sir Tristram. He sent word at once to 
Sir Dinas, to put down all the people he had raised, for 
he said on oath that he was going himself to the Pope 
of Rome, to do battle against the Saracens,-and that 
was a fairer war than thus to raise the people against 
their King. 

Sir Dinas, believing what King Mark said, in all 
haste dismissed the people, and every n1an departed to 
his own hon1e. This was just what King Mark had 
hoped for. No sooner were they gone than, in spite 
of his promise to Sir Percival, he had Tristram once 
more seized by treachery. 

When Queen Iseult knew that Sir Tristram was 
again in prison she was as full of sorrow as any lady 
could be. But Sir Tristram managed to get a letter 
sent to her, in which he said that if she would have a 
vessel made ready, he would go with her to the realm 
of England, where Arthur was King, and thus they 
would escape the cruelty and treachery of King Mark. 
He knew by this tin1e that it was useless to trust any 
longer to fair words or promises, and that the only hope 
of safety for himself and Queen Iseult was to leave 
Cornwall for ever. La Belle Iseult at once sent back 
an answer, bidding Sir Tristram be of good comfort, for 
she would have the vessel 111ade ready, and everything 
to carry out their purpose. 

Then she sent to Sir Dinas, the Seneschal, and to 
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Sir Sadok, praying them by any means to take King 
Mark and keep hin1 prisoner until the time when she 
and Sir Tristram had departed to the realm of England. 
Knowing King Mark's treachery, Sir Dinas promised 
what the Queen asked, and as they devised it, so it was 
done. Sir Tristram was delivered out of prison, and 
immediately in all haste he and La Belle Iseult took 
ship and went by water to England. 

When Sir Lancelot knew of their coming he was 
glad beyond measure, and he and Sir Tristram had great 
joy of each other. He took Sir Tristram and La Belle 
Iseult to Joyous Gard, his own castle, which he had 
won with his own hands, and there he put them in to 
possess it for their own. That castle was garnished 
and furnished so that a royal King and Queen might 
have sojourned there. And Sir Lancelot charged all his 
people to honour them and love them, as he did himself. 

And there safe from the treacherous wiles of "King 
Fox," after all their trials and dangers, Sir Tristram and 
La Belle Iseult dwelt for many days in happiness and 
peace. 

320 



> ·I . '~=i~~? 
',.. 

' . \. 

The ~est of the Holy Grail 

The Siege Perilous 

NOW we will leave Sir Tristram of Lyonesse, and 

speak of Sir Lancelot of the Lake, and Sir 

Galahad, Sir Lancelot's son. 

Before the time when Galahad was born there came 

a hermit to King Arthur, on Whitsunday, as the 

knights sat at the Round Table. Now there was one 

seat at the Round Table which always stood empty, and 

it was called " the Siege ( or seat) Perilous." When the 

hern1it saw this seat he asked the King and all the 

knights why it was empty. 
"There is never any one who shall sit in that seat 
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without being destroyed, except one person," was the 
answer. 

"Do you know who that i~ ? " asked the hern1it. 
"Nay," said Arthur, and all the knights, "we know 

not who he is that shall sit therein." 
" Then I know," said the hern1it. " He that shall 

sit there is not yet born ; and this year, he that is to 
sit there, in the Siege Perilous, shall be born. And he 
shall win the Holy Grail." 

When the hermit said this he departed from the 
Court of King Arthur. 

After this feast Sir Lancelot rode on his adventures, 
till one day by chance he passed over the bridge of 
Corbin, and there he saw the fairest tower he had ever 
seen, and under it was a beautiful town full of people ; 
and all the people, men and women, cried at once : 

" Welcome, Sir Lancelot of the Lake, flower of all 
knighthood, for by thee we shall be helped out of 
d " anger. 

Sir Lancelot asked why they thus called upon him, 
whereupon the people replied that a fair lady was 
cruelly shut up in a hot roon1 in the tower, and no one 
but himself could deliver her. Sir Lancelot, therefore, 
went to the tower, and when he came to the chamber 
where the lady was, the iron dours unlocked and 
unbolted themselves. He went into the room, which 
was as hot as any furnace, and there he found a beautiful 
lady, and he took her by the hand. By enchantment 
Queen Morgan le Fay and the Queen of North Wales 
had put her into this hot room, because she was called 
the fairest lady of that country. There she had been 
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five years, and never might be delivered out of her pain 
until the time when the best knight of the world had 
taken her by the hand. 

When she found herself rescued from the wicked 
spell, the lady asked Sir Lancelot to go with her into a 
church, to give God thanks for her deliverance. This 
having been done, and all the people, learned and 
unlearned, having given thanks, they said to Lancelot, 
"Sir Knight, since ye have delivered this lady, ye shall 
deliver us from a serpent that is here in a tomb." 

Sir Lancelot took his shield, and said, " Bring me 
thither, and what I can do to please God and yourselves, 
that will I do." 

The people led him to the place, and there he saw 
written on the tomb letters of gold, which said thus : 

" Here shall come a leopard of King's blood, and he 
shall slay this serpent, and this leopard shall have a son, 
a lion, in this foreign country; the which lion shall pass 
all other knights." 

Sir Lancelot lifted up the tomb, and out sprang 
a horrible and fiendish dragon, spitting fire from his 
n1outh. The dragon flew at Sir Lancelot, but the 
knight fell upon him with his sword, and at last, after 
a long fight, with great pain he slew him. 

Therewith came King Pelles, the good and noble 
knight, and saluted Sir Lancelot, and he him again. 

" Fair knight," said the King, " what jg your 
name ? " 

"Sir, wit you well, my name is Lancelot of the 
Lake." 

"And my name," said the King," is Pelles, King of 
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this country ; and I am of the family of Joseph of 
Arin1athea.'' 

Then each made much of the other, and so they 

went into the Castle to take their repast. And straight­
way there came in a dove at a window, and in her 
mouth there seen1ed a little censer of gold ; imme­
diately there was such a savour as if all the spicery of 
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the world had been there, and forthwith on the table 

were all manner of meats and drinks that they could 

think of. 
Then in came a damsel, passing young and fair, and 

she bore a vessel of gold betwixt her hands. The King 

knelt down devoutly and said his prayers, and so did 

all who were there. 
" What may this mean ? " said Sir Lancelot. 

" That is the most precious thing that ever living man 

hath," said King Pelles. "And when the fame of this 

thing goeth about, the Round Table shall be broken. 

Wit thou·well, this is the Holy Grail that ye have seen." 

Now King Pelles had a daughter, as fair a lady, and 

young, and as wise as any at that time living ; her 

name was Elaine. When Sir Lancelot slew the dragon, 

King Pelles knew that the words written in letters of 

gold on the tomb would come true. For "the leopard 

of King's blood" who came into the foreign country 

meant Sir Lancelot himself; and " the lion " who was 

to surpass all other knights was Sir Galahad, who was 

no other than the son of Sir Lancelot of the Lake and 

the Lady Elaine, daughter of King Pelles. 

How Galahad was made Knight 

Fifteen years had gone by since that Whitsunday 

when King Arthur and his knights held festival at 

Camelot, and the hermit had foretold who it was that 
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was to sit in the Siege Perilous. And for all those 
years the Siege Perilous had still stood en1pty. 

Once again it was the vigil of Pentecost, when all 
the fellowship of the Round Table had come to Camelot, 
to renew their vows and take part in the holy service. 
The tables were set ready for the feast when right into 
the hall entered a fair gentlewon1an, who had ridden 
full fast, for her horse was covered with sweat. 

She alighted, and came before King Arthur, and 
saluted him ; and he said, " Damsel, God bless thee ! " 

"Sir," she said, "I pray you tell me where Sir 
Lancelot is." 

"Yonder you may see him," said the King. 
Then she went to Lancelot, and said, " Sir Lancelot, 

I salute you on King Pelles' behalf, and I require you 
to come with me to a forest hereby." 

Sir Lancelot asked her with whom she dwelt. 
" I dwell with King Pelles," she answered. 
"What will you with me ? " asked Sir Lancelot. 
" You shalJ know when you con1e thither." 
"Well," said he," I will gladly go with you." 
So Sir Lancelot bade his squire saddle his horse, and 

bring his arms, and in all haste the man did his 
command. 

Then came Queen Guinevere _to Lancelot, and said) 
" Will you leave us at this high feast ? " 

" Madam," said the gentlewoman, "wit you well, 
he shall be with you again to-morrow by dinner-time." 

"If I knew he would not be with us here to-morrow," 
said the Queen, " he should not go with you by my 
good-will.'' 
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Right so departed Sir Lancelot with the gentle­

woman. They rode until they can1e to a forest, and 

into a great valley, where they saw an abbey of nuns. 

A squire was ready who opened the gates, so they 

entered, and descended off their horses, and a fair 

company came about Sir Lancelot, and welcomed him, 

and were passing glad of his coming. 

They led hin1 into the abbess's chamber, and un­

armed him, and there he found two of his cousins, Sir 

Bors and Sir Lionel, who were greatly rejoiced and 

astonished to see him. 

"Sir," said Sir Bors, " what adventure hath brought 

thee hither, for we thought to-n1orrow to have found 

thee at Camelot ? '' 
"Truly," said Sir Lancelot, "a gentlewoman brought 

n1e hither, but I know not the cause." 

In the meanwhile, as they thus stood talking together, 

there came twelve nuns, who brought with them a boy 

of about fifteen years old, so beautiful and well made, 

that scarcely in the world could man find his match. 

And all those ladies were weeping. 

" Sir," they said, " we bring you here this child, 

Galahad, whom we have nourished, and we pray you to 

n1ake him a knight ; for of no worthier man's hand 

could he receive the order of knighthood." 

Sir Lancelot beheld that young squire, and saw him 

seemly and den1ure as a dove, with all manner of good 

features, so that he thought he had never seen a man of 

his age so fair of face and f orn1. 

Then said Sir Lancelot, " Cometh this desire of 

hin1self? '' 
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And the boy and all the nuns said " Yea ! " 
"Then shall he receive the high order of knighthood 

to-n1orrow at the reverence of the high feast," said 
Lancelot. 

That night Sir Lancelot had passing good cheer, and 
on the morrow, at the hour of dawn, at Galahad's desire 
he made him knight. 

" God make you a good man," said Sir Lancelot, 
"for beauty faileth you not, as any that liveth. Now, 
fair sir, will you come with n1e to the Court of King 
Arthur?'' 

"Nay," said the boy, "I will not go with you at 
this time.'' 

So Sir Lancelot departed from the Abbey, and took 
his two cousins with him, and they came to Camelot by 
nine o'clock in the morning on Whitsunday. By that 
tin1e the King and the Queen had gone to the minster 
to hear the service. When the King and all the 
knights came back, the Barons saw that the seats of 
the Round Table were all written about with gold 
letters-here one ought to sit, and here ought another 
to sit. 

Thus they went along until they came to the Siege 
Perilous, where they found letters of gold, newly 
written, which said : 

"jfour bnnbreb winters anb ftft)?===four after tbe passion of our ~orb 3-esus ctbrist, ougbt tbis Siege to be filleb." 

Then they all said, " This is a marvellous thing, 
and an adventurous." 
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"By heaven it is," said Sir Lancelot ; and then he 

counted the period of the writing from the time of 

our Lord to that day. "It seems to me," he said, " this 

siege ought to be filled this same day, for this is the 

Feast of Pentecost after the four hundredth and fifty­

fourth year. Ana. if it would please all parties, I counsel 

that none of these letters be seen this day, until he 

con1eth who ought to achieve this adventure." 

Then they ordered a cloth of silk to be brought to 

cover these letters in the Siege Perilous, after which 

King Arthur bade them haste to dinner. 

"Sir," said Sir Kay, the steward, "if you go 

now to your meat, you will break the old custom 

of your Court. For you are not used on this day 

to sit down to table before you have seen some 

adventure." 
"You speak truth," said the King, " but I had so 

great joy of Sir Lancelot, and of his cousins, who are 

con1e to the Court whole and sound, that I bethought 

me not of my old custom." 

As they stood speaking, in came a squire. 

"Sir," he said to the King, "I bring to you marvel­

lous tidings." 

"What are they ? " said the King. 

" Sir, there is here beneath, at the river, a great 

stone, which I saw float above the water, and therein I 

saw sticking a sword." 

" I will see that marvel," said the King. 

So all the knights went with him, and when they 

came to the river, they found there a stone floating, as 

it were of red marble, and therein stuck a fair and rich 
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sword, in the pommel of which were precious stones, 
wrought with subtle letters of gold. 

Then the Barons read the letters, which said in this 
wise: 

"1Re"er sball man ta"ke 111e bence but be b}? 
wbose sibe 5 ougbt to bang, ant> JJe sball be tbe 
best "knigbt of tbe worlb." 

When King Arthur saw these letters he said to 
Sir Lancelot : 

"Fair sir, this sword ought to be yours, for I am 
sure you are the best knight in the world." 

But Sir Lancelot answered full soberly : 
" Certes, sir, it is not my sword ; also, wit you 

well, I have no hardihood to set my hand to it, for it 
belongeth not to hang by my side. Also, whoever 
assayeth to take that sword, and faileth of it, he· shall 
receive from it a wound, of which long afterwards he 
shall not be whole. And I will that ye take note that this 
same day the adventure of the Holy Grail will begin." 

Marvels, and Greater Marvels 

Then King Arthur asked his nephew Sir Gawaine 
to try to draw the sword from the stone in the river. 
But Sir Gawaine said he could not do it. Then the 
King commanded him to make the attempt. 

"Sir," said Gawaine, "since you command me, 
I will obey." Therewith he took the sword by the 
handle, but he could not stir it. 
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" I thank you," said the King. 

"My lord Sir Gawaine," said Sir Lancelot, " now 

wit you well, this sword shall touch you so sore that 

you shall wish you had never set your hand to it, for 

the best castle of this realm." 

"I could not withstay my . uncle's will and con1-

n1and," said Gawaine. 

King Arthur hearing this, repented greatly what he 

had done, nevertheless he asked Sir Percival to assay 

it, for his love. 
" Gladly, to bear Sir Gawaine fellowship," replied 

Sir Percival, and therewith he set his hand on the sword, 

and drew it strongly, but he could not move it. Then 

there were others who dared to be so bold as to set 

their hands to it. 
" Now you may go to your dinner,'' said Sir Kay 

to the King, "for a n1arvellous adventure have you 

" seen. 
So the King and all went back to the Palace, and 

every knight knew his own place, and sat therein, and 

young 1nen who were knights served then1. 

When they were served, and the seats filled, save only 

the Siege Perilous, there sudden! y befell a marvellous 

adventure-all the doors and windows shut of then1-

sel ves. Yet the hall was not greatly darkened because 

of this, and they were one and all an1azed. 

King Arthur was the first to speak. 

" Fair fellows and lords," he said, " we have seen 

this day marvels, but before night I expect we shall see 

greater n1arvels. '' 
In the n1eanwhile came 111 a good old n1an, very 
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ancient, clothed all in white, and no knight knew from 
whence he came. He brought with him a young 
knight, also on foot, in red arn1our, without sword or 
shield, but with only a scabbard hanging by his side. 

" Peace be with you, lords l " said the old man. 
Then, to Arthur, " Sir, I bring here a young knight, 
who is of King's lineage, and of the kindred of Joseph 
of Arimathea, whereby the marvels of this Court and 
of strange realms shall be fully accomplished." 

The King was very pleased at his words, and said 
to the old man, "Sir, you are right welcome, and the 
young knight with you." 

The old man made the young knight take off his 
armour, and under it he was clad in a coat of red silk, 
and the old man put on him a mantle furred with ermine. 
Then saying to the young knight, "Sir, follow me," he 
led him straight to the Siege Perilous, beside which sat 
Sir Lancelot. The good man lifted up the silken cloth, 
and underneath it he found letters which said thus : 

" This is the seat of Galahad, the high prince." 
"Sir, wit you well that place is yours," said the old 

n1an, and he made him sit down surely in that seat. 
Then the young knight said to the old man, "Sir, 

you n1ay now go your way, for you have done well 
what you were commanded to do. And con1mend n1e 
to my grandsire, King Pelles, and say to hin1 on my 
behalf that I will come and see him as soon as ever I 

" can. 
So the good man departed, and there were waiting 

for him twenty noble squires, and they took their horses 
and went their way. 
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All the Knights of the Round Table n1arvelled 
greatly at Galahad, because he had dared to sit there in 
that Siege Perilous, and he was so tender of age. They 
knew not from whence he can1e, but only that God 
had sent him, and they said : 

"This is he by whom the Holy Grail shall be 
achieved, for never any one but he sat in that place 
without mischief befalling him." 

But Sir Lancelot beheld his son, and had great joy 
of him. 

" By my life, this young knight shall come to great 
honour," said Sir Bors to his companions . . 

There was great excitement in all the Palace, so that 
the news came to Queen Guinevere. She marvelled 
what knight it could be who ventured to sit in the 
Siege Perilous. Then n1any told her that he much 
resen1bled Sir Lancelot. 

" I can well imagine," said the Queen, " that he is 
son of Sir Lancelot and King Pelles' daughter, and his 
name is Galahad. I would fain see him, for he must 
needs be a noble n1an, for so is his father." 

. When the meal was over, so that King Arthur 
and all were risen, the King went to the Siege Perilous, 
and lifted up the cloth, and found there the name of 
Galahad. He showed it to Sir Gawaine, saying : 

"Fair nephew, now we have among us Sir Galahad, 
who shall bring honour to us all ; and on pain of my 
life he shall achieve the Holy Grail, right so as Sir 
Lancelot hath given us to understand." 

Then King Arthur went to Galahad, and said, "Sir, 
you are welcome, for you shall move many good 
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knights to the quest of the Holy Grail, and you shall 
achieve that which never knight could ·do." Then the 
King took him by the hand, and went down from 
the Palace to show Galahad the adventure of the stone 
in the river. 

Queen Guinevere, hearing this, came after with 
many ladies, and showed them the stone where it 
moved on the water. 

"Here is as great a marvel as ever I saw," said 
King Arthur to Galahad, " and right good knights have 
assayed and failed.'' 

"Sir, tha~ is no n1arvel," said Galahad, "for this 
adventure is not theirs, but mine, and with the certainty 
of this sword, I brought none with me ; for here by 
my side hangeth the scabbard." H e laid his hand on 
the sword, and lightly drew it out of the stone, and 
put it in the sheath. " Now it goeth better than it did 
before." 

"God will send you a shield," said the K ing. 
"Now have I that sword which was sometime that 

good knight's, Balin the Savage," said Galahad, "and 
he was a passing good man of his hands. With this 
sword he slew his unk nown brother Balan, and that was 
a great pity, for he was a good knight ; and each slew 
the other, not knowing they were brothers, because of 
a dolorous stroke that Balan gave my grandfather, King 
P elles, which is not yet whole, nor shall be till I heal 
h. " 1m. 

At that moment the King and all espied a lady on a 
white palfrey, who came riding down the river towards 
them. She saluted the King and the Queen, and 
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asked if Sir Lancelot were there. He answered himself, 

"I am here, fair lady." 
Then she said, all weeping : 
" How your great doing is changed since this day 

in the morning ! " 
" Damsel, why say you so ? " said Lancelot. 

'' I say the truth," said the damsel," for this morning 

you were the best knight in the world ; but who should 

say so now would be a liar, for now there is one better 

than you. And this is well proved by the ad venture of 

the sword, whereto you dared not set your hand ; and 

hence comes the change and leaving of your name. 

Wherefore I bid you remember that you shall not ween 

from henceforth that you are the best knight of the 

world." 
"As touching that," said Sir Lancelot, "I know 

well I was never the best." 
" Yes," said the damsel ; " that you were ; and are 

so yet, of any sinful man of the world. And, Sir King, 

N acien the hermit sendeth thee word that there shall 

befall thee the greatest honour that ever befell King in 

Britain. And I will tell you wherefore. This day the 

Holy Grail shall appear in thy house, and feed thee, 

and all thy fellowship of the Round Table." 

So the damsel departed. and went back the same 

way that she had con1e. 
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The Last Tournament 

"Now," said King Arthur, "I am sure that all ye 
of the Round Table will depart on this quest of the 
Holy Grail, and never shall I see the whole of you 
again all together. Therefore will I see you all 
together in the meadow of Camelot, to joust and to 
tourney, that after your death men may speak of it, 
that such knights were wholly · together on such a 
d " ay. 

To that counsel and the King's request they all 
agreed, and put on their armour that belonged to 
jousting. But the King did this with the intent of 
seeing Galahad proved, for the King deemed he would 
not lightly come to the Court again after his departing. 

So they all assembled in the meadow, and the 
Queen was in a tower with all her ladies to behold that 
tournament. Then Galahad, at the King's entreaty, 
put on a noble cuirass, and also his helm, but shield 
he would take none, not for any entreaty of the 
King. 

Sir Gawaine and the other knights prayed him to 
take a spear, and this he did. Then taking his place 
in the midst of the n1eadow he began to break spears 
n1arvellously, so that all men wondered at him. For 
he there surpassed all other knights, and in a little 
while had thrown down many good Knights of the 
Round Table. But Sir Lancelot and Sir Percival he 
did not overthrow. 

King Arthur, at Queen Guinevere's request, made 
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him alight and unlace his helm, so that the Queen 
might see his face. And when she beheld him she 
said, "Truly I dare well say that Sir Lancelot is his 
father, for never two men were more alike ; therefore 
it is no marvel if he be of great prowess." 

A lady that stood by the Queen said : 
" Madam, ought he of right to be so good a 

knight?" 
"Yes, in truth," said the Queen, "for both from 

his father's and his n1other' s side he is come of the 
best knights of the world, and of the highest lineage. 
I dare affirm that Sir Lancelot and Sir Galahad are the 
greatest gentlemen of the world." 

Then the King and all the nobles went home to 
Camelot, and after they had been to evensong in the 
great n1inster, they went to supper ; and every knight 
sat in his own place as they had done before. 

Suddenly they heard cracking and rolling of 
thunder, as if the place would have been riven. In 
the midst of this blast entered a sunbeam, clearer by 
seven times than ever they saw by day, and all _ their 
faces shone with a divine light. Then began every 
knight to look at each other, and each seemed fairer 
than any one had seemed before. Not a knight could 
speak a single word for a great while, so they looked 
every man at each other, as if they had been dumb. 

Then there entered into the hall the Holy Grail, 
covered with white samite, but none could see it, nor 
who bore it. And all the hall was filled with good 
odours, and every knight had such meats and drinks 
as he liked best ; and when the Holy Grail had been 
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borne through the hall, then the holy vessel departed 
suddenly, so that they knew not what became of it. 

After it had gone they all had breath to speak, and 
King Arthur gave thanks to God for the great favour 
He had sent them. 

"Now," said Sir Gawaine, "we have been served 
this day with what meats and drinks we thought of, 
but one thing hath failed us,-we could not see the 
Holy Grail, it was covered with such care. Therefore 
I will here make a vow, that to-morrow without longer 
abiding I shall undertake the Quest of the Holy Grail. 
I shall hold out a twelvemonth and a day, or more, if 
need be, and never shall I return again to the Court 
till I have seen it more openly than it hath been seen 
here. And if I do not succeed, I shall return again as 
one that cannot act against the will of heaven." 

When the Knights of the Round Table heard what 
Sir Gawaine said, most of them rose up, and made 
the same sort of vow as Sir Ga waine had made. 

King Arthur was greatly displeased at this, for he 
knew well they might not gainsay their vows. 

" Alas," he said to Sir Ga waine, " you have aln1ost 
slain me with the vow and promise you have made. 
For through you, ye have reft me of the fairest 
fellowship, and the truest of knighthood that ever 
were seen together in any realm of the world. For 
when my knights depart hence I am sure that never 
more will they all n1eet together in this world, for 
many of them shall die in the Quest. And so I repent 
it, for I have loved them as well as my life, wherefore 
it shall grieve me right sore, the breaking up of this 
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fellowship. For this is an old custon1 that I have had 

kept." 
And therewith his eyes filled with tears. 

"Oh, Gawaine, Gawaine," he said, "you have 

set me in great sorrow. For I doubt much that my 

true fellowship shall ever more 1neet here again." 

" Comfort yourself," said Lancelot, " for if we die 

in the Quest it shall be to us as a great honour, and 

much more than if we had died in any other place ; for, 

early or late, of death we are sure." 

"Ah, Lancelot," said the King, "the great love I 

have had for you all the days of my life maketh me to 

say such doleful words. For never Christian King 

had so many worthy men at his table, as I have had 

this day at the Round Table, and that is my great 

" sorrow. 
When the Queen, ladies, and gentlewomen knew 

these tidings they had such sorrow and heaviness that 

no tongue could tell it, for those knights had holden 

them in honour and love. But among all the others 

Queen Guinevere made most sorrow. 

"1 marvel," said she, "that my lord, the King, 

would suffer them to depart from him." 

Thus all the Court were troubled, because of the 

departing of those knights. Some of the ladies who 

loved knights, wanted to go with their husbands and 

lovers, and would have done so, had not an aged 

knight in religious clothing come among them. 

(( Fair lords, who have sworn to the Quest of the 

Holy Grail," he said, (( N acien the hermit thus 

sendeth you word, that none in this Quest lead lady 

343 



The Quest of the Holy Grail 
or gentlewon1an, for it is a hard and high service. 
And, 1noreover, I warn you plainly that he who is not 
clean of his sins shall not see these mysteries." 

After this, the Queen came to Galahad, and asked 
him whence he w~s, and of what country. He told 
her. 

"And son unto Lancelot ? " she asked ; but to this 
he said neither yea nor nay. 

"Truly," said the Queen, "of your father you 
· need not be ashamed, for he is the goodliest knight, 

and come of the best men of the world, on both sides 
of a race of Kings. Wherefore you ought of right 
to be of your deeds a passing good man,-and certainly 
you resemble him n1uch." 

Galahad was a little abashed at this, and said : 
"Madam, since you know it for certain, why did 

you ask me ? For he that is n1y father shall be 
known openly, and in good tin1e." 

Then they all went to rest. And in honour of 
Galahad's greatness and high race he was led into King 
Arthur's chamber, and rested on the King's own bed. 

As soon as it was day the King arose, for he had 
no rest all that night for sorrow. Then he went to 
Gawaine and Sir Lancelot, who had arisen to go to 
church. 

"Ah, Gawaine, Gawaine," said the King," you have 
betrayed me. For never shall my Court be amended 
by you ; but you will never be as sorry for me as I 
am for you." And therewith the tears began to run 
down his face. "Ah, knight, Sir Lancelot," he said, 
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"I pray thee counsel me, for I would this Quest were 

undone, if it could be." 

"Sir," said Lancelot, "ye saw yesterday so many 

worthy knights who were then sworn so that they 

cannot leave it in any sort of way." 

" That I know well," said the King. " But I grieve 

so at their departing that I know well no manner of 

joy shall ever cure me." 

Then the King and the Queen went to the minster. 

Lancelot and Gawaine commanded their men to 

bring their arms, and when they were all armed save 

their shields and their helms they were ready in the 

same wise to go to the minster to hear the service. 

After the service the King wished to know how 

many had undertaken the Quest of the Holy Grail ; 

and they found by counting, it was a hundred and fifty, 

and all were Knights of the Round Table. 

Then they put on their helms ready to depart, and 

commended then1 all wholly to the Queen, and t here 

was weeping and great sorrow. And Queen Guinevere 

went into her chamber, so that no one should see her 

great grief. 
Sir Lancelot missing the Queen, went to look for 

her, and when she saw him, she cried aloud : 

" 0, Sir L ancelot, you have forsaken us ! You put 

me to death thus to leave my lord ! " 

" Ah, madam," said Sir Lancelot, " I pray you be 

not displeased, for I shall come again as soon as I can 

in accordance with my honour." 

"Alas," said she, "that ever I s_aw you ! But He 

that suffered death upon the Cross for all n1ankind be 
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your good conduct and safety, and that of all the 
whole fellowship ! " 

Right so departed Sir Lancelot, and found his 
companions who awaited his coming. They mounted 
their horses, and rode through the streets of Camelot, 

and there was weeping of the rich and poor, and the 
King turned away, and could not speak for weeping. 

So the Knights of the Round Table rode forth on 
the Quest of the Holy Grail. 

That night they rested in a Castle called Vagon, 
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where the lord was a good old man, and made then1 

the best cheer he could. On the morrow they all 

· agreed they should each separate from the other. 

So the next day, with weeping and mourning, they 

departed, and every knight took the way that seemed 

to him best. 

Sir Galahad's White Shield 

Now Galahad was yet without a shield, and he rode 

four days without adventure. 

On the fourth day after evensong he came to an 

abbey of white friars, and there he was received with 

great reverence, and led to a chamber, and unarmed. 

Then he was aware of two Knights of the Round Table, 

one was King Bagdemagus, the other was Sir U waine ; 

and they were very pleased to see him. 

"Sirs," said Galahad, "what adventures brought 

you hither ? " 
" It is told us," they replied, " that in this place is 

a shield that no man may bear about his neck, without 

being hurt or dead within three days, or else maimed 

for ever." 
"I shall bear it to-morrow to assay this strange 

adventure," added King Bagdemagus to Galahad; 

" and if I cannot achieve this adventure of the shield, 

ye shall take it upon you, for I am sure you shall not 

fail." 
"I agree right well to that," said Galahad, "for I 

have no shield." 
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On the morrow they arose, and after hearing 

service, King Bagdemagus asked where the adventurous 
shield was. A monk at once led him behind an altar, 
where the shield hung. It was white as any snow, but 
in the n1idst was a red cross. 

"Sir," said the n1onk, "this shield ought not to 
hang round the neck of any knight, unless he be the 
worthiest knight of the world ; therefore I counsel you 
knights to be well advised." 

" Well," said King Bagdemagus, " I know well I 
am not the best knight of the world, but yet I shall 
assay to bear it." 

So he bore it out of the rp.onastery, saying to 
Galahad, " If it please you, I pray you abide here still, 
till you know how I shall speed." 

"I will await you here," said Galahad. 
King Bagdemagus took with him a squire, to 

carry back tidings to Galahad how he sped. When 
they had ridden about two miles they came to a fair 
valley before a hermitage, and there they saw coming 
from that direction a goodly knight, in white armour, 
horse and all. He came as fast as his horse could 
run, with his spear in the rest, and King Bagdemagus 
dressed his spear against him, and broke it upon the 
white knight. But the other struck him so hard that 
he shattered the mail, and thrust him through the right 
shoulder, for just there the shield did not cover him, 
and so he bore him from his horse. 

Then the knight alighted, and took the white 
shield from Bagdemagus, saying : 

"Knight, thou hast done thyself great folly, for 
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this shield ought not to be borne but by him that shall 

have no peer that liveth." 

Then he came to King Bagdemagus' squire and 

said, "Bear this shield to the good knight Sir 

Galahad, whom thou left in the abbey, and greet him 

well from me." 
"Sir," said the squire, "what is your name?" 

"Take thou no heed of n1y name," said the knight, 

" for it is not for thee to know, nor any earthly 

" man. 
"Now, fair sir," said the squire, "for the love of 

heaven, tell me for what cause this shield may not be 

borne, without the bearer thereof coming to mischief." 

" Since thou hast conjured me so," said the knight, 

"this shield belongeth to no man but Galahad." 

The squire went to King Bagdemagus and asked 

if he were sore wounded or not. 

"Yea, forsooth," he said, " I shall hardly escape 

death." 
The squire fetched his horse, and took him with 

great pain to an abbey. There he was gently unarmed, 

. and laid in a bed, and his wounds were looked to. 

And there he lay a long while, and hardly escaped 

with life. 
The squire carried the shield to Galahad, with the 

knight's message. 
" Now blessed be God and fortune," said Galahad. 

Then he asked for his armour, and mounted his horse, 

and hung the white shield about his neck, and bade 

them good-bye. Sir Uwaine said he would bear him 

fellowship if it pleased him, but Galahad replied that 
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he could not do so, for he must go alone except for 
the squire that went with him. 

Within a little while Sir Galahad came near the 
hermitage, and there was the white knight awaiting him. 
Each saluted the other courteously, and then the 
strange knight told him the legend of the white shield. 

It had been made over four hundred years ago by 
Joseph of Arimathea for a King called Evelake, who 
was at war with the Saracens. On the eve of a great 
battle Joseph of Arimathea went to King Evelake, and 
showed him the right belief of the Christian faith, to 
which he agreed with all his heart. Then this shield 
was made for King E velake, and through it he got 
the better of his enemies. For when he went into battle 
there was a cloth placed over the shield, and when he 
found himself in the greatest peril, he drew aside the 
cloth, and then his enemies saw the cross, and were 
all discomforted. 

Afterwards befell a strange marvel, for the cross 
on the shield vanished away, so that no man knew 
what became of it. 

At the end of the war King Evelake was baptized, 
and so were most of the people in his city. And when 
Joseph of Arimathea departed, King Evelake insisted 
on going with him, whether he would or not. So it 
chanced they came to this land, which at that time was 
called Great Britain. 

Not long after, Joseph of Arimathea fell ill, and 
was like to die. King Evelake was deeply grieved, 
and prayed him to leave some token of remembrance. 
"That will I do full gladly," said the holy man, and he 
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bade him bring the shield, which was now quite white. 
Then with his own blood Joseph of Arimathea traced 
on it a red cross. 

" Now you may see a remembrance that I love 
you," he said, "for you shall never see this shield but 
you shall think of me. And it shall be always as fresh 
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as 1t 1s now. And never shall any man bear this shield 
round his neck but he shall repent it, until the time 
that Galahad the good knight bear it, and the last of 
my lineage shall have it about his neck, and shall do 
many marvellous deeds." 

"Now," said King Evelake, " where shall I put 
this shield, that this worthy knight may have it ? " 

"You shall leave it there where Nacien the hermit 
shall be put after his death. For thither shall that 
good knight come the fifth day after he receive the 
order of knighthood." 

"So that day which they appointed is this time 
that you have received the shield," said the knight to 
Galahad. "And in the same abbey lieth Nacien the 
hermit. And you are grandson of King Pelles, who is 
of the race of Joseph of Arimathea." 

And with that, the White Knight vanished away. 

The Adventure of the Crown of Gold 

As soon as the squire heard what the White 
Knight said to Sir Galahad he alighted off his hackney, 
and kneeling down at Galahad's feet, prayed that he 
might go with him till he had made him knight. 
"And that order, by the grace of God, shall be well 
held by me," he added. So Sir Galahad granted his 
petition. Then they returned to the abbey where they 
had come from, and great joy was made of Sir Galahad, 
and there he rested that night. 
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Adventure of the Crown of Gold 

On the morrow he knighted the squire, and asked 
him his name, and of what kindred he was come. 

" Sir," said he, " men call me Melias of the Isle, 
and I am the son of the King of Denmark." 

"Now, fair sir," said Galahad, "since ye be come 
of Kings and Queens, look you that knighthood be well 
set in you, for you ought to be a mirror to all chivalry." 

"Sir, you say truth," said Melias. "But since you 
have made me a knight you must by rights gr~nt me 
my first desire, if it is reasonable." 

" That is true," said Galahad. 
"Then will you suffer me to ride with you in this 

Quest of the Holy Grail?" asked Melias. 
And Galahad granted it. 
His armour, his spear, and his horse were then 

brought to Sir Melias, but Sir Galahad and he r.ode 
forth all that week before they found any adventure. 

On a Monday, in the morning, after leaving an 
abbey, they came to a cross which parted two ways, 
and on that cross were letters written, which said thus : 

" Now ye knights errant, who go to seek knights 
adventurous, see here two ways : one way it is 
forbidden thee to go, for none shall con1e out of that 
way again, unless he be a good man and a worthy 
knight ; if thou go this way on the left hand, thou 
shalt not there lightly win prowess, for thou shalt in 
this way be soon assayed." 

" Sir," said Melias to Galahad, " if it please you to 
suffer me to take this way on the left hand, tell me, 
for ther~ I shall well test my strength." 

"It were better ye rode not that way," said 
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Galahad, "for I deem I should escape better in that 
way than you." 

"Nay, my lord, I pray you let me have that 
adventure.'' 

"Take it, in heaven's name," said Galahad. 
Then Melias rode into an old forest, through which 

he travelled two days and more, till he came to a 
green meadow, where there was a fair lodge of boughs. 
And he espied in the lodge a chair, wherein was a 
crown of gold, subtly wrought. Also, there were 
cloths spread upon the ground, on which were set 
many delicious meats. 

Sir Melias beheld this adventure, and thought it 
marvellous. He had no hunger, but he had great 
desire of the crown of gold, so he stooped down, took 
it up, and rode his way with it. Soon he saw a knight 
come riding after him, who said : 

"Knight, set down that crown of gold, which is 
not yours, and therefore defend yourself! " 

"Fair Lord of Heaven, help and save Thy new­
made knight ! " prayed Sir Melias. 

Then they urged on their horses as fast as they 
could, and the other knight smote Sir Melias through 
hauberk, and through the left side, so that he fell to 
the earth nearly dead. The knight took the crown 
of gold and went his way, and Sir Melias lay still and 
had no power to stir. 

In the meanwhile, by good fortune, came Sir 
Galahad, and found him there in peril of death. 

" Ah, Melias, who hath wounded you ? " he said. " It 
would have been better to have ridden the other way." 
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"Sir, for God's love let me not die in this 
forest," said Melias, " but bear me to the abbey here 
beside, that I may be confessed and have heavenly 

comfort." 
"It shall be done," said Galahad ; "but where is he· 

that hath wounded you ? " 
At that moment Sir Galahad heard through the 

trees a loud cry-" Knight, keep thee fron1 me ! " 
"Ah, sir, beware,!" said Melias, "for that is he who 

hath slain me." 
" Sir Knight, come at your peril ! " answered Sir 

Galahad. 
Then each turned towards the other, and they came 

together as fast as their horses could run, and Galahad 
smote the stranger so that his spear went through his 
shoulder, and bore him down off his horse, and in the 
falling Galahad's spear broke. With that, out came 
another knight from among the trees, and broke a spear 
upon Galahad, before ever he could turn. Then Galahad 
drew out his sword, and smote off his left arm, where­
upon the knight fled. 

After chasing him for some distance Sir Galahad 
returned to Melias, and placing him gently on his 
horse, sprang up behind, and held him in his arms, and 
so brought him to the abbey. There his wound was 
carefully tended, and an old monk, who had once been 
a knight, told Sir Galahad he hoped it would be healed 
within about seven weeks. Sir Galahad was glad to 
hear this, and said he would stay at the abbey for three 
days. 

At the end of that time he said, " Now I will 
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depart, for I have much on hand ; many good knights 
are full busy about it, and this knight and I were in the 
same Quest of the Holy Grail." 

" For his sin was he thus wounded," said a good 
man. " And I marvel," he added to Melias, "how you 
dare take upon you so rich a thing as the high order of 
knighthood without clean confession, and that was the 
cause you were bitterly wounded. For the road on the 
right hand betokeneth the highway of our Lord Jesus 
Christ, and the way of a true, good liver. And the 
other road betokeneth the way of sinners and 1nis­
believers. And when the devil saw your pride a!ld 
.presumption tempt you into the Quest of the Holy 
Grail, that made you to be overthrown, for it may not 
be achieved but by virtuous living. 

"Also, the writing on the cross was a signification 
of heavenly deeds, and of knightly deeds in God's 
works, and no knightly deeds in worldly works ; and 
pride is head of all deadly sins, which caused thee, 
-Melias, to depart from Sir Galahad. And when thou 
tookest the crown of gold, thou sinnedst in covetous­
ness and theft. All these were no knightly deeds. 
And this Galahad, the holy knight, who fought with 
the two knights,-the two knights signify the two 
deadly sins pride and covetousness, which were wholly 
in Sir Melias, and they could not stand against Sir 
Galahad, for he is without deadly sin." 

Now departed Galahad from them, and bade them 
all good-bye. 

" My lord Galahad," said Melias, "as soon as I can 
ride, I shall seek youo" 



The Castle of Maidens 

" God send you health," said Galahad, and so took 

his horse and departed. 

The Castle of Maidens 

Sir Galahad rode n1any journeys, backward and 

forward, as adventure led him, and at last one day he 

came to a mountain, w_here he found an old chapel, and 

nobody there, for all was desolate. Then he knelt 

before the altar, and prayed for good counsel, and as he 

prayed he heard a voice that said, " Go thou now, thou 

adventurous knight, to the Castle of Maidens, and there 

do away with the wicked customs." 
When Sir Galahad heard this, he thanked God and 

took his horse. He had ridden only half-a-mile when 

he saw in a valley before hin1 a strong Castle, with 

deep ditches ; beside it ran a fair river, called the 

Severn, and there he met with a very old man. Each 

saluted the other, and Galahad asked hin1 the Castle's 

name. 
" Fair sir," he said, "it is the Castle of Maidens." 

" That is a cursed Castle," said Galahad, " and all 

they who are connected with it, for all pity is outside 

it, and all boldness and mischief are within." 

" For that reason I counsel you, sir knight, to turn 
. " agam. 
" Sir, wit you well I shall not turn again," said Sir 

Galahad. 
Then he looked to his arms that nothing failed him, 
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and put his shield before him, and at that n1oment there 
met him seven fair maidens. 

" Sir Knight," they said, " you ride here in great 
folly, for you have the river to pass over." 

" Why should I not pass the river ? " said Galahad. 
So he rode away from then1. 

Next there met him a squire, who said : 
" Knight, those knights in the Castle defy you, 

and forbid you to go further till they know what you 
want. " 

"Fair sir, I come to destroy the wicked custom of 
this Castle." 

" Sir, if you keep to that, you will have enough 
to do." 

" Go you now," said Galahad, " and hasten my 
needs." 

Then the squire entered into the Castle. And 
immediately after, there came out of the Castle seven 
knights, who were all brethren. When they saw 
Galahad, they cried, " Knight, keep thee, for we assure 
thee nothing but death ! " 

"Why, will you all fight with me at once ? " said 
Galahad. 

"Yea," said they, " you may trust to that." 
Galahad thrust forth his spear, and struck the fore­

.most to the earth, so that he nearly broke his neck, 
whereupon all the other brothers smote him on his 
shield great strokes, so that their spears broke. Then 
Galahad drew out his sword and set upon them so hard 
that it was a marvel to see, and thus through great 
might he made them forsake the field. As they fled, he 
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chased then1 till they entered into the Castle, and passing 
right through the Castle, escaped out at another gate. 

Now there met Sir Galahad an old man, clad in 
religious clothing, who said, "Sir, have here the keys 
of the Castle." Then Galahad opened the gates, and 
so many people came thronging round him that he 
could not number them. 

"Sir," they all said, "you are welcome, for long 
have we waited here our deliverance." 

Then came to him a gentlewoman. "These knights 
are fled," said she, " but they will come again this night, 
and begin again their evil customs." 

" What will you that I shall do ? " asked Galahad. 
"That you send after all the knights to come 

hither who hold their lands of this Castle, and make 
them swear to use the customs that were formerly used 
here in the old times.'' 

"I will gladly," said Galahad. 
She brought him a horn of ivory, richly bound with 

gold, and said, " Sir, blow this horn ; it will be heard 
two 1niles round the Castle." 

When Galahad had blown the horn he went to rest, 
and presently there came a priest, who told him the 
story of the Castle. 

" It is just seven years ago," he said, " that these 
seven brethren came to this Castle, and lodged with the 
lord of it, who was called the Duke Lianor, and who 
was lord of all this country. When they espied the 
duke's daughter, who was a very beautiful woman, they 
began to weave false plots as to which should n1arry 
her, till they took to quarrelling among themselves. 
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The duke in his goodness would have parted them, but 
in their anger they slew him and his eldest son. Then 
they seized the maiden, and the treasure of the Castle. 
Afterwards, by great strength they held all the knights 
of this Castle in great bondage and extortion, besides 
robbing and plundering the poor country people of all 
that they had. So it happened on a day the duke's 
daughter said, 'You have done me great wrong, to slay 
my own father and my brother, and thus to hold our 
lands. But you shall not hold this Castle for many 
years, for by one knight you shall be overcome.' Thus 
she prophesied seven years ago. ' Well,' said the seven 
knights, ' since you say so, never lady nor knight 
shall pass this Castle, but they shall abide here, in 
spite of their will, or die for it, until that knight come 
bv whom we shall lose this Castle.' Therefore it is 
called the Castle of Maidens, for n1any fair ladies have 
here bee~ destroyed.'' 

" Now," said Galahad, " is she here for whom this 
Castle was lost ? " 

" Nay," said the priest, " she was dead within 
· three nights after speaking the prophecy. And since 

then they have kept prisoner her younger sister, who 
with many other ladies endureth great pain and 
hardship." 

By this time the knights of the country were come. 
Then Galahad made them do homage and fealty to the 
duke's younger daughter, who was still alive, and set 
them in great ease of heart. And the next morning 
a man brought tidings that Gawaine, Gareth, and 
Uwaine had slain the seven brethren. 
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" Well done ! " said Galahad, and took his armour 

and his horse, and bade good-bye to the Castle of 

Maidens. 

The Vision at the Chapel in the Forest 

After leaving the Castle of Maidens, Sir Galahad 

rode till he can1e to a waste forest, and there he met 

with Sir Lancelot and· Sir Percival, but they did not 

know him, for he was newly disguised. Sir Lancelot 

rode straight at him, and broke his spear on him, and 

Sir Galahad smote him so again that he bore down 

horse and man. Then he drew his sword, and turned 

to Sir Percival, and smote him on the helm so that it 

rove to the coif of steel ; if the sword had not swerved, 

Sir Percival would have been slain ; with the stroke 

he fell out of the saddle. 
This joust took place before a hermitage where 

dwelt a recluse, who was really aunt to Sir Percival, 

although he did not know it at that moment. When 

she saw Sir Galahad she said, "God be with thee, best 

knight of the world ! Ah, certes," she said quite loud, 

so that Lancelot and Percival could hear it, " if yonder 

two knights had known thee as well as I do, they 

would not have encountered with thee." 

Galahad, hearing her say this, was sorely afraid of 

bei'ng known, and therefore rode swiftly away. Then 

both knights perceived he was Galahad, and up they 

got on their horses, and rode fast after him, but he 
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was soon out of sight. So they returned with heavy 
cheer. 

"Let us ask some tidings of yonder recluse," said 
Percival. 

" Do so, if you please," said Lancelot, but when 
Percival went to the hermitage he rode on alone. 
This way and that he rode across a wild forest, and 
held no path except as adventure led him. At last 
he came to a strong cross, which pointed two ways in 
waste land ; by the cross was a stone that was of 
marble, but it was so dark that Sir Lancelot could not 
tell what it was. 

Sir Lancelot looked about him, and near at hand he 
saw an old chapel, where he expected to find people. 
He tied his horse to a tree, and taking off his shield, 
hung it upon the tree. Then he went to the chapel 
door, but found it waste and broken. And looking 
within, he saw a fair altar, full richly arrayed with cloth 
of clean silk, where stood a shining candlestick, which 
bore six great candles, and the candlestick was of 
silver. 

When Sir Lancelot saw this light he desired greatly 
to enter into the chapel, but could find no place where 
he could enter, which greatly grieved and perplexed 
him. He returned to his horse and took off the 
saddle and bridle, and let him pasture ; and unlacing 
his helm, and ungirding his sword, he laid hin1self down 
to sleep on his shield before the marble cross. 

So he fell asleep, and, half waking and half sleeping, 
he saw a vision. 

He saw come past him two palfreys all beautiful 
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and white, which bore a litter, and in the litter lay a 
sick knight. When they were near the cross the litter 
stood still, and Sir Lancelot heard the knight say : 

" Oh, sweet Lord, when shall this sorrow leave me? 
And when shall the holy vessel come by, through which 
I shall be blessed ? For I have endured thus long 
through little trespass." 
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Thus for some time lamented the knight, and Sir 
Lancelot heard him. 

Then Sir Lancelot saw the candlestick with the six 
tapers come before the marble cross, and he saw nobody 
that brought it. Also there came a table of silver, and 
the sacred vessel of the Holy Grail, which Sir Lancelot 
had seen formerly in King Pelles' house. 

Therewith the sick knight sat up, and held up both 
his hands, and prayed to God, and kneeling down, he 
kissed the holy vessel, and imn1ediately he was whole. 

"Lord God, I thank thee, for I am healed of this 
sickness," he said. 

So when the Holy Grail had been there a long time, 
it went into the chapel, with the candlestick and the 
lights, so that Lancelot did not know what became of it. 
For he was overmastered by a feeling of his own sinful­
ness, and had no power to rise to follow the holy vessel. 

Then the sick knight rose, and kissed the cross, 
and the squire at once brought hin1 his armour, and 
asked his lord how he did. 

"Truly, I thank God, right well," he answered ; 
" through the holy vessel I am healed. But I greatly 
marvel at this sleeping knight, who had no power to 
awake when this holy vessel was brought hither." 

"I dare right well say," said the squire, "that he 
dwelleth in some deadly sin, whereof he has never 
repented." 

"By my faith," said the knight, " whatsoever he 
be, he is unhappy, for, as I deem, he is of the fellowship 
of the Round Table, which has entered into the Quest 
of the Holy Grail.'' 
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" Sir," said the squire, " here have I brought you 

all your arms, save your helm and your sword, and, 

therefore, by my advice ye may now take this knight's 

helm and his sword." 
So the knight did this ; and when he was fully 

armed he took also Sir Lancelot's horse, for it was 

better than his own. And so he and his attendants 

departed from the cross. 

The Repentance of Sir Lancelot 

Straightway Sir Lancelot awoke, and sat up, and 

bethought him what he had seen there, and whether 

it were a dream or not. Right so he heard a voice 

that said : 
" Sir Lancelot, more hard than is the stone, and 

more bitter than is the wood, and more naked and bare 

than is the leaf of the fig-tree! Therefore go thou 

hence, and withdraw thee from this holy place." 

When Sir Lancelot heard this, he was passing 

heavy, and knew not what to do ; so he rose, sore 

weeping, and cursed the time that he was born, because 

he thought he would never more have honour. For 

those words went to his heart till. he knew why he was 

called so. 
He went to fetch his helm, his sword, and his 

horse, but found they had all been taken away. Then 

he called himself a wretch, and most unhappy of all 

knights. "My sin and my wickedness have brought 

me to great dishonour," he said. "For when I 
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sought worldly adventures for worldly desires, I ever 
achieved them, and had the better in every place, and 
never was I d_iscon1forted in any quarrel, were it right 
or wrong. And now I take upon me the adventures 
of holy things, but I see and understand that my 
old sin hindereth me, and shameth me, so that I had 
no power to stir nor speak when the holy vessel 
appeared before n1e." 

Thus he sorrowed till it was day, and he heard the 
little birds sing ; then he was somewhat comforted. 

But when he missed his horse and his arms Sir 
Lancelot knew well God was displeased with him. He 
departed from the cross on foot into the forest, and 
by dawn came to a high hill, where a hermit dwelt, 
whom he found just about to begin his n1orning 
devotions. Then Lancelot knelt down, and cried to 
the Lord for n1ercy for his wicked works. When 
their prayers were over, Lancelot called to the hermit, 
and begged him for charity to hear his life. 

"Right willingly," said the good man. " Are you 
not of King Arthur's Court, and of the fellowship of 
the Round Table?" 

"Yea, truly, and my name is Sir Lancelot of the 
Lake, who hath been right well spoken of, and now my 
good for tune is changed, for I am the most wretched 
man in the wor Id.'' 

The hermit looked at him, and marvelled why he 
was so abashed. 

"Sir," said the hermit, " you ought to thank God 
more than any knight living, for He hath caused you to 
have more worldly worship than any knight that now 
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liveth. Because of your presumption to take upon 
yourself, while you were still in deadly sin, to behold 
His holy chalice, that was the cause you might not see 
it with worldly eyes. For He will not appear where 
such sinners be, except it be to their great hurt and 
their great shame. And there is no knight living now 
who ought to give God such thanks as you. For He 
hath given you beauty, seemliness, and great strength, 
above all other knights, and therefore you are the more 
beholden unto God than any other man, to love Him 
and dread Him ; for your strength and manhood will 
little avail you, if God be against you." 

Then Sir Lancelot wept for grief, and said : " Now 
I know well you speak truth to n1e." 

"Sir," said the good man, "hide from me no 
old sin." 

"Truly, I an1 full loath to reveal it," said Sir 
Lancelot. " For these fourteen years I have never 
revealed one thing, and for that I now bla1ne my shame 
and misadventure." 

And then he told that good man all his life, and 
how he loved a Queen beyond all measure, and had 
done so longer than he could reckon. · 

" And all my great deeds of arms that I have done; 
I did the most part for the Queen's sake, and for her 
sake would I do battle, were it right or wrong ; and 
never did I battle only for God's sake, but to wiri 
worship, and to cause me to be the better beloved ; 
and little or nought I thanked God for it." The.11 Sir 
Lancelot said, " I pray you counsel me." 

"I will counsel you," said the hermit, "if you will 
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assure me that you will never come into the presence of 
that Queen, if you can he1 p it." 

Then Sir Lancelot promised him faithfully he would 
not. 

" Look that your heart and your mouth agree," said 
the good man, "and I will ensure you that you shall 
have more worship than ever you had." 

" I marvel at the voice which said to n1e those 
strange words I told you of," said Lancelot. 

"Have no marvel," said the good man, "for it 
seemeth well God loveth thee. · Men can understand a 
stone is hard by nature, and one kind harder than 
another,-by which is meant thee, Sir Lancelot. For 
thou wilt not leave thy sin, for any goodness that God 
hath sent thee, therefore art thou harder than any 
stone ; and thou wouldst never be made soft, neither by 
water nor by fire,-and that is, the Holy Spirit could 
not enter into thee. Now take heed; in all the world 
men shall not find one knight to whom our Lord hath 
given so much of grace as He hath given thee. For 
He hath given thee beauty, with seemliness ; He hath 
given thee wit, discretion to know good from evil ; 
He hath given thee prowess and hardihood ; and hath 
given thee to work so greatly that thou hast had at all 
times the better wheresoever thou earnest. And now 
our Lord will suffer thee no longer, but that thou shalt 
know Him, whether thou wilt, or wilt not. 

"And why that voice called thee bitterer than 
wood ;-where overmuch sin dwelleth, there can be 
but little sweetness, wherefore thou art likened to 
an old rotten tree. Now have I shown thee why 
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thou art harder than the stone, and bitterer than 

wood. 
" Now shall I show thee why thou art more naked 

and barer than the fig-tree. It befell that our Lord on 

Palm Sunday preached in Jerusalem, and there He found 
in the people all hardness, and there He found in all the 
town not one that would harbour Him. Then He went 
outside the town, and found in the midst of the way a fig­
tree, which was right fair, and well-garnished with leaves, 
but fruit had it none. Then our Lord cursed the tree 
that bore no fruit,-and by the fig-tree was betokened 
Jerusalem, which had leaves and no fruit. So thou, Sir 
Lancelot, when the Holy Grail was brought before thee, 
He found in thee no fruit, nor good thought, nor good 
will ; but thou wert stained with sin." · 

" Verily," said Sir Lancelot, " all that you have 
said is true ; and from henceforth I purpose by 
the grace of God never to be so wicked as I have been, 
but to follow knighthood, and do feats of arms." 

Then the good man enjoined Sir Lancelot such 
penance as he could do, and to follow knighthood ; 
and so he gave him his blessing, and prayed Sir Lancelot 
to abide with him all that day. 

"I will gladly," said Sir Lancelot, "for I have 
neither helm, nor horse, nor sword." 

"As for that," said the good man," I will help you 
before to-morrow evening with a horse, and all that 

belongs to you.'' 
And so Sir Lancelot repented him greatly of all his 

past n1isdoings. 
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The Chamber with the Shut Door 

Among the Knights of the Round Table who started 
on the Quest of the Holy Grail, besides Sir Galahad 
and Sir Lancelot, the chief were these-the good Sir 
Percival ; Sir Ector de Maris, brother of Sir Lancelot ; 
Sir Bors de Ganis, and Sir Gawaine. Many and strange 
were the adventures that befell then1, and marvellous 
were the visions they saw, but at no time did they come 
within sight of the Holy Grail. For except Sir Galahad 
and Sir Percival, no knight was accounted worthy to 
behold that divine vision. 

But after the penitence of Sir Lancelot, and many 
long · months of wandering, it at last happened to him 
nearly to achieve the great Quest. For one night being 
near the sea, a vision came to him in his sleep, and 
bade him enter into the first ship he could find. ,Nhen 
he heard these words he started up, and saw a great 
clearness all round him, so he took his armour and 
made ready ; and when he came to the shore he found 
a ship without sail or oar. As soon as he was within 
the ship he felt the greatest sweetness that ever he felt, 
and a joy that passed all earthly joy that he had ever 
known. And on this ship he stayed a month or more, 
sustained by the grace of heaven. 

One day there came ridi ng by a knight on horse­
back, who dismounted when he reached the ship. 
Then Sir Lancelot found it was his own son, Galahad, 
and no tongue can tell the joy they made of each 
other. 
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They- told each other all the adventures and marvels 
that had befallen them both in many journeys since they 
departed from King Arthur's Court. 

Lancelot and Galahad dwelt within that ship half 
a year, and served God daily and nightly with all their 
power. And often they arrived in islands far from 
folk, where nothing but wild beasts were to be found, 
and they achieved many strange adventures and 
perilous. 

One day it befell that their ship arrived at the edge 
of a forest, and there they saw a knight armed all in 
white, richly horsed, and in his right hand he led a 
white horse. He came to the ship and saluted the two 
knights, and said : 

" Galahad, sir, ye have been long enough with your 
father ; come out of the ship, and start upon this horse, 
and go where adventures shall lead thee in the Quest of 
the Holy Grail." 

Then Galahad went to his father, and kissed him 
tenderly, and said : 

"Fair sweet father, I know not when I shall see 
you more, until I have seen the Holy Grail." 

" I pray you," said Lancelot, "pray you to the high 
Father that He hold me in His service." 

So Galahad took his horse, and there they heard a 
voice that said : 

" Think to do well, for the one shall never again see 
the other till the dreadful day of doom." 

"Now, son Galahad," said L ancelot, " since we 
shall par t, and never see each other more, I pray the 
high F ather to preserve both me and you." -
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'; Sir," said Galahad, " no prayer prevaileth so much 

as yours," and therewith he rode away into the forest. 
Then the wind arose, and for more than a month 

drove Lancelot through the sea, where he slept but 
little, but prayed to God that he might see some tidings 
of the Holy Grail. 

It befell on a night, at midnight, that he arrived 
before a Castle, which on the back side was rich and 
fair. A postern opened towards the sea, and it was 
open without any warders, save that two lions kept the 
entry, and the moon shone clear. 

Then Sir Lancelot heard a voice that said, 
"Lancelot, go out of this ship, and enter into this 
Castle, where thou shalt see a great part of thy desire." 

So he ran and armed himself, and came to the gate, 
and saw the lions ; and then he set hand to his sword, 
and drew it. But there came a dwarf suddenly, and 
smote him on the arm so sore that the sword fell out 
of his hand. 

" Oh, man of evil faith and poor belief! " he heard 
a voice say, "wherefore dost thou trust more in thy 
weapons than in thy Maker? For He in whose 
service thou art set, might more avail thee than thine 
arn1our. " 

Then said Lancelot, " I thank Thee, Lord Christ, 
for Thy great mercy, that Thou reprovest me of my 
misdeed. Now see I well that Thou holdest me for 
Thy servant." 

Then he took his sword again, and put it up in his 
sheath, and signed his forehead with the cross, and 
came to the lions, and they made semblance to do him 
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harm. Nevertheless he passed by then1 without hurt, 

and entered into the Castle to the chief fortress, where 

all the inmates seemed at rest. Then Lancelot, armed 

as he was, entered in, for he found no gate nor door 

but it was open. And at the last he found a chamber 

the door of which was shut ; he set his hand to it, to 

open it, but he could not, although he put forth his 

utmost force to undo the door. 
Then he listened and heard a voice which sang so 

sweetly that it seemed no earthly thing ; and he thought 

the voice said, " Joy and honour be to the Father of 

Heaven ! " 
rfhen Lancelot knelt down before the chamber door, 

for he well knew that the Holy Grail was within that 

chamber, and he prayed to God that if ever he had 

done anything pleasing in His sight, that He would 

have pity on him, and show him smnething of what he 

sought. 
With that, he saw the chamber door open, and 

there came out a great clearness, so that the house was 

as bright as if all the torches of the world had been 

there. Lancelot went to the door and would have 

entered, but immediately a voice said : 

" Flee, Lancelot, and enter not, for thou oughtest 

not to do so ; and if thou enter, thou shalt repent it." 

So Lancelot withdrew himself back, right heavy. 

Then he looked up into the midst of the chamber, 

and he saw a table of silver, and the holy vessel covered 

with red samite, and many angels about it, one of whon1 

held a candle of wax burning. Before the holy vessel 

he saw a good man clothed as a priest, and it was as if 
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a solemn service were being held. Three men stood 
near, and it seemed to Lancelot that the priest lifted up 
the youngest of them, as if to show him to the people. 
Lancelot marvelled not a little, for he thought that the 
priest was so burdened with the figure that he would 
fall to the ground. When he saw no one near would 
help the priest, Lancelot ran quickly to the door. 

" Lord Christ," he said, " take it for no sin, though 
I help the good man, for he hath great need of help." 

Right so he entered into the chamber, and went 
towards the table of silver ; and when he came nigh, he 
felt a breath of air as if it were mixed with fire, and it 
smote him so sore in the face that it seemed to burn 
him, and therewith he fell to the earth, and had no 
power to rise. Then he felt about him many hands, 
which took him up, and bore him out of the chamber, 
and left hin1 seemingly dead. And on the morrow 
he was found by the people of the Castle outside the 
chamber door. 

Four-and-twenty days Sir Lancelot lay as if dead, 
but on the twenty-fifth day he opened his eyes. Then 
they told him that the Castle belonged to King Pelles, 
where long ago he had seen the vision of the Holy 
Grail for the first time. All the people marvelled 
when they found that this stranger was Lancelot, the 
good knight, and they sent word to King Pelles, who 
was right glad to hear the news, and went to see him, 
and made great joy of him. And there the king told 
Lancelot that his fair daughter Elaine, the mother of 
Galahad, was dead ; and Lancelot was passing grieved 
to hear the tidings. 
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Four days Sir Lancelot stayed at the Castle, and 

then he took leave of King Pelles. He knew now 

that his Quest was ended, for that he would never see 

n1ore of the Holy Grail than he had seen. So he said 

he would go back to the realn1 of Logris, which he had 

not seen for over a twelvemonth. 
When he came to Camelot he found that some of 

the Knights of the Round Table had returned home, 

but that many of them-more than half-had been 

slain and destroyed. 
King Arthur, Queen Guinevere, and all the Court, 

were passing glad to see Sir Lancelot again, and the 

King asked him many tidings of his son Galahad. 

Lancelot told the King all the adventures that had 

befallen hin1 since he departed, and he also told him 

whatever he knew of the adventures of Galahad, 

Percival, and Bors. 
" Now would to God," said the King, " that they 

were all three here ! '' 
" That shall never be," said Lancelot, " for two of 

them shall ye never n1ore see. But one of them shall 
. " come aga111. 

How Sir Galahad saw the Holy Grail 

After leaving Sir Lancelot, Galahad rode many 

journeys in vain. Wherever he went, strange signs and 

marvels followed, but not yet did he behold the vision 

of the Holy Grail. 
It befell on a day that as he rode out of a great 
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forest he was overtaken by Sir Percival, who had 
followed him for five days, and just afterwards at a 
cross-road they met Sir Bors. There is no need to 
tell if they were glad. They told each other their 
adventures, and all rode on together. 

Thus they travelled a great while, till they came to 
the same Castle of King Pelles where Sir Lancelot had 
already been, and directly they entered within the Castle 
King Pelles knew them. Then there was great joy, for 
all the people knew well by their coming that they had 
fulfilled the Quest of the Holy Grail. 

A little before evening when they were gathered in 
the hall, a voice was heard among them, and it said, 
" They that ought not to sit at the table of Jesus Christ 
arise, for now shall true knights be fed." So every one 
went away save -King Pelles and Eliazar his son, who 
were holy men, and a maid who was his niece ; these 
three and the three knights were left, no more. 

Soon they saw nine knights, all armed, come in at the 
hall door, and take off their helms and their armour. 

"Sir," they said to Galahad, "we have hied right 
much to be with you at this table, where the holy meat 
shall be parted." 

Then said he, "Ye be welcome, but from whence 
"' " come- ye r 

Three of them said they were from Gaul, and 
another three said they were from Ireland, and the 
other three said they were from Denmark. 

Then a voice said, " There are two among you who 
are not in the Quest of the Holy Grail ; therefore let 
them depart." So King Pelles and his son departed. 
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The knights who remained now saw the table of 

silver, whereon was the Holy Grail, and it seemed -to 

them that angels stood about it, and that a solemn 

service was being held. They set themselves at the 

table in great dread, and began to pray. Then came 

One, as it seemed to them, in the likeness of the Lord 

Christ, and He said : 
"My knights, and my servants, and my true 

children, which are come out of deadly life into 

spiritual life, I will no longer hide Me from you, but 

ye shall see now a part of My secrets, and My hid 

things ; now hold and receive the high meat which ye 

have so much desired." Then He Himself took the 

holy vessel, and came to Galahad, who knelt down and 

received the sacred food, and after him, in like manner, 

all his companio1is received it ; and they thought it so 

sweet it was marvellous to tell. 

Then said He to Galahad, " Son, know est thou 

what I hold between My hands r" 
" Nay," said he, "unless Thou wilt tell me." 

" This is," said He, " the holy dish wherein I ate 

the lamb at the Last Supper. And now hast thou seen -

that which thou most desired to see, but yet hast not 

seen it so openly as thou shalt see it in the city of 

Sarras, in the spiritual place. Therefore thou must 

go hence and bear with thee this holy vessel, for this 

night it shall depart from the realm of Logris, and shall 

never more be seen here. A.nd wouldst thou know 

wherefore ? Because these of this land are turned to 

evil living, therefore I shall disinherit them of the 

honour which I have done them. Therefore, go ye 
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three to-morrow to the sea, where ye shall find your 
ship ready,-you and Sir Percival, and Sir Bors, and no 
more with you. And two of you shall die in My 
service, · but one of you shall go back again to Camelot, 
and bear the tidings.'' 

Then He blessed them and vanished from their 
sight. 

So Galahad, Percival, and Bors left the Castle of 
King Pelles. After riding three days they came to the 
sea-shore, where they found the same ship in which 
Galahad had stayed with Lancelot ; and when they 
went on board they saw in the midst the table of 
silver, and the Holy Grail, which was covered with 
red samite. Then were they glad to have such things 
in their fellowship. 

So they sailed away, till they came to the city of 
Sarras, where they landed, taking with them the table 
of silver. As they went in at the gate of the city, they 
saw sitting there a crooked old man, and Galahad called 
to him, and bade him help them carry the heavy table. 

"Truly," said the old man, "for ten years I have 
not walked, except with crutches." 

"Never mind," said Galahad, " arise up, and show 
thy good-will." 

The old man tried to. rise, and immediately found 
himself as whole as ever he had been. Then he ran to 
the table, and took the side opposite Galahad. 

The fame of this cure went through the city, and 
when the King of the city saw the three knights, he 
asked them whence they came, and what thing it was 
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they had brought upon the table of silver. 

him the truth of the Holy Grail, and the 

had placed in it to cure sick people. 

They told 
power God 

The King, however, was a tyrant, and came of a 

line of pagans, and he took the three knights, and put 

them into prison, in a deep dungeon. But all the time 

they were in prison they were supported by the holy 

grace of heaven. 
At a year's end it came to pass that the King lay 

sick, and felt that he should die. Then he sent for 

the three knights, and when they came before him 

he begged mercy of them for all that he had done 

to them, and they willingly forgave him, and so he 

died. 
When the King was dead all the city were disn1ayed, 

and knew not who could be their King. Right so, as 

they were in council, came a voice an1ong them, and 

bade them choose the youngest knight of the three to 

be their King. So they made Galahad King, with the 

assent of the whole city. 
When he had surveyed the country, Galahad caused 

to be built round the table of silver a chest of gold 

and of precious stones, which covered the holy vessel, 

and every morning early the three knights would come 

before it and say their prayers. 

Now at the year's end, on the very day that 

Galahad was given the crown of gold, he arose up early, 

he and his companions, and came to the palace, to the 

holy vessel. There they saw before them a man kneel­

ing, in the likeness of a bishop ; and round about him 

was a great fellowship of angels. 
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"Come forth, Galahad, servant of Jesus Christ," he 
said, "arid thou shalt see that which thou hast long 
desired to see.'' 

Then Galahad began to tremble, for a vision of 
-spiritual things rose before his earthly eyes ; and holding 
up his hands to heaven, he said : 

- " Lord, I thank Thee, for now I see that which 
hath been my desire many a day. Now, blessed Lord, 
I would not longer live, if it might please Thee, Lord." 

Then the good man took the holy food, and 
proffered it to Galahad, and he received it right gladly 
and meekly. 

When this was done, Galahad went to Sir Percival 
and Sir Bors, and kissed them, and con1mended them 
to God. And to Sir Bors he said, "Fair lord, salute 
me to my lord, Sir Lancelot, my father, and as soon 
as ye see him, bid him be mindful of this unstable 
world." 

Afterwards he knelt down before the tc\ble, and 
said his prayers, and suddenly his soul departed to 
Jesus Christ. 

Then it seemed to the two knights that there came 
a hand from heaven, and bore away the holy vessel. 
And since that time there was never any man so bold 
as to say he had seen the Holy Grail. 

When Percival and Bors saw Galahad dead they 
made as much sorrow as ever did two men, and if they 
had not been good men they might easily have fallen 
into despair. And the people of the city and the 
country were right heavy. As soon as Galahad was 
buried Sir Percival retired to a hermitage, and here for 
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a year and two n1onths he lived a full holy life, and 
then he passed away. • 

Sir Bors stayed always with Sir Percival as long as 
he lived, but when he was dead Sir Bors took ship and 
went back to the realm of Logris, and so came to 
Can1elot, where King Arthur was. Great joy was made 
of him in the Court, for they all thought he must be 
dead, because he had been so long out of the country. 
Sir Bors told them all the adventures of the Holy Grail, 
and to Sir Lancelot he gave Galahad's message. 

"Sir Lancelot," he said, " Galahad prayeth you to 
be mindful of this uncertain world, as ye promised him 
when ye were together more than half a year." 

" That is true," said Lancelot. " Now I trust to 
God his prayer shall avail me.'' 



The Death of Arthur 

The Departing of Sir Lancelot 

AFTER the Quest of the Holy Grail had been 
fulfilled, and all the knights that were left living 

were come again to the Round Table, then there was 
great joy at Court, and in especial King Arthur and 
Queen Guinevere rejoiced, and were passing glad 
because of Sir Lancelot and Sir Bors. P ... nd for a time 
all went well, and there was much feasting and gaiety. 

But Sir Lancelot forgot his promise to the good 
hermit to see as little as possible of Queen Guinevere, 
and because he was held in such high favour by the 
King and Queen and all the people, some of the other 
knights were jealous of him, and tried to do him all the 
mischief they could. 

An1ong the knights at King Arthur's Court, the 
most spiteful and malicious was Sir Mordred. He was 
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the youngest son of King Arthur's sister, the wife of 
King Lot of Orkney, and it was to him that Merlin 
referred when he prophesied that a child born on May 
Day should bring destruction to King Arthur. He 
was half-brother to the noble knights Gawaine, Gaheris, 
and Gareth, but nothing at all like them in disposition. 
The only brother who in the least resembled him 
was Sir Agrivaine, and it was owing to the evil-speaking 
of these two n1alicious knights that the storm of anger 
and misfortune arose, which never ceased till the flower 
of chivalry of all the world was destroyed and 
slain. 

In the pleasant month of May, when every noble 
heart glows with life,-when earth is looking her 
sweetest and brightest, and all men and women rejoice 
and are glad because summer is coming with freshest 
flowers,-in the beautiful n1onth of May, these two 
knights, Agrivaine and Mordred, set their mischief on 
foot. In open assembly before many knights they told 
slanderous tales of Sir Lancelot and Queen Guinevere, 
and suggested that these should be repeated to the 
King. Then spoke Sir Gawaine : 

"Brother Sir Agrivaine," he said, "I pray you and 
charge you, speak no more of such things before me, 
for wit ye well, I will not be of your counsel." 

" Truly," said Sir Gaheris and Sir Gareth, " we will 
have nothing to do with your deeds." 

" Then I will," said Mordred. 
"I well believe that," said Sir Gawaine, "for 

always, if there is any n1ischief you will be sharer in it, 
brother Sir Mordred : I wish you would leave this, 
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and not make yourself such a busy-body, for I know 
what will come of it." 

"Come of it what come may," said Sir Agrivaine, 
" I shall speak to the King." . 

"Not by my counsel," said Sir Gawaine, "for if 
there arise war and wreck between Sir Lancelot and us, 
wit you well, brother, many Kings and great lords will 
hold with Sir Lancelot. As for my part I will never 
be against Sir Lancelot, when he rescued me from 
King Carados of the Dolorous Tower, and slew him, 
and saved my life. Also, brother Agrivaine and 
Mordred, in like wise Sir Lancelot rescued you both, 
and three score knights, from Sir Turquin. It seems 
to me that such good deeds and kindness should be 
remembered." 

" Do as you like," said Sir Agrivaine, " for I will 
hide it no longer." 

At that moment King Arthur came near. 
"Now, brother, stay your noise," said Gawaine. 
"We will not," said Agrivaine and Mordred. 
cc Will you not ? " said Gawaine ; " then God speed 

you, for I will not hear your tales, nor be of your 
counsel." 

"No more will I," said Sir Gareth and Sir Gaheris, 
" for we will never speak evil of that man." 

And accordingly these three knights left the 
assembly. 

cc Alas," said Gawaine and Gareth, cc now is this 
realm wholly put in mischief, and the noble fellowship 
of the Round Table is dispersed." 

So, very sorrowfully, they went their way. 
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King Arthur con1ing up at that mon1ent asked what 
the noise was about, whereupon Agrivaine and Mordred 
were only too ready to repeat their spiteful slander. 
As the King would scarcely believe what they said, 
they laid a plot to entrap Sir Lancelot. In escaping 
fron1 this ambush, Sir Lancelot slew Sir Agrivaine and 
twelve of his companions. Sir Mordred managed to 
escape, and riding all wounded and bleeding to the 
King, told him his own version of the story. 

"Alas ! " said King Arthur, " I sorely repent that 
ever Sir Lancelot should be against n1e. Now I am 
sure the noble fellowship of the Round Table is broken 
for -ever, for with him will hold many a noble knight." 

It all fell out as the King and Sir Gawaine had 
foreseen. From that day there was constant fighting 
in England, some knights taking part with Sir Lancelot 
and some with the King, and on both sides many 
gallant lives were lost. Through sad mischance, the 
noble knights Sir Gaheris and Sir Gareth, who were 
unarmed at the time, were accidentally slain by 
Lancelot's party, after which Sir Gawaine, who had 
hitherto refused to fight against him, became his most · 
bitter enen1y. Many a time the King and Sir Lancelot 
would have made peace, but it was always Sir Gawaine 
who urged the King on to fresh fighting, and persuaded 
hin1 not to listen to any attempts at conciliation, 
although Sir Lancelot made the most noble offers of 
penitence, and expressed the deepest sorrow for the 
unintentional slaying of Gaheris and Gareth. 

At last the Pope sent a command that the fighting 
should cease, and a stately ·meeting between the King 
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and Sir Lancelot took place at Carlisle. Here Sir 
Lancelot spoke such noble words that all the knights 
and ladies who were present wept to hear him, and the 
tears fell down . King Arthur's cheeks. But the King, 
to gratify Gawaine's revenge for the loss of his brothers, 
had already promised that Lancelot should be banished, 
and now instead of accepting his offer of penitence 
and good-will, he allowed Sir Gawaine to declare to Sir 
Lancelot his doom of exile, and that he was forbidden 
to abide in England more than fifteen days. 

Then Sir Lancelot sighed, and the tears fell down 
his cheeks. 

"Alas, n1ost noble Christian realm," he said, 
"whom I have loved above all other realms, in thee 
have I gotten a great part of n1y honour, and now I 
shall depart in this wise ! Truly I repent that ever 
I came into this realm, that am thus shamefully 
banished, undeserved and without cause ! But fortune 
is so variant, and the wheel so movable, there is no 
constant abiding, and that may be proved by many 
old chronicles, of noble Hector, and Troilus, and 
Alexander the n1ighty conqueror, and many others 
more. When they were highest in their royalty they 
alighted lowest, and so it fareth with me," said Sir 
Lancelot, "for in this realm I had honour, and by me 
and the knights of my blood the whole Round Table 
increased more in renown than by any other." 

Then Sir Lancelot bade good-bye to Queen 
Guinevere in hearing of the King and then1 all. 

" Madam," he said, "now I must depart from you 
and this noble fellowship for ever, and since it is so, 
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I beseech you to pray for me, and say me well. And 

if you be hard bested by any false tongues, my lady, 

have word sent to me, and if any knight's hands can 

deliver you by battle, I shall deliver you." 

And therewith Sir Lancelot kissed the Queen, and 

then he said all openly : 
"Now let us see any one in this place that dare 

say the Queen is not true to my lord Arthur! Let us 

see who will speak, if he dare speak ! " 

With that he brought the Queen to the King, and 

then Sir Lancelot took his leave and departed. And 

there was neither King, duke nor earl, baron or knight, 

lady or gentlewoman, but all of them wept, as people 

out of their n1inds, except Sir Gawaine. And when 

the noble Sir Lancelot took his horse to ride out of 

Carlisle, there was sobbing and weeping for pure sorrow 

at his departing. So he took his way to his Castle 

of Joyous Gard, and ever after that he called it the 

Dolorous Gard. 
And thus departed Sir Lancelot from the Court 

of King Arthur for ever. 

When Sir Lancelot came to Joyous Gard he called 

his company of knights together, and asked them what 

they would do. They answered all together with one 

voice that they would do as he did. 

"My fair fellows," said Sir Lancelot," I n1ust depart 

out of this most noble realm, and now I shall depart 

it grieveth me sore, for I shall depart with no honour. 

For a banished man never departed out of any realm 

with any honour, and that is 111y cause of grief, for 
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ever I fear after many days they will chronicle of me 
that I was banished out of this land." 

Then spoke many noble knights, and said : 
"Sir, if you are so disposed to abide in this country 

we will never fail you, and if you do not choose to 
abide in this land, not one of the good knights here 
will fail you. Since it pleased us to take part with 
your distress and heaviness in this realm, wit you well, 
it shall equally please us to go into other countries with 
you, and there to take such part as you do." 

" My fair lords," said Lancelot, " I well understand 
you, and as I can, thank you. And you shall under­
stand that such livelihood as I am born to, I will give 
up to you, in this manner,-namely, I will share all 
my livelihood and all my lands freely among you, and 
I myself will have as little as any of you ; and I trust 
to God to n1aintain you on n1y lands as well as ever 
were maintained any knights." 

Then spoke all the knights at once : 
"Shame on him that will leave you ! For we all 

understand that in this realm will now be no quiet, but 
always strife and debate, now the fellowship of the 
Round Table is broken. For by the noble fellowship 
of the Round Table was King Arthur upborne, and 
by their nobleness the King and all his realm were in 
quiet and in rest. And a great part, every one said, 
was because of your nobleness." 

"Truly," said Sir Lancelot, "I thank you all for 
your good words, though I know well all the stability 
of this realm was not due to me. But as far as I 
could I did my duty, and some rebellions in my days 
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were appeased by me. And I trow we shall soon hear 

of them again, and that is what grieves me sorely. 

For ever I dread n1e that Sir Mordred will make 

trouble, for he is passing envious, and applies himself 

to mischief .. " 
So all the knights were agreed to go with Sir 

Lancelot, and quite a hundred departed with him, and 

made -their avows they would never leave him, for weal 

nor woe. 
So they shipped at Cardiff, and sailed to Bayonn~, 

in France, where Sir Lancelot was lord of many lands. 

The Vengeance of Sir Gawaine 

Not content with having banished Sir Lancelot, 

King Arthur and Sir Gawaine made a great host ready, 

and prepared to follow him, taking ship at Cardiff. 

During his absence King Arthur appointed his nephew 

Sir Mordred to be chief ruler of all England, and put 

Queen Guinevere under his charge. So he passed 

over the sea and landed on Sir Lancelot's lands, and 

there, through the vengeance of Sir Gawaine, he burnt 

and wasted all that they could over-run. 

When word was brought to Sir Lancelot that King 

Arthur and Sir Gawaine were landed and destroying 

all his possessions, his knights urged hin1 to go forth 

to battle, but he replied that he was full loath to ride 

out to shed Christian blood, so first he would send a 

message to King Arthur, to see if a treaty could be 

made, for peace was always better than war. So 
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Lancelot sent forth a damsel to King Arthur, demand­
ing that he should cease warring against his lands. 

The damsel started on her palfrey, and when she 
came to the pavilion of King Arthur she alighted ; and 
there met her a gentle knight, Sir Lucan the butler. 

" Fair dan1sel, do you come from Sir Lancelot of 
the Lake?'' 

"Yea, sir," she said, "I come hither to speak with 
my lord the King." 

" Alas," said Sir Lucan, " ni y lord would love 
Lancelot, but Sir Gawaine will not let him." And 
then he added, "I pray to God, damsel, ye may speed 
well, for all we that are about the King would that 
Sir Lancelot did best of any knight living." 

With this, Lucan led the damsel to King Arthur, 
where he sat with Sir Gawaine, to hear what she would 
say. When she had told her tale, tears filled the 
King's eyes, and all the lords were full glad to advise 
the King to be reconciled with Sir Lancelot, save only 
Sir Gawaine. 

<< My lord, my uncle, what will you do ? " he said. 
<c Will you turn back again, now that you have come 
thus far on this journey? All the world will speak 

f " scorn o you. 
" Nay," said King Arthur, <' you kn ow well, Sir 

Gawaine, I will do as you advise me ; and yet it seems 
to me it were not good to refuse his fair proffers. 
But since I am come so far upon this journey, I will 
that you give the damsel her answer, for I cannot 
speak to her for pity, her proffers are so generous." 

Then Sir Gawaine said to the damsel thus : 
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"Damsel, say you to Sir Lancelot, that it is waste 

labour now to sue to my uncle. For tell him if he 

would have made any attempt at peace, he should have 

made it before this time, for tell him now it is too 

late. And say that I, Sir Gawaine, so send him word 

that I promise him by the faith I owe to God and to 

knighthood, I shall never leave Sir Lancelot till he have 

slain me, or I him." 
So the da1nsel wept and departed, and there were 

n1any weeping eyes. She came back to Sir Lancelot, 

where he was among all his knights, and when Sir 

Lancelot heard this answer, then the tears ran down 

his cheeks. 
Then his noble knights strode about hin1, and said, 

" Sir Lancelot, wherefore make you such cheer ? 
Think what you are, and what men we are, and let us 

noble 111en match them in midst of the field." 

"That may easily be done," said Lancelot, "but I 

was never so loath to do battle, for I will always avoid 

that noble King who made n1e knight. When I can 

keep quiet no longer, I n1ust needs defend myself, 

and that will be more honour for me, and for us all, 

than to strive with that noble King whom we have all 

served.'' 
Then they spoke no more, and as it was night, 

went to rest. 
On the morrow early, in the dawning of the day, 

as the knights looked out, they saw the city of Bayonne 

besieged round about, and ladders were fast being set 

up. Then from the town they defied King Arthur's 

host, and beat them from the walls n1ightily. So the 
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siege went on for six months, and there was much 
slaughter of people on both sides. Then it befell on 
a day that Sir Gawaine came before the gates, armed 
at all points, on a noble horse, with a great spear in 
his hand. · 

"Where art thou now, thou false traitor, Sir 
Lancelot ? " he cried with a loud voice. "Why hidest 
thou thyself within holes and walls, like a coward? 
Look out, now, thou false traitor knight, and here I 
shall revenge upon thy body the death of my three 
brethren." 

Every word of this was heard by Sir Lancelot, and 
all his knights, and now there was nothing to be done 
but for Sir Lancelot to defend himself, or else to be 
recreant for ever. Sir Lancelot bade saddle his 
strongest horse, and fetch his arms, and bring then1 all 
to the gate of the tower, and then he spoke aloud to 
King Arthur : 

"My lord Arthur, and noble King who made me 
knight, wit you well I am right heavy for your sake 
that you pursue me thus, and always I forbear you, 
for if I had been revengeful, I might have met you in 
open field, there to have rnade your boldest knights 
full tame. Now I have forborne half a year, and 
suffered you and Sir Gawaine to do what you would 
do, and now I can endure it no longer,- now I must 
needs defend myself, inasmuch as Sir Gawaine hath 
accused me of treason. It is greatly against my will 
that ever I should fight against any of your blood. 
But now I cannot resist it, I am driven to it, as a beast 
to bay." 



The Vengeance of Sir Gawaine 
"Sir Lancelot," cried Gawaine, "if thou darest do 

battle, leave thy babbling, and come away, and let us 
ease our hearts." 

King Arthur's host outside the city stood still, all 
apart, and Lancelot's noble knights came out in a great 
number, insomuch that when King Arthur saw the 
multitude of men and knights he marvelled, and said 
to hin1self : 

" Alas, that ever Sir Lancelot was against me, for 
now I see he hath borne with me ! " 

S0 the covenant was made that no man should go 
near Lancelot and Gawaine, or have anything to do 
with them, till the one was dead or yielden. 

Now, years ago, a holy man had given a strange 
gift and favour to Sir Gawaine, which no one knew 
of except King Arthur. Every day in the year, from 
nine o'clock in the morning till high noon, his might 
increased three times its usual strength. The King 
appointed most trials of arms to take place at this tin1e 
of day, which caused Sir Gawaine to win great honour. 

Thus Sir Lancelot fought with Sir Gawaine, and 
when he felt his strength evermore increase, Lancelot 
wondered, and sorely dreaded to be shamed. But 
when it was past noon Sir Gawaine had nothing but 
his own strength to rely on, and then Lancelot felt him 
grow ,~eaker. Then he doubled his strokes, and gave 
Sir Gawaine such a buffet on the helm that he fell down 
on his side, and Lancelot withdrew himself from him. 

"Why withdrawest thou? " said Sir Gawaine. 
"Now turn again, false traitor knight, and slay me. 
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For if thou leave me thus, when I am whole I shall do 
battle with thee again." 

"I shall endure you, sir, by God's grace," replied 
Sir Lancelot, " but wit you well, Sir Gawaine, I will 
never smite a felled knight." 

So Sir Lancelot went back into the city, and S~r 
Gawaine was borne into one of King Arthur's pavilions, 
where doctors came to him and dressed his wounds. 

Then King Arthur fell sick for sorrow because Sir 
Gawaine was so sorely hurt, and because of the war 
betwixt him and Sir Lancelot. Those of King Arthur's 
party kept the siege with little fighting outside, and 
those within guarded their walls and defended them 
when need was. 

Sir Gawaine lay sick in his tent for about three 
weeks, and as soon as he could ride he once more 
came before the chief gate of Bayonne, and challenged 
Lancelot to fight. And once more Lancelot wounded 
him sorely and sn1ote him down. 

" Traitor knight," cried Sir Gawaine, " wit thou 
well, I am not yet slain ; come thou near me, and 
perform this battle to the uttermost." 

" I will do no more than I have done," said Sir 
Lancelot ; "for when I see you on foot, I will do 
battle against you all the while I see you stand on your 
feet; but to smite a wounded man that cannot stand, 
God defend me fron1 such shame ! " And then he 
turned, and went his way towards the city. 

" Sir Lancelot, when I am whole, I shall do battle 
with thee again," Sir Gawaine called out after him, 
"for I shall never leave thee till one of us be slain." 
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So the siege went on, and Sir Gawaine lay sick 
nearly a month. And when he was well recovered and 
ready within three days to do battle again with Sir 
Lancelot, tidings came to King Arthur from England, 
which made the King and all his host ren1ove. 

The Battle in the West 

While King Arthur was away in France, Mordred, 
who had been appointed ruler of England, was busy 
about his own wicked plots. He now fo,rged letters, as 
though they came from beyond the sea, and the letters 
specified that King Arthur had been slain in battle 
with Sir Lancelot. Mordred thereupon summoned a 
Parliament, and calling the lords together, he made 
them choose him King ; so he was crowned at Canter­
bury, and held a feast there fifteen days. Afterwards 
he withdrew to Camelot, and sent for Queen Guinevere, 
and told her plainly that he wished to marry her. 
Everything was made ready for the feast, and the day 
for the wedding was fixed. 

Queen Guinevere was in great distress, but she 
did not dare oppose Sir Mordred openly, and therefore 
she pretended to · agree. Then she asked leave to go 
to London, to buy all manner of things necessary for 
the wedding. Because of her fair words Sir Mordred 
trusted her well enough and gave her leave to go. 

Directly she reached London, Queen Guinevere 
at once seized the Tower, and in all haste possible 
stuffed it with all manner of victuals, and well garrisoned 
it with men, and so kept it. 
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When Mordred found he had been out-witted he 

was wroth beyond measure. He went and laid a 
mighty siege to the Tower of London, and assaulted 
it with great engines and guns, but he could not pre­
vail. He tried in all ways, by letters and messages, 
to make Queen Guinevere come out of the Tower, 
but it availed nothing ; neither for fair words nor foul 
would the Queen trust herself again in the traitor's 
hands. She answered shortly that she would rather 
slay herself than marry him. 

Then word came to Mordred that King Arthur 
had raised the siege on Sir Lancelot, and was coming 
homeward with a· great host to be avenged on his 
nephew. Mordred accordingly sent writs to all the 
barony of England, and numbers of people flocked to 
him. For it was a common report among them that 
with Arthur was no other life but war and strife, and 
with Mordred was great joy and bliss. Thus was 
King Arthur maligned, and evil spoken of. And 
there were many whom King Arthur had raised up 
from nothing, and given lands to, who could not now 
say of him a good word. 

So Sir Mordred marched with a large host to 
Dover, and there came King Arthur with a great navy 
of ships and galleys, while Mordred waited ready to 
prevent his landing. Then there was launching of 
big boats and small, full of noble men of arms, and 
there was much slaughter of gentle knights, and many 
a bold baron on both sides was laid low. But King 
Arthur was so courageous, no manner of men could 
prevent his landing, and his knights fiercely followed 
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him. They drove Mordred back, and he fled, and all 
his army. 

After the battle was over, King Arthur buried his 
people that were slain, and then the noble knight Sir 
Gawaine was found in a boat, lying more than half 
dead. He had been hurt again on the wound which 
Sir Lancelot had given him at Bayonne, and now he 
must die. 

" Alas, Sir Gawaine," said the King, " here now 
thou liest, the man in the world whom I loved the 
most, and now is my joy gone ! In Sir Lancelot and 
thee I had most joy, and now have I lost you both." 

" Mine uncle, King Arthur," said Gawaine, "wit 
you well, my death day is come, and all is through 
my own hastiness and wilfulness. Had Sir Lancelot 
been with you as he used to be, this unhappy war had 
never begun, and of all this am I the cause. For Sir 
Lancelot and his kindred through their prowess held 
all your enemies in subjection and danger, and now 
ye shall miss Sir Lancelot. But alas, I would not 
agree with him, and therefore I pray you let me have 
paper, pen, and ink, that I may write to Sir Lancelot 
a letter with my own hand." 

Then Sir Gawaine wrote a letter to Sir Lancelot, 
"flower of all noble knights," telling him all that had 
happened, and how he had brought his death on himself, 
because he was hurt on the same wound that Lancelot 
had given him at Bayonne. 

"Also, Sir Lancelot," he went on, "for all the 
love that ever was betwixt us, make no tarrying, but 
come over the sea in all haste, that thou mayst with 
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thy gallant knights rescue the noble King who made 
thee knight, that is my lord Arthur, for he is full 
straitly bested with a false traitor, my half-brother, 
Sir Mordred.'' 

Then Sir Gawaine bade King Arthur send for 
Lancelot, and cherish hin1 above all other knights ; 
and so, at the hour of noon, Sir Gawaine yielded up 
the spirit. 

After this, King Arthur fought again with Sir 
Mordred, and drove him westward across England, 
towards Salisbury, where a day was appointed for the 
King to meet Sir Mordred in battle on a down near 
Salisbury, not far from the sea. 

The night before the battle King Arthur dreamed 
a wonderful dream. It seemed to him he sat on a 
platform, in a chair, clad in the richest cloth of gold 
that could be made ; and the chair was fast to a wheel. 
And the King thought that under him, far from him, 
was a hideous deep black water, and therein were all 
manner of serpents, and worms, and wild beasts, foul 
and horrible. And suddenly, the King thought, the 
wheel turned upside down, and he fell among the 
serpents, and every beast seized him by a limb. 

Then the King cried as he lay in his bed- " Help!" 
And knights, squires, and yeomen ran to the King 
and wakened him, and he was so amazed he did not 
know where he was. 

Then he fell slumbering again, not sleeping, nor 
thoroughly wakening. And it seemed to him that 
Sir Gawaine came to him, and warned him not to fight 
with Sir Mordred on the morrow, for if he did so 
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he would certainly die. Sir Gawainc counselled him 

to make a treaty for a month, for within that time 

Sir Lancelot would con1e, with all his noble knights, 

and would rescue King Arthur, and slay Sir Mordred. 

Then Sir Gawaine vanished. 

Directly King Arthur awoke he sent for all his 

wise lords and bishops, and told them his vision, and 

of Sir Gawaine's warning. They went at once to 

Sir Mordred, and made a treaty, promising him that 

while King Arthur lived he should have Cornwall and 

Kent, and after the King's death, the whole of 

England. It was further agreed that a meeting 

between King Arthur and Mordred should take place 

betwixt the two armies, and each of them should take 

fourteen persons. 
King Arthur, on starting for this meeting, warned 

all his army that if they saw any sword drawn 

they were to come on fiercely, and slay the traitor 

Mordred, for he in no wise trusted him. And in like 

n1anner Sir Mordred also warned his host. 

So they met, as had been appointed, and they were 

agreed and thoroughly in accordance. Wine was 

fetched, and they drank. 

Just at that moment came an adder out of a little 

heath-bush, and it stung a knight on the foot. When 

the knight felt himself stung, he looked down, and 

saw the adder. Then he drew his sword to slay the 

add.er, and thought of no other harm. 

But when the host on both sides saw that sword 

drawn, then they blew bugles, and trumpets and horns, 

and shouted grimly. So both the armies rushed to 
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arms, and never was seen a more doleful battle in any 
Christian land. 

All that day long they fought without ceasing, and 
when night came, of all King Arthur's noble knights 
there were none left alive but Sir Lucan the butler, 
and his brother Sir Bedivere, and both were sorely 
wounded. Then was King Arthur wroth out cf 
measure when he saw his people so slain from him. 

"Alas, that ever I should see this doleful day ! 
For now I am come to n1y end," said Arthur. "But 
would to God I knew where that traitor Sir Mordred 
is, who hath caused all this mischief." 

Then was King Arthur aware where Sir Mordred 
leaned on his sword among a great heap of dead men. 
Sir Lucan tried to persuade the King not to fight with 
Mordred, reminding him of Sir Gawaine's warning. 

"Blessed be God, ye have won the field," he said; 
"for here we are three alive, and with Sir Mordred 
there are none living. And if you leave off now, this 
wicked day of destiny is past." 

" Tide me death, betide me life," said the King, 
"now I see him yonder alone, he shall never escape 
my hands, for at a better advantage I shall never 
have him.'' 

" God speed you well ! " said Sir Bedi vere. 
Then King Arthur took his spear in both hands, 

and ran towards Mordred, crying : 
"Traitor, now is thy death day come ! " 
When Sir Mordred heard King Arthur he ran at 

him with his sword drawn. Then King Arthut thrust 
Mordred through the body with his spear, so that 
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he fell dead; but Mordred's sword pierced the helmet 

and brain-pan of King Arthur, so that he fell in a 

swoon to the earth. 

"The noblest Knight of the World" 

Sir Lucan and Sir Bedivere lifted up King Arthur 

and carried him to a little chapel not far fron1 the 

seashore, but Sir Lucan was so grievously wounded 

that he fell dead before they could go to a further 

place of safety. Sir Bedivere wept for the death of 

his brother, but the King bade him stay his mourning, 

for his own life was hurrying fast away. 

" Therefore," said Arthur, " take thou Excalibur, 

my good sword, and go with it to yonder water-side ; 

and when thou gettest there I charge thee throw my 

sword in that water, and come again, and tell me what 

thou there seest." 
" My lord," said Bedivere; " your commandment 

shall be done, and I will quickly bring you word 
. " agam. 
So Bedivere departed, and by the way he beheld 

that noble sword, how that the pommel and the hilt 

were all of precious stones. Then he said to himself, 

" If I throw this rich sword in the water, good will 

never come of it, but harm and loss." 

So Sir Bedivere hid Excalibur under a tree, and 

went back to the King as quickly as he could, and 

said he had been at the water, and thrown in the sword. 

"What saw thou there?" said the King. 
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c, Sir," he said," I saw nothing but waves and winds." 
" That is untruly said," spoke the King. "There­

fore go thou quickly again, and do my command 
as thou art lief and dear to me ; spare not, but throw 
it in." 

Then Bedivere went back and took the sword in 
his hand ; and then it seemed a sin and shame to 
throw away that noble sword ; so again he hid the 
sword, and returned to Arthur, and told him he had 
done his command. 

" What saw thou there ? " said the King. 
"Sir," he said, "I saw nothing but the ripple of 

water, and the lapping of the waves." 
"Ah, traitor, untrue ! " cried King Arthur, "now 

hast thou betrayed n1e twice. Who would have 
thought that thou who hast been to me so lief and 
dear, and thou who art named a noble knight, would 
betray me for the riches of the sword ! But now go 
again quickly, for thy long tarrying putteth me in 
great jeopardy of my life." 

Then Sir Bedivere departed, and fetched the sword, 
and taking it to the water-side, he bound the girdle 
about the hilt, and threw the sword as far into the 
water as he could. There came an arm and a hand 
above the water, and met it, and caught it, and so 
shook it thrice and brandished it, and then the hand 
with the sword vanished away in the water. So Sir 
Bedivere came again to the King, and told him what 
he had seen. 

"Alas," said the King, "help me hence, for I 
dread n1e I have tarried over long." 
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Then Sir Bedivere took the King upon his back, 

and so carried him to the water-side. And when 

they reached it, a barge drifted in quite close to the 

bank, with many fair ladies in it ; they had all black 

hoods, and they wept and cried when they saw King 

Arthur. 
~,Now put n1e into the barge," said the King, and 

Sir Bedivere did so, softly. 

And there received him three Queens, with great 

mourning, and so they set him down, and King 

Arthur laid his head in the lap of one of the Queens. 

"Ah, dear brother," she said, "why have ye tarried 

so long from me ? " 
Thus, then, they rowed from the land, and Sir 

Bedivere beheld them go from him. 

"Ah, my lord Arthur," he cried, "what shall become 

of me now ye go from me, and leave me here alone 

among my enemies ? " 
"Comfort thyself," said the King, " and do as well 

as thou canst, for in me is no trust to trust in. For 

I go to the vale of Avilion, to heal me of my grievous 

wound. And if thou hear never more of n1e, pray for 

1 " my sou. 
Thus King Arthur was borne away in the barge 

with the three Queens,-the one was King Arthur's 

sister, Morgan le Fay, another was the Queen of North 

Wales, the third was the Queen of the W aste Lands. 

Also in the barge was Nimue, the chief L ady of the 

Lake, and this lady had done much for King Arthur. 

And some people say that King Arthur died, and 

that the three Queens took his body to a little hermitage 
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near Glastonbury, where it was buried in a chapel. 
But many men think that King Arthur never died at 
all, but dwells now in some beautiful valley of rest, 
and that one day he will come again to rule over 
England. For on his tomb this verse is written : 

"Here lies Arthur, King that was, and King that 
shall be." 

When news came to Queen Guinevere that King 
Arthur was slain, and all the noble knights, and Sir 
Mordred, she stole away with five ladies to Amesbury. 
There she took refuge in a convent, and spent the 
rest of her days in fasting, prayers, and alms-deeds. 

In the meanwhile, Sir Lancelot had received Sir 
Gawaine's letter, and with all the haste he could he 
hurried back to England with his company of noble 
knights. But when they arrived they found they 
were too late, King Arthur and Sir Mordred were 
both slain. Sir Lancelot thereupon rode in search of 
Queen Guinevere, and at last he found her in the 
nunnery at Amesbury. The Queen told him that 
she intended never to come out again into the world, 
and when Lancelot heard this, he determined also to 
retire to a hermitage. . 

Taking his horse he rode away into a great forest, 
and so it chanced he came to the little chapel near 
Glastonbury, where the body of King Arthur had been 
buried. Sir Bedivere was still there, and Sir Lancelot 
asked the good Bishop who was hermit, if he might 
remam. Here Sir Bors fallowed hin1, and others of 
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his noble knights, who when they found Sir Lancelot 

had betaken himself to such holiness, had no desire to 

depart. Thus for six years they lived a life of penance, 

paying no regard to worldly riches, and caring nothing 

what pain they endured, when they saw the noblest 

knight of the world suffer such hardship. 
Sir Lancelot had lived in the hermitage about seven 

years when one night a vision came to him, bidding 

hin1 hasten to Amesbury, for there he would find Queen 

Guinevere dead. And Lancelot was told to take a 

horse-bier, and go with his fellow knights to fetch the 

body of Queen Guinevere, and bury her by her husband, 

the noble King Arthur. 
So all was done as the vision commanded, and 

Queen Guinevere was brought from Amesbury to 

Glastonbury with much sorrow and splendour. A 

hundred torches were kept burning round the bier, and 

Lancelot and seven of his knights walked always round 

it, singing, and saying holy prayers, and strewing 

frankincense. Thus they came from Amesbury to 

Glastonbury, and on the morrow Queen Guinevere was 

buried in the little chapel, in the tomb of King Arthur. 

When the coffin was put into the earth Sir Lancelot 

swooned, and lay for a long time still, till the good 

Bishop, who was hermit, can1e out and awaked him. 

"Ye be to blan1e," he said, "for ye displease God 

with such manner of sorrow making." 
"Truly," said Sir Lancelot, "I trust I do not 

displease God, for he knoweth n1y intent. My sorrow 

was not, and is not, from any sinful cause, but my 

sorrow can never have an end. For when I remember 
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the beauty of the Queen, and the nobleness that was 
with her and the King,-and when I saw them thus lie 
here together dead,-truly my heart would not serve 
to sustain me. Also, when I remember me, how by my 
fault, my arrogance, and my pride, they were both 
laid full low, who were peerless of any Christian people, 
wit you well," said Sir Lancelot, "this ren1embrance 
of their kindness and my unkindness sank so to my 
heart, that I could not sustain myself." 

After this, Sir Lancelot fell ill, eating and drinking 
little, and gradually pining away, for there was nothing 
any one could do to comfort him. Evermore, day and 
night he prayed, but sometimes he slumbered a broken 
sleep, and often he was found lying on the tomb of 
King Arthur and Queen Guinevere. At last he grew 
so weak that he could no longer rise from bed, and 
then he sent for the good Bishop and all his faithful com­
panions, and begged that he might receive the last sacred 
rites of religion. When all had been done in due order, 
he prayed the Bishop that when he was dead his com­
rades might bear his body to his own Castle of Joyous 
Gard, for there he had sworn a vow he would be buried. 

Then there was weeping and wringing of hands 
among his fellow knights. 

That night, while all lay asleep, the good Bishop 
had a beautiful dream. He thought he saw Sir 
Lancelot surrounded with a great throng of angels, 
and they carried him up to heaven, and the gates of 
heaven were opened to him. 

"It is but a dream," said Sir Bors. "I doubt not 
nothing but good aileth Sir Lancelot." 
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"That may well be," said the .Bishop. "But go 

ye to his bed, and then we shall prove the truth." 

When Sir Bors and the other knights can1e to Sir 

Lancelot's bed, they found him stark dead, and he 

lay as if he smiled, and all around him there was the 

sweetest fragrance that ever they felt. 

On the morrow, after chanting the Requiem Mass, 

the Bishop and the knights put Sir Lancelot in the 

same horse-bier in which Queen Guinevere had been 

brought to Glastonbury, and took him to his own 

Castle of Joyous Gard, and they had always a hundred 

torches burning about hin1 ; and so within fifteen days 

they came to Joyous Gard. There they laid him in 

the body of the choir, and sang and read many prayers 

and psalms over him ; and his face was left uncovered, 

that all folk might see hin1, for such was the custom 

in those days. 
And right thus, as they were at their service, came 

Sir Ector de Maris, who for seven years had sought 

all England, Scotland, and Wales for his brother 

Lancelot. When he heard the noise, and saw the 

choir of Joyous Gard all lighted up, he disn1ounted 

from his horse, and came into _ the choir, and there he 

saw n1en singing and weeping. And they all knew 

Sir Ector, but he did not know them. Then Sir 

Bors went to Sir Ector, and told him how there lay 

his brother, Sir Lancelot, dead. Sir Ector threw his 

shield, sword, and helm from him, and when he beheld 

Sir L ancelot's face, it were hard for any tongue to 

tell the doleful complaints that he made for his brother. 

"Ah, L ancelot, " he said, "thou wert head of all 
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Christian knights. And now, I dare say," said Sir 
Ector, " thou, Sir Lancelot, there thou liest, that thou 
wert never matched of earthly knight's hand ; and 
thou wert the courtliest knight that ever bare shield ; 
and thou wert the truest friend to thy lover that ever 
bestrode horse ; and thou wert the truest lover of any 
sinful n1an that ever loved woman ; and thou wert 
the kindest man that ever struck with sword ; and 
thou wert the goodliest person that ever came among 
press of knights ; and thou wert the meekest man and 
the gentlest that ever ate in hall among ladies ; and 
thou wert the sternest knight to thy mortal foe that 
ever put spear in the rest." 

Then there was weeping and grief out of measure. 
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8vo, cloth extra, bevelled boards, gilt edges, 6s. 

8 Paternoster Buildings, Lendon; 44 Victoria Street, Westminst(}r, 
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Wells Gardner, Darton & Co.'s Popular Books. 

The Child and His Book. 
Some Account of the History and Progress of Children's Literature m 

England. 

By Mrs. E. M. FIELD. 

Illustrated. Large crown 8vo, cloth boards, 6s. [Second Edition. 

"The work of a very thoughtful and accomplished writer."-Spectator. 
"Very ably executed .... The book is a valuable contribution to the history 

of education." -Guardian. 

Ethne. 
From the Journals of Ethne O'Connor and of Roger Standfast, Captain in 

the Army of the Commons of England. 

Edited by Mrs. E. M. FIELD. 
With Etched Title and Frontispiece. 
Large crown 8vo, appropriate cloth boards, 6s. [ Tliird Edition. 

"This is, without exaggeration, one of the most heautiful stories of ancien t Irish 
life that has ever come under my notice. "-Pubhc Opinion. 

Eve's Paradise. 
By Mrs. BRAY, Author of' A Troublesome Trio,' etc. 

With Etched Frontispiece and Title-page. 
Large crown 8vo, cloth boards, 6s. 

"Mrs. Bray's descriptions of child-life are admirable, well-observed, and cleverly 
done. "-Pall Mall Gazette. 

" Prettily and brightly written, and the description of Eve's first experience of 
religion is excellent. "-Guardian. 

Niccolina Niccolini. 
By the Author of ' Mdlle. Mori,' etc. 

Large crown 8vo, cloth boards, 6s. 

Mary Gifford, lVI.B. 
By L. T. MEADE, Author of 'A Princess of the Gutter,' 'Under the 

Dragon Throne,' etc. 

Crown 8vo, cloth boards, 6s. 

'· Mrs. Meade's story shows us plainly what a valuable possession knowledge is 
in the case of a courageous woman, who is not afraid to take her life into her hands 
and to use it for the good of her fellows. It also shows in the person of Elsie 
Tomlinson how neurotic disease can be cured by self-forgetfulness in the service of 
humanity. The story is inspiring and full of interest."-Yorkshire Herald. 

8 Paternoster Buildings, London; 44 Victoria Street, Westminster. 
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Wells Gardner, Darton d Co.'s Popular Books. 

A Princess of the Gutter. 
By L . T. MEADE. 

Large crown 8vo, cloth boards, 6s. [ Third Edition. 
"The spirit of the book is ~xcellent, and its perusal should stimulate some to 

be, and others to continue to be, valiant and self-sacrificing sisters and brothers of 
the poor."-Churc/i Times. 

Under the Dragon Throne. 
By L. T. MEADE and ROBERT K. DOUGLAS. 

Large crown 8vo, cloth boards, 6s. 

Social Aims. 
By the RIGHT HON. THE EARL AND COUNTESS OF MEATH. 

Crown 8vo, cloth boards, 6s. 

" 'Social Aims' will not want sympathetic readers. "-Times. 

In a Good Cause. 
A Collection of Stories, Poems, and Illustrations. 

Edited by LADY AMHERST. 

Fcap. 4to, bound in white, 6s. net. 
" In 'In a Good Cause' they will find Mr. Quaritch enlisted with a pleasant 

little tale; Mr. Anstey with a comically distressing tale ahout a kitten; Mr. Rider 
Haggard with a hunting story from Zululand; and other writers. All illustrated 
by Mr. Caldecott, Mr. Carter, Mr. Tristram Ellis, and other artists."­
Daily l\ ·ews. 

I Lived as I Listed. 
A most thrilling novel by a new writer. 

By ALFRED L. MAITLAND. 
With Etched Title and Frontispiece. 
Large crown 8vo, cloth boards, 6s. 

Three Girls in a Flat. 
By ETHEL F. HEDDLE. 

Illustrated by GORDON BROWNE. 

Large crown 8vo, cloth boards, 6s. 

"A new writer for girls. She knows a great deal about them, about the thmgs 
they do now-a-days, their p!t::ck, their independence, their struggles, their endurances, 
and their success."-Daily Chronicle. 

'' A bright and clever story." -Times. 

8 Paternoster Buildings, London; 44 Victoria Street, Westminster. 

3 



Wells Gardner, Darton d Co.'s Popular Books. 

The new work by the Author of' Three Girls in a Flat,' etc. 

Marget at the Manse. 
AND OTHER STORIES. 

Ry ETHEL F. HEDDLE, Author of' Three Girls in a Flat. 
With Illustrations by GORDON BROWNE, 
Large crown 8vo, cloth boards, 6s. 

A Haunted Town. 
By ETHEL F. HEDDLE. 

With Illustrations by GORDON BROWNE. 
Large crown 8vo, fancy cloth boards, 6s. 

"The author of 'Three Girls in a Flat' has given us the right to expect good 
work from her, and has justified expectation. The characters in the tRle are all 
alive, each is individual, none are over-drawn; one, Aunt Petronella, has come to 
stay with every reader. We do not remember any figure in fiction so touching 
since Mrs. Clifford's Aunt Anne."-World. 

"A simple story charmingly told."-Punch. 

Wanders of the Bird World. 
An important addition to the study of Bird life by a well-known Expert 

on the subject. Illustrated in the best style and printed on superfine 
paper. 

By Dr. R. BOWDLER SHARPE. 
With numerous Illustrations by A. T. ELWES. 
Large crown 8vo, cloth boards, 6s. 

"One of the most delightful and fascinating books that ever cielighted a bird­
loving reader." -Daily News. 

" Dr. Sharpe is as learned as man need wish to be, and as entertaining as the 
most brilliant of conversationalists. "-Country Life. 

Rambles of a Dominie. 
By FRANCIS A. KNIGHT, Author of 'By Leafy Ways,' 'Idylls of 

the Field,' etc. 
Illustrated by E. T. COMPTON. 

Large crown 8vo, cloth, bevelled boards, 5s. 
A few copies on Large Paper, with Illustrations 

Paper, and mounted, bound in vellum, 21s. net. 
and numbered. 

printed on Japanese 
Each Copy signed 

"Of striking excellence. No pleasanter companion for an autumnal holiday can 
easily be found."-Athemeum. 

3 Paternoster Buildings, London; 44 Victoria Street, Westminster. 
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Wells Gardner, Darton ct Co.'s Popular Books. 

My Lost Manuscript. 
THE ROMANCE OF A SCHOOL. 

By MAGGIE SYMINGTON. 
With Etched Title and Frontispiece. 

Large crown 8vo, extra cloth, 6s. 
"A powerful, original, and most interesting story. "-C!mrch Bells. 

Maub 1bu1npbre)2's 
FINE ART COLOURED BOOKS. 

Little Grown-Ups. 
The Littlest Ones. 

Large 4to, ornamental boards, cloth backs, 6s. each. 

Sintram and his Companions, and Undine. 
By DE LA MOTTE FOUQUE. 

With Introduction by CHARLOTTE M. YONGE. 
Illustrated by GORDON BROWNE, R.I. 
Large crown 8vo, printed on superfine paper, art linen boards, gilt 

top, 6s. 
"The anonymous translation is the good old standard one, vastly superior to 

subsequent versions." -Times. 
"Certain to engage the sympathies of an entirely new set of readers."-Daily 

Telegraph. 
"Nothing could be more attractive than the form in which this excellent edition 

is sent forth." -Record. 

Stories from the Faerie Queene. 
By MARY MACLEOD. 

Profusely Illustrated and simply told. 

With Introduction by J. W. HALES, Professor of English Literature, 
King's College, London, etc., etc. 

·with numerous Illustrations Ly A. G. WALKER, Sculptor. 

Large crown 8vo, printed on superfine paper, cloth boards, gilt top, 6s. 
11 Miss Mary Macleod has performed a dangerous and difficult task with taste and 

discretion. It can have been no light labour to set forth in simple, equable prose 
the Jinked sweetness, long drawn out, of Spenser's Faerie Queene, and the latter­
day child may well feel much the same gratitude to her as those of another genera­
tion must have felt towards Charles and Mary Lamb, Nathaniel Hawthorne, and 
Kingsley. "-Pall Mall Gazette. 

"The book is beautifully produced, and ought to satisfy the most fastidious and 
exacting taste." -Leeds Afercury. 

8 Paternoster Buildings, London; 44 Victoria Street, Westminster. 
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Wells Gardner, Darton d Co. 's Popular Books. 

Sweetheart Travellers. 
A Child's Book for Children, for Women, and for Men. 

Dy S. R CROCKETT. 
With numerous Illustrations by GORDON BROWNE, R I. , and W. H. 

C. GROOME. 
Large 8vo, printed on superfine paper, cloth boards, gilt top, 6s. 
A LARGE-PAPER EDITION, numbered and signed by Author and 

Artists, net, 31s. 6d. 
'' Had any one ever been disinclined to believe in Mr. Crockett's genius, he must 

have recanted and repented in sackcloth and ashes after enjoying 'Sweetheart Travellers.' It is the rarest of all rarities, and veritably a child's book for children, 
as well as for women and men. It is seldom, indeed, that the reviewer has the 
opportunity of bestowing unstinted praise, with the feeling that the laudation is, 
nevertheless, inadequate. 'Sweetheart Travellers' is instinct with drollery; it continually strikes th(} softest notes of tenderest pathos, like some sweet, old­
fashioned nursery melody, and it must make the most hardened bachelor feel 
something of the pleasures he has missed in living mateless and childless.'' -Times. 

"A more delightful book for young, old, and middle-aged, it is scarcely possible to conceive.'' -Truth. 

Fairy Tales from Grimm. 
With Introduction by S. BARING-GOULD, M.A. Illustrated by GORDON 

BROWNE, RI. 
Large crown 8vo, printed on superfine paper, fancy cloth boards, gilt 

top, 6s. 
"No more acceptable edition of some of Grimm's Stories has been published." -Standard. 
'' AltogetHer delightful. The illustrations are full of charm and sympathy." -Saturday Review. 
"A fairy book beyond reproach."- Graphic. 
"Grimm is always delightful, but in his present new dress he is more delightful 

than ever. Mr. Gordon Browne charms us . always with his dainty pictures." -Guardian. 

Prince Boohoo and Little Smuts. 
By the Rev. HARRY JONES, M.A., Prebendary of St. Paul's Cathedral. 

With numerous Illustrations by GORDON BROWNE, RI. 
Large crown 8vo, printed on superfine paper, bound in fancy cloth boards, 

gilt top, 6s. 
" Really good nonsense, not at all copied from Mr. Lewis Carroll. Admirably 

fresh, and inspired by a quite delightful insouciance.''-Spectator. 
"Will charm the more qualified critical reader by its mingled gravity and 

whimsicality. lt is not all sugar-plums; there are nice little bits of satire in which 
the Rev. HARRY JONES is easily recognisable."-The World. 

8 Paternoster Buildings, Lendon; 44 Victoria Street, Westminster. 
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Wells Gardner, Darton ti Co. 's Popular Books. 

The Surprising Adventures of Sir Toady Lion, 

with those of General Napoleon. Smith. 
An Improving History for OLD Bovs, YOUNG Bovs, GooD BOYS, BAD 

BoYs, BIG BoYs, LITTLE BoYs, Cow BoYs, and ToM BoYs. 

By S. R. CROCKETT. Illustrated by GORDON BROWNE, R. I. 

Large crown 8vo, cloth boards, gilt top, 6s. 

"It is distinctly the best Christmas book of the season. "-Daily Jlfail. 

"When we say it is one of the most delightful stories about children we have ever 

read, we are still short of the mark. "-Dairy Clzronicle. 

"In every way excellently got up. "-Clzristian. 

"In this excellent book for children, which the elders will enjoy, Mr. Crockett 

comes right away from kailyard into a kingdom of obstreperous fancy, and is purely, 

delightfully funny, and not too Scotch. The ·wi t of this feat of fancy , which cannot 

be described, and does not belong to any order of juvenile literature, unless we take 

Mr. Crockett as the founder of one, is over the heads of children in many instances, 

but they do not know it. ... Mr. Gordon Browne's illustrations are as good a treat 

as the story; they realise every thought and intention of the writer, and are full of 

a sly and characteristic drollery all the artist's own."-World. 

National Rhymes of the Nursery. 
With Introduction by GEORGE SAI:-STSBURY, and numerous Illustrations 

by GORDON BROWNE, R. I. 

Large crown 8vo, printed on superfine paper, bound in art linen boards, 

with gilt top, 6s. 

Second Edition, with additions both to the Rhymes and lllustrations, now 

ready. 

"The prettiest and most complete collection of the kind that we have seen."­

Westminster Gazette. 

"It is impossible to praise the volume too highly."-Black and White. 

"Every conceivable nursery rhyme is herein gathered together, beautifully 

illustrated. The collection is certainly the most perfect that has ever been made." 

-Sclzool Guardian. 

Nonsense for Somebody, Anybody or Every­
body, particularly the Babybody, together 
with Some More Nonsense for the Same 
Bodies as before. 

Wrilten and illustrated by A. NOBODY. Printed in colours. 

Complete in one volume, demy 4to, cloth, 5s. 

8 Paternoster Buildings, London; 44 Victoria Street, Westminster. 
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Wells Gardner, Darton & Co. 1s Popular Books. 

Stories from Froissart. 
By HENRY NEWBOLT, Author of 'Admirals All,' etc. 

With Illustrations by GORDON BROWNE, R.I. 
Large crown 8vo, cloth boards, gilt top, 6s. 

Chatterbox. 
ANNUAL VOLUME. Illustrated with high-class Engravings and twelve full-page Coloured Plates. 
Handsomely bound in exlra cloth, bevelled boards, gilt edges, 5s. Also in illustrated boards, 3s. 

The most popular volume for children ever published. 
• 

The Story Album of Animals. 
A very elegant book for children from five to eight years old. 

With an Illustration on each page. 
Crown 4to, cloth boards, gilt edges, 5s. 

Sunday. READING FOR THE YOUNG. 
Contributed to by Mrs. MOLESWORTH, L. T. MEADE, BEATRICE ·WHITBY, H. A. FORDE, etc. With upwards of 250 Original Illustrations by GORDON BROWNE, A. G. WALKER, and others. 
Bound in cloth, bevelled boards, gilt edges, 5s. Also in illustrated paper boards, 3s. 

•' Cannot fail to be appreciated. The editor has succeeded in _a remarkable degree. "-Nonconformist. 
"We know of no better magazine of its kind."-C!iurch Times. 

Zigzag Fables. 
By J. A. SHEPHERD. 

Beautifully printed in colours, paper boards, 5s. 
"A treasury of comic invention."-Academy. , 

The Surprising Travels and Adventures of 
Baron Munchausen. 

With coloured Frontispiece and Title-page, and numerous black and white Illustrations by "A. NOBODY." 
Large crown 8vo, 3s. 6d. 

8 Paternoster Buildings, London; 44 Victoria Street, Westminster. 
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